ORGANISATIONAL FACTORS IN RFID ADOPTION, IMPLEMENTATION, AND BENEFITS

by

AL- AMIN ABBA DABO

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment for the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy, Master of Philosophy at the University of Central Lancashire

June 2017



STUDENT DECLARATION FORM

Concurrent registration for two or more academic awards

- Either *I declare that while registered as a candidate for the research degree, I have not been a registered candidate or enrolled student for another award of the University or other academic or professional institution
- or *I declare that while registered for the research degree, I was with the University's specific permission, a *registered candidate/*enrolled student for the following award:

Material submitted for another award

- Either *I declare that no material contained in the thesis has been used in any other submission for an academic award and is solely my own work
- or *I declare that the following material contained in the thesis formed part of a submission for the award of

(state award and awarding body and list the material below):

* delete as appropriate

Collaboration

Where a candidate's research programme is part of a collaborative project, the thesis must indicate in addition clearly the candidate's individual contribution and the extent of the collaboration. Please state below:

Signature of Candidate	A.A. DABO	
Type of Award	PhD	

School

Lancashire Business School

<u>ABSTRACT</u>

This study investigates the impact of organisational and technological factors within preadoption, implementation, and post-implementation phases of RFID system deployment. In the pre-adoption phase, the study examines factors that drive and hinder organisations' decision to adopt RFID. In the implementation phase, the study investigates the impact of organisational factors (business size, strength of culture, and business process re-engineering) on influencing the implementation processes of RFID. In the post-implementation phase, the study investigates how the benefits derived from RFID implementation interact with organisational factors (business size, strength of culture, and business process re-engineering) and RFID-related factors (product unit level of tagging, RFID implementation stage, and organisational pedigree in RFID). This study was motivated by the lack of (i) an advisory framework which considers quantifiable firm characteristics and the costs and benefits of implementing RFID, in yielding advice to guide decisions on RFID adoption, and (ii) a framework that covers the complete processes of RFID project deployment (from adoption decision to benefits derived) in yielding advice to guide decisions on RFID adoption.

This study is achieved using a two-phase research approach: questionnaire survey of organisations that have adopted or plan to adopt RFID and case studies of organisations that have integrated RFID into their business processes. In addition, a thorough review of existing literature on RFID in different industrial settings was conducted.

The key findings from the study indicate that RFID adoption is driven by factors from technological, organisational and environmental contexts and that the adoption, implementation and benefits of RFID are influenced by organisational culture strength, business size, and BPR. It was found that strong cultures, organisational size and BPR are all positively correlated with RFID adoption decisions, implementation and benefits. Potential contribution towards the existing body of knowledge is through highlighting the significance of organisational culture strength, business size, and BPR in providing a platform in which RFID will be accepted and implemented successfully to achieve maximum derivable benefits.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, all thanks and praise be unto God, for equipping me with the mental strength and determination to push through this enjoyable, challenging, and educating PhD journey.

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to:

The Petroleum Technology Development Fund (PTDF) for providing me with a scholarship and an opportunity to achieve this milestone.

My supervisors, Dr Philip Kostov, Professor Ming Lim, Professor Ahmed Musa and Professor Yahaya Yusuf, all of whom have unfailingly provided academic support and inspiration.

Mark Roberti, Founder and Editor of RFID Journal, and the management of organisations that participated in this study. Their help was invaluable to the progress of my PhD.

Alhaji Balarabe Ahmed and Alhaji Aminu Galadima, both of whom have been instrumental to the success of my PhD in more ways than can be mentioned.

Finally, I remain indebted to my friends and family for their moral encouragement, particularly my lovely parents who have endlessly supported me and my brother Rufa'i, who was always willing to offer a helping hand when called upon. May God bless them all!!

PUBLICATIONS

Journal Paper: Published

Musa, A. and Dabo, A. A. (2016). A Review of RFID in Supply Chain Management: 2000–2015. *Global Journal of Flexible Systems Management*, 17(2), pp 189–228. DOI: 10.1007/s40171-016-0136-2

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1	RFID historical overview	9
Table 2.2	Some recent literature reviews of RFID in supply chain management	14
Table 2.3	Generic framework for the implementation of RFID systems	28
Table 2.4	Summary of benefits derivable from RFID implementation	32
Table 3.1	Publications from which determinants of RFID adoption were derived	45
Table 3.2	Organisational factors and their measures	53
Table 3.3	Publications from which RFID implementation processes were derived	60
Table 3.4	Publications from which RFID benefits were derived	63
Table 3.5	List of research hypotheses	64
Table 4.1	Key features of positivist and interpretivist philosophical paradigms	69
Table 5.1	Wave analyses to test external validity for non-response bias	102
Table 5.2	Reliability test results	103
Table 5.3	Descriptive and distribution statistics of the research variables	278
Table 5.4	Demographic data of respondents	104
Table 5.5	Cut-off values for fit indices	109
Table 5.6	Set of independent variables (research question 1)	111
Table 5.7	Variables in model A & B	113
Table 5.8	Regression weights and significance tests for individual parameters	117
Table 5.9	Hypotheses on impact of technological factors on decision to adopt RFID	120
Table 5.10	Hypotheses on impact of organisational factors on decision to adopt RFID	122
Table 5.11	Hypotheses on impact of environmental factors on decision to adopt RFID	123
Table 5.12	Set of independent variables (research question 2)	125
Table 5.13	Variables in model A (strength of culture)	126
Table 5.14	Variables in model B (business size)	127
Table 5.15	Variables in model C (BPR)	128
Table 5.16	Regression weights and significance tests for individual parameters	129
Table 5.17	Hypotheses on impact of strength of culture, size, BPR on decision to adopt	130
Table 5.18	Set of independent variables	132
Table 5.19	Impact of strength of culture on RFID implementation processes	133
Table 5.20	Impact of business size on RFID implementation processes	134
Table 5.21	Impact of BPR on RFID implementation processes benefits	134
Table 5.22	Decisions for hypotheses on impact of strength of culture, size, BPR on RFID	141
	implementation processes	
Table 5.23	Set of independent variables	142
Table 5.24	Impact of strength of culture on RFID benefits	144
Table 5.25	Impact of business size on RFID benefits	145
Table 5.26	Impact of BPR on RFID benefits	146

Table 5.27Hypotheses on impact of strength of culture on RFID benefits148Table 5.28Hypotheses on business size on RFID benefits148Table 5.29Hypotheses on BPR on RFID benefits149Table 5.30Descriptives for RFID implementation stage (one-way ANOVA)292Table 5.31Multiple comparisons for RFID implementation stage (one-way ANOVA)295
Table 5.29Hypotheses on BPR on RFID benefits149Table 5.30Descriptives for RFID implementation stage (one-way ANOVA)292
Table 5.30Descriptives for RFID implementation stage (one-way ANOVA)292
Table 5.31 Multiple comparisons for REID implementation stage (one-way ANOVA) 295
Table 5.51 Withiple comparisons for Kind implementation stage (one-way ANOVA) 255
Table 5.32Descriptives for PULT (one-way ANOVA)298
Table 5.33Multiple comparisons for PULT (one-way ANOVA)302
Table 5.34Descriptives for organisational pedigree in RFID (one-way ANOVA)305
Table 5.35Multiple comparisons for organisational pedigree in RFID (one-way ANOVA)309
Table 5.36Hypotheses on impact of RFID implementation stage on RFID benefits153
Table 5.37Hypotheses on impact of PULT on RFID benefits154
Table 5.38Hypotheses on impact of organisational pedigree on RFID benefits154

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1	Research design	6
Figure 1.2	Organisation of the thesis	7
Figure 2.1	Total RFID market projections in US\$ billions	12
Figure 2.2	The Diffusion of Innovation model	18
Figure 2.3	The Technology-Organisation-Environment framework	19
Figure 3.1	The research framework	43
Figure 4.1	Path model in SEM	89
Figure 5.1	Impact of strength of culture, size, BPR on decision to adopt RFID	286
Figure 5.2	Impact of strength of culture on RFID implementation processes	287
Figure 5.3	Impact of business size on RFID implementation processes	287
Figure 5.4	Impact of BPR on RFID implementation processes	288
Figure 5.5	Impact of strength of culture on RFID benefits	289
Figure 5.6	Impact of business size on RFID benefits	290
Figure 5.7	Impact of BPR on RFID benefits	291
Figure 6.1	Some applications of RFID in logistics industry	159
Figure 6.2	Uses of RFID in retailing processes	160
Figure 6.3	RFID application areas in manufacturing	161
Figure 6.4	RFID applications areas in healthcare	162
Figure 6.5	Business model of CSO-1	164
Figure 6.6	Improvements in CSO-1 store workflow attributed to RFID	166
Figure 6.7	Intermediate Bulk Container and RFID tags used to track it	172

ABSTRAC	Т	I
ACKNOW	LEDGEMENTS	II
PUBLICA	rions	III
LIST OF T	ABLES	III
LIST OF F	IGURES	IV
CHAPTER	1 – INTRODUCTION	
1.1	Background	
1.2	Research context	
1.3	Research Aim and Objectives	
1.4	Research Methodology	
1.5	Organisation of the thesis	
-	2 – LITERATURE REVIEW	-
2.1	Introduction	
2.2	RFID Technology	
2.2.1 2.2.2		
2.2.2 2.3	RFID market development Industrial applications of RFID technology	
2.3 2.4	Technology adoption models	
2.4.1		
2.4.2		
2.4.3		
	ID system deployment	
2.5.1	Pre-adoption phase	
2.5.2	Implementation phase	
2.5.3	F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F	
2.6	Review implications	
2.7	Summary	
CHAPTER	3 – RESEARCH FRAMEWORK	
3.1	Introduction	
3.2	Developing the framework	
3.3	The research problem	
3.4	Key variables/constructs	
3.4.1	1 0	
3.4.2	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
3.4.3		
3.4.4	1 1 0	
3.4.5	0	
3.4.6	, .	
3.5	Research hypotheses	
3.6	Summary	
	4 – METHODOLOGY	
4.1	Introduction	
4.2	Research Philosophy	
4.2.1		
4.2.2 4.2.3	··· F ··· ·	
4.2.3	justification for choice of approach	

Table of Contents

4.3	Research Strategy	70
4.3.1	Non-empirical approach	
4.3.2	Empirical approach	
4.3.3	Justification for choice of research strategy	74
4.4	Research Design	
4.4.1	\mathbf{c}	
4.4.2	Pilot testing of questionnaires	76
4.4.3	1	
4.4.4	Questionnaire administration	
	Data	
4.5.1	1	
4.5.2		
	Data analysis outline	
4.6.1	. Descriptive statistics	
4.6.2	1	
	Binary Logistic Regression	
4.6.4		
	Justification for choice of statistical techniques for research questions	
4.8	Summary	97
CHAPTER	5 – SURVEY BY QUESTIONNAIRE	
	Introduction	
	Questionnaire Design	
	Questionnaire administration and response rate	
	Statistical Results	
5.4.1		
5.4.3	1 9	
5.4.4		
-	Inferential Statistics	
	Data screening prior to SEM estimation and testing	
5.5.2		
	Research question 1: Drivers and constraints of RFID adoption	
5.6.1	Model definition	
5.6.2		
5.6.3		
5.6.4	i oc j	
	Research question 2: Impact of strength of culture, business size, and BP	
	n to adopt RFID	
5.7.1	Model definition	
5.7.1	Results: Binary Logistic Regression	
5.7.2		
5.7.3		
5.8	Research question 3: Impact of strength of culture, size, and BPR on RFII	
	ientation process	
5.8.1	Model definition	
5.8.1	Results: Structural Equation Modelling (SEM)	
5.8.2	Discussion: SEM	
5.9	Research question 4: Impact of strength of culture, size, BPR on benefits	derived
	FID	
	Model definition	
	Results: Structural Equation Modelling (SEM)	
	Discussion: SEM	
5.10	Question 5: Impact of RFID-related factors on benefits derived from RFII	D 150
	1 Results: One-Way ANOVA	

5.10	.2 Discussion: One-way ANOVA	152
CHAPTER	8 6 – CASE STUDIES	156
6.1	Introduction	156
6.2	Case study protocol	156
6.2.1		
6.2.2	1 0	
6.3	Business environment and the industrial context of the case studies	
6.3.1		
6.3.2	0	
6.3.3		
6.3.4		
6.4	Case studies	
6.4.1		
6.4.2		
6.4.3		
6.4.4		
6.5	Interview Data Collection and Analysis	
	Introduction	
	? Reflective report on interview process	
6.6	Interview Analysis	
6.6.1		
6.6.2	1	
ador	ot RFID	
6.6.3		
imp	ementation processes	
6.6.4		
bene	efits derived from RFID	
6.6.5	5 Research question 5: Impact of RFID-related factors on benefits derived fr 213	om RFID
CHAPTER	7 – SUMMARY AND IMPLICATIONS	
7.1	Introduction	
7.2	Summary of findings	
7.2.1		
7.2.2	? Implementation phase of RFID system deployment	
7.2.3		
7.3	Implications and original contribution from this study	
7.4	Recommendations for practitioners and researchers	
7.5	Limitations of this study	
REFEREN	CES	235
		774
	CES	
	dix A – Questionnaire (Survey instrument)	
	dix B - Descriptive and distribution statistics of the research variables	
	dix C – Path diagrams of SEM	
	dix D – One-Way ANOVA results for research question 5	
	dix E – Case study interview questions	
APPEN	IDIX F – Correlation Matrix	

CHAPTER 1 – INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

Supply chain management (SCM) comprises a set of processes and enabling systems that support business strategies and influence their operational, strategic and tactical decisions, to achieve organisational competitiveness (Stadtler and Kilger, 2008). Organisations aim to boost the competitiveness and efficiency of their supply chains by achieving closer integration of all stakeholders and their functional units, thereby enhancing coordination of materials, information, and financial flows within the network. However, globalisation and the dynamic nature of today's business environment often compels them into collaborating with multiple supply chain stakeholders around the world, in a variety of cultures, and across numerous organisational boundaries. Under such circumstances, the task of achieving effective and efficient supply chain co-ordination and operation becomes daunting (Peña-Mora et al., 2014). Consequently, organisations adopt various strategies to improve their agility and responsiveness, improve the quality of their supply chain activities, and cut down operational costs (Chen et al., 2012; Poon et al., 2009). These strategies may include the adoption of technological innovation and/or the expansion of internal operation procedures into complex supply chain networks.

The development, growth, and proliferation of information Technology (IT) has greatly increased the opportunities for organisations to realize the task of integrating their supply chains. Auto-identification (Auto-ID) technologies comprise a wide variety of information collection tools and techniques capable of object and people identification, and information retrieval, update, storage (Waldner, 2008). They allow organisations to continuously improve their responsiveness and competitiveness by adapting their operations strategies, methods and technologies to near real-time data at the enterprise edge.

Radio Frequency Identification (RFID) is an Auto-ID technology that uses radio waves to capture data and provide real-time, contact-less communication with objects. RFID systems are composed of a transponder (tag), an interrogator (reader), and a middleware system. The transponder consists of a microchip and an antenna, and carries the unique identification code of each object. The reader, made up of an antenna, emits radio signals to interrogate

the tag. In turn, the reader receives responses from the tag. This information is then passed unto a middleware computer system (Finkinzeller, 2003).

The advanced real-time communication and unique identification properties of RFID technology enable it to contribute, in multiple ways, to improving supply chain activities and processes. RFID can improve the visibility and traceability of products within the supply chain, reduce operational costs, increase sales by reducing out-of-stocks, and improve accuracy and speed of processes (Li et al., 2006). Consequently, RFID has attracted considerable attention as a technology that improves supply chain performance, thus, numerous organisations have adopted RFID in order to reap the benefits of more efficient and automated business processes (Sheng et al., 2011; Sarac et al., 2010).

1.2 Research context

In the last two decades, RFID technology has been at the forefront to improve numerous processes in a variety of supply chain management facets. As the focus on business improvement moves from single firms to complex supply chains, RFID is considered critical in reducing supply chain costs, improving physical flow co-ordination, and enabling more effective and efficient sharing of information between stakeholders (Sadlovska and Vishwanata, 2009; Viswanathan, 2008). In that regard, organisations change from the conventional approaches of supply chain management to more integrated and synchronized supply chain practices (Bendavid et al., 2009).

Much of the proliferation and growth of RFID, and the stimulation in research interest has been attributed to mandates by major corporations such as Wal-Mart and the US Defense Department to adopt the technology. Since the year 2005, RFID research published through journal articles, special issues, and media releases has sought to explain the technological and organisational aspects related to the adoption of the technology (Gadh et al., 2010; Ngai et al., 2010; Sheng et al., 2011; Wang, 2010; Dai et al., 2009; Huang et al., 2009; Sharma et al., 2009; Dutta and Whang, 2007; Madni et al., 2007; Crawford, 2005). However, despite RFID being considered the prime technology of 21st century management (Chao et al., 2007; Wyld, 2006), its adoption has been weighed down by a variety of issues including technological uncertainties, competition with established auto-ID technologies (e.g. bar code), costly software and services, data management challenges, unclear Return-On-Investments (ROIs),

and global standardization issues (Dortch, 2008; Bose and Lam, 2008; Vijayaraman and Osyk, 2006; Li et al., 2006; Wu et al., 2006). Fortunately, today, most of these challenges have been addressed, and there is an increasing number of documented business cases available, which contribute to facilitating the adoption process. Nevertheless, the high cost, to the firm, of implementing RFID calls for an optimal decision to be made on whether or not to adopt the technology.

Consequently, multiple studies on the benefits and costs of RFID implementation in supply chains (Caridi et al., 2013; Vlachos, 2013; Anand and Wamba, 2013; Lee and Lee, 2012; Choi, 2011; Szmerekovsky et al., 2011; Ustundag, 2010; Mehrjerdi, 2010; Miragliotta et al., 2009; Veeramani et al., 2008) and on factors that influence the adoption and diffusion of RFID (Algahtani and Wamba, 2012; Wang et al., 2010; Li et al., 2010; Lin, 2009; Schmitt and Michahelles, 2009; and Sharma et al., 2007) have been conducted. However, the majority of these studies fail to draw important conclusions that can be applied in practice, as they are limited to simply focusing on the technology itself, often disregarding complex organisational, cultural, and environmental factors that determine how a new technology is adopted, its diffusion within organisations, and how benefits derived from its implementation interact with organisation characteristics (Oliveira and Martins, 2011; MacVaugh and Schiavone, 2010). Thus, there remains a need to develop an advisory framewrok, one which considers quantifiable firm characteristics and the costs and benefits of implementing RFID, in guiding decisions on RFID adoption. For example, it is necessary to determine how RFID adoption decisions, RFID implementation processes and procedures, and derivable RFID benefits interact with factors such as business size, business structure and culture, existing information technologies and systems, and business process re-engineering. The extents to which these factors influence the organisational decision to adopt RFID, the RFID implementation process, and benefits derivable from RFID investments have not been well studied in the extant literature.

Therefore, as highlighted in the preceding paragraph, there still remains some ambiguity surrounding factors that influence organisational decision to adopt RFID, the assessment of RFID impact on supply chain, and the interaction of RFID with technological and organisational characteristics. The next section (1.3) describes how this study contributes towards closing some of these research gaps.

3

1.3 Research Aim and Objectives

This study aims to investigate factors within the pre-adoption, implementation, and postimplementation phases of RFID system deployment. In the pre-adoption phase, the study aims to investigate factors that influence organisational decision to adopt RFID, including organisational, technological, and environmental drivers and constraints. In the implementation phase, the study investigates the impact of organisational factors (business size, business culture, and business process re-engineering) on influencing the implementation processes of RFID. In the post-implementation phase, this study investigates how the benefits derived from RFID implementation interact with organisational factors (business size, business culture, and business process re-engineering) and RFID-related factors (product unit level of tagging, RFID implementation stage, and organisational pedigree in RFID). Accordingly, five objectives (each one framed into a research question) were formulated to meet the aim of this study. These are:

- To identify the factors that drive and constrain the adoption of RFID
 Question 1: What factors drive and constrain organisational decision to adopt RFID technology?
- To assess the extent to which organisational culture, size, and BPR affect the decision to adopt RFID

Question 2: How is the decision to adopt RFID enhanced or constrained by an organisation's underlying culture, the size of the organisation, and business process re-engineering?

• To assess the extent to which organisational culture, size, and BPR affect the implementation processes of RFID

Question 3: If the decision to adopt RFID is taken, how is the implementation process affected by an organisation's underlying culture, the size of the organisation, and business process re-engineering?

• To assess the extent to which organisational culture, size, and BPR affect benefits derived from RFID

Question 4: What benefits are derived from RFID implementation and how are they affected by an organisation's underlying culture, the size of the organisation, and business process re-engineering?

 To assess the extent to which the implementation stage of RFID, the Product Unit Level of Tagging (PULT), and the organisational pedigree in RFID affect the benefits derived from adopting the technology

Question 5: How are the benefits derived from RFID implementation affected by the implementation stage of RFID, the Product Unit Level of Tagging (PULT), and the organisational pedigree in RFID?

This thesis sets out to investigate the research questions listed above, with the objective of attaining the aims of the study. The following section gives an overview of the methodology adopted in undertaking this study.

1.4 Research Methodology

This research proceeds by developing research questions from extant literature (Forza, 2002; Newman and Benz, 1998). A survey by questionnaire was deemed suitable, as the research comprises quantifiable attributes (Bryman and Bell, 2003; Newman and Benz, 1998). Thus, survey by questionnaire was adopted as one of the methods for data collection in this research. Four case studies were undertaken to validate the survey results, as well as determine the context in which RFID adoption, organisational characteristics, and benefits interact. Thus, as advocated by Creswell (2009), this research achieved methodological triangulation by combining the two research methods. Figure 1.2 shows the key phases of the research design.

Literature review			
Discussed the factors that influence the deployment of RFID systems from pre- adoption phase to post- implementation phase	Exploratory study Conducted a questionnaire survey to investigate the relationship between RFID adoption, implementation, and benefits with organisational characteristics	Validatory/Follow-up study Four case studies were conducted to validate the results from the survey	
Figure 1.1: Research design			

<u>1.5</u> Organisation of the thesis

This thesis is presented in seven chapters, as shown in Figure 1.3, and is categorised as follows. Chapter 1 introduces the research context. It presents a brief introduction of the topic to be investigated, identifying the aims and objectives of the research, the research gaps, and the research questions. Chapter 2 discusses the determinants of RFID adoption, implementation, and benefits. Chapter 3 presents the research framework and its elements. Chapter 4 discusses and justifies the methodology adopted in this research. Chapter 5 reports the survey by questionnaire and discusses the results. Chapter 6 reports four case study investigations on the interaction of RFID adoption, organisational characteristics, and RFID benefits. Chapter 7 presents the conclusions, implications and recommendations from the research.



Figure 1.2: Organisation of the thesis

CHAPTER 2 – LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Introduction

This chapter presents the theoretical basis of the thesis. The chapter begins by (i) providing an overview of RFID technology and discussing its evolution over time, and (ii) outlining and discussing the drivers and constraints of RFID adoption based on two key organisational theories/frameworks of IT adoption, namely, Diffusion of Innovation (DOI) theory, and the Technology-Organisation-Environment (TOE) framework. Subsequently, a discussion on the determinants of RFID adoption, RFID implementation processes, and RFID benefits follows. Finally, the chapter ends by discussing the implications of the review, including research gaps and future research directions.

2.2 RFID Technology

Radio Frequency Identification (RFID) is an automatic identification and data capture technology that is composed of a transponder, a transceiver and a middleware system. The transponder stores and transmits identification data, and communicates with the transceiver, wirelessly delivering information to a database in a digital format. The middleware bridges RFID hardware and enterprise applications (Finkinzeller, 2000).

RFID technology was first conceived in 1948, primarily from radar and radio research undertaken during World War II. However, it took about 4 decades for practical applications of RFID to be fully developed, trialled, and commercialized (Landt, 2005). This was primarily driven by changing business practices and the development of the integrated circuit (microprocessor). Now, RFID has become sufficiently affordable and reliable for widespread use and is thus considered a business solution for the industry (Holloway, 2006; Roberts, 2006). Table 2.1 shows RFID history over the decades since its conception.

Table 2.1: RFID Historical overview		
Years	Development	
1040 to 1060	- RFID invented in 1948 from radio and radar research in World War II	
1940 to 1960	- Research and laboratory experiments till the 1960s	
1060 to 1090	- Development of theory and field trials	
1960 to 1980	- Early implementations of RFID	
1090 to 2000	- Mainstream development of commercial RFID applications and	
1980 to 2000	standards	
2000 to Present	- Fostering global standardisation. Development of implementation frameworks, ROI and business cases. Wider commercial applications	

(Source: Association for Automatic Identification and Mobility, October 2001, <u>http://www.aimglobal.org</u>)

Since its conception in 1948, the theoretical exploration of RFID continued into the 1950s, with multiple research papers being published. By the 1960s, laboratory experiments had led to the development of prototype systems. By the late 60s RFID had steadily moved to the forefront, particularly when commercial systems equipped with electronic article surveillance (EAS) were used to prevent the theft of high value items and clothing. Between the 1970s and 1980s, the research interest in RFID had spiralled, with various researchers, developers, and academic institutions venturing into exploring applications such as animal tagging, transportation, and tolling (Landt, 2005). By the 1990s, the integrated circuit was developed and RFID tags were incorporated as single circuits. More recently, advancements have been made in the development of standards, frequency spectrum allocations between countries, and the growth of further commercial applications.

2.2.1 RFID components and processes

RFID technology operates in low, high, ultra-high and super high frequency bands. Low frequency tags operate at 125 or 134 KHz and are ideal for simple usage in access control, and animal and asset tracking. High frequency tags operate between 13.56 to 27 MHz and are suitable for applications requiring medium data rates and read ranges of up to 1.5 metres. Ultra-high frequency tags offer read ranges of up to 15 metres and operate between 850 MHz and 950 MHz. Super high frequency tags operate between 2.400 and 5.875 GHz (Want, 2006).

There are three main types of RFID tags:

a) Active tags – An active RFID tag comprises of a battery (power source) and a transmitter. In comparison to passive tags, active tags offer longer read ranges and bigger memory. There are two types' active RFID tags – Transponders and Beacons.

Depending on the key functional attributes of the tag, RFID tags can be used for a variety of applications including tolling, real-time location systems (RLTS), and asset tracking.



Image 2.1: A picture of an active RFID tag utilizing the 433 MHz frequency, typically used to accomplish automated vehicle identification (AVI), personnel/asset tracking, and perimeter security functionality (Source: Telsor.com.au)

b) Passive tags – A passive RFID tag comprises a microchip and an antenna. Dissimilar to active tags, passive RFID tags have no internal power source. Passive RFID tags are generally much smaller than active tags, and depending upon the application, can be a few millimetres thick. Passive tags are used for asset tracking, access control, etc. Image 2.2 shows a picture of one type of passive tag.



Image 2.2: A picture of a UHF passive RFID paper printed label, typically used for library applications, asset tracking, and file management (Source: Aliexpress.com)

c) **Semi-passive tags** – Semi-passive tags have an internal power source but do not contain an active transmitter. Semi-passive tags can be used to monitor inputs from

sensors – even when the tags aren't in the presence of a radio frequency field. This makes them suited for monitoring and activating or deactivating items remotely, making them ideal for applications such as alarms, seals, or thermostats. (Angeles, 2005).



Image 2.3: A picture of a UHF semi-passive RFID tag with a temperature probe, typically used in a range of industries to monitor temperature in a contained environment (Source: Veryfields.net)

2.2.2 RFID market development

Since the year 2000, the RFID market has grown substantially. The RFID market has grown from a total worth of USD\$2.77 billion in 2006 to USD\$10.1 billion by 2016 (IDTechEx, 2016). More than half of that growth was from active RFID applications such as Real Time Location Systems (RTLS), a system that enables users to track and trace the movement of items in their premises in real-time. Further growth came from passive RFID applications, primarily the tagging of high volume items such as consumer goods, drugs, and postal packages (IDTechEx, 2016). Figure 2.1 shows the total RFID market growth from years 2014 to 2016.

Developments in the RFID market over the past decade signify that RFID technology has achieved a significant level of penetration in commerce, mainly boosted by dynamic growth from retail apparel implementations (SMARTRAC, 2015). Major advancements in the RFID industry have also played a role in the proliferation of the technology. For instance, the industry has removed technological obstacles, met interoperability requirements, and worked on global standardization. It has strengthened educational and promotional efforts around UHF RFID, and has provided adequate UHF RFID standards and technology solutions, supported by a significant number of market players serving all aspects of daily life.







RFID has become a useful tool in retail, logistics, healthcare and a handful of other enterprise sectors. Of recent, RFID has been transitioning into a supporting player by becoming an essential part of the Internet of Things (IoT).

The Internet of Things (IoT) is a system of interrelated computing devices, mechanical and digital machines, objects, animals or people that are provided with unique identifiers and the ability to transfer data over a network without requiring human-to-human or human-to-computer interaction (IOT Agenda, 2016). IoT has evolved from the convergence of wireless technologies, micro-electromechanical systems (MEMS), microservices and the internet. The convergence has enabled data to be analyzed for insights that will drive improvements in organisational processes and operations. While RFID will not be the only technology used in the IoT to identify objects and link them to the Internet, passive ultrahigh frequency (UHF) RFID tags and Near Field Communication (NFC) technologies are emerging as the two most likely standards (Tech4Business, 2014).

In response to developments in IoT, several RFID market players have collaborated with cloud service providers, chipmakers and other tech businesses to promote UHF RFID as an essential

part of the IoT. In 2014, Google, Intel and SMARTRAC, along with the leading radio identification industry association AIM Global, formed the RAIN (**RA**dio-frequency Identificatio**N**) Alliance. RAIN's stated goal is to promote awareness, education, and initiatives to accelerate UHF RFID growth and adoption in business and consumer applications worldwide. It is based on this that technology analysts predict the growth of RFID to continue. By 2020, IDTechEx forecast the RFID market will be worth \$13.2 billion. The projected growth is expected to come from the sale of tags, readers and software/services for RFID cards, labels, fobs and all other form factors, for both passive and active RFID applications.

2.3 Industrial applications of RFID technology

In a bid to become more competitive and responsive in an increasingly globalized and dynamic business environment, organisations aim to achieve closer integration of all stakeholders and their functional units; reduce costs; and enhance coordination of materials, information, and financial flows within their supply chain networks. As a consequence, organisations are continuously attempting to re-examine and improve their supply chain processes (Viswanathan, 2008; Sadlovska and Vishwanata, 2009). The rapid growth and proliferation of information technologies has greatly increased the opportunities for these organisations to continuously attempt to improve their flexibility, responsiveness and competitiveness by changing their operations strategies, methods and technologies. In this context, RFID has been considered critical in enabling firms to move from a traditional supply chain model to a more integrated, efficient, and synchronized supply chain model (Bendavid et al., 2009).

RFID has an extensive range of applications across multiple industrial settings. Accordingly, numerous review papers have been published in the last decade to provide a comprehensive overview of RFID applications in operational and supply chain processes in those industrial settings. For instance, Sarac et al. (2010) review and classify RFID literature that focuses on alleviating the bullwhip effect, inventory inaccuracy and optimizing replenishment policies. Nemeth et al. (2006) give an overview of current development of RFID technology and processes by investigating the potential benefits and challenges of RFID integration in supply chains. Table 2.2 provides a summary of the contents and outcomes of some of the relatively recent literature reviews on RFID.

13

Table 2.2: Some recent literature reviews of RFID in different industrial settings			
Reference	Focus of review	Summary of outcome	
Costa et al. (2013)	RFID research publications in the agriculture-cum-food sector	This review provides an overview of developments in RFID research in agriculture- food sector. It identifies and evaluates the current and potential applications of RFID in the production and distribution of agricultural produce and products. It also discusses the technical and economic challenges hindering wide implementation of the technology in agriculture-food sector.	
Lim et al. (2013)	The benefits, challenges and applications of RFID in warehouse management	The review provides insights into extant works on the integration of RFID into various warehouse functions. It identifies the strong and vital link between the ability of RFID to capture accurate and timely data and warehouse operational performance. It also evaluates the current status of RFID solutions in warehouse functions and suggests future trends and research challenges in this domain.	
Wamba et al. (2013)	RFID applications in healthcare settings	This paper provides a comprehensive review of articles focusing on RFID applications in healthcare operations. It provides a classification framework that categorizes RFID publications in the healthcare sector into three groups, namely, asset management, patient management, and staff management-related applications. The review provides managerial insights into the usefulness and relevance of RFID in effective management of operations across the healthcare industry. It concludes by identifying data management, security and privacy as future research directions.	
Zhu et al. (2012)	The benefits, challenges and applications of RFID in a variety of industries	This review surveys the current and potential applications of RFID across a variety of industries. It focuses on the ability of RFID to capture accurate and timely data and its subsequent role in providing better supply chain visibility and product traceability. The review also identifies the use of RFID for inventory management, improving business processes and improving supply chain efficiency and performance. Furthermore, the security and privacy issues of RFID are discussed, and the current and future trends in RFID research are identified and suggested, respectively.	
Liao et al. (2011)	RFID publications in journals that are indexed in SCI and SSCI from 2004 to 2008	This review identifies relevant technical SCI- indexed journals and a variety of less specialized journals that have published RFID literature between 2004 and 2008. It also provides profiles of RFID publication authors and co-authors, their locations and demographics, as well as the dominant RFID research topics, and citation indices of publications in RFID.	

Sarac et al. (2010)	Applications and potential benefits of RFID in supply chain management	This paper surveys the use of simulation modeling, analytical methods, case studies and experiments in analyzing the impact of RFID on supply chain activities. In particular, it focuses on the impact of RFID on cost reduction and value creation in relation to inventory management.
Ngai et al. (2008)	A generic review of RFID publications between 1995 and 2005	This review identifies RFID literature published in academic journals between 1995 and 2005 and classifies the publications into four main categories, namely, RFID technology, RFID applications, security and privacy issues, and others. This classification provides an overview of the anatomy of RFID research from 1995 to 2005 as well as managerial and practical insights into the applications, benefits and challenges of RFID. The review concludes by identifying research gaps and suggesting future research directions.
Chao et al. (2007)	Review and bibliometric analysis of RFID research trends and contributions between 1991 to 2005	This review examines the use of RFID by a variety of enterprises to enhance organisational change and gain competitive advantage. The review also identifies current RFID research trends and suggests future research directions.

RFID adoption rates have been variable across different sectors. While many organisations, especially retailers have either adopted RFID or announced plans for adoption, industries such as manufacturing have been slower in adopting the technology. The adoption of RFID is driven and constrained by numerous factors, as discussed in the succeeding sections (2.4 and 2.5).

2.4 Technology adoption models

RFID is considered by organisations to be a form of technological innovation that greatly increases their opportunities to become more responsive and competitive, by adapting their operations strategies, methods and technologies to near real-time data at the enterprise edge. Like many other forms of technological innovation, organisational decision to adopt RFID is guided by theoretical frameworks, business case development, cost-benefit evaluations, and ROI assessments before an optimal decision of whether to adopt the technology or not, is made.

When selecting and implementing an innovative technology, it becomes paramount for organisations to carefully evaluate different models of IT adoption and balance them against the organisational goals and objectives. This is crucial for selecting and implementing the appropriate and most effective technology, and thus realizing a return-on-investment (Angeles, 2005). There are many theories about technology adoption used in IS research

(Oliveira & Martins, 2011). Some of the widely used technology adoption models include the Diffusion of Innovation (DOI) (Rogers, 1995), the Technology–Organisation–Environment (TOE) framework (Tornatzky & Fleischer, 1990), the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) (Davis, 1986, Davis, 1989; Davis et al., 1989), and the Theory of Planned Behaviour (TPB) (Ajzen, 1985; Ajzen, 1991). As this study focuses on the implementation of RFID at the organisational level, only the DOI and the TOE framework have been discussed. Other models like the TAM and TPB are used at the individual level, particularly in studies seeking to understand the impact of employees and users of a technology on its adoption and diffusion (Oliveira & Martins, 2011).

2.4.1 Diffusion of Innovation (DOI) Theory

Diffusion of Innovation theory is concerned with explaining how, why, and at what rate new ideas and technology spread through cultures. In other words, DOI theory is a process by which an innovation is communicated through certain channels over time and within a specific social system (Rogers, 1995). The innovation process in organisations is much more complex. It usually involves a number of individuals, possibly including both supporters and opponents of the new idea, each of whom plays a role in the innovation adoption decision (Rogers, 1995). The DOI theory identifies five technological characteristics as drivers to any adoption decision: relative advantage, compatibility, complexity, trialability, and observability (Rogers, 2003). These five characteristics are explained in greater detail below:

- Relative advantage/Perceived benefits This is the degree to which an innovation is
 perceived as better than the idea it supersedes by a particular group of users,
 measured in terms that matter to those users, like economic advantage, social
 prestige, convenience, or satisfaction. The greater the perceived relative advantage of
 an innovation, the more rapid its rate of adoption is likely to be. There are no absolute
 rules for what constitutes "relative advantage". It depends on the particular
 perceptions and needs of the user group.
- Observability The easier it is for individuals to see the results of an innovation, the more likely they are to adopt it. Visible results lower uncertainty and also stimulate peer discussion of a new idea, as partners of an adopter often request information about it.

- **Compatibility** This is the degree to which an innovation is perceived as being consistent with the values, past experiences, and needs of potential adopters. An idea that is incompatible with their values, norms or practices will not be adopted as rapidly as an innovation that is compatible.
- Trialability This is the degree to which an innovation can be experimented with on a limited basis. An innovation that is "trialable" represents less risk to the organisation considering adopting it.
- Complexity This is the degree to which an innovation is perceived as difficult to understand and use. New ideas that are simpler to understand are adopted more rapidly than innovations that require the adopter to develop new skills and understanding.

In addition, Rogers (1995) further identifies three independent variables that influence the process by which an organisation adopts technological innovation: individual (leader) characteristics, internal characteristics of organisational structure, and external characteristics of the organisation.

(a) **Individual characteristics** refer to the leaders' attitude toward change.

(b) Internal characteristics of organisational structure consist of several factors, namely:

- Centralization This is the degree to which power and control in a system are concentrated in the hands of a relatively few individuals
- Complexity This is the degree to which an organisation's members possess a relatively high level of knowledge and expertise
- Formalisation This is the degree to which an organisation emphasizes its members' following rules and procedures
- Interconnectedness This is the degree to which the units in a social system are linked by interpersonal networks
- Organisational slack This is the degree to which uncommitted resources are available to an organisation
- Size This is the number of employees of the organisation

(c) *External characteristics* of the organisation describe system openness.



Figure 2.2: The Diffusion of Innovation model (Source: Rogers, 1995)

The DOI model has been applied and adapted in various ways. It has been used in studying the adoption of RFID (Jong, 2015; Wang, 2011; Upfold and Liu, 2010); Material Requirements Planning (MRP) systems (Cooper and Zmud, 1990); numerous IS applications (Thong, 1999); adoption and use of intranet applications (Eder and Igbaria, 2001); adoption of Enterprise resource Planning (ERP) systems (Bradford and Florin 2003); e-business applications (Zhu et al. 2006a; Hsu et al. 2006); and e-procurement (Li, 2008); and many more.

2.4.2 Technology–Organisation–Environment (TOE) Framework

The TOE theory was proposed by Tornatzky and Fleischer (1990), to study the adoption of technological innovations. They argued that the decision of a technological innovation adoption is based on factors in the technological, organisational, and environmental contexts (Figure 2.3). The technological context refers to both the internal and external technologies relevant to the organisation. This includes existing technologies and the equipment internal to the organisation (Starbuck, 1976), as well as the set of emerging technologies external to the firm (Thompson, 1967; Khandwalla, 1970; Hage, 1980). The organisational context refers

to descriptive measures about the organisation such as the firm's structure and resources, scope (the horizontal extent of a firm's operations), size, and top management support and complexity of its managerial structure. The environmental context is the arena in which an organisation conducts its business. This arena includes the industry, competitors, and dealings with the government (Tornatzky & Fleischer, 1990).



Figure 2.3: The Technology-Organisation-Environment (TOE) framework (Source: Tornatzky and Fleischer, 1990)

The TOE framework as originally presented, and later adapted in IT implementation studies, can be used for studying the implementation of different types of IT innovation because it provides a useful analytical framework (Oliveira & Martins, 2011). The TOE framework has a solid theoretical basis and consistent empirical support, and has been found useful in understanding the adoption of technological innovations. The TOE framework has been used in numerous technological, industrial, and cultural contexts, owing to its wide-ranging applicability and explanatory power. It has been used to explain the adoption of electronic data interchange (EDI) (Kuan and Chau 2001), e-marketplace (Joo and Kim, 2004), e-business (Zhu et al. 2006b; Zhu and Kraemer 2005; Zhu et al. 2004; Zhu et al. 2003), RFID systems (Park and Rim, 2011; Wang, 2010), e-procurement systems (Soares-Aguiar and Palma-dos-Reis, 2008), enterprise systems (Ramdani et al. 2009), e-commerce (Oliveira and Martins, 2009; Liu, 2008); enterprise resource planning (ERP) (Pan and Jang, 2008); business to business

(B2B) e-commerce (Teo et al., 2006); knowledge management systems (KMS) (Lee et al., 2009); and multiple IS applications (Thong, 1999). Similarly, the TOE framework has been utilized to explain the adoption of technological innovation in manufacturing settings (Zhu et al. 2006b; Mishra et al. 2007), healthcare and pharmaceutics (Lee and Shim 2007), asset management, and financial services (Zhu et al. 2006b). In the aforementioned studies, the need, search, and decision to adopt innovations have been shown to be influenced by the three elements of technology, organisation, and environment. Although these studies agree with Tornatzky and Fleischer (1990) that the three TOE contexts influence adoption, they adopt a unique set of factors or measures for each specific technology or context that is being studied. Zhu et al. (2004), for instance, proposed "technology readiness" as the pertinent factor in the technological context; "firm size," "financial resources" and "global scope," as the pertinent factors in the organisational context; and "regulatory environment" and "competition intensity" are relevant when researchers wish to understand how the environmental context influences the adoption of e-business. On the other hand, Park and Rim (2011) adopted "technology competence", "technology compatibility", and "technology complexity" as factors in the technological context; "organisational size", "top management support", and "RFID-related costs" as factors in the organisational context; and "government support" and "competitive pressure" as factors in the environmental context that influence adoption of RFID. In summary, it is worth noting that different types of innovations have different factors that influence their adoption. Similarly, different national/cultural contexts and different industries will have differing factors as well (Baker, 2011).

2.4.3 Combination of DOI model and TOE framework

As highlighted in preceding paragraphs, several authors have used both the TOE and DOI to study and understand IT adoption decisions. The TOE and DOI was also used in combination with Institution Theory in the work of Iacovou et al. (1995) to better understand IT innovation decisions. Chong et al. (2009) also used these two frameworks along with CEO characteristics and information sharing culture characteristics to further understand how technological adoptions are decided upon. Zhu et al (2006a) added relative advantage, complexity and compatibility with the two frameworks to further the study (Oliveira and Martins, 2011).

The TOE framework is consistent with the Diffusion of Innovation (DOI) theory in which Rogers (1995) has emphasised technological characteristics, individual characteristics, and both the internal and external characteristics of organisations, as antecedents to any adoption decision (Zhu et al., 2006; Zhu et al., 2003; Thong, 1999; Iacovou et al., 1995; Cooper & Zmud, 1990). These characteristics are similar to the technology and organisation contexts of the TOE framework, however the TOE framework also includes a new and important component which is the environment context (Oliveira & Martins, 2011). The environment context includes both constraints and opportunities for IT innovations. Therefore, the TOE framework makes the DOI theory able to better explain intra-firm innovation adoption (Hsu et al., 2006). For this reason, and drawing upon the empirical support, combined with the existing literature review and theoretical perspectives mentioned earlier, the DOI theory and TOE framework provide a good starting point for this study to analyse and consider appropriate factors for understanding RFID adoption decision-making and processes within organisations (Wang et al., 2010; and Oliveira & Martins, 2011). In view of that, the succeeding section (2.5) discusses the different phases involved in deploying RFID systems.

2.5 RFID system deployment

RFID system deployment describes the processes involved in the implementation of RFID systems from the idea conception/consideration stage to actual implementation/realization of the system in a live working environment. Complete RFID project implementation occurs in three phases. These are the pre-adoption phase, implementation phase and post-implementation phase.

2.5.1 Pre-adoption phase

One of the most popular topics in technology adoption research is the identification of factors that influence the adoption process, with the aim of facilitating or guiding the way to achieving best adoption procedures (Loraas and Wolfe, 2006). The RFID pre-adoption phase includes determining the factors that drive organisations to adopt RFID or barriers that constrain them from adopting RFID.

At the organisational level, a firm is motivated by its objectives, challenges, and/or environment. Thus, it sets out to gain necessary information and knowledge to inform its decision on technology adoption. Ngai et al. (2008) advocate the importance of

understanding the concepts of RFID adoption and identifying and analyzing drivers and barriers affecting RFID adoption decisions. Thus, with a view to understanding how individuals, organisations, and groups may perceive the viability of adopting RFID, numerous studies (Algahtani and Wamba, 2012; Leimeister et al. 2009; Schmitt and Michahelles, 2009; Huber et al., 2007; Eckfeldt, 2005; Swanton, 2005; Asif and Mandviwalla, 2005; Walker, 2004) have adopted the TOE framework, DOI model, and various other technology adoption models as platforms on which to study the adoption and diffusion of RFID. These studies provide evidence that a variety of factors influence decisions to adopt RFID. For example, Brown and Russell (2007) adopted a mixed-method approach to investigate the drivers of RFID adoption in South African retail organisations. The study collected and analyzed quantitative and qualitative data from six retailers. The findings indicated that RFID adoption decisions were determined by technological factors (relative advantage, compatibility, complexity, and cost), organisational factors (culture attributes, information technology expertise, organisation size, organisational readiness), and external factors (competitive pressure, government support, and existence of change agents). Similarly, Wamba et al. (2009) identified 21 factors in the four categories of the TOE framework that were significant in the evaluation and decision to invest in RFID. The 21 factors were mainly technology, resource and environmentally related.

As stated in section 2.4, the TOE model considers three dimensions, namely: technological, organisational, and environmental. These dimensions are discussed in detail in sections 2.5.1.1 to 2.5.1.3.

2.5.1.1 Technological determinants of RFID adoption

The TOE model suggests four technological determinants of innovation adoption –technology complexity, competence, compatibility, and relative advantage.

Technology Compatibility, Complexity and Competence

Compatibility has been defined as the degree to which a technology is perceived to be consistent with an organisation's strategic intent, infrastructure, practices, and needs (Baek and Lee, 2001; Rogers, 2003; Teo et al., 2004). Rogers (1995) defines Complexity as the degree to which an innovation is perceived as difficult to understand and use. In other words, complexity is how difficult the technology is wielded. New ideas that are simpler to understand are adopted more rapidly than innovations that require the adopter to develop new skills and understanding. Alqathani and Womba (2012) define competence as the

organisation's readiness to adopt a technology in the context of resources and services offered by IT professionals Zhu et al. (2006a).

Numerous studies have found that technological compatibility, complexity, and competence have a strong influence on the adoption of RFID (Park and Rim, 2011). In that regard, Fazel et al. (2011) used the TOE framework to study the readiness of the adoption of RFID technologies in Iranian supply chains. The study found that compatibility, complexity, and competence are important determinants of RFID technology adoption. Similarly, Park and Rim (2011) investigated how organisational decision to adopt RFID is influenced by technology compatibility and complexity, and drawing from the work of Ramamutrthy et al. (1999), on the adoption of EDI, showed that adoption of innovative technology is positively influenced by both factors.

Other studies such as Tan et al. (2012) investigated the adoption of RFID technology amongst Logistics providers in Malaysia. Using the Technology construct of TOE, they studied compatibility of the innovation being adopted. Their study found that the application of the RFID in Logistics services is compatible to the industry's regulatory requirements of tracking and tracing, specifically in the identification of container vans. Similarly, Bradford and Florin (2003) investigated how RFID technology integrates with existing IT systems in a Logistic firm. The study found that compatibility is significant in determining RFID adoption and also confirmed that compatibility of RFID technology to organisational strategy is an important determinant in its adoption.

Relative advantage/Perceived benefits

Rogers (2003) defines Relative advantage as "the degree to which an innovation is perceived as being better than he idea it supersedes". This represents the benefits derivable from RFID technology adoption. Perceived benefits have been found to be strong determinants of RFID adoption decisions. Paydar (2013), Attaran (2012) and Goethals and Newlands (2011) state that organisations which implement RFID are driven to adoption by the promise of achieving benefits, particularly achieving higher efficiency, better supply chain monitoring and better collaboration with partners.

2.5.1.2 Organisational determinants of RFID adoption

Tornatzky and Fleischer (1990) argued that organisational factors must be considered in any organisational innovation adoption research. The organisational factors refer to the characteristics and resources of the firm, including the firm's size, culture attributes, degree of centralization, degree of formalization, managerial structure, human resources, amount of slack resources, and linkages among employees.

Numerous organisational characteristics influence the adoption processes of RFID systems. These include organisational strategies, culture, business size, information intensity, and technological maturity (Acar et al., 2005; Caldeira and Ward, 2003; De Burca et al., 2005; Drew, 2003; Levy et al., 2001; Love et al., 2005; Mole et al., 2004). Strategically, IT tools are employed within organisations in order to achieve pre-determined business strategy, therefore, organisational investments in IT are strongly affected by their strategic contexts such as ROIs and cost reduction versus value added strategies (Levy et al., 2001). According to Nguyen (2009), some organisations adopt RFID just to rival/match up to competitors that have implemented the technology. Nguyen (2009) further argues that under such circumstances, lack of definition or strategy of the purposes of RFID adoption may lead problematic implementation or total project failure.

Organisational culture

Organisational culture is a significant determinant of IS/IT implementation in organisations (Bruque and Moyano, 2007; Riolli and Savicki, 2003). According to Carmeli et al. (2008), Hofstede et al. (1990), Jones et al. (2005), and Stewart et al. (2000), there is no clear and unanimous definition of organisational culture. Nevertheless, Marquardt (2002) defines culture as "an organisation's values, beliefs, practices, rituals, and customs". According to Tushman and O'Reilly (1997), organisational culture is a vital component of the operations of any organisation as the success of the organisation is largely dependent on its ability to absorb innovation into its culture and management processes (Tushman and O'Reilly, 1997). Organisational culture that is supportive of innovation encourages the use of innovative solutions to tackle challenges, and considers innovation to be desirable and normal (Lock and Kirkpatrick, 1995). Therefore, the underlying culture of organisations has an impact on the decision to adopt technological innovation like RFID.

Business size

According to extant literature on IT adoption in organisations, business size definable by turnover and/or number of employees is one of the most important determinants of IT adoption (Premkumar, 2003; Love et al., 2005). The importance of business size is partly because of its role as the source of firms' capabilities but also the fact that firms' resources (including financial and human capital) can be an approximation of firm size (Mole et al., 2004; Thong, 2001).

Business size facilitates knowledge acquisition (and/or knowledge generation). Infrastructure-related facilities (IS/IT/ICT) available in the organisation influence RFID adoption (Sharma and Citurs 2005; Sharma et al. 2007). Premkumar (2003) posits that business size is an important determinant between adopters and non-adopters of RFID systems within organisations. The study finds that larger firms have a higher inclination to adopt RFID technologies than smaller ones.

Business size is also an important factor as the RFID integration success depends on the physical, financial, and technological resources of a firm (Brown and Russell 2007; Huyskens and Loebbecke 2007; Matta and Moberg 2006, 2007).

Business Process Re-engineering (BPR)

BPR is the analysis and redesign of workflows within and between organisations in order to optimize end-to-end processes and automate non-value-added tasks (Hammer and Champy, 1993). BPR is aimed at enhancing customer service by improving productivity, eliminating waste and reducing the cost. The main aim of BPR is to realize improvements by fundamentally remodelling organisations to start focussing on making functional or incremental improvements (Ganesh, 2000).

There is a bidirectional relationship between BPR and information technology (IT). While Hammer (1990) argues that IT is a key component in the implementation of BPR, the successful implementation of technological innovation may also largely depend on reengineering. Davenport & Short (1990) advocate that BPR should be conducted after thorough review of IT and business activities and their inter-relationships. They advocate that IT should be considered as more than an automation process but rather as a fundamental way to reshape and redesign business activities and processes. Many factors related to BPR are now considered to be vital components of successful IT deployment efforts (Ganesh, 2000). These include effective alignment of IT infrastructure and BPR strategy, building an effective IT infrastructure, synchronization of IT and business processes, decentralization of resource and processes including decision-making, increasing IT function competency, and effective use of software tools (Ganesh, 2000). Therefore, the analysis of business processes and consequent redesign of workflows is paramount to successful integration of RFID into business processes.

2.5.1.3 Environmental determinants of RFID adoption

The external environment is the setting in which an organisation operates. The external environment influences decision-making behaviors of organisations (Quaddus and Hofmeyer, 2007) and has been recognized to play a significant role in determining RFID adoption decisions (Sharma and Citurs, 2005). In terms of RFID adoption, the external environment consists of external pressure (Matta and Moberg, 2007), government (Matta and Moberg, 2007; Zhu et al. 2003), external information sources (Jeyaraj et al. 2006; Matta and Moberg, 2007), and industry-wide standardization and cost (Brown and Russell, 2007; Cheng and Yang, 2007; Juban and Wyld, 2004).

External pressure

External pressure consists of government or regulatory pressure (Kuan and Chau, 2001) and market or competitive pressure (Chang et al. 2008; Ranganathan and Jha, 2005). Organisations across various sectors are subjected to different government policies and regulations. For example, a growing number of animal exporting countries have introduced legislation on compulsory RFID-based livestock management systems. Therefore, farmers are compelled to adopt RFID technology. Another reason for livestock farmers to adopt RFID is because of the increasing market pressure for RFID-based animal tracking systems (Li and Visich, 2006).

<u>Government</u>

Government can play an important role in RFID adoption and diffusion through information provision, research and development policies and facilities, incentives for adopters, and infrastructural development and enhancement (Scupola, 2003).

External information sources

Organisations interested in RFID can acquire information from external information sources, including technology vendors, NGOs, government agencies (Kettinger, 1994), and through business collaborations (Ghadim and Pannell, 1999). External information sources are a good platform for acquiring RFID knowledge and staying updated with latest RFID developments.

Industry-wide standardization

The lack of industry-wide standardization is considered one of the major constraints of RFID adoption (Schmitt et al. 2008). Although the RFID standards are defined by the International Standards Organisation (ISO), there is a great deal of variety in terms of components, tags, and architectures. Some issues regarding compatibility, readability and interoperability are still unaddressed. Therefore, adopters are looking for an industry-wide standards that would ease their operations (Brown and Russell, 2007; Cheng and Yang, 2007; Juban and Wyld, 2004; Sharma and Citurs, 2005).

2.5.2 Implementation phase

After the decision to adopt RFID technology has been made, numerous factors need to be considered in order to implement the proposed system. The RFID implementation phase includes the methods, designs, and specifications involved in the deployment of RFID systems. The implementation of an RFID system is a complex task that involves both technical and human factors.

As RFID technology becomes more widely applicable, numerous researchers develop models or frameworks for the implementation of RFID systems. Developments in that regard include the development of a 4-step practical guide for implementing RFID (in plant and warehouse operations), consisting of business case justification and return on investment (ROI) analysis, design and architecture, software and system integration, and maintenance and support (Rockwell Automation, 2004); development of RFID deployment strategies consisting of preliminary planning, pilot, technical integration, and rollout phases after business justification (Brown, 2007); development of a 4-phase framework that involves the identification of business processes, piloting, system design and deployment, and sustenance and improvement (Bhuptani and Moradpour, 2005); definition of steps and critical success factors to ensure the proactive implementation of RFID systems (Jones and Chung, 2008); and
the development of deployment strategies for RFID implementation consisting of three phases, namely, business, infrastructure, and deployment environments. They also develop phase transition motivators as indicators for the implementing organisation of their progression at each stage (Lutton et al., 2008).

In order to capture the various frameworks for RFID implementation, Ting et al. (2013) propose a 6-step generic framework for the implementation of RFID systems synthesizing the frameworks discussed above and those published in the literature of various industrial applications. Table 2.3 summarizes the 6-step generic framework for the implementation of RFID systems by Ting et al. (2013). The various steps of the framework are discussed in the succeeding paragraphs.

Table 2.3: Generic framework for the implementation of RFID systems		
Steps	Description	Reference(s)
Project scoping	Understand the potential and	Angeles (2005); Vijayaraman and
	limitations of RFID technology	Osyk (2006); Wu et al. (2006);
	Define the project objectives	Attaran (2007); Reyes and Jaska
		(2007); Sellitto et al. (2007); Ngai
		et al. (2010)
Analysis of existing	Collect information	Soylemezoglu et al. (2006);
systems	Information analysis	Attaran (2007); Jaska (2007);
		Pålsson (2007); Huang and Tang
		(2008); Hellström (2009); Kim
		and Garrison (2010); Ngai et al.
		(2010)
System design	Requirement analysis Hardware/	Soylemezoglu et al. (2006); Reyes
	software selection Develop a	and Jaska (2007); Huang and
	new process	Tang (2008); Hellström (2009);
		Ngai et al. (2010)
Prototype testing	Debug	Reyes and Jaska (2007);
	System Adaptation	Soylemezoglu et al. (2006); Ngai
		et al. (2010)
Implementation	System deployment	Soylemezoglu et al. (2006);
	Training	Spekman and Sweeney (2006);
		Attaran (2007); Reyes and Jaska
		(2007); Ngai et al. (2010)
Continuous improvement	Monitoring	Ngai et al. (2010)
	Collect feedback from users	

2.5.2.1 Project scoping

The project scoping phase involves the definition of project objectives, assessment of potentials and limitations of the proposed system, and general project planning. This phase enables the management of expectations and provision of a clear direction for the project implementation team.

Understand the potential and the limitations of RFID technology

Organisations are prone to overestimating on minunderstanding the potentials of a new RFID system, thereby creating unrealistic expectations about the system (Hardgrave and Miller, 2006). Although multiple benefits can potentially be derived from RFID technology, it is paramount that organisations become aware of achievable targets and limitations before forging ahead to implement an RFID system.

Define the project objectives

It is important for the RFID implementation team to focus on identifying areas or processes that need to be improved by the proposed system. This enables the clear definition of the project scope and objectives. A clear scope and objectives in implementing the system will guide the organisation towards a productive programme and enable decision makers to develop well-defined boundaries for the implementation of the project (Ngai et al., 2010).

2.5.2.2 Analysis of existing systems

This phase involves information gathering, evaluation, and analysis of existing systems, in order to identify the processes and procedures that will be redesigned for the proposed system.

Gathering information

Data on existing systems, operation of the proposed system, and activities and processes will need to be gathered. This can be done using a variety of methods including interviews with employees and other key stakeholders, observation of front-line employees, etc.

Information analysis

After data collection, the information collected will be analyzed using multiple techniques and methodologies such as diagramming and workflow diagrams. In that way, areas for improvement can be identified and prioritized (mostly according to their impact on the organisation's performance). Those processes that are more likely to bring about more potential benefits to the organisation are thus given higher priority in implementation.

2.5.2.3 System design

This stage involves requirement analysis, hardware and software selection, and the development of the new processes that match the needs and requirements of the proposed system.

Requirement analysis

Requirement analysis involves assessing which processes need to be modified, redesigned, or optimized to improve process flow.

Hardware/Software selection

Selection of appropriate hardware and software is paramount to the success of RFID implementation as it directly determines the performance of an RFID system. This stage involves the identification, selection, and testing of hardware and software to be used in the proposed system. Typically, an RFID system comprises hardware items such as RFID tags, antenna and readers; which should be carefully selected to avoid interference and maximize performance. The software architecture, including the RFID middleware and the application level software also need to be selected and tested carefully. The testing of the hardware gives decision-makers a clearer picture of how the hardware and software items function in an integrated system, as well as providing data for measuring the reliability of the system.

Developing new processes

This stage is builds on findings from the requirement analysis stage. It involves either the modification or elimination of existing processes or the development of new ones. This is done in line with the project objectives.

2.5.2.4 Prototype Testing

This phase involves demo testing, debugging the technical system, and collecting feedback from users after the demo testing in order to aid users in understanding the system. The testing can be conducted in simulated environments or in the actual work environment.

<u>Debuqqinq</u>

Any bugs and/or system collisions in the hardware and software tests are detected in this stage. Scenario testing is conducted to assess the flexibility and capability of the system (Ting et al., 2013).

System adaptation

This stage involves reviewing and documenting problems encountered during the demo testing in order to fine- tune the system and resolve issues. This is necessary in order to ensure that the proposed RFID system will deliver the expected performance results.

2.5.2.5 Implementation

This phase takes place after system adaptation. It typically involves the installation and commissioning of hardware and software systems, change management, training, and system deployment. This stage is critical to the success of the implementation. Sometimes, implementation might not involve a clean changeover to the new system; the new RFID system may run side-by-side with an existing system, and the latter will phase out only when the performance of the new system is assured.

System deployment

System deployment includes the installation and commissioning of hardware and software systems, and the development of new procedures. This stage considers hardware and software issues such as antenna and tag positioning, and middleware configuration and deployment.

<u>Traininq</u>

This stage involves the provision of basic and technical training of users of the newly deployed RFID system. The training typically includes basic knowledge of operating the system, handson training in using the new system and the changed processes (Ting, et al., 2013). This is done in order to provide users with opportunities to understand the guidelines and precautions regarding using the new system.

2.5.2.6 Continuous improvement

This phase includes system monitoring and the collection of user feedback. It involves continuously evaluating the system's performance in line with pre-set objectives, enhancing the system with emergent technologies and/or adapting it to match the changing needs of the market.

<u>Monitoring</u>

This stage involves observing the performance of the newly deployed system addressing problems encountered. The actual performance of the system should be compared with the targets set during the system design stage.

Collecting feedback from users

This stage involves monitoring system performance, collecting user feedback, and tracking the development of new technology. Feedback from the different stakeholders of the newly

deployed system is collected and analysed in order to highlight potential technical and operational problem areas.

2.5.3 Post-implementation phase

The RFID post-implementation phase involves the processes after the launch of the RFID system. This phase primarily involves managing the benefits derived from the system.

2.5.3.1 Benefits derivable from RFID implementation

RFID benefits are defined as the advantages/profits that a firm derives, that are attributable to its use of RFID technology. Over the years, numerous cost-benefit analyses have been conducted to establish the feasibility and profitability of RFID investments.

RFID technology can improve various processes in numerous business operations (Roy et al., 2004; Bolan, 2005). Major benefits of RFID include its unique capability to share information with business partners, allowing collaboration on inventory management, planning, forecasting, and replenishment (Vijayaraman and Osyk, 2006). Multiple studies attest to the potential of RFID in building supply chain relationships, synchronizing supply and demand, and process optimization and improvement (Angeles, 2005; Michael and McCathie, 2005; Tracy, 2005; Bose & Pal, 2005; Arnold and Bures, 2003). Other studies such as Lin and Ku (2009), Zelbst et al. (2008a), Tzeng et al. (2007), and Hou and Huang (2006) have investigated the impact of RFID technology utilization and benefits derived on operational performance and/or supply chain performance. Table 2.4 provides a summary of RFID benefits derived from numerous studies conducted in recent years. The majority of the studies attempt to derive the economic benefits of RFID and/or ascertain the value of an RFID investment.

Table 2.4: Summary of benefits derivable from RFID implementation		
Benefits derivable from RFID	References	Main results/findings
Obtaining timely and accurate information	[1, 2, 11, 13, 214, 215, 224]	Frameworks and systematic approaches to reduce information distortion, amplification, and inventory inaccuracies.
Reducing shrinkage, misplaced inventory and transaction errors	[3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 142, 179, 161, 187, 188, 189, 191, 212, 219, 222, 242, 250]	Characterization of the major causes of inventory inaccuracy and analyses of the potential of RFID to eliminate the causes.
Improving replenishment of supplies	[21, 14, 15, 17, 18, 19, 20, 22, 12, 6, 16, 10, 220]	Design of RFID-based models and frameworks for the management of product replenishment.

Tackling product counterfeiting	[83, 85, 75, 79, 21, 74, 81, 82, 162]	Use of RFID for product authentication, tracking and tracing. Studies of the viability of RFID-based anti-counterfeiting systems.
Improving product flow	[135, 117, 148]	Use of RFID to enhance the responsiveness of logistics workflow and synchronize supply and demand in supply chains.
Improving forecasting	[136, 137]	Use of RFID-enabled inventory models to track, dispatch and forecast materials.
	[143, 147, 168, 172, 175, 192, 193, 244, 255, 256]	Development of RFID-enabled real-time monitoring systems to improve visibility, control and operation of manufacturing equipment and routines.
Improving distribution planning and fleet management	[144, 146, 170, 195, 196, 213, 216, 232]	Use of RFID for accurate, secure and reliable product distribution and fleet management through the provision of automatic identification of objects, asset tracking, geofencing (i.e., restricting products and assets to specific geographical areas or locations or denying access to premises).
Enabling in-transit product visibility, including condition monitoring	[180, 156, 159, 160, 161, 173, 176, 194]	Use of RFID to facilitate the capture of accurate and timely data in mobile environments and/or about products in transit (including for monitoring the physical conditions of products and dynamic routing of vehicles).
Improving warehouse management	[138, 167, 174, 176, 180, 199]	Design and implementation of RFID-enabled systems for effectively determining optimal storage spaces and conditions, and for improving quality assurance of inventory receiving and dispatching processes.
Improving reverse logistics	[43, 66, 67, 68, 169, 231, 247]	Tracking and controlling of reusable products and assets; inventory management of recycled products; return centre/warehouse management; enhancing the user value of recovered products. See also "closed- loop product lifecycle management" below.
	[23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 143, 175, 31, 32, 140, 151, 154, 163, 198, 201, 33, 34, 35, 36, 37, 38, 39, 40, 41, 42, 155, 172, 43, 44, 45, 46, 47, 48, 49, 50, 51, 52, 53, 54, 55, 56, 57, 58, 59, 60, 61, 62, 63, 64, 65, 139, 149, 153, 165, 197, 202, 203, 200, 209, 210, 211, 218, 229, 245, 246, 248, 252, 257]	Use of RFID to plan, monitor and reconfigure the flow of information, production processes and product so as to increase the overall system throughput, efficiency, responsiveness and effectiveness. Use of RFID to improve (a) the integration of timely and accurate data flows into information systems, (b) system-to-system communication, and (c) better intra- and inter-organizational business process integration.
Enabling product tracking	[69, 169, 71, 72, 73, 145, 166, 177, 204, 205, 221]	Impact of RFID on product lifecycle management in closed-loop supply chains. Development of RFID-based models to process and meet recycled product and component demand. Design of RFID-based systems for

	collecting product usage data for the sake of proactive
	product maintenance.

1-Dai and Tseng (2012), 2-Rekik (2011), 3-Camdereli and Swaminathan (2010), 4-Uckun et al. (2008), 5-Sahin et al. (2008), 6-Rekik et al. (2007), 7-Heese (2007), 8-Sari (2008), 9-Fleisch and Tellkamp (2005), 10-Kang and Gershwin (2004), 11-Bottani and Rizzi (2008), 12-Wang et al. (2008), 13-Bottani et al. (2010), 14- Chew et al. (2013), 15-Su and Roan (2013), 16-Kok et al. (2008), 17-Duan and Liao (2013), 18-Poon et al. (2011), 19-Wang et al. (2010), 20-Bendavid et al. (2010), 21-Bendavid and Boeck (2011), 22-Gaukler (2010), 23-Balocco et al. (2011), 24-Zhang et al. (2010), 25-Lee and Park (2008), 26-Sari (2010), 27-Hong et al. (2010), 28-Bhakoo and Chan (2011), 29-Brintrup et al. (2010), 30-Wang et al. (2010), **31**-Hellström and Wiberg (2010), **32**-Chen et al. (2013), **33**-Zelbst et al. (2010), **34**-Ustundag and Ikcan (2008), 35-Liu et al. (2008), 36-Yang et al. (2013), 37-Swartz et al. (2010), 38-Liu and Chen (2009), 39-Shin et al. (2011), 40-Yuksel and Yuksel (2011), 41-Dash (2011), 42-Zhang et al. (2012), 43-Zhou and Piramuthu (2013), 44-Ko et al. (2011), 45-Chatziantoniou et al. (2011), 46-Brusey and McFarlane (2009), 47-Wang et al. (2011), 48-Mehrjerdi (2013), 49-Zelbst et al. (2012), 50-Wamba (2012), 51-Bendavid et al. (2012), 52-Hong et al. (2011), 53-Kvarnström and Vanhatalo (2010), 54-Ngai et al. (2009), 55-Ngai et al. (2008), 56-Wamba and Boeck (2008), 57-Wang et al. (2007), 58-Chow et al. (2007), 59-Costa et al. (2013), 60-Zhang and Li (2012), 61-Azevedo and Carvalho (2012), 62-Bjork et al. (2011), 63-Curran and Porter (2007), 64-Jaselskis et al. (2003), 65-Klundert et al. (2008), 66-Nativi and Lee (2012), 67-Vishwa and Felix (2010), 68-Visich and Khumawala (2007), 69-Ondemir et al. (2012), 70-Thoroe et al. (2009), 71-Cao et al. (2009), 72-Stankovski et al. (2009), 73-Jun et al. (2009), 74-Kwok et al. (2010), 75-Catarinucci et al. (2012), 76-Alomair et al. (2011), 77-Revere et al. (2010), 78-Shi et al. (2012), 79-Rahman and Ahamed (2012), 80-Juels (2006), 81-Kwok et al. (2010), 82-Coutasse et al. (2010), 83-Li (2013), 84-Baldini et al. (2012), 85-Schapranow et al. (2011), 86-Muir (2007), 87-Szmerekovsky et al. (2011), 88-Miragliotta et al. (2009), 89-Langer et al. (2007), 90-Gaukler et al. (2007), 91-Lee and Ozer (2007), 92-Choi (2011), 93-Gaukler (2011), 94-Ustundag and Tanyas (2009), 95-Hozak and Collier (2008), 96-Amini et al. (2007), 97-Caridi et al. (2013), 98-Vlachos (2013), 99-Anand and Wamba (2013), 100-Mehrjerdi (2010), 101-Wen et al. (2009), 102-Wen and Chang (2008), 103-Miragliotta et al. (2009), 104-Visich et al. (2009), 105-Whitaker et al. (2007), 106-Vijarayaman and Osyk (2006), 107-Hou and Houang (2006), 108-Lai et al. (2005), 109-Karkkainen (2003), 110-Veronneau and Roy (2009), 111-Ross et al. (2009), 112-Azevedo and Ferreira (2009), 113-Kumar et al. (2009), 114-Gaukler and Hausman (2008), 115-Cannon et al. (2008), 116-Delen et al. (2007), 117-Karaer and Lee (2007), 118-Jones et al. (2007), 119-Yu (2007), 120-Wang et al. (2006), 121-Higgins and Cairney (2006), 122-Angeles (2005), 123-Asif and Mandviwalla (2005), 124-Jones et al. (2005), 125-Srivastava (2004), 126-Page (2000), 127-Lee and Lee (2012), 128-Ustundag (2010), 129-Bosona and Gebresenbet (2013), 130-Smart et al. (2010), 131-Bendavid et al. (2009), 132-Li et al. (2006), 133-Attaran (2007), 134-Barut et al. (2006), 135-Lee et al. (2011), 136-Saygin (2007), 137-Baars et al. (2009), 138-Yoon and Zhou (2011), 139-Garcia et al. (2007), 140-Bureau et al. (2011), 141-Bottani et al. (2009), 142-Hardgrave et al. (2009), 143-Brintrup et al. (2010), 144-Schmidt et al. (2013), 145-Singh and Midha (2008), 146-Will and Blecker (2012), 147-Huang et al. (2012), 148-Kvarnstrom et al. (2011), 149-Bendavid and Cassivi (2010), 150-Veeramani et al. (2008), 151-Meiller et al. (2011), 152-Jeong and Lu (2008), 153-Chong and Chan (2012), 154-Castro et al. (2013), 155-Safari et al. (2013), 156-Angeles (2013), 157-Wei and Zhang (2013), 158-Mirza and Brohi (2013), 159-Nguyen et al. (2013), 160-Grunow and Piramuthu (2013), 161-Bertolini et al. (2013), 162-Chen et al. (2012), 163-Yan et al. (2012), 164-Bhattacharya (2012), 165-Memon and Khoja (2012), 166-Maleki and Meiser (2011), 167-Lao et al. (2011), **168**-Ferrer et al. (2011), **169**-Thoroe et al. (2011), **170**-Ngai et al. (2011), **171**-Sandhya and Rangaswamy (2011), 172-Zhang et al. (2011), 173-Shi et al. (2010), 174-Dimitropoulos and Soldatos (2010), 175-Wang (2010), 176-Zeimpekis et al. (2010), 177-Luttropp and Johansson (2010), 178-Ngai et al. (2010), 179-Hardgrave et al. (2013), 180-Singh et al. (2008), 181-Lee et al. (2012), 182-Yazici (2014), 183-Leung et al. (2014), 184-Tsekrekos et al. (2014), 185-Roper et al. (2014), 186-Gastaldi et al. (2014), 187-Lam et al. (2014), 188-Fan et al. (2014), 189-Thiesse and Buckel (2015), 190-Fan et al. (2015), 191-Wang et al. (2014), 192-Zelbst et al. (2014), 193-Zhong et al. (2015), 194Mejjaouli and Babiceanu (2015), 195-Zhong et al. (2015), 196-Jagga et al. (2014), 197-Chen et al. (2014), 198-Yang et al. (2014), 199-Sooksaksun and Sudsertsin (2014), 200-Eksioglu and Shin (2015), 201-Chung et al. (2014), 202-Choi et al. (2015), 203-Kapoor et al. (2014), 204-Kumar and Rahman (2014), 205-Glock and Kim (2014), 206-Ray et al. (2014), 207-Ding et al. (2014), 208-Ma and Saxena (2014), 209-Gertts and O'leary (2014), 210-Kapoor et al. (2011), 211-Zhou et al. (2012), 212-Chan et al. (2012), 213-Ngai et al. (2012), 214-Zhou and Piramuthu (2015), 215-Zhou and Piramuthu (2015), 216-Ngai et al. (2007), 217-Zhou et al. (2009), 218-Oztekin et al. (2010), 219-Çakıcı et al. (2011), 220-Condea et al. (2012), 221-Bottani et al. (2014), 222- Bertolini et al. (2013), 223-Rinaldi and Bandinelli (2015), 224-Hinkka et al. (2015), 225-Yan et al. (2012), 226-Bertolini et al. (2012), 227-Hinkka (2012), 228-Vecchi and Brennan (2010), 229-Nummela et al. (2009), 230-Bottani et al. (2009), 231-Uckelmann et al. (2009), 232-Meyer-Larsen et al. (2012), 233-Maffia et al. (2012), 234-Whang (2010), 235-Thiesse et al. (2009), 236-Hsiaoping (2013), 237-Wamba and Chatfield (2009), 238-Cheon-pyo and Shim (2007), 239-Kapoor et al. (2009), 240-Kasiri et al. (2012), 241-Bose et al. (2009), 242-Kök and Shang (2014), 243-White et al. (2008), 244-Piramuthu et al. (2013), 245-Jimenez et al. (2013), 246-Chongwatpol and Sharda (2013), 247-Ondemir and Gupta (2014), 248-Zhou (2009), 249-Kim and Sohn (2009), 250-Xu et al. (2012), 251-Zhou and Piramuthu (2012), 252-Cinicioglu and Shenoy (2012), 253-Cui et al. (2016), 254-Yang et al.(2016), 255-Barenji et al. (2016), 256-Appelhanz et al. (2016), 257-Kim et al. (2016)

2.6 Review implications

The findings of this review illustrate the determinants of RFID adoption. In particular, the importance of technological, organisational and environmental factors on determining RFID adoption is highlighted. However, the effects of these factors on RFID adoption vary across different cultural and industrial contexts. Thus, there is a need to analyze the determinants of RFID adoption and how they interact with organisational and industrial culture in order to obtain a better understanding of RFID adoption.

Although various studies have explored how RFID can provide benefits to businesses, the high cost, to the firm, of implementing RFID calls for an optimal decision to be made on whether or not to adopt the technology. Therefore, it is necessary for researchers to study and quantify the achievable benefits of RFID and balance them against the cost of adopting RFID. In this regard, a framework is needed, which takes as input some key quantifiable firm and/or supply chain characteristics and yields an advisory concerning the benefit versus the cost of implementing RFID. In other words, simple rules of thumb on the benefits of RFID are needed. This would enable practitioners to meaningfully and affordably examine the relationship between RFID adoption and its benefits. There is equally a need to concretely characterize what "benefits" imply. For example, in the case of business benefits, it is necessary to map the dimensions and sub-dimensions that may be used to define business benefits.

The benefits of RFID are likely to be moderated by factors such as firm size, business/industrial sector of the firm, product line, business structure and strength of culture, existing information technologies and systems, the business process re-engineering that must accompany RFID adoption, external environment, etc. The external environment is determined by elements such as the available basic infrastructure, present communication systems, economic conditions, regulatory policies, taxation, culture, skills market, manpower costs, and climate. The extents to which these factors influence the benefits derivable from RFID investments have not been well studied in the extant literature.

Numerous studies highlight the contribution of RFID in supporting more responsive and efficient logistics activities, improving product quality, customer satisfaction, and hence overall supply chain efficiency (Mehrjerdi, 2013; Zelbst et al. 2012; Wang et al. 2011; Brusey and McFarlane, 2009). However, realizing these benefits is dependent on the nature, efficiency and effectiveness of intra- and inter-organisational culture, processes and information systems. Therefore, further research is needed, on the one hand, to explore the impact of RFID on legacy information systems and intra- and inter-organisational setups and processes, and, on the other hand, to identify and understand how these processes can be optimized by RFID.

In a survey of RFID user community, Musa et al. (2014) found that users prefer open and interoperable systems to proprietary systems (tags, readers, middleware, and data exchange infrastructure and formats between RFID and legacy backend ERP systems). However, the development of compatible RFID platforms and systems seems is still far behind expectation. Full compatibility between RFID systems, and between RFID and other sensor types and communication protocols, is needed if RFID is to play the roles that have been projected for it in the era of Internet of Things (IoT). Fortunately, industry and government directives are gradually leading to common standards across industries and technologies, permitting future interoperability across devices (Wu et al., 2013; Farris et al., 2013; Xu and Chen, 2013; Gao et al., 2012).

2.7 Summary

This chapter provides a comprehensive review of RFID application in different industrial settings. The review highlights the importance of numerous factors in influencing RFID

adoption decisions, implementation processes, and benefits. These factors can be classified under technological, organisational, or environmental contexts. Therefore, the decision to utilize the TOE framework to explore the aims and objectives of this study is justified.

The review also highlights that multiple benefits can be derived from RFID implementation. However, RFID system implementation is complex and not only relates to the technical aspects of system development and deployment but also involves human, organisational, and environment issues, business processes, project management skills and knowledge, and support and commitment from management and staff. Therefore, the next chapter proposes a research framework for RFID system adoption and implementation that consists of a multistage process and takes these factors into account. The next chapter aims to meet the need for a more comprehensive approach into investigating drivers and barriers of RFID adoption; one which should include investigating organisational, environmental and technological aspects of RFID adoption.

CHAPTER 3 – RESEARCH FRAMEWORK

3.1 Introduction

As highlighted in the previous chapter, numerous studies provide evidence that a variety of factors influence decisions to adopt RFID. However, most of the studies simply focus on the technology itself, often disregarding broader societal, organisational, cultural, and economic factors that often determine how a new technology is adopted (Baker, 2011). Thus, the studies have fallen short of drawing important conclusions that can be applied in practice (Hsu et al., 2006). Thus, RFID adoption and benefits remain the key focus for organisations.

This chapter proposes a research framework to investigate and understand key factors that influence RFID adoption, and its subsequent implementation processes and benefits. It aims to meet the need for a more comprehensive approach into investigating drivers and barriers of RFID adoption; one which should include investigating privacy, security, regulatory, and cultural aspects of RFID adoption. The extant literature on RFID, along with the technology– organisation–environment (TOE) framework derived by Tornatzky and Fleischer (1990) and the Diffusion-Of-Innovation (DOI) theory of Rogers (1995), were used as the theoretical models to identify and group the factors investigated into 3 main categories: technological determinants, organisational determinants, and environmental determinants. The TOE and DOI frameworks provide a good starting point when analysing appropriate factors for understanding the selection process of auto-ID technologies (Wang et al., 2010b).

For each category, the key factors that influence RFID adoption, implementation, and benefits were identified based on a comprehensive review of the literature on IS implementation, RFID in supply chain management, and RFID implementation reports. This allows factors investigated to be based not only on theoretical technological adoption models but on social and industrial processes by which diffusion of innovation/technology occurs.

The main aim of the proposed framework is to enable a structured and systematic investigation into our research questions (section 1.3); explain the critical issues within the decision making process of RFID technology adoption; and determine the interaction of technological, organisational, and environmental characteristics with RFID adoption and implementation processes, and with benefits derived subsequently. The framework is

expected to offer an effective guide to better understanding RFID adoption decisions and benefits. The framework requires empirical validation by the researcher, which is reported in Chapters 5 of this thesis.

3.2 Developing the framework

A research framework is a written or visual presentation that "explains either graphically, or in narrative form, the main issues to be studied – the key factors, concepts or variables and the presumed relationship among them" (Huberman and Miles, 1998). It consists of concepts and, together with their definitions and reference to relevant literature, existing theory that is used for a particular study. According to Swanson and Richard (2013), a research framework must demonstrate an understanding of theories and concepts that are relevant to the research aim and questions and relate to the broader areas of knowledge being considered.

A research framework is also used to limit the scope of the relevant data by focusing on specific variables and defining the specific viewpoint (framework) that the researcher will take in analyzing and interpreting the data to be gathered. It also facilitates the understanding of concepts and variables according to given definitions and builds new knowledge by validating or challenging theoretical assumptions.

Trochim (2006) and Swanson and Richard (2013) suggest strategies to develop of an effective research framework. These include

- Identification of research problem and key research variables The research problem should be clearly stated as it anchors the entire study and forms the basis from which the research framework is constructed. This is followed by the identification of the key variables in the research.
- Review relevant literature and key social science theories Investigate how previous works have addressed the/a related research problem. Identify the assumptions from which the researcher(s) addressed the problem. Identify and choose the theory that can best explain the relationships between the key variables in the study.
- Develop constructs and propositions Group variables into independent and dependent categories. Proceed to review the theories, assess their relevance to your research, and formulate hypotheses to be investigated.

Although RFID is often considered simply as an input device to an Information System (IS) (Stair and Reynolds, 2008), many practitioners consider and treat the technology to be an IS in its own right and therefore reap more benefits from its implementation (Doerr et al., 2006). Consequently, this study adopts the strategies suggested by Trochim (2006) and Swanson and Richard (2013) in developing a research framework and reviews relevant IS literature and literature on RFID.

Extant literature on IS implementation has been categorised into either factor or process research (Sambamurthy and Kirsch, 2000; and Newman and Robey, 1992). Factor research involves adopting survey research methodologies in identifying the factors or determinants that are critical for the successful adoption and deployment of IS systems (Aladwani, 2001). Using the factor approach, this framework derives a set of factors and sub-factors that influence RFID adoption decisions through the synthesis and analysis of extant IS and RFID literature. On the other hand, process research involves sequencing of discrete and collective activities and events in order to achieve an outcome of particular interest (Pettigrew, 1997). For example, some studies under the process approach have investigated the adoption of IS in supply chains and found that the interaction between the strategic analysis (for instance network structure, business processes and management component) and the technological analysis is crucial in the technology adoption process (Ilie-Zudor et al., 2011).

Although factor research is valuable for advancing understanding of the IS adoption process, it adopts a static view (Aladwani, 2001), which limits its adequacy in explaining the dynamics of the technology adoption process. Aladwani (2001) suggests a process research approach or a combination of factor and process approaches in order to improve research in IS topics. Therefore, this study adopts both factor and process approaches to investigate RFID adoption, implementation, and benefits within organisations. This study does that by first using the factor approach to identify, from the synthesis and analysis the extant IS and RFID literature, a comprehensive set of factors and sub-factors that influence RFID adoption decisions. Building on the technology–organisation–environment (TOE) framework of Tornatzky and Fleischer (1990) and the Diffusion of Innovation model of Rogers (1995), this study develops a research framework that categorises the identified factors. On the other hand, using the process approach, this research identifies all the key steps and activities in the RFID

implementation process. These include project scoping; analysis of existing systems; system design; prototype testing; implementation; and continuous improvement.

The proposed research framework, guided by relevant theories and literature, provides a platform to investigate and understand the key factors and sub-factors that influence RFID technology adoption decisions, implementation processes and benefits. In doing so, it gives the basis for hypotheses formulation and choice of research methods in Chapter 4. It also enables the researcher to specify which key variables influence RFID adoption decisions, implementation processes, and benefits and highlight the need to examine how those key variables might differ and under what circumstances. Finally, it supports the researcher to investigate the hypotheses enacted with empirical findings in Chapter 5. This enables the researcher to address the research questions of the study.

3.3 The research problem

Despite RFID being considered the prime technology of 21st century management (Chao et al., 2007; Wyld, 2006), its adoption is still being weighed down by a variety of issues including technological uncertainties, competition with established auto-ID technologies (e.g. bar code), costly software and services, data management challenges, unclear Return-On-Investments (ROIs), and global standardization issues (Dortch, 2008; Bose and Lam, 2008; Vijayaraman and Osyk, 2006; Li et al., 2006; Wu et al., 2006). Consequently, organisations still struggle to make informed, optimal decisions on whether or not to adopt the technology.

Numerous studies on factors that influence the adoption and diffusion of RFID (Alqahtani and Wamba, 2012; Wang et al., 2010; Li et al., 2010; Lin, 2009; Schmitt and Michahelles, 2009; and Sharma et al., 2007) have been conducted. However, the majority of these studies fail to draw important conclusions that can be applied in practice, as they are limited to simply focusing on the technology itself, often disregarding complex organisational, cultural, and environmental factors that determine how a new technology is adopted, its diffusion within organisations, and how benefits derived from its implementation interact with organisation characteristics (Oliveira and Martins, 2011; MacVaugh and Schiavone, 2010). Thus, there remains a need to develop an advisory framework, one which considers quantifiable firm characteristics and the costs and benefits of implementing RFID, in guiding organisational decisions on RFID adoption. For example, it is necessary to determine how RFID adoption

decisions, RFID implementation processes, and derivable RFID benefits interact with factors such as business size, business structure and culture, existing information technologies and systems, and business process re-engineering. The extents to which these factors influence the organisational decision to adopt RFID, the RFID implementation process, and benefits derivable from RFID investments have not been well studied in the extant literature. Therefore, the proposed framework seeks to provide a platform and a guide to investigate the impact of technological, organisational and environmental factors on organisational decision to adopt RFID, and its subsequent implementation processes and benefits. It is expected that findings from this research will aid in clearing the ambiguity surrounding factors that influence RFID adoption decisions and their interactions with organisational characteristics.

3.4 Key variables/constructs

Six key constructs make up the research framework. These are: Determinants of RFID adoption; RFID adoption decision; Organisational factors; RFID implementation processes; RFID benefits; and RFID-related factors. The constructs were developed from the Diffusion of Innovation (DOI) theory (Rogers, 1995) and the Technology-Organisation-Environmental (TOE) framework (Tornatzky & Fleischer, 1990), extant literature on RFID implementation in organisations, and RFID implementation reports from industry. Further details of how each variable/construct was derived are given in the succeeding section.

Figure 3.1 illustrates key constructs of the research framework. The headed arrows signify the direction of movement in an RFID system deployment process. An encircled number refers to a particular construct discussed in this chapter. As illustrated in the figure, the drivers and constraints (①) influence the decision to adopt RFID (②). When the decision to adopt RFID is made, the process continues to implementation (③), and finally to benefits (④). A key determinant of RFID is perceived benefits, therefore the benefits derived can influence the further implementation of RFID systems. For example, benefits from pilot projects can lead to full/wider implementation.

Details of all key constructs of the research framework are explained in sections 3.4.1 to 3.4.6, including how they were derived.



Key:

1. Determinants of adoption include factors derived from the DOI model (Rogers, 1995), TOE framework (Tornatzky and Fleischer, 1990), & RFID literature. They include:

- Technological determinants: perceived RFID benefits, perceived RFID standards convergence, availability of IT/IS infrastructure, capital and recurrent costs, technical issues, security
- **Organisational determinants:** financial readiness, global expansion, manpower availability, requirements for business process change
- **Environmental determinants:** industrial and competitive pressure, government support, privacy, regulatory pressure

2. RFID adoption decision is considered as a binary option: YES or NO. The organisations to be surveyed include those that have adopted RFID and those that are yet to adopt RFID.

3. RFID implementation processes were derived from Ting et al. (2013) and Ngai et al. (2013) who propose a 6-step generic framework for the implementation of RFID systems based upon the synthesis of the frameworks discussed above and those published in the literature of various industrial applications. The processes include: project scoping, analysis of existing systems, system design, prototype testing, implementation, and continuous improvement.

Arrow signifies direction of movement in RFID system deployment. The adoption decision is informed by determinants. When the decision to adopt is made, the process continues to implementation, and finally to benefits. A key determinant of RFID is perceived benefits, therefore the benefits derived can influence the further implementation of RFID systems. For example, benefits from pilot projects can lead to full/wider implementation.

Dashed arrow signifies relationship between variables

N Each circled number refers to a particular construct discussed in this chapter **4.** RFID benefits investigated were derived from numerous RFID literature (Srivasta, 2007; Jarugumilli and Grasman, 2007; Lee and Ozer, 2007; Wamba et al., 2006; Hou and Houang, 2006) and were categorised into four categories of the Balance Scorecard (BSC) proposed by Kaplan and Norton (2004). These are: financial, internal processes, customer, and learning and growth.

5. Organisational factors: Three pertinent factors that influence RFID adoption, implementation, and benefits were considered. These are strength of culture, business size, and BPR; and were derived from IS Literature, Culture and performance literature, and RFID literature.

6. RFID-related factors: Three factors were considered.

- Product Unit Level of Tagging (PULT): container level, pallet level, case level and Item level
- Organisational pedigree in RFID: "fully conversant with all aspects of RFID", "understand most of the concepts of RFID", "understand the principles of RFID", or "Little Knowledge of RFID but system works for us"
- RFID implementation stage: pilot stage, partial implementation stage, or full implementation stage

Figure 3.1: The research framework

<u>3.4.1 Determinants of RFID adoption (1)</u>

One of the most popular topics in technology adoption research is the identification of factors that influence the adoption process, with the aim of facilitating or guiding the way to achieving best adoption procedures (Loraas and Wolfe, 2006). Ngai et al. (2008) advocate the importance of understanding the concepts of RFID adoption and identifying and analyzing drivers and barriers affecting RFID adoption decisions. Thus, with a view to understanding how individuals, organisations, and groups may perceive the viability of adopting RFID, numerous studies (Algahtani and Wamba, 2012; Schmitt and Michahelles, 2009; Huber et al., 2007; Eckfeldt, 2005; Swanton, 2005; Asif and Mandviwalla, 2005; Walker, 2004) have adopted the TOE framework, DOI model, and various other technology adoption models as platforms on which to study the adoption and diffusion of RFID. These studies provide evidence that a variety of factors influence decisions to adopt RFID. However, most of the studies simply focus on the technology itself, often disregarding broader societal, organisational, cultural, and economic factors that often determine how a new technology is adopted (Baker, 2011). Thus, the studies have fallen short of drawing important conclusions that can be applied in practice (Hsu et al., 2006). In that regard, there still remains a need for a more comprehensive approach into investigating drivers and barriers of RFID adoption; one which should include investigating privacy, security, regulatory, and cultural aspects of RFID adoption. Consequently, this study investigates factors adopted from technology adoption frameworks, extant literature, and from interactions with industry experts and practitioners. This allows factors investigated to be based not only on theoretical technological adoption models but on social and industrial processes by which diffusion of innovation/technology occurs.

At the organisational level, a firm is motivated by its objectives, challenges, and/or environment. Thus, it sets out to gain necessary information and knowledge to inform its decision on technology adoption. In this research framework, the factors that encourage or compel organisations to adopt RFID are regarded to as 'drivers'.

Despite advancements in efforts for global standardization, lower costs of components, and widening applicability supporting the growth of RFID, there still remain a number of challenges that prevent the technology from widespread adoption. In this research framework, these challenges are referred to as 'constraints'.

Both drivers and constraints are termed "determinants" in this framework, and were derived from and categorised under the three contexts of the TOE framework of Tornatzky and Fleisher (1990).

Table 3.1 details the literature from which the determinants of RFID adoption (those constituting the research framework) were derived. This table is then followed by a more detailed discussion of the determinants.

Table 3.1: Publications from which the determinants (drivers and constraints) of RFID adoption were derived		
Classification	Determinant(s)	Reference(s)
	Relative advantage/perceived benefits	Paydar (2013), Attaran (2012); Goethals and Newlands (2011); Srivastava (2004); Wamba et al. (2006); (Jarugumilli and Grasman (2007); Lee and Ozer (2007); Hou and Huang (2006); Rogers (1995)
Technological determinants	Perceived RFID standards convergence	Huber et al. (2007); GS1 Australia (2006); Ngai (2007); Cheng and Yang (2007); Juban and Wyld (2004)
determinants	Availability of IT/IS infrastructure	Mitchell and Zmud (1999); Rogers (1995); Tornatzky and Fleischer (1990)
	Capital and recurrent costs	Ngai et al. (2007); Park and Rim (2011)
	Technical issues	OECD (2006); Zhu et al. (2003); Zhu et al. (2006)
	Compliance issues	Rogers (1995); Huber et al. (2007); Borecki (2005)
	Security issues	Ngai et al. (2007); Finkenzeller (2003); Ngai (2007)
	Top management initiative	Rogers (1995); Tornatzky and Fleischer (1990); Park and Rim (2011)
	Financial readiness	Walczuch et al. (2000); Ghobakhloo et al. (2011b); Nguyen (2009); Rangone (1999); Rogers (1995)
	Global expansion	Zhu et al. (2004); Wang (2010)
Organisational determinants	Organisational technical capability	Rogers (1995); Tornatzky and Fleischer (1990);
	Manpower (skills) shortages	Walczuch et al. (2000); Thong (1999); Morgan et al. (2006); Nguyen (2009); Ghonakhloo et al. (2011b); Rogers (1995); Tornatzky and Fleischer (1990)
	Requirements for business process change	Park and Rim (2011); Rogers (1995); Tornatzky and Fleischer (1990)
	Industrial, regulatory, media, dominant partner, professional and trade association, and competitive pressures	Nguyen (2009); Drew (2003); Mole et al. (2004); Premkumar (2003); Premkumar and Roberts (1999); Riemenschneider et al. (2003); Tornatzky and Fleischer (1990); Rogers (1995)
	Government support	Ahuja et al. (2009); Southern and Tilley (2000); Tan et al. (2009); Yap et al. (1994)
Environmental determinants	Industrial sector/ transactional climate	Ghobakhloo et al. (2011a); Seyal (2000); Rogers (1995); Tornatzky and Fleischer (1990)
	Regulatory environment	Deloite (2005); Tornatzky and Fleischer (1990); Ngai (2007)
	Wider society/privacy	Barut et al. (2006); Ngai (2007)
	Unwillingness to use RFID	RFID Journal Report (2014); Hossain and Prybutok (2008)
	Lack of industry standards	Huber et al. (2007); Ngai et al. (2007); Finkenzeller (2003); Cheng and Yang (2007); Juban and Wyld (2004)

3.4.1.1 Technological drivers and constraints of RFID adoption

The technological factors include equipment, component and process-related factors that drive and constrain RFID adoption. These include:

- Relative advantage/Perceived RFID benefits These represent the benefits derivable from RFID technology adoption. Paydar (2013), Attaran (2012) and Goethals and Newlands (2011) state that organisations which implement RFID are driven to adoption by the promise of achieving benefits, particularly achieving higher efficiency, better supply chain monitoring and better collaboration with partners. Some researchers have used empirical methods to identify which RFID benefits are achievable in real-life settings (Srivastava, 2004; Wamba et al., 2006). Others have used analytical models to estimate the amount of quantifiable benefits, such as labour cost savings, operation time savings, shrinkage reduction, and increased order fulfilment rates (Jarugumilli and Grasman, 2007; Lee and Ozer, 2007; Hou and Huang, 2006). Overall, perceived RFID benefits generally stem from the following:
 - (i) Visibility through the capture of real-time, accurate and timely data, RFID increases equipment, inventory, and business process visibility. It also increases efficiency by optimizing business processes and automating asset and inventory management.
 - (ii) Automation reducing manual processes through automated scanning and data entry improves productivity, thus allowing resources to be reallocated to higher value activities.
 - (iii) Integrity improving the integrity of real-time supply-chain information, with increased authentication and security and tracking capabilities, thereby reducing errors, shrinkage and counterfeiting while improving customer satisfaction.
 - (iv) Speed and accuracy minimizing the time spent finding and tracking needed assets, in turn increasing product flow and handling speeds.
 - (v) Insight providing the real-time information needed to make faster, betterinformed decisions and the ability to be more responsive to the customer.
 - (vi) Capability providing new applications and quality to meet supply-chain partner demands and enhance customer experiences.

- Perceived RFID standards convergence Numerous organisations adopt RFID having already invested large amounts of time and capital into refining existing legacy systems (Huber et al., 2007). Consequently, organisations are interested in the convergence of RFID and their existing systems, often demanding RFID vendors integrate both technologies into their supply chain processes. Technology standards need to converge if RFID and legacy systems such as barcodes are to coexist (Ngai, 2007). Developments in the convergence of Universal Product Code (UPC), European Article Number (EAN) and Electronic Product Code (EPC) standards have driven organisations towards adopting RFID without having to worry about potential system and component incompatibility between RFID and legacy systems (Huber et al., 2007).
- Availability of IS/IT infrastructure Broadly, IT infrastructure refers to enabling technologies, outsourcing arrangements, and policies (Mitchell and Zmud, 1999). IT infrastructure, according to Mitchell and Zmud (1999), includes both technical and organisational capabilities that enable organisations to share and effectively leverage IT resources. The availability of adequate IT infrastructure enables clear definition and design of RFID system architecture, and linkages between tags, readers, edge-of-network middleware, and an organisation's various IT systems, and thus drives organisations towards adopting RFID.
- Capital and recurrent costs A major challenge organisations face with RFID system deployment is that of high cost of implementation. Organisations often struggle to develop a viable business case or work out a favourable return on investment (ROI). Cost-benefit analyses are critical to the successful implementation of RFID systems. The cost of RFID adoption is the major investment in hardware, application software, middleware, tags and the cost of integrating RFID-based system with the legacy systems, consultancy fees and employee training (Ngai et al., 2007). The financial burden of RFID systems hinders organisations, mainly SMEs, from adopting the technology (Park and Rim, 2011), whereas the availability of sufficient financial resources drives organisations towards adoption.
- Technical issues Numerous technical challenges arise from the use of RFID systems. As radio waves can pass through most objects, the combination of materials, operating frequencies, associated power and environment can prove to be

problematic and thus must be managed effectively (Zhu et al., 2003; Zhu et al., 2006). Interference is a main issue. Indeed, there are multiple sources of potential background interference as tags and readers attempt two-way communication. The first source of interference is that data signals of one reader can collide with those of another (reader collision). Furthermore, a proliferation of wireless devices (mobile phones, consumer electronics devices, etc.), also creates potential for electromagnetic interference with RFID systems (OECD, 2006). As RFID does not have its own dedicated frequency band in most jurisdictions, but rather, operates in bands that are shared with other users, interference becomes a significant problem by deteriorating the accuracy of RFID systems. Interference can lead to poor tag readrates or complete tag failure. If they are to become widespread, RFID applications will increasingly need to take radio magnetic interference from other devices into account in RFID component design and use (OECD, 2006).

- Compliance issues There are some regulatory matters of which RFID manufacturers, designers, and operators should be aware. Key RFID regulatory issues include compliance with the Federal Communications Commission's (FCC) rules and regulations, and the probability of multiplying state privacy laws. Ignorance of the law could impede deployment of even the most efficient and well-designed RFID systems (Ronald et al. 2005).
- Security issues RFID technology has proven to be reliable, especially in supply chains, and is already showing tremendous advantages. But an automated supply chain mandates the necessity for data privacy, identity and non-refutability, and organisations should ensure the RFID technology they adopt supports their security requirements. Organisations need to be aware of the security risks, such as profiling, eavesdropping, denial of service attacks and inventory jamming (Ngai et al., 2007). Consequently, security is yet another technological challenge that RFID faces, particularly because current secure protocols developed include cryptographic features which increase cost and often reduce speed of RFID systems.

3.4.1.2 Organisational drivers and constraints of RFID adoption

The organisational factors refer to the characteristics and resources of the firm, including the firm's size, degree of centralization, degree of formalization, managerial structure, human

resources, amount of slack resources, and linkages among employees. Numerous organisational characteristics influence the adoption processes of RFID systems. These include organisational strategies, business size, information intensity, organisational culture and technological maturity (Acar et al., 2005; Caldeira and Ward, 2003; De Burca et al., 2005; Drew, 2003; Levy et al., 2001; Love et al., 2005; Mole et al., 2004). Strategically, IT tools are employed within organisations in order to achieve pre-determined business strategy, therefore, organisational investments in IT are strongly affected by their strategic context such as cost reduction versus value added strategies (Levy et al., 2001). According to Nguyen (2009), some organisations adopt RFID just to rival/match up to competitors that have implemented the technology. Nguyen (2009) further argues that under such circumstances, lack of definition or strategy of the purposes of RFID adoption may lead to project failure. Key organisational determinants RFID adoption include:

- Top management initiative Top management initiative has an influence on the adoption of technological innovation. It includes the development of clear strategies around re-design, restructuring, and promoting a shared vision about the innovation to be adopted or introduced. It also involves creating change programs around these strategies in order to ensure successful deployment of the innovation (Rogers, 1995; Tornatzky and Fleischer, 1990; Park and Rim, 2011).
- Financial readiness The implementation of RFID systems and their components require long term investment (Nguyen, 2009) to develop IT infrastructure and cover capital and recurrent expenditures (Walczuch et al., 2000; Ghobakhloo et al., 2011b). Financial resources are critical for RFID project scoping, analysis of existing systems, and determining performance requirements and subsequent critical success factors (Rangone, 1999). Adequate availability and access to financial resources through equity, partnerships, and/or government incentives drives organisations towards RFID adoption.
- Global expansion The importance of global expansion as a growth opportunity has enabled smaller organisations to compete with larger ones - sometimes with the advantage of being nimbler and quicker to seize opportunities. In that regard, many organisations, when considering ways to grow internationally, adopt RFID in order to improve communication tools, and supply chain coordination and integration (Zhu et al., 2004; Wang, 2010).

- Organisational technical capability The technical capability of an organisation determines its potential to acquire new technologies and technical resources for operational practices and processes. The availability of adequate technical resources influences the deployment of RFID technology and determines performance requirements and subsequent critical success factors of the RFID system (Rogers, 1995; Tornatzky and Fleischer, 1990).
- Manpower availability The availability of adequate manpower and expertise remain one of the most important aspects of IT adoption process within organisations (Ghonakhloo et al, 2011b). The lack of internal expertise has been found to hinder IS sophistication and evolution within organisations, therefore, they organisations must overcome this problem through either seeking help from external sources or developing their own internal manpower (Walczuch et al., 2000; Thong, 1999; Morgan et al., 2006; Nguyen, 2009).
- Requirements for business process change Business process change is often required in order to integrate RFID systems with existing legacy systems. This can include partial or total redesign of processes including re-routing, shortening, and/or elimination of certain processes. Depending on the complexity of the existing and incoming system, business process change can be a lengthy and expensive venture. Therefore, some organisations view this as a disadvantage when considering RFID adoption (Park and Rim, 2011).

3.4.1.3 Environmental drivers and constraints of RFID adoption

Organisations are increasingly confronted by numerous social and ecological issues within the environments in which they operate (Deuten *et al.*, 1997). The nature of the environment in which an innovation has to survive is essential for its success. Environmental determinants of RFID adoption include:

 External and competitive pressure – Many organisations adopt IT in order to become more competitive, provide a means to enhance survival and/or growth, manage changes, promote services to customers, and stay competitive and/or enhance innovation abilities (Nguyen, 2009; Drew, 2003; Mole et al., 2004; Premkumar, 2003; Premkumar and Roberts, 1999; Riemenschneider et al., 2003). Extant literature suggests that as organisations (particularly smaller ones) are susceptible to customer pressure, and therefore adopt IT as a result of demand from customers to develop the efficiency of their inter-organizational dealings (Levy et al., 2003). Hence, it has become an indispensable strategy for firms to adopt IT (Premkumar and Roberts, 1999). In the case of RFID, media pressure, dominant partner pressure, regulatory pressure, and trade association pressure also drives organisations towards adopting the technology. However, some researchers have dismissed the role of the aforementioned factors suggesting that the main driving forces to move toward IT tools in organisations are internal factors including industry changes and trends, maintaining current market, finding new market, opportunities for growth and the necessity to keep up with competition (Drew, 2003; Southern and Tilley, 2000). Nguyen (2009) argues that firms move toward adoption of IT for dissimilar reasons due to various functions of firms in different environments and their operation in different ways. According to Nguyen (2009), organisations adopt IT in order to (i) respond or react to an event; (ii) respond to pressure from the internal and external environment; and (iii) respond to pressure from customers to improve efficiency.

- Government support Many studies have found that a significant positive relationship exists between IT adoption and government support (Ahuja et al., 2009; Southern and Tilley, 2000; Tan et al., 2009). SMEs in particular, are limited by a shortage or lack of resources, hence are generally more dependent on external resources and support (Sarosa and Zowghi, 2003). Therefore, government initiatives and policies could directly and/or indirectly stimulate the development of RFID infrastructure and information provision to energize faster technology diffusion (Ghobakhloo et al., 2011a).
- Wider Society/Privacy The operation of RFID has been subject to scrutiny from privacy protection organisations. Consumer organisations are prosecuting against the possible use of RFID by retailers to track consumer behavior. Although consumer perceptions and privacy issues receive a great deal of media attention, majority of organisations don't view them as significant barriers to implementation (Accenture, 2004). Nevertheless, some organisations have delayed or canceled their implementation of RFID due to privacy concerns (Barut et al., 2006). According to Barut et al. (2006), educating organisations and the public on these issues will help overcome skepticism.

- Unwillingness to adopt RFID Resistance from employees to use proposed system or from top management to approve deployment of RFID systems can delay RFID implementation within organisations (RFID Journal Report, 2014; Hossain and Prybutok, 2008).
- Regulations/Industry standards There is lack of global standards for RFID adoption. Practitioners believe that the development and adoption of official standards, enabling interoperability between applications or devices, can significantly accelerate the adoption of RFID technology. Global standards are required in order to ensure end-to-end interoperability of RFID systems to track goods through the global supply chain (Finkenzeller, 2003).

3.4.2 RFID adoption decision (2)

In this study, "decision to adopt RFID" simply means the verdict to acquire and use an RFID system. Studies of Paydar and Endut (2013), Wu (2011), Matta (2008) and Wamba et al. (2016) have predicted the adoption of RFID in different organisational settings, using a dichotomous variable to model the decision to adopt RFID – with outcome as "Yes" and "No". Consequently, the proposed research framework also considers the outcome values for the "decision to adopt RFID" variable to be binary i.e. Yes or No.

Organisations that have implemented RFID systems or have plans of adopting RFID systems are to be surveyed, with the results presented in Chapter 5.

3.4.3 Organisational factors (3)

In addition to the organisational factors considered as part of the TOE framework, three other pertinent factors were derived from IS literature. These three factors are further considered because they are seen to have an influence on not just the decision to adopt RFID but on the subsequent implementation processes and benefits. The three factors investigated are strength of culture, business size, and business process re-engineering (BPR). These factors and their measures were derived from a multitude of publications within IS, RFID, and innovation literature. A number of RFID implementation and industry reports were also used to derive some of the measures. Table 3.2 details the publications from which the factors and their measures were derived to constitute the research framework.

Table 3.2: Organisational factors and their measures		
Factor	Measures	Reference(s)
Strength of culture	Organisational goals and objectivesOrganisational focus on its performance relative to its competitorsOrganisational focus on customer satisfactionEffective decision-makingManagement cooperation and involvementDrive to introduce new technologies into business	Bruque and Moyano (2007); Riolli and Savicki (2003); Tushman and O'Reilly (1997); Tornatzky and Fleischer (1990); Gordon and DiTomaso (1992); Burt et al. (1994); Kotter and Heskett (1992); Peters and Waterman (1982); Deal and Kennedy (2000); Brown and Russell (2007); Huyskens and Loebbecke (2007); Krasnova and Weser (2008); Ranganathan and Jha (2005); Schmitt et al. (2007); Sharma and Citurs (2005); Sharma et al. (2007); Sahinidis and Kanellopoulous (2010)
	processesCreating strong internal and external motivation for improvementDeveloping a clear RFID strategyInnovationProvision of training and support for employeesTop management support and commitment from leadershipOrganisational knowledge accumulation	
Business size	Number of employeesAnnual turnoverInternational reachIT/IS infrastructureRange of products/servicesNumber of office locations, retailoutlets, warehouses, and servicecentres	Fink (1998); Love et al. (2005); Premkumar (2003); Premkumar and Roberts (1999); Tornatzky and Fleischer (1990); Rogers (1995); Thong (1999); Premkumar (2003); Mole et al. (2004)
Business process re- engineering	Data standardization and integrationRestructuring and streamlining activitiesDecentralization of consolidated resources and processesProvision of decision-support toolsSynchronization of IT resources and business processesAdoption of flexible deployment architectureContinuous review and improvement of proceduresIntegration and management of large amounts of data	Ganesh (2000); Tornatzky and Fleischer (1990); Kimberly and Evanisko (1981); Goodhue et al. (1992); Goodhue et al. (1998); Hammer (1990); Davenport & Short (1990)

Strength of culture – Organisational culture in another significant determinant of IS/IT implementation in organizations (Bruque and Moyano, 2007; Riolli and Savicki, 2003).

Strong cultures, defined as "a set of norms and values that are widely shared and strongly held throughout the organization" (O'Reilly and Chatman, 1996), have been found to enhance organisational performance by influencing employee motivation, achievement of common goals, and teamwork (Kotter and Heskett, 1992; Peters and Waterman, 1982). In particular, the performance benefits of a strong organisational culture stem from three consequences of having widely shared and strongly held norms and values: enhanced coordination and control within the organisation, alignment to common organisational goals by employees and stakeholders, and increased employee motivation. In support of this argument, numerous quantitative studies find that firms with strong cultures outperform firms with weak cultures (Kotter and Heskett, 1992; Gordon and DiTomaso, 1992; Burt et al., 1994).

However, the strength of organisational cultures influences not just performance benefits but the decision to adopt innovative technology also. Sahinidis and Kanellopoulous (2010) investigated the effects of strong cultures on organisational innovation. The study found that there is a significant relationship between the strength of culture and organisational innovation. Strong cultures were found to be associated with higher rates of administrative, technological and cultural innovations and exhibited higher performance in the long-run, than organisations with weak cultures. In similar regard, Borkovich et al. (2015) conducted a secondary review of technology adoption literature and philosophies from cultural theorists, social scientists, and business management experts, and found that strong organisational culture has a significant influence and impact on technology adoption. The study found that attributes of strong organizational cultures influence the success or failure of technology adoption in the workplace. The study concluded that understanding and incorporating strong organizational culture attributes into the technology implementation process favourably increases successful technology adoption.

With regards to RFID, numerous studies have found strong culture attributes such as top management initiative towards adoption of RFID, employee coordination and cooperation, and the provision of adequate funding and technical expertise to be factors that influence RFID adoption (Brown and Russell 2007; Huyskens and Loebbecke 2007; Krasnova and Weser 2008; Ranganathan and Jha 2005; Schmitt et al. 2007; Sharma and Citurs 2005; Sharma et al. 2007).

In this research framework, the strength of culture is determined by the following measures:

- Organisational goals and objectives These define what an organisation is trying to accomplish, both in terms of operations and functionality. These are usually a collection of related programs, and a reflection of major actions of the organisation, that provide a rallying point for managers. An organisation's culture has a bidirectional relationship with its goals and objectives. An organisation can encourage a culture that aligns with its objectives, thereby making employees more likely to succeed in reaching those objectives. In a similar manner, the goals and objectives of the organisation can influence what organisational culture is adopted, and how it evolves over time.
- Organisational focus on performance relative to competitors This is an essential aspect of organisational culture. It helps organisations gauge their relative standings against their competition. This is paramount in identifying ways to improve organisational ranking and performance.
- Organisational focus on customer satisfaction This is essential in understanding and managing customers' interaction and perceptions about the organisations' products/services. This usually involves using customer experience metrics to track and identify improvement opportunities in order to increase customer loyalty. It constitutes an essential aspect of organisational culture.
- Management cooperation and involvement Involvement and support of top management is considered to have high influence on innovation plans, project execution and success, and organisational performance. Top management initiative practices vary across industries and organisations, depending on their cultures. The support and encouragement of top management, along with financial availability and readiness are considered essential factors for the development of innovation strategies because the resources required for the implementation of new technologies will be more readily available if the management responsible for these resources support the plans.
- Effective and timely decision-making Business performance is increasingly dependent on an organisation's agility and its ability to improve business operations by timely, high-quality decisions based on relevant and accurate information. The culture of a business influences its ability to generate insights regarding the business

environment and to make decisions that make it more adaptable to market changes, thus having a better chance of gaining market share from its competitors.

- Innovation The culture of innovation in an organisation has an influence on the organisational structure and operating systems in that organisation, and vice versa (Armstrong, 1995). Innovation thrives under flexible and free corporate cultures that support and encourage cooperative teamwork. On the other hand, innovation is thwarted by rigid, predictable, and unstable corporate cultures (mostly associated with hierarchical structures) (Arad et al., 1997).
- Drive to introduce new technology into business processes This is usually influenced by the innovative culture of an organisation. The adoption of new technology results from a series of decisions which are often a result of a comparison of the perceived benefits with the perceived costs of adopting the technology.
- Creating strong internal and external motivation for improvement This involves educating and encouraging employees to focus on the procedures and coordination of a system or business process in order to understand when improvements are desired, monitor optimization processes, and report yielded improvements.
- Developing a clear implementation strategy The approach an organisation employs towards RFID deployment is vital towards achieving desired benefits. A clearly articulated RFID strategy will bring discipline and focus to the deployment. It's easy for the engineers and operation managers overseeing the installation of RFID equipment to see myriad potential uses for the technology. The only way to make sure that everyone is going after the most important opportunities first—the ones that will provide a return on investment and further the organisation's long-term goals—is to have a strategy that defines which opportunities are most important.
- Team orientation and capability development This involves encouraging teamwork so that creative ideas are captured and employees support one another in accomplishing work goals. Capability development is practiced in a variety of ways, including training, coaching, and exposing employees to new roles and responsibilities.
- Organisational learning and knowledge accumulation This is the organisation-wide continuous process that enhances its collective ability to accept, make sense of, and respond to internal and external change.

Business Size – According to extant literature on IT adoption in organisations, business size definable by turnover and/or number of employees is one of the most important determinants of IT adoption (Fink, 1998; Love et al., 2005; Premkumar, 2003; Premkumar and Roberts, 1999; Thong and Yap, 1995). The importance of firm size is partly because of its role as the source of firms' capabilities (Mole et al., 2004). Another reason however is the fact that firms' resources including financial and human capital can be an approximation of firm size (Thong, 1999). Premkumar (2003) posits that business size is an important determinant between adopters and non-adopters of RFID systems within organisations. The study further finds that larger firms have a higher inclination to adopt RFID technologies than smaller ones. In extant literature on RFID adoption, organisational size has been defined by the following factors:

- (i) Number of trained/skilled employees This is the most common metric for measuring organisational size. It gives an idea of workforce available, scale of organisational operations, and firm activities.
- (ii) Annual turnover This is the total revenue of a business in a year. It is also a common metric of measuring organisational size.
- (iii) International reach/Global expansion Due to globalization, businesses have supply chains spanning across continents. The global outreach of a business can be an indicator of the scale of its operations, global impact, and size.
- (iv) IT/IS infrastructure Organisations employ varying networking strategies and practices to connect employees, promote information discovery, and improve knowledge sharing. The scale of such networks, both in-house and crosscompany, can be an indicator of organisational size. Large organisations usually have highly automated processes, and operate large-scale or complex IT systems. On the other hand, smaller businesses tend to have simpler processes and IT systems.
- (v) Range of products/services Although quite arbitrary, the range of products and/or services offered by a business can be an indicator of its size.
- (vi) The number of office locations, retail outlets, warehouses, and service centres deploying RFID – This can be an indicator of the size of the business and how widely RFID has been implemented within its scale of operations.

 (vii) Range of products/services using RFID – This refers to the range of products and/or services using RFID.

Business process re-engineering (BPR) – BPR precedes or accompanies technological innovation implementation and is thus expected to play a role in the decision to adopt, the implementation process, and benefits derived from technological innovation (Ganesh, 2000; Tornatzky and Fleischer, 1990; Kimberly and Evanisko, 1981). In extant literature, BPR has been defined by the following factors:

- (i) Data standardization and integration In coordinating the activities of an organisation, different business units require access to consistent data about the activities of different departments (Goodhue et al., 1992). Data standardization helps organisations to effectively manage their IT activities and assess their performance against comparable functional units (Goodhue et al., 1988).
- (ii) Restructuring and streamlining activities After establishing the need for reengineering, processes are mapped out and analyzed. The main objective of this is to identify disconnects (anything that prevents a process from achieving desired results and in particular information transfer between organisations or people) and non-value-adding processes. This is succeeded by the restructuring and streamlining of activities to achieve total re-invention or redesign of business processes.
- (iii) Decentralization of consolidated resources and processes This is the redistribution or dispersion of an organisation's consolidated resources. Decentralization initiatives are often initiated when it becomes apparent that allowing individual departments or branch offices provision of their own resources (usually IT systems and services) would help the organisation meet its goals and objectives. Decentralization of resources can simplify administrative tasks, improve security, make data management easier, and save costs.
- (iv) Provision of decision support tools Decision support tools assists organisations in making management, operations, and planning decisions, which may be rapidly changing and not easily specified in advance. Decision support systems can be either fully computerized, human or a combination of

both. They specifically focus on features, making them easy to use by 'noncomputer' or non-technical people. Consequently, decision-support tools are put in place when a new technology is deployed, so to improve ease-of-use and enhance effectiveness.

- (v) Synchronization of IT resources and business processes Integrating business processes with IT resources improves supply chain efficiency by utilizing standardized information formats and communication points between trading partners. Business process and IT resource synchronization can eliminate costs associated with inefficient movement of goods, redundant processes and excess inventory; thereby promoting a dedicated collaboration of all supply chain partners. When adopting new technology like RFID, synchronization of business processes and IT resources is a crucial stage of BPR, so as to realize the benefits of a more integrated supply chain.
- (vi) Adoption of flexible deployment architecture This is a method of minimizing IT infrastructure costs by enabling organisations to deploy RFID on existing premises and enterprise servers. This enables organisations to leverage existing IT architecture and reduce costs of RFID deployment.
- (vii) Continuous review and improvement of procedures This refers to efforts put in place to continuously improve operational procedures and processes in order to achieve "incremental" improvements over time or "breakthrough" improvement all at once.
- (viii) Integration and management of large amounts of data This refers to data mining techniques in place in order to deal with the large data generated from RFID applications.

3.4.4 RFID implementation processes (4)

RFID implementation processes refer to the methods, designs, and specifications involved in the deployment of RFID systems. The implementation of an RFID system is a complex task that involves both technical and human factors. Several studies have identified factors that contribute to the success or failure RFID projects (Attaran, 2012; Ngai et al. 2010; Visich et al., 2009; Huang and Tang, 2008; Reyes and Jaska, 2007; Soylemezoglu et al. 2006; Angeles, 2005). Based on these studies, critical implementation factors have been chosen to represent the prominent influences of RFID adoption by organisations. Generic frameworks for the implementation of RFID systems have also been developed. Nevertheless, a systematic and holistic RFID implementation framework that has been validated by academic and practitioners is lacking.

The proposed research framework aims to provide the platform to study the various steps of the RFID system deployment and determine how each step interacts with organisational characteristics such as culture, size and BPR. This would enable practitioners to make informed decisions and essential considerations of implementing RFID while taking into cognisance their organisational characteristics.

Table 3.3 details the literature from which RFID implementation processes and procedures (those constituting the research framework) were derived. The RFID implementation processes were primarily derived from Ting et al. (2013) and Ngai et al. (2015) who propose a 6-step generic framework for the implementation of RFID systems based upon the synthesis of RFID implementation frameworks published in extant literature.

Table 3.3: Publications from which RFID implementation processes were derived		
Factor	Measures	Reference(s)
RFID implementation processes	Project scoping	Angeles (2005); Vijayaraman and Osyk (2006); Wu et al. (2006); Attaran (2007); Reyes and Jaska (2007); Sellitto et al. (2007); Ngai et al. (2010); Ting et al. (2013); Ngai et al. (2015)
	Analysis of existing systems	Soylemezoglu et al. (2006); Attaran (2007); Jaska (2007); Pålsson (2007); Huang and Tang (2008); Hellström (2009); Kim and Garrison (2010); Ngai et al. (2010); Ting et al. (2013); Ngai et al. (2015)
	System design	Soylemezoglu et al. (2006); Reyes and Jaska (2007); Huang and Tang (2008); Hellström (2009); Ngai et al. (2010); Ting et al. (2013); Ngai et al. (2015)
	Prototype testing	Reyes and Jaska (2007); Soylemezoglu et al. (2006); Ngai et al. (2010); Ting et al. (2013); Ngai et al. (2015)
	Implementation	Soylemezoglu et al. (2006); Spekman and Sweeney (2006); Attaran (2007); Reyes and Jaska (2007); Ngai et al. (2010); Ting et al. (2013); Ngai et al. (2015)
	Continuous improvement	Ngai et al. (2010); Ting et al. (2013); Ngai et al. (2015)

The RFID implementation processes constituting this research framework are as follows:

• *Project scoping:* This involves defining the project objective and scope, investigating the feasibility of using an RFID system, and securing support from top management.

The typical tasks in this step are to understand the potential and the limitations of RFID systems and to define a given project's objectives.

- Analysis of the existing system: This involves the evaluation of an existing system in order to identify the vital procedures in the process – i.e., the vital inputs to the subsequent redesign stage.
- System design: This consists of designing a new process that matches the organisation's needs and requirements. The system design stage includes requirement analysis, hardware and software selection, and the development of the new process.
- Prototype testing: Before the actual implementation of an RFID system, pilot testing
 is required to ensure that the technology is ready for deployment. This includes
 technical debugging and tracing and eliminating errors in the analyses, and collecting
 feedback from users after the demo testing. This is designed as such in order to elicit
 comments on the various user interfaces and in order to fine tune their design.
- Implementation: Implementation typically involves the installation and commissioning of hardware and software systems, change management, training, and system deployment.
- Continuous improvement: This involves the continuous evaluation of a system's performance in comparison to preset objectives. This stage is necessary in enhancing the system with emergent technologies, or adapting it to match the changing needs of the market.

3.4.5 RFID benefits (5)

RFID benefits are defined as the advantages/profits that a firm derives, that are attributable to its use of RFID technology. In this study, the benefits are considered to be proxies of organisational performance indicators, and are hence categorized and analyzed according to the Balanced Scorecard (BSC) approach of Kaplan and Norton (2004). The Balanced Scorecard (BSC) is a technique for measuring organisational performance. Under this technique, both financial and non-financial indicators are comprehensively evaluated to achieve a balanced measurement method (Kaplan and Norton, 2004; Kaplan and Norton, 1993; Kaplan and Norton, 1992). In addition to assessing general organisational performance, the BSC has been adopted in measuring to measure the impacts of IT deployment on organisational performance. The BSC considers four perspectives, namely, financial; internal business process; learning and growth; and corporate/customer, that are derived from an organisation's vision and strategy.

Numerous studies have adopted and adapted the BSC to measure organisational performance in a variety of research fields. Some researchers such as (Papalexandris et al. 2004) adopted the BSC unmodified to measure the performance of organisations. Others adapted the BSC in order to measure organisational performance. In that regard, Michalska (2005) replaced the learning and growth perspective of the BSC the "development perspective", and derived appropriate performance indicators for the readapted perspectives. Similarly, Olson and Slater (2002), in their measurement of performance among service and manufacturing companies, used a BSC framework consisting of the customer, internal business process, innovation and growth, and the financial perspective.

In this research, the four categories of the BSC will be adopted, unmodified. These are financial, internal business process, learning and growth, and corporate/customer.

RFID technology can improve various processes in numerous facets of supply chain management (Bolan, 2005 and Roy et al., 2004). Major benefits of RFID include its unique capability to share information with business partners, allowing collaboration on inventory management, planning, forecasting, and replenishment (Vijayaraman and Osyk, 2006). Multiple studies attest to the potential of RFID in building supply chain relationships, synchronizing supply and demand, and process optimization and improvement (Angeles, 2005; Michael and McCathie, 2005; Tracy, 2005; Bose & Pal, 2005; Arnold and Bures, 2003). Other studies such as Lin and Ku (2009), Zelbst et al. (2008a), Tzeng et al. (2007), and Hou and Huang (2006) have investigated the impact of RFID technology utilization and benefits derived on operational performance and/or supply chain performance.

However, majority of these studies were limited in the following ways.

- (i) They were either country-specific or industry-specific or both, thereby limiting the generalizability of findings obtained
- (ii) They highlighted RFID benefits that were mostly anecdotal, therefore fail to develop valuable business cases
- (iii) They did not consider interactions between organisational characteristics and benefits derived from RFID implementation

62

Consequently, the proposed research framework investigates the relationship between RFID adoption and benefits using data obtained across a variety of countries and industrial sectors i.e. this study is neither country nor industry specific. This allows for better generalizability of findings. Additionally, the impact of organisational factors (culture, size, and BPR) on benefits derived from RFID is investigated.

Table 3.4 details the literature from which RFID benefits (those constituting the research framework) were derived.

Table 3.4: Publications from which RFID benefits investigated in this research framework were derived		
Factor	BSC Category	Reference(s)
RFID benefits		Jarugumilli and Grasman (2007); Lee and Ozer (2007); Hou and Huang (2006); Vijayaraman and
	Internal business process	Osyk (2006); Angeles (2005); Michael and McCathie (2005); Tracy (2005); Bose and Pal
	Learning and growth	(2005); Arnold and Bures (2003)
	Corporate/customer	Lin and Ku (2009); Zelbst et al. (2008a); Tzeng et al. (2007); Hou and Huang (2006); Srivastava (2007); Wamba et al. (2006);

3.4.6 RFID-related factors 6

Some researchers have used empirical methods to identify which RFID benefits are achievable in real-life settings (Srivastava, 2004; Wamba et al., 2006). Others have used analytical models to estimate the amount of quantifiable benefits, such as labour cost savings, operation time savings, shrinkage reduction, and increased order fulfilment rates (Jarugumilli and Grasman, 2007; Lee and Ozer, 2007; Hou and Huang, 2006). However, little is explicitly known on how these benefits can be achieved, and how they are moderated by RFID-related characteristics such as RFID implementation stage, Product Unit Level of Tagging (PULT), and organisational pedigree in RFID.

Product Unit Level of Tagging (PULT) refers to the product level at which an organisation is implementing RFID. RFID implementation stage refers to the stage of RFID adoption within the organisation, i.e., whether the implementation is at pilot stage (where the technology is implemented as an experimental project), partial implementation (where RFID is deployed in only select processes of the business), or full implementation (where RFID and all its features are fully deployed across the organisation). Organisational pedigree in RFID refers to the organisation's experience in deploying RFID.
Consequently, this study investigates:

- (i) Whether implementing RFID at item, case, pallet or container level impacts the benefits derived from RFID. While the ultimate desire of the supply chain is to implement RFID at product or item level, all cost-benefits analyses have so far demonstrated the commercial unviability of item tagging, except for high value goods.
- (ii) How implementation stage (full, partial, or pilot) affects benefits derived from RFID implementation
- (iii) How staff experience in RFID deployment affects the smooth implementation of RFID and the benefits derived from the technology. Four levels of experience investigated are:
 - Fully conversant with aspects of RFID
 - Understand most of the concepts of RFID
 - Understand the principles of RFID
 - Little knowledge of RFID but operating a working system

3.5 Research hypotheses

From the five research questions specified in section 1.3, eighteen (18) hypotheses were formulated in order to investigate the relationships enumerated in the research framework (depicted in figure 3.1). The eighteen hypotheses studied the relationships between the following factors (all of which were derived/measured from extant literature):

- Drivers and constraints of RFID adoption
- Organisational and RFID-related factors and their effects on RFID adoption and implementation;
- Benefits derived from RFID implementation

Table 3.5: List of research hypotheses				
Research question(s)	Description	Hypothesis		
1	What factors drive and constrain organisational decision to adopt RFID technology?	 H1: Technological drivers of RFID adoption have a significant positive influence on the decision to adopt RFID H2: Technological constraints of RFID adoption have a significant negative influence on the decision to adopt RFID 		
		H3: Organisational drivers of RFID adoption have a significant positive influence on the decision to adopt RFID		

		H4: Organisational constraints of RFID adoption have a significant negative influence on the decision to adopt RFID H5: Environmental drivers of RFID adoption have a significant positive influence on the decision to adopt RFID
		H6: Environmental constraints of RFID adoption have a significant negative influence on the decision to adopt RFID
2	How is the decision to adopt RFID enhanced or constrained by an organisation's underlying culture, the size of the organisation, and business process re-engineering?	 H7: A strong organisational culture has a significant positive influence on the decision to adopt RFID H8: Organisational size has a significant positive influence on the decision to adopt RFID H9: Business process re-engineering (BPR) has a significant positive influence on the decision to adopt RFID
3	If the decision to adopt RFID is taken, how is the implementation process affected by an organisation's underlying culture, the size of the organisation, and business	 H10: A strong organisational culture has a significant positive influence on the implementation processes of RFID H11: Organisational size has a significant positive influence on the implementation processes of RFID H12: Business process re-engineering (BPR) has a
	process re-engineering?	significant positive influence on the implementation processes of RFID
4	What benefits are derived from RFID implementation and how are they affected by	H13: A strong organisational culture has a significant positive influence on the benefits derivable from RFID implementation
	an organisation's underlying culture, the size of the organisation, and business process re-engineering?	H14: Organisational size has a significant positive influence on the benefits derivable from RFID implementation
	process re-engineering:	H15: Business process re-engineering (BPR) has a significant positive influence on the benefits derivable from RFID implementation
5	How are the benefits derived from RFID implementation affected by the implementation stage of RFID, the Product Unit Level of Tagging (PULT), and the	 H16: An organisation's internal capacity for implementing the technology has a significant positive influence on the benefits derivable from RFID H17: Lower Product Unit Level of Tagging (PULT) has a significant positive influence on the benefits derivable from RFID implementation
	organisational pedigree in RFID?	H18: Higher implementation a significant positive influence on the benefits derivable from RFID implementation

3.6 Summary

Firstly, this chapter presents the research framework which investigates the impact of organisational and technological factors within pre-adoption, implementation, and post-

implementation phases of RFID system deployment. In the pre-adoption phase, the framework examines factors that drive and hinder organisations' decision to adopt RFID. In the implementation phase, the framework investigates the impact of organisational factors (business size, strength of culture, and business process re-engineering) on influencing the implementation processes of RFID. In the post-implementation phase, the study investigates how the benefits derived from RFID implementation interact with organisational factors (business size, strength of culture, and business process re-engineering) and RFID-related factors (product unit level of tagging, RFID implementation stage, and organisational pedigree in RFID). The development of this research framework was motivated by the lack of (i) a an advisory framework which considers quantifiable firm characteristics and the costs and benefits of implementing RFID, in yielding advice to guide decisions on RFID adoption, and (ii) a framework that covers the complete processes of RFID project deployment (from adoption

Secondly, discussions on the different elements that make up the research framework and their inter-relationships are also presented. Justification for the research framework was used to give account of the relationships between the research constructs, the factors and dimensions of each of the construct, and the hypotheses enacted to investigate the relationships between the constructs.

The next chapter presents an overview and justification of research methodologies adopted in this research. The method of data collection is also highlighted, alongside an outline of the statistical tools and techniques adopted.

CHAPTER 4 – METHODOLOGY

4.1 Introduction

Research methodology is considered a strategy, plan of action, process and/or design that shapes the choice of specific methods, and the use of those methods to achieve desired results (Crotty, 1998). It comprises a process of data collection, data analysis, and interpretation (Creswell, 2011). For this research, the methodology focusses on adopting appropriate techniques to address the research aim and questions, and to test the hypotheses enacted after the literature review. In order to choose the appropriate research method, Meredith et al. (1989), Newman and Benz (1998), and Creswell (2009) advocate that the methodology in contention should attempt to integrate both quantitative and qualitative research paradigms. Accordingly, this research achieves methodological triangulation through the combination of the two research paradigms. Through this, the advantages of both research methods are realized and their individual limitations mitigated. To gather data to investigate the research questions, survey by questionnaire and case study were adopted. This chapter describes the methodologies employed in addressing the research aims and objectives, presents the philosophical basis of the study, justifies the chosen research paradigm, outlines and discusses empirical methodologies used to collect data, analyse results, and validate the research framework presented in chapter 3.

4.2 Research Philosophy

Research philosophy is a belief about how data about a phenomenon should be gathered, analysed, and used. It is important to fully understand the philosophical underpinnings of a research project because it enhances a researchers' ability to select appropriate methodology (Holden and Lynch, 2004). The terms Ontology and Epistemology, define the nature of reality, and how that reality is captured, respectively (Carson et al., 2001). There are two major ontological and epistemological ideologies: (i) Positivism and (ii) Interpretivism (Galliers, 1991).

4.2.1 Positivism

Positivism is a philosophy that believes only information gathered from sensory experience and/or interpreted through rational or logical mathematical procedures, forms an authoritative and exclusive source of knowledge. In other words, positivism advocates that reality is stable and thus can be studied and described from objective viewpoints, without interfering with the studied phenomena (Levin, 1988). Positivist researchers adopt a controlled and structured approach to conducting research by outlining a research topic, formulating appropriate hypotheses, and adopting a suitable research methodology. Additionally, a neutral stance between the studied phenomena and the researcher is maintained by making a clear distinction between reason and feeling (Carson et al., 2001).

Positivism has a successful historical association with the physical and natural sciences. Alavi and Carlson (1992) reviewed 902 Information System (IS) publications, finding that all the empirical studies had a positivist approach. It is due to such trends that Hirschheim (1985) posits that "Positivism is so embedded in our society that knowledge claims not grounded in positivist thought are simply dismissed as ascientific and therefore invalid". However, there has been extensive debate on the suitability of the positivist paradigm in social science research, with multiple researchers advocating for a more pluralist approach towards IS research methods (Remenyi and Williams, 1996). This is relevant to this study as IS research deals with the interaction of people and technology, and is categorized under the social sciences (Hirschheim, 1985). Indeed, limitations encountered in IS research, such as the inconsistency of results, may be as a result of inappropriateness of the positivist paradigm for the domain. Additionally, some variables of reality might have been rendered unmeasurable in the past – and have hence not been researched (Galliers, 1991).

4.2.2 Interpretivism

Interpretivism is a philosophy that believes in the study of phenomena in their natural environment, and contend that it is only through subjective interpretation that reality can be fully understood (Hudson and Ozanne, 1988). The position of Interpretivism in relation to ontology and epistemology is that reality is multiple and relative, and that these multiple realities are interrelated with other systems of meanings, thereby making it difficult to interpret in terms of fixed realities (Neuman, 2000).

Interpretivist researchers adopt flexible and more personal research structures than the rigid structural frameworks of positivist research. These are receptive to making sense of what is perceived as reality and for interpreting meanings in human interaction (Carson et al., 2001;

Black, 2006). The major goal of interpretivist research is to understand meanings, motives, reasons, and other subjective experiences that are time and context bound (Neuman, 2000.)

4.2.3 Justification for choice of approach

Selecting a research paradigm is often the choice between positivist or interpretivist philosophies. Many researchers (Collis and Hussey, 2009; Bryman & Bell, 2003; Saunders et al., 2000) have highlighted that the main elements of this choice of research philosophies can be characterised through their ontology, epistemology, and methodology. These characteristics create a holistic view of the methodological strategies used to discover, interpret, and interact with knowledge. The key features of the two philosophy paradigms are detailed in Table 4.1.

Table 4.1: Key features of Positivist and Interpretivist philosophical paradigms (Guba, 1990)				
Paradigm	Positivism	Interpretivism		
Ontology	Reality is considered objective and singular (knowledge governed by the laws of nature)	Reality is considered subjective and multiple (knowledge is socially constructed and interpreted by individuals)		
Epistemology	Objectivist approach is adopted where researcher does not interfere with the study	Subjectivist approach adopted where researcher collaborates with participants in the field		
Methodology	Experimental approach is adopted where research questions and/or hypotheses are formulated in advance, subject to empirical investigations	Investigative approach where the researcher elicits individual constructions and refines them hermeneutically, with the aim of generating constructions on which there is substantial consensus		
	Researcher adopts a deductive approach, uses a predetermined research design, and attempts to position the research to a generalizable state	Researcher adopts an inductive approach, studies the topic within its context, and uses an emerging design		

However, Benbasat et al. (1987) observed that no single research methodology is inherently better than the other, with researchers such as Kaplan and Duchon (1988) advocating for a combination of research methods, in order to improve the quality of research. Nevertheless, the key determinant of the choice of research paradigm(s) adopted should be its relevance to the research questions.

In this research, the positivist research paradigm is adopted. This is because Supply Chain Management (SCM) is a normative science, whereby reality is perceived to be objective and quantifiable. This makes the positivist approach suitable for this research. Taking into account

our research questions, it is clear that the underlying philosophy for these questions has been based upon the positivist philosophical paradigm. This is because they focus on the theories, concepts, and practices involved in the adoption of RFID in supply chain management. In other words, they aim to evaluate the components and characteristics that influence the RFID adoption and implementation processes based on theories and concepts gathered from the literature. These components and characteristics can be categorized either as resourcesrelated, operational, organisational, technological, or environmental. Therefore, adopting a positivist approach helps investigate these factors, and their relative importance, to develop a comprehensive adoption framework. This framework will address the factors that drive RFID adoption within organisations and how these factors interact with organisational and technological parameters. In view of that, the positivist's emphasis on evidence of formal propositions, quantifiable measures of variables, hypothesis testing and/or question addressing, and drawing of predictions about a phenomenon from the previously observed and explained realities and their inter-relationships (Orlikowski & Baroudi, 1991), is met.

4.3 Research Strategy

Researchers can adopt elements of non-empirical approach, empirical approach, or a combination of the both approaches (Avison et al., 2008; Chen and Hirschheim, 2004).

4.3.1 Non-empirical approach

Non-empirical research is primarily based on conceptual and analytical reasoning, rather than on specific data (Avison et al., 2008; Alavi and Carlson, 1992). It can be divided into three categories (Alavi and Carlson, 1992): Illustrative, Conceptual, and Applied concepts. Illustrative research is concerned with developing guideline and advisory frameworks for practice. These frameworks may come in the form of recommendations for action, rules and warnings, or steps and procedures to be followed in given circumstances. On the other hand, conceptual studies synthesize pre-existing knowledge to develop frameworks, theories, or models, while providing interpretations and reasons. Lastly, applied concepts studies adopt elements of both conceptual and illustrative studies (Alavi and Carlson, 1992).

4.3.2 Empirical approach

Empirical research utilises data gathered by means of direct or indirect observation or experiment. This data can be quantitative, qualitative, or both (Avison et al., 2008). There are

two primary dimensions which can be evaluated for use in empirical research (Collis & Hussey, 2009). These are (i) Quantitative/Qualitative and (ii) Deductive/Inductive

4.3.2.1 Quantitative/Qualitative

Quantitative research adopts a logical and data-led approach to provide a measure of a studied phenomenon, from a numerical and statistical point of view (Neuman, 1997). It involves testing and verifying theories by investigating hypotheses and/or research questions derived from the research (Creswell, 2009). Quantitative research methods include surveys, experiments, and mathematical and computational methods (Myers, 1997).

 Survey Research - Survey research entails any measurement procedures that involves asking questions of respondents. The basic methodology of survey research involves sampling, question design and data collection activities (Forza, 2002). Survey research can be exploratory (initial research into a hypothetical or theoretical idea), descriptive (exploring and explaining a studied phenomenon), or confirmatory (connecting ideas to understand cause and effect) (Forza, 2002).

The instrument for data collection in surveys is the questionnaire. The questionnaire is administered to a population sample. Sampling entails choosing a percentage of the population to be representative of the demographic characteristics of the whole population. The basic premise in sampling is that resource constraints make it impossible to survey the whole population.

 Experiments – These are research design techniques that employ variable manipulation and testing to investigate causal relationships and processes.
 Experiments are conducted to be able to predict phenomena.

On the other hand, qualitative research covers a variety of naturalistic and interpretive approaches and methods concerned with understanding the meanings that people attach to actions, decisions, beliefs, and values within the social world (Ritchie and Lewis, 2003). Qualitative research methods include the following:

Action research – Action research is a form of participatory research where the researcher, being a principal member, effects change on the environment under study and monitors the results of that change (Mumford, 2001). In other words, the researcher purposefully engages with the research setting rather than remaining independent from it. The main advantage of action research is its ability to produce

immediate results and assess their relevance to a specific problematic situation. In doing so, action research offers the opportunity to study a system and to concurrently collaborate with members of the system to guide it in the desirable direction (Coughlan and Coghlan, 2002). However, there are demerits associated with action research and questions about its academic rigor. These primarily stem from the close collaboration required between the researcher and the study organisation. Thus, some instances of action research are seen as mere "problem-solving" or "consultancy projects" (Adler and Adler, 1998).

- Ethnographic research Ethnographic research is aimed at observing target users in natural, real-world settings with the primary aim of understanding and gaining insights on how a people live. The main method of data collection in ethnography is through participant observation, where the researcher becomes a full working member of the group studied (Collis and Hussey, 2003). This involves the researcher having to negotiate access, and build trust in those to work with, so as to ensure data collection is adequately undertaken. Ethnographic research is particularly advantageous in providing insights into real life behaviour, thereby being useful in identifying new and unmet user needs. This approach is predominantly employed at the beginning of a project when there is a strong need to fully understand real end user needs, or to appreciate the challenges of using a new product or service by a particular target market (Klein & Myers, 1999).
- Grounded theory Grounded theory consists of a set of rigorous research procedures that lead to the development of theory from systematic research. It is an inductive approach that allows the researcher to develop a theoretical account of the general features of a topic while simultaneously grounding the account in empirical observations or data (Eisenhardt, 1989). Grounded theory is particularly advantageous because it combines the inductive and deductive approaches. On the other hand, it is considered difficult and complex to implement when processing a considerable amount of data and when generalizing findings outside the studied setting (Collis and Hussey, 2003).
- Longitudinal design Longitudinal design concerns the collection and analysis of data over time. This often involves taking repeated measures of the same respondents at

several time intervals (Oppenheim, 1992). Longitudinal studies are essential for measuring social change, or changes associated with a variable or group of subjects, by allowing a diachronic analysis of the incidence of conditions and events This contrasts with cross-sectional design, in which data are collected at one point in time and unrelated groups are compared (Huberman and Miles, 1998). Several data types may be referred to as longitudinal, including repeated cross-sectional studies, retrospective studies, and prospective studies. Although longitudinal studies provide a unique opportunity to study subjects over a long period of time, there are some drawbacks associated with the methodology. These include subject attrition (where a participant drops out of the study), large sample size requirements, and length of period it takes to gather results (Myers, 2003; Martin and Turner, 1986).

Case study research - Case studies are in-depth investigations and systematic analyses of real life situations aimed at gaining new and creative insights, and the development of new theory. It has high validity with practitioners - the ultimate users of research (Yin, 2003). Case study data collection techniques include interviews and observations. Case studies allow the researcher to investigate a topic or subject in great detail than might be possible, if they were dealing with a large sample size or large number of participants (Yin, 2003). Case studies and surveys are the dominant approaches adopted in operations and supply chain management research (Forza, 2002). Voss and Frolich (2002) note major findings in Operations Management such as the Lean Manufacturing concepts and theories in manufacturing strategy were developed through case studies. Additionally, case studies can be used as follow-up research, in an attempt to examine more deeply and validate previous empirical results (Voss and Frolich, 2002).

4.3.2.2 Deductive/Inductive

Deductive research advocates for theory testing by empirical observation. Deduction involves deducing logical conclusions from a set of input propositions and the available information. The propositions might be assumptions that the researcher is investigating or those that the researcher believes (Bryman and Bell, 2007; 2003). Deductive reasoning is associated with positivism and natural science models of social research, and quantitative research (Bryman and Bell, 2003).

On the other hand, inductive research develops theory from the observation of empirical evidence (Hussey and Hussey, 1997). Inductive reasoning moves from specific observations to broader generalisations and theories. Qualitative research is based on inductive reasoning (Bryman & Bell, 2003).

4.3.3 Justification for choice of research strategy

This research adopts the positivist view, and a deductive approach. The research develops research questions and enacts hypotheses from existing theories and extant literature (Forza, 2002). This is based on the assumption that RFID attributes investigated can be measured and manipulated. Accordingly, when a research involves quantifiable attributes, survey by questionnaire is particularly suitable (Collis and Hussey, 2003). As a result, survey by questionnaire is used for data collection. In addition, four case studies are conducted to validate the survey results. Thus, methodological triangulation is achieved through the combination of the two research methods (Scandura and Williams, 2000). By using methodological triangulation, the advantages of both research methods are realized and their individual limitations mitigated.

4.4 Research Design

Research design is the logical sequence of an action plan to collect, analyse and interpret data (Yin, 2009). There are three classifications of research design – exploratory, descriptive, or explanatory research (Saunders et al., 2012). It is also possible to have a combination of all the three classifications. Exploratory research typically involves the use of literature review or focus group interviews in order to identify critical issues and key variables, or to develop hypotheses for further research (Pizam, 1994). Descriptive research seeks to provide an accurate description of observations of phenomena. Lastly, explanatory/confirmatory research looks to provide an understanding of relationships between variables (Saunders et al., 2012).

In this section, the systematic plan for data collection, the dependent and independent variables used, and the plan for statistical analysis are outlined. The key stages of the research design phase include the design, testing and administration of questionnaires, outlining a plan for statistical analysis, and testing the statistical techniques using software programmes (SPSS

and Amos). Key stages of the research design are discussed in greater detail in sections 4.4.1.-4.4.4.

4.4.1 Questionnaire design

Exploratory survey research was adopted in this research. Thus, in designing the questionnaire, a thorough review of the literature on RFID applications in supply chain management, adoption drivers and constraints, benefits and drawbacks, and impact on business performance was carried out. The aim of the literature review was to collect information about the adoption of RFID and its application in supply chain management.

The main research instrument used to collate data was the questionnaire. The questionnaire was mostly made up of close-ended questions where the respondents choose their answers from a given number of options. The response options for the closed-ended questions were exhaustive and mutually exclusive. The survey questions captured perceptual data using relative scores on a 1-5 Likert Scale (Oppenheim, 1992). For the questions, One (1) stood for "None", Three (3) represented "Moderate", whilst Five (5) meant "Very high".

Although rating scales have been extremely popular in social science research questionnaires, they are susceptible to a host of biases and limitations. In particular, they are susceptible to acquiescence response bias (Krosnick, 1991). Some respondents agree with the statement offered regardless of its content. Given the popularity of this measurement approach, researchers must decide the number of points to offer on a rating scale. There has been much debate about the appropriate number of points to be used on a rating scale.

Psychometric literature suggests that having more scale points is better but there is a diminishing return after around 11 points (Nunnally, 1978). Likert (1932) proposed that these scales should offer five points, but Dawes (2008) recently argued that comparable results are obtained from 7- to 10-point scales, which may yield more information than a shorter scale would. However, majority of research confirms that data from Likert items (and those with similar rating scales) becomes significantly less accurate when the number of scale points drops below five or above seven (Johns, 2010). Therefore, the majority of discourse has been over the use of 5-point versus 7-point scales.

Symonds (1924) was the first to suggest that reliability is optimized with seven response categories, and other early studies generally agreed (Colman et al., 1997). In that regard,

Miller (1956) argued that the human mind has a span of absolute judgment that can distinguish about seven distinct categories, therefore any increase in number of response categories beyond seven might be counterproductive

While some studies advocate the use of 7-points (or higher) in order to increase the variance in a measure, others have cautioned that increasing measures are liable to being distorted due to extreme score bias (many respondents are not inclined to respond to high and low points). In that regard, some researchers have reported higher reliabilities for five-point scales (Lissitz and Green, 1975; Jenkins and Taber, 1977; McKelvie, 1978).

A five-point scale rather than a seven-point scale was chosen in this study for a number of reasons, one being due to practical considerations (e.g., ease of item preparation, speed of administration, and reduced administration costs). Previous research has found that a five-point scale is readily comprehensible to respondents and enables them to express their views (Marton-Williams, 1986). The literature suggests that five-point scale appears to be less confusing and to increase response rate (Babakus and Mangold, 1992). Another reason for choosing 5 point scales is that they present a good balance between having enough points of discrimination without having to maintain too many response options. With a 5-point scale, it is quite simple for the interviewer to read out the complete list of scale descriptors ('1 equals strongly disagree, two equals disagree ...') (Dawes, 2008).

4.4.2 Pilot testing of questionnaires

In social science research, pilot studies can refer to feasibility studies conducted prior to a major study (Polit et al., 2001) or the pre-testing of a research instrument (Baker, 1994). The main objective of pilot studies is to present the researcher with advance insights into the feasibility of the research/survey, and to assess whether proposed methods or instruments are appropriate. Pilot studies can be based on quantitative and/or qualitative methods and can also be conducted to test a research process, e.g. the different ways of distributing and collecting the questionnaires.

Peat et al. (2002) has suggested pilot study procedures to improve the internal validity of a questionnaire. These include:

• Administering the questionnaire to pilot subjects in exactly the same way as it will be administered in the main study

- Requesting feedback from pilot subjects regarding ambiguities and complex questions
- Keeping record of time taken to complete the questionnaire and decide whether it is reasonable
- Discarding all unnecessary, complex or ambiguous questions
- Assessing the range of responses given for each question and decide whether they are adequate
- Checking that all questions are answered and re-word or re-scale those questions that are not answered as expected
- Shortening and revising questionnaire
- Repeat pilot (if possible)

In line with the procedures proposed by Peat et al. (2002), the questionnaire used in this study was pilot tested upon the completion of its design. This was done by distributing the questionnaires to a sample of 20 people including industry experts, academics, and the IT staff in the library of the University of Central Lancashire. A response rate of 100% was achieved because the researcher chose only those respondents who had promised to carefully complete and return the questionnaire. Feedback about the questionnaire design was received both in writing and verbally. The highlights from the feedback received were as follows:

- 100% of respondents believed the survey wording was clear and straight forward
- 100% of the respondents believed the survey made use of appropriate headings and had suitable multiple choices of answers
- 40% of the respondents believed the questionnaire was too lengthy and hence took more time to complete than indicated in the introduction (in the cover letter)
- 40% of the respondents believed the accompanying cover letter could have provided a more concise introduction into RFID use and adoption

Accordingly, the survey instrument was updated in line with the recommendations from the pilot study, before the commencement of the next stage of the survey.

4.4.3 Sample selection

A sample is defined as a collection of units from a population that is considered to be a true representation of that population" (Field, 2005).

Probability and non-probability sampling are the two sampling approaches in Social Science. In Probability sampling, all elements in the population have some opportunity of being included in the sample, and the mathematical probability that any one of them will be selected can be calculated. Types of probability sample include simple random sampling and systematic sampling. Simple random sampling represents a fraction population in which each member of the subset has an equal probability of being selected (Bryman and Bell, 2003). Systematic samples are drawn by starting at a randomly selected element in the sampling frame and then taking every nth element (e.g. starting at a random location in a telephone book and then taking every 50th name).

On the other hand, non-probability sampling involves selecting population elements based on the researcher's personal judgement or on the basis of their availability (e.g. because they volunteered). The consequence is that an unknown portion of the population is excluded (e.g. those who did not volunteer). One of the most common types of nonprobability sample is called a convenience sample – not because such samples are necessarily easy to recruit, but because the researcher uses whatever individuals are available rather than selecting from the entire population. Due to the fact that some elements of the population have no chance of being sampled, the extent to which a convenience sample – regardless of its size – actually represents the entire population cannot be calculated.

Many strategies can be used to create a probability sample. Each starts with a sampling frame, which is the list from which the potential respondents are drawn. The sampling frame operationally defines the target population from which the sample is drawn and to which the sample data will be generalized.

In this study, Financial Analysis Made Easy (FAME) and RFID Journal were the two directories used in selecting respondent organisations from sample frames. It was noted that a sample should be selected as randomly as possible in order to control bias (Saunders et al, 2003).

Simple random sampling was adopted in this research in order to give every organisation an equal chance of being included in the sample. However, convenience sampling techniques were also employed in selecting respondents from the sampled companies. Convenience sampling is a non-probability sampling method where subjects are selected because of their convenient accessibility or proximity (Bryman and Bell, 2003). In this case, convenience sampling involves choosing the most convenient person(s) to act as respondents. Supply chain

managers, IT directors, and main RFID contacts within the organisations were chosen as respondents of this research because they are in better position to explain the operations of RFID within their organisations. It has been suggested that samples must be true representatives of the population (Walliman, 2011). As the aim of this research is to make generalisation from sample to population, representativeness of sample has been of primary importance.

In this study, organisations that had adopted RFID and those with plans to adopt RFID are surveyed. This ensures the generalizability and extension of research findings and conclusions to include a greater number of organisations in the population. Bryman and Bell (2003) advocate that sound generalizability should include all the variations available within the population and generally in the same proportions as in the population. Therefore, this study has collected information from organisations that had adopted RFID and those with plans to adopt RFID in order to account for the possible variations, and thus improve generalizability.

Another reason for including organisations that had adopted RFID and those with plans to adopt RFID in the sample is to reduce framing effects or general cognitive bias, and thus improve the accuracy and reliability of information obtained. For example, in this study, information on the drivers and constraints of RFID adoption is solicited in the questionnaire. Although the information can be provided by organisations that have already adopted RFID, it is important that organisations intending to adopt RFID are surveyed on that as well because they could be potentially more likely to provide unbiased information on factors hindering their adoption of RFID. This is because they are at a potentially neutral position and are devoid of pressure of trying to justify or defend their adoption of the technology.

4.4.4 Questionnaire administration

There are various modes of collecting data by questionnaire. These modes vary in the method of contacting respondents, means of delivering of the questionnaire, and the method of administering the questionnaire. These variations can have different effects on the accuracy and quality of the data obtained.

Although scholars have not agreed on one standard definition of data quality, it is often characterized in terms of survey response rates, questionnaire item response rates, the accuracy of responses, absence of bias, and completeness of the information obtained from respondents. Mode of questionnaire administration has effects on elements of data quality. There are a number of ways of administering questionnaire. These include post, telephone, and online. The choice of a method depends on several factors including efficiency, speed, cost, and sensitivity of questions. Postal questionnaire is considered an easy, and a relatively low cost option. However, a drawback of postal questionnaires is that they suffer from low response rates (Saunders et al., 2003). Although, good questionnaire design in terms of layout, formatting and question styling all go to improve response rate.

After several factors including efficiency, speed, response rate, and cost were carefully considered, postal questionnaires were ruled out. The decision to distribute the questionnaires by email was taken. However, questionnaires sent by email could be perceived as unsolicited e-mails by the recipients and could easily be deleted or filtered out (Walliman, 2011; Saunders et al., 2003). To mitigate this problem, the questionnaires were emailed out by a contact at RFID Journal (an independent media company devoted solely to RFID and its business applications). This was done to increase credibility of the research and to stimulate the interest of the recipients.

<u>4.5 Data</u>

Questionnaire survey was the primary method of data collection.

4.5.1 Response rate

The response rate describes the extent to which the final data set includes all sample members. Regardless of the mode of data collection, a high response rate is paramount when generalizing results to a larger population. High survey response rates help to ensure that survey results are representative of the target population. A survey must have a good response rate in order to produce accurate, useful results.

Response rates are widely reported to have decreased for many types of surveys over the past decade (Curtin et al. 2005; Steeh et al. 2001). One consequence of this major decline of response rates is the anxiety among social scientists about the validity of analysis of data from surveys with low response rates.

In this study, several methods were applied to boost the response rate. The "*funnel approach*" of starting survey questions from wider issues at market and industry levels before narrowing it down to company level details was used (Walliman, 2011). Also, the "total design method" was deployed. It consists of an 18-step process for avoiding bad formatting, illogical sequence,

and repetition (Walliman, 2011). In order to further improve on the response rate, email reminders were sent at the end of the third and sixth and eighth week of sending out the questionnaire. Further details on the response rate obtained are discussed in section 5.3 of the next chapter (Survey by Questionnaire).

4.5.2 Data analysis

Data analysis involves the processing and modelling of data with the objective of deriving useful information, insightful conclusions, and supporting decision-making. Key data analysis processes including data inspection and cleaning, transformation, and presentation. Data analysis has multiple facets and approaches, encompassing diverse techniques under a variety of names, in different business, science, and social science domains.

4.5.2.1 Data types

The type of data collected is very important in determining the methodology of analysis that would be employed and consequently ensuring that conclusions are valid. In this study, data obtained from the questionnaire survey was scrutinised and the data types categorized accordingly. This was done using a software statistical package called SPSS. SPSS is the acronym of Statistical Package for the Social Science. SPSS is one of the most popular statistical packages which can perform highly complex data manipulation and analysis. Data was categorized into the following types:

- Nominal Data: This is data that classifies or categorizes a given attribute in no default or natural order. Example: Male or Female
- Ordinal Data: This is data that can be put in an order, but doesn't have a numerical meaning beyond the order. Ordinal scales are typically measures of non-numeric concepts like satisfaction, approval, etc.
- Interval Data: Interval scales are numeric scales where the order and exact differences between the values are known. Example: The difference between 40 and 30 degrees is a measurable 10 degrees, so is the difference between 10 and 20 degrees
- Ratio Data: Ratio scales give the order and exact value between units, but also have an absolute zero—which allows for a wide range of both descriptive and inferential statistics to be applied. Example: Height and Weight.

4.5.2.2 Data coding

Firstly, all variables were named and their format (numerical, string, etc.) specified. Data was then entered as numbers. If observations were recorded in textual format, for example Male or Female, they were coded as 1 and 2, respectively. Lastly, the "measure" of all entered variables was defined, choosing from options of nominal, ordinal, or scale.

4.5.2.3 Parametric vs Non-parametric

Parametric analysis procedures assume that data follow a specific distribution and hence rely on data about which the underlying parameters of its distribution is known (typically data that is normally distributed). On the other hand, nonparametric tests don't assume that data follow a specific distribution. Nonparametric tests are usually used when data being analysed is not normally distributed (this might be due to the distribution or the presence of outliers). Scores would typically be treated as nonparametric as would ordinal and nominal data.

In this study, parametric tests are used because:

- They can perform well with skewed and non-normed data. For example, parametric tests can perform well with continuous data that are non-normal if you satisfy the sample size guidelines. For example, to conduct a one-way ANOVA between 2-9 groups with non-normed data, the sample size in each group should be greater than 15.
- Parametric tests usually have more statistical power than nonparametric tests. Thus, the researcher is more likely to detect a significant effect where one exists. Nonparametric tests are generally less sensitive and so have lower statistical power.

4.6 Data analysis outline

This section outlines how statistical tools and techniques were used to address the research questions. Descriptive statistical methods were used to describe the basic features of the data in this study. Means and standard deviations were used to provide simple summaries about the sample and the measures. Tables were used to present the results.

Aside from the descriptive statistical techniques mentioned, three main inferential statistical techniques were used to address the research questions. These are (i) Binary Logistic Regression and (ii) Structural Equation Modelling (SEM), and (iii) Analysis of Variance (ANOVA). In addition, a Chi-square test is produced as part of both Logistic regression and

SEM. These particular inferential techniques were chosen because they presented the best methods and conditions for analysing the results obtained from our questionnaire survey, taking into consideration the variable types (categorical, ordinal, nominal, etc.), data patterns, sampling method adopted, and the assumptions associated with the statistical techniques in deliberation. Sections 4.6.1 - 4.6.4 provide details on how the statistical tests are derived mathematically and how they are applied and interpreted. The abbreviation "Eq" stands for equation, and is numbered in order to keep track of the formulae used in this section. Section 4.7 provides the justification for choice of statistical techniques in context of our research questions (section 1.3).

4.6.1. Descriptive statistics

Means, standard deviations, skewness and kurtosis tests are used to analyze the spread and distribution of the data. The formulae for the statistical techniques to be used are detailed below.

• The sample mean is denoted as $ar{x}$

Sample mean =
$$\overline{x} = \Sigma x / n$$
Eq (1)

where Σx is the sum of all the sample observations, and n is the number of sample observations.

• The standard deviation of a sample is known an **S** and is calculated using:

$$s = \sqrt{\frac{\sum (x - \bar{x})^2}{n - 1}}$$
Eq (2)

where \boldsymbol{x} represents each value in the population, \boldsymbol{x} is the mean value of the sample, $\boldsymbol{\Sigma}$ is the summation (operator), and *n-1* is the number of values in the sample minus 1.

The skewness of a sample is used for describing or estimating symmetry of a distribution (relative frequency of positive and negative extreme values). It is represented as S.

$$S = \frac{n}{(n-1)(n-2)} \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (X_i - X_{avg})^3}{s^3} \qquad \dots \text{Eq (3)}$$

where *n* is the sample size, *s* is the sample standard deviation, and *X*_{avg} is the sample mean

• The kurtosis of a sample is used for describing or estimating a distribution's 'peakedness' and frequency of extreme values. It is represented as **K**

$$K = \frac{n (n+1)}{(n-1)(n-2)(n-3)} \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (X_i - X_{avg})^4}{s^4} \qquad \dots \text{Eq (4)}$$

where n is the sample size, s is the sample standard deviation, and X_{avg} is the sample mean.

4.6.2 Chi-square test of goodness of fit

A chi-square goodness of fit test is applied when you have one categorical variable from a single population. It is used to determine whether sample data are consistent with a hypothesized distribution. The chi-square goodness of fit test is produced as part of both logistic regression and SEM (explained in sections 4.6.3 and 4.6.4 respectively) and is appropriate when the following conditions are met:

- i. The sampling method is simple random sampling.
- ii. The variable under study is categorical or ordinal.
- The expected value of the number of sample observations in each level of the variable is at least 5.

The degrees of freedom, expected frequency counts, test statistic, and the p-value associated with the test statistic are the main outputs obtained.

Degrees of freedom - The degrees of freedom (*DF*) is equal to the number of levels (*k*) of the categorical variable minus 1:

$$DF = k - 1$$
Eq (5)

 Expected frequency counts - The expected frequency counts at each level of the categorical variable are equal to the sample size times the hypothesized proportion from the null hypothesis

$$E_i = np_i \qquad \dots Eq (6)$$

where E_i is the expected frequency count for the *ith* level of the categorical variable, *n* is the total sample size, and p_i is the hypothesized proportion of observations in level *i*.

• Test statistic - The test statistic is a chi-square random variable (χ^2) defined by the following equation.

$$\chi^2 = \Sigma [(O_i - E_i)^2 / E_i]$$
Eq (7)

where O_i is the observed frequency count for the *ith* level of the categorical variable, and E_i is the expected frequency count for the *ith* level of the categorical variable. Greater differences between expected and actual data produce a larger chi-square statistic value. The larger the chi-square value, the greater the probability that there really is a significant difference

 P-value - The *p-value* is the probability of observing a sample statistic as extreme as the test statistic.

The p-value is a function of the observed sample results that is used for testing the statistical hypothesis. Before the test is performed, a threshold value is chosen, called the significance level of the test, traditionally 5% or 1% and denoted as α . In this study, 5% (0.05) is the significance level adopted. Formally, α is the maximum acceptable level of risk for rejecting a true null hypothesis (Type I error) and is expressed as a probability ranging between 0 and 1. The smaller the significance level, the less likely you are to make a Type I error, and the more likely you are to make a Type II error (failure to reject a false null hypothesis). Therefore, 5% level of significance is chosen as an alpha that balances these opposing risks of error based on their practical consequences in this study.

For a chi-square goodness of fit test, hypotheses take the following form.

 H_0 : The data are consistent with a specified distribution. H_a : The data are not consistent with a specified distribution.

Typically, the null hypothesis (H_0) specifies the proportion of observations at each level of the categorical variable. The alternative hypothesis (H_a) is that at least one of the specified

proportions is not true. For example, in SEM, when a structural model is built, the null hypothesis states that the model fits the data collected. Therefore, a chi-square statistic with a p-value > .05 will indicate good model fit.

4.6.3 Binary Logistic Regression

Binary logistic regression is a statistical method for analysing a dataset in which there are one or more independent variables that determine an outcome. The outcome is measured with a dichotomous variable (in which there are only two possible outcomes). The goal of binary logistic regression is to find the best fitting model to describe the relationship between the dichotomous characteristic of interest (dependent variable/response or outcome variable) and a set of independent (predictor or explanatory) variables. Logistic regression generates the coefficients (and its standard errors and significance levels) of a formula to predict a logit transformation of the probability of presence of the characteristic of interest:

$$logit(p) = b_0 + b_1 X_1 + b_2 X_2 + b_3 X_3 + \ldots + b_k X_k$$
Eq (8)

where p is the probability of presence of the characteristic of interest, b_0 is the intercept from the linear regression equation (the value of the criterion when the predictor is equal to zero), and $b_1 X$ is the regression coefficient multiplied by some value of the predictor.

The logit transformation is defined as the logged odds:

$$odds = \frac{p}{1-p} = \frac{probability \ of \ presence \ of \ characteristic}{probability \ of \ absence \ of \ characteristic} \qquad \dots$$
Eq (9)

and

$$logit(p) = ln\left(rac{p}{1-p}
ight)$$
Eq (10)

where *In* is the natural logarithm.

4.6.3.1 Assumptions and data type requirements

Logistic regression is used in this study because of the following reasons.

- It does not need a linear relationship between the dependent and independent variables. Logistic regression applies a non-linear log transformation to the predicted odds ratio, and thus can handle various types of variable relationships.
- The independent variables and error terms (the residuals) do not need to be multivariate normal
- Logistic regression does not need variances to be heteroscedastic for each level of the independent variables.
- Logistic regression can handle ordinal and nominal data as independent variables. The independent variables do not need to be metric (interval or ratio scaled)

However, some other assumptions still apply.

- Binary logistic regression requires the dependent variable to be binary
- Logistic regression assumes that P(Y=1) is the probability of the event occurring, it is necessary that the dependent variable is coded accordingly. That is, for a binary regression, the factor level 1 of the dependent variable should represent the desired outcome.
- The error terms need to be independent. Logistic regression requires each observation to be independent. That is that the data-points should not be from any dependent samples design. Also the model should have little or no multicollinearity. That is that the independent variables should be independent from each other
- Logistic regression assumes linearity of independent variables and log odds. Whilst it does not require the dependent and independent variables to be related linearly, it requires that the independent variables are linearly related to the log odds. Otherwise the test underestimates the strength of the relationship and rejects the relationship too easily, that is being not significant (not rejecting the null hypothesis) where it should be significant.

4.6.3.2 Model fit assessment

After running a binary logistic regression model, the model fit is assessed. This is done using a chi-square test (section 4.6.2)

Another method used to assess the fit of the binary logistic model is to examine how 'likely' the sample results are, given the parameter estimates. The probability of the observed results given the parameter estimates is known as the '**Likelihood'**. Since the likelihood is a small

number less than 1, it is customary to use -2 times the log likelihood (-2LL) as an estimate of how well the model fits the data. A good model is one that results in a high likelihood of the observed results.

4.6.3.3 Hypothesis testing

The final part of the binary logistic regression model involves hypothesis testing. This is done using the Wald statistic. Under the Wald statistical test, the maximum likelihood estimate $\hat{\theta}$ of the parameter(s) of interest θ is compared with the proposed value θ_0 , with the assumption that the difference between the two will be approximately normally distributed. In the univariate case, the Wald statistic is:

$$\frac{(\widehat{\theta} - \theta_0)^2}{\operatorname{var}(\widehat{\theta})}$$
Eq (11)

Binary logistic regression is ideal for testing models to predict categorical outcomes with two categories. The predictor (independent variable) can be either continuous, categorical or both. For example, the categorical dependent variable that was used in research questions 2 has values "respondent has adopted RFID" and "respondent has not adopted RFID". This allowed us to split the data into two sets and examine the relationships between the dependent variable and the covariates (and between the covariates themselves). Covariates are variables that are possibly predictive of the outcome under study.

4.6.4 Structural Equation Modelling (SEM)

Structural equation modeling, or SEM, is a very general, primarily linear and cross-sectional statistical modeling technique. It is a combination of factor analysis and multiple regression analysis, and it is used to analyze the structural relationship between measured variables and latent constructs. This method is preferred by researchers because it estimates the multiple and interrelated dependence in a single analysis, and it provides analyses for latent constructs (variables not observed or measured directly).

In SEM, interest usually focuses on latent constructs – abstract variables like "culture" or "attitude towards a brand" – rather than on the manifest variables used to measure these constructs. In empirical research, measurement is recognized as difficult and error-prone. By explicitly modeling measurement error, SEM users seek to derive unbiased estimates for the relations between latent constructs. To this end, SEM allows multiple measures to be

associated with a single latent construct. Thus, SEM, to date, is the most effective tool for determining and interpreting the relationships between variables involving latent and observed constructs, like those set out in research questions 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 of section 1.3. The concept of the latent variable from confirmatory factor analysis and structural equation modeling can be viewed in parallel to the classical test theory formulation. The latent variable is like a true score that is not directly observed, the observed variable is the measurement that is directly observed, and some degree of random measurement error may exist such that the observed score does not perfectly match the true score. In these terms, it is assumed that the true score causes a portion of the observed score typically with some unaccounted variance remaining. This causal hypothesis suggests a regression or path model that can be graphically depicted with ellipses that stand for latent variables and square boxes that stand for measured variables, as shown in Figure 4.1.



Figure 4.1: Path model in SEM

The general SEM notation is:

where: Xi = a column vector of observed variables;

\$k = ksi, a column vector of latent variables;

 ΛX = lambda, an *i X k* matrix of coefficients defining the relations between the manifest (X) and latent (ξ) variables; $\vartheta \delta$ = theta-delta, an *i X i* variance/covariance matrix of relations among the residual terms of X SEMs consist of a series of multiple regression equations – all equations are fitted simultaneously. SEMs produce several statistics, including an overall test of model fit and tests of individual parameter estimates. In addition, SEMs produce unstandardized regression coefficients, standard errors for those coefficients, a standardized version of the regression coefficients, and a squared multiple correlation or R^2 for the regression equation. Structural equation modeling (SEM) is now a regularly used method for representing dependency relations in multivariate data in the behavioural and social sciences.

AMOS (Analysis of Moment Structures), an add-on module for SPSS is used in this study. It is designed primarily for structural equation modeling, path analysis, and covariance structure modeling, and was used for analyses in all our research questions. It features an intuitive graphical interface that allows the analyst to specify models by drawing them. It also has a built-in bootstrapping routine and handling of missing data. It reads data from a number of sources, including MS Excel spreadsheets and SPSS databases.

This study uses SEM for causal modeling, or path analysis, which hypothesizes causal relationships among variables and tests the causal models with a linear equation system. Causal models to be tested will involve either manifest variables, latent variables, or both. Sound guidelines for the reporting of SEM results have been offered previously by Steiger (1988), Breckler (1990), Raykov, Tomer, and Nesselroade (1991), Hoyle and Panter (1995), and Boomsma (2000) were followed in this study.

4.6.4.1 SEM fit assessment

The chi-square statistic tests the overall fit of the structural model to the data. The null hypothesis under test is that the model fits the data, therefore researchers hope to obtain a small, non-significant chi-square value. A small, non-significant chi-square value indicates good model fit thus suggesting that the model fits the data acceptably in the population from which the researcher drew the sample.

However, as the chi-square (χ^2) test is not only sensitive to sample size but also sensitive to the violation of the multivariate normality assumption (West et al., 1995), it should not serve as the sole basis for judging model fit. Bollen and Long (1993) and Mueller (1996) recommend the evaluation of several indices simultaneously which represent different classes of goodness-of-fit criteria. There are three classes of descriptive fit indices developed by SEM:

90

- i. Descriptive measures of overall model fit These are the Root Mean Square Error of Approximation (RMSEA) and the Root Mean Square Residual (RMR).
- Descriptive measures based on model comparisons These are the Normed Fit Index (NFI), the Non-Normed Fit Index (NNFI), the Comparative Fit Index (CFI), the Goodness-of Fit Index (GFI), and the Adjusted Goodness-of-Fit Index (AGFI)
- Descriptive measures of model parsimony These are the Parsimony
 Goodness-of-Fit Index (PGFI), and the Parsimony Normed Fit Index (PNFI)

Descriptive measures of overall model fit

Measures of overall model fit indicate to which extent a structural equation model corresponds to the empirical data. These criteria are based on the difference between the sample covariance matrix and the model-implied covariance matrix.

 Root Mean Square Error of Approximation (RMSEA) – The Root Mean Square Error of Approximation (RMSEA) is a measure of approximate fit in the population and is therefore concerned with the discrepancy due to approximation (Steiger, 1990).
 RMSEA is estimated by:

$$\hat{\varepsilon}_{a} = \sqrt{\max\left\{\left(\frac{F(\mathbf{S}, \mathbf{\Sigma}(\hat{\theta}))}{df} - \frac{1}{N-1}\right), 0\right\}} \qquad \dots \text{Eq (13)}$$

where

 $F(\mathbf{S}, \boldsymbol{\Sigma}(\hat{\theta}))$ is the minimum of the fit function,

df = s - t is the number of degrees of freedom, and

N is the sample size.

An RMSEA value of or less than 0.05 is considered a good fit (Steiger, 1990; Browne and Cudeck, 1993). Hu and Bentler (1999) suggest an RMSEA of less than .06 as a cut-off criterion.

 Root Mean Square Residual (RMR) – The Root Mean Square Residual index (RMR) of Jöreskog and Sörbom (1981; 1989) is an overall goodness-of-fit measure that is based on the fitted residuals. RMR is defined as the square root of the mean of the squared fitted residuals:

$$RMR = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{p} \sum_{j=1}^{i} (s_{ij} - \hat{\sigma}_{ij})^2}{p(p+1)/2}} \qquad \dots Eq (14)$$

where

 s_{ij} is an element of the empirical covariance matrix **S**,

 $\hat{\sigma}_{ij}$ is an element of the model-implied matrix covariance $\Sigma(\hat{\theta})\,,$ and

p is the number of observed variables.

RMR values less than 0.05 are considered a good fit (Jöreskog and Sörbom, 1989; Hu & Bentler, 1995).

Descriptive fit measures based on model comparison

Comparison indices compare the fit of a model of interest to the fit of a baseline model. Commonly used comparison indices include Normed Fit Index (NFI), the Non-normed Fit Index (NNFI), the Comparative Fit Index (CFI), the Goodness-of-Fit Index (GFI), which will be explained below in more detail.

 Normed Fit Index (NFI) and Non-normed Fit Index (NNFI) – The Normed Fit Index (NFI) proposed by Bentler and Bonnett (1980) is defined as:

$$NFI = \frac{\chi_i^2 - \chi_t^2}{\chi_i^2} = 1 - \frac{\chi_t^2}{\chi_i^2} = 1 - \frac{F_t}{F_i}, \qquad \dots Eq (15)$$

where

- χ^2_i is the chi-square of the independence model (baseline model),
- χ^2_t is the chi-square of the target model, and
- F is the corresponding minimum fit function value.

NFI values of greater than .95 are indicative of good fit relative to the baseline model (Kaplan, 2000), whereas values greater than .90 are typically interpreted as indicating an acceptable fit (Marsh and Grayson, 1995; Schumacker and Lomax, 1996). A disadvantage of the NFI is that it is affected by sample size. In order to mitigate this problem, the Non-normed Fit Index (NNFI), also known as the Tucker-Lewis Index (TLI), was developed. The NNFI is defined as:

$$NNFI = \frac{(\chi_i^2/df_i) - (\chi_t^2/df_i)}{(\chi_i^2/df_i) - 1} = \frac{(F_i/df_i) - (F_t/df_i)}{(F_i/df_i) - 1/(N-1)}, \qquad \dots \text{Eq (16)}$$

where

- χ^2_i is the chi-square of the independence model (baseline model),
- χ^2_t is the chi-square of the target model,
- F is the corresponding minimum fit function value, and
- df is the number of degrees of freedom.

NNFI values between .95 and .97 are indicative of good fit. An advantage of the NNFI is that it is one of the fit indices less affected by sample size (Bentler, 1990; Bollen, 1990; Hu & Bentler, 1995, 1998).

Comparative Fit Index (CFI) – The Comparative Fit Index (CFI) is defined as:

$$CFI = 1 - \frac{\max[(\chi_t^2 - df_t), 0]}{\max[(\chi_t^2 - df_t), (\chi_i^2 - df_i), 0]} \qquad \dots \text{Eq (17)}$$

where

max denotes the maximum of the values given in brackets,

 χ^2_i is the chi-square of the independence model (baseline model),

 χ^2_t is the chi-square of the target model, and

df is the number of degrees of freedom.

CFI values of .95 to .97 is indicative of good fit. Comparable to the NNFI, the CFI is one of the fit indices less affected by sample size (Bentler, 1990; Bollen, 1990; Hu & Bentler, 1995, 1998, 1999).

 Goodness-of-Fit-Index (GFI) – The Goodness-of-Fit-Index (Jöreskog & Sörbom, 1989) measures the relative amount of the variances and covariances in the empirical covariance matrix that is predicted by the model-implied covariance matrix. The GFI is defined as:

$$GFI = 1 - \frac{F_{\rm t}}{F_{\rm n}} = 1 - \frac{\chi_{\rm t}^2}{\chi_{\rm n}^2},$$
Eq (18)

where

 χ^2_n is the chi-square of the null model (baseline model),

 χ^2_t is the chi-square of the target model, and

 ${\cal F}$ is the corresponding minimum fit function value.

GFI values between .90 and .95 are considered a good fit (Marsh & Grayson, 1995; Schumacker & Lomax, 1996).

Descriptive measures of model parsimony

Parsimony is considered to be important in assessing model fit (Hu & Bentler, 1995) and serves as a criterion for choosing between alternative models. The Parsimony Goodness-of-Fit Index (PGFI), the Parsimony Normed Fit Index (PNFI) adjust for model parsimony when assessing the fit of structural equation models.

 Parsimony Goodness-of-Fit Index (PGFI) and Parsimony Normed Fit Index (PNFI) – The Parsimony Goodness-of-Fit Index (PGFI; Mulaik et al., 1989) and the Parsimony Normed Fit Index (PNFI; James, Mulaik, & Brett, 1982) are modifications of GFI and NFI:

$$PGFI = \frac{df_{\rm t}}{df_{\rm n}} GFI \qquad \dots {\rm Eq} (19)$$

where

 df_t is the number of degrees of freedom of the target model,

 df_{n} is the number of degrees of freedom of the null model, and

GFI is the Goodness-of-Fit Index,

and

$$PNFI = \frac{df_{\rm t}}{df_{\rm i}} NFI \qquad \dots {\rm Eq} (20)$$

where

 df_t is the number of degrees of freedom of the target model,

 df_i is the number of degrees of freedom of the independence model, and

NFI is the Normed Fit Index.

PGFI and PNFI both range between zero and one, with higher values indicating a more parsimonious fit.

4.6.4.2 SEM fit evaluation

Although SEM provides several fit indices after running the analysis, to explain and discuss all the indices will be superfluous. Hair et al. (2006) observe that it will be adequate to provide evidence of model fit based on three to four indices. However, not all of the suggested three or four should be reported due to overlap between the different indices. In this thesis, all model fit indices generated when running our models were observed, however, corroborating evidence of model fit is provided by the RMSEA fit statistic, and the NNFI (also known as TLI). RMSEA and NNFI were selected because they are sensitive to model misspecifications and do not depend on sample size as strongly as the chi-square test χ^2 (Fan et al., 1999; Hu and Bentler, 1998). GFI and AGFI were not used because simulation studies suggest that they are not independent of sample size (Hu and Bentler, 1995, 1998, 1999).

Having obtained a model that fits well, the parameter estimates and individual tests of significance of each parameter estimate are then interpreted. Path diagram outputs provide visual display of the parameter estimates. The values associated with each path are standardized regression coefficients. These values represent the amount of change in the *dependent (outcome) variable* given a standard deviation unit change in the *independent (predictor) variable*. R-square values ranging between 0 and 1 are also displayed, with 0 meaning that the independent variable (*X*) has no predictive ability on the dependent variable (*y*) and 1 meaning that an independent variable (*X*) perfectly predicts the dependent variable (*y*). Finally, individual tests of significance of each parameter estimate are interpreted.

4.7 Justification for choice of statistical techniques for

research questions

Binary logistic regression, SEM and ANOVA are the main techniques to be used for the research questions. Binary logistic regression was adopted because it was ideal for analysing a dataset in which there are one or more independent variables that determine an outcome, specifically for an outcome measured with a dichotomous variable (in which there are only two possible outcomes). Accordingly, in research questions 1 and 2, the outcome variable investigated is binary (decision to adopt RFID: "Yes" or "No").

Additionally, binary logistic regression was chosen because of its robustness – independent variables don't have to be normally distributed, or have equal variance between them; it does not assume a linear relationship between the independent and outcome variables, and it does not require the independent variables be interval.

SEM was used to address research questions 3 and 4 and was also used as a follow-up technique to validate the results of the binary logistic regression in research question 2. SEM's

ability to deal with latent constructs makes it an ideal tool for assessing relationships between variables that are not directly observed. Additionally, SEM accounts for measurement error for individual parameter estimates, allowing us to obtain unbiased relationships estimates between variables.

Finally, ANOVA was chosen to address research question 5. As this question concerns comparing means of multiple continuous independent variables against one dependent continuous variable, ANOVA was chosen as the most appropriate technique to address the question. ANOVA allows for analysing the differences between groups and their associated procedures. However, it falls short in providing estimates as to how individual parameters differ across groups, particularly in relation to latent constructs. Therefore, SEM is used as a follow up technique to determine the coefficient estimates of individual parameters.

4.8 Summary

In this chapter, an overview of research methodologies adopted in this research was given and a case was made for the chosen methodologies. Thereafter, an outline of the statistical techniques used for data analysis was also given.

The next chapter reports the result of a survey by questionnaire. The survey was designed to collect responses of key actors responsible for RFID operations within the surveyed organisations. Top management, supply chain/operations managers, and IT specialists were the target respondents due to the fact that they are concerned with decisions on key strategic and operational issues relating to RFID within their organisations. Specifically, the survey elicited perceptual information in respect of the decision to adopt RFID and the role organisational characteristics played in that regard; the implementation processes of RFID and how they were affected by organisational and technological factors; and the benefits derived from RFID. Questionnaires were designed and distributed to collect data, and the data was used to test the validity of the hypotheses proposed earlier, with the aim of answering the research questions.

The next chapter also seeks to validate the research model through survey by questionnaire. Additionally, in chapter 6, case studies of selected firms that participated in the survey by questionnaire are presented as part of the validation of the survey results and testing of relevant hypotheses.

CHAPTER 5 – SURVEY BY QUESTIONNAIRE

5.1 Introduction

This chapter reports the planning, design and administration of a survey by questionnaire, and presents the results of descriptive and inferential statistics from which findings were made. The primary aim of the survey was to generate data for the purpose of exploring and testing the relationships specified in the research framework and research hypotheses presented in chapter 3. To test the hypotheses proposed in chapter 3, the relationships between the main research constructs of strength of culture, business size, and business process re-engineering (BPR) were determined. In doing so, logistic regression and structural equation models were used to assess the role these constructs play in influencing organisations' decision to adopt RFID, RID implementation processes, RFID benefits.

This study has two main research themes; the first determines the factors that drive and hinder the adoption of RFID, in the context of the theories of Diffusion of Innovation (DOI) and Technology-Organisation-Environment (TOE) framework, which offer a robust perspective for analyzing organisational adoption and usage of technology. The second theme of the study empirically establishes the effects of organisational characteristics (business size, strength of culture and BPR) on RFID adoption, implementation processes, and on realizing and moderating benefits derived from RFID. Consequently, a survey was designed to undertake the study and gain understanding of the two research themes. A survey by questionnaire, being a deductive research method, was deemed appropriate for this. The survey was designed to provide the basis for testing the research hypotheses. The survey was complemented with case studies (in chapter 6) to mitigate the limitations of a single method approach and to gain insights through the in-depth study of cases.

5.2 Questionnaire Design

As advocated by Nachmias and Nachmias (1992), a comprehensive approach to designing questionnaires was adopted. The Total Design Method (TDM), developed by Dillman (1978), uses social exchange theory to identify ways to improve the quantity and quality of survey responses by organizing the data collection process in a way that attempts to convince respondents that the merits of responding outweigh the costs of doing so. The TDM is considered to be a general framework for designing online, mixed-mode surveys, and postal

surveys and was thus adopted in the research instrument design phase of this study. TDM entails a broad set of questions to be asked, taking into account data types, analysis and research questions to be addressed.

The questionnaire was designed and distributed to various organisations across a variety of industrial sectors. It was designed to assess the interactions of organisational characteristics such as business size, strength of culture, and business process re-engineering with RFID adoption decision, implementation processes, and benefits. The questionnaire was mostly made up of close-ended and Likert-scale driven questions, where the respondents pick an answer from a given number of options, or rank their responses according to a scale, respectively. The response options for the closed-ended questions were exhaustive and mutually exclusive. A cover letter soliciting for participation of organisations accompanied the questionnaire when distributed.

The questionnaire consisted of 30 questions. It was divided into two sections, namely, "Company details" and "RFID technology". The first section collated the demographic characteristics of the responding company. Background information obtained includes the names of the responding company and respondent, the position or post held by the respondent, the estimates of the number of employees in the company and the company's annual turnover, the year the company was established, and the business sector the company operates in. Thus, in this section both textual and numeric data were generated.

The second part of the questionnaire solicited the views of industry experts concerning (a) the drivers of RFID adoption, where a list of corporate, supply chain, and product/service-related factors were listed and respondents were asked to rate the extent to which the listed factors influenced their company's decision to adopt RFID; (b) the hindrance factors of RFID adoption, where a list of financial, manpower and technical issues were listed and respondents were asked to rate the extent to which the listed factors hindered their organisation's decision to adopt RFID; (c) the effect of organisational characteristics (strength of culture, business size and BPR) on a company's decision to adopt RFID, where respondents were given a list of factors and asked to rate the extent to which the factors affected their organisation's adoption of RFID; (d) the effect of organisational characteristics (strength of culture, business size and BPR) on a company's RFID implementation processes, where respondents were given a list of factors and asked to rate the extent to which the factors affected their organisation's adoption of RFID; (d) the effect of organisational characteristics (strength of culture, business size and BPR) on a company's RFID implementation processes, where respondents were given a list of factors and asked to rate the extent to which the factors for culture, business size and BPR) on a company's RFID implementation processes, where

99
affected their company's implementation of RFID; (e) the effect of organisational characteristics (strength of culture, business size and BPR) on benefits derived from RFID technology, where respondents were given a list of factors and asked to rate the extent to which the factors affected the benefits their organisations derived from RFID implementation; and (f) the impact of PULT, RFID implementation stage, and pedigree in RFID on benefits derived from RFID implementation.

A copy of the questionnaire used is attached in Appendix A.

5.3 Questionnaire administration and response rate

In this study, organisations that had adopted RFID and those with plans to adopt RFID are surveyed. This ensures the generalizability and extension of research findings and conclusions to include a greater number of organisations in the population. Bryman and Bell (2003) advocate that sound generalizability should include all the variations available within the population and generally in the same proportions as in the population. Therefore, this study has collected information from organisations that had adopted RFID and those with plans to adopt RFID in order to account for the possible variations, and thus improve generalizability.

Another reason for including organisations that had adopted RFID and those with plans to adopt RFID in the sample is to reduce framing effects or general cognitive bias, and thus improve the accuracy and reliability of information obtained. For example, in this study, information on the drivers and constraints of RFID adoption is solicited in the questionnaire. Although the information can be provided by organisations that have already adopted RFID, it is important that organisations intending to adopt RFID are surveyed on that as well because they could be potentially more likely to provide unbiased information on factors hindering their adoption of RFID. This is because they are at a potentially neutral position and are devoid of pressure of trying to justify or defend their adoption of the technology.

A total of 750 questionnaires were administered by email. 171 questionnaires were returned. This gives a response rate of 22.8%. This response rate is considered to be acceptable for studies of organisations. Earlier empirical studies of organisations have accepted lower response rates as representative of organisations. For instance, Ahmed et al. (1996) achieved a response rate of 6.5% when investigating the impact of training and development on organisational performance. Out of the 171 questionnaires returned, 163 were fully completed with logical answers. 163 of the questionnaires were used for analysis while the remaining 8 questionnaires were rejected for missing data and excluded from further analysis. Out of the 163 respondents, 96 had already adopted RFID while the remaining 67 respondents had plans of adopting RFID.

Poorly completed questionnaires still provide some data but are excluded from further analysis in order to reduce the incidence of missing data, and hence improve the reliability of results (Creswell, 2007; Bryman and Bell, 2003).

5.4 Statistical Results

The responses of both questionnaires were coded and entered into SPSS version 22, in order to carry out statistical analysis of the data collected. The SPSS software tool enables the computation of simple descriptive statistical analyses such as frequencies, means, standard deviation, and more complex inferential statistical analyses such as Regression, Chi-square test for association or differences, Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) and much more.

5.4.1 Non-response bias analysis

The potential problem of non-response bias can be dealt with in two ways. In the first approach, Lambert and Harrington (1990) recommend sending to non-respondents a summarized version of the original questionnaire to complete. Upon receiving their responses, one-way ANOVA is conducted to test for variance between responses of the original and summarized questionnaires.

The second approach involves splitting the responses into two groups – first wave and second wave. It proceeds with testing for statistically significant differences between the first and second wave of responses. This approach was adopted over the first one recommended by Lambert and Harrington (1990) because, in the first one, there was no guarantee that the non-respondents would respond, given that they refused to participate in the first study.

Consequently, in this study, the second wave of the surveys received was considered to be representative of the non-respondents. Thereafter, t-tests were conducted on the responses of the two waves as shown in Table 5.1. The t-test result yielded no statistically significant differences among the survey items tested. This evidence is corroborated by the 2-tailed significance value and the Levene's test. As shown in Table 5.1, the two tailed significance values are all greater than 0.05 for all the variables measured. Thus, the null hypothesis that

there is no significant difference between mean values of the two waves of responses cannot be rejected. Additionally, Levene's test for the equality of variance of the measured variables indicates that the two variances are significantly different. Thus, from Table 5.1, it can be seen that for all the measured variables, the null hypothesis that there is no significant difference between mean values of the two waves of responses cannot be rejected. Thus, the research instrument can be adjudged to be valid. Therefore, there was no evidence of non-response bias impacting the study.

Variable	Mean 1 st Wave	Mean 2 nd Wave	Sig.	Levene's test	
Demographics					
Annual turnover	3.13	2.97	.407	.064	
Number of employees	4.13	3.87	.149	.089	
Drivers of RFID adoption					
Top management initiative	4.77	4.62	.568	.134	
Industry pressure	3.13	3.44	.342	.592	
Strength of culture					
Goals and objectives	3.93	3.83	.907	.609	
Innovation	4.70	4.56	.201	.249	
Focus on customer satisfaction	3.90	3.21	.192	.270	
RFID benefits					
Increased visibility	4.12	3.45	.179	.923	
Electronic traceability	4.41	4.21	.185	.543	
Reduced out-of-stocks	3.78	3.94	.170	.421	

5.4.3 Validity and Reliability analysis

It is vital to assess the quality of a research instrument in order to account for the effects of measurement errors in any relationships that are being measured (Forza, 2002). Accordingly, the questionnaire used in this study was tested for reliability and validity.

5.4.3.1 Reliability analysis

Tracey et al. (2005) and Curkovic et al. (2000) recommend the assessment of the reliability of the scales used to gather responses in a research, in order to ensure that questionnaire data is devoid of random effects. Reliability tests measure the internal consistency of instruments employed to measure concepts. For instruments measuring a concept to be reliable, they should be highly correlated. Cronbach's coefficient alpha is the most widely used test of internal consistency (Ngai and Cheng, 1997; Flynn et al., 1990). Thus, Cronbach tests were computed for the main elements of the questionnaire – demographic characteristics, drivers and constraints of RFID adoption, culture strength attributes, RFID benefits, as well as the

entire questionnaire. The reliability test result for the questionnaire are reported in Table 5.2. Table 5.2 shows that the Cronbach's alpha for the overall scale of the survey instrument consisting of 109 variables was found to be 0.812. In addition, the scale reliabilities were also computed again for each of the sub items. The results of this analysis indicate that for all the sub-items of the questionnaire, the coefficient alphas exceed 0.70; thus the scales demonstrate strong internal consistency. Swafford et al. (2006) and Forza (2002) report Cronbach alpha values of 0.6 or higher to be acceptable in establishing the reliability of a construct.

Table 5.2: The reliability test results					
Variables	Cronbach's Alpha	Number of Items			
The full questionnaire	.812	109			
Demographics	.717	11			
Technology details	.721	9			
Drivers of RFID adoption	.754	15			
Constraints of RFID adoption	.807	9			
Strength of culture	.854	11			
Business size	.796	8			
BPR	.744	8			
RFID benefits	.727	29			
PULT	.825	4			
Implementation stage	.743	3			
RFID pedigree	.874	1			
Additional information	.766	1			

5.4.4 Descriptive statistics of respondent firms

Data obtained from the questionnaire was analysed for descriptive statistics. The research variables, their minimum and maximum scores received, and their mean and standard deviation scores are presented (refer to Table 5.3 in Appendix B).

5.4.4.1 Demographic characteristics of respondents

Descriptive statistics were used to analyse the distribution of the demographic and socioeconomic characteristics of the responding organisations. In Table 5.4, demographic characteristics of the respondents are presented, including organisational size, measured by number of employees, designation of respondents, annual turnover (in millions of pounds), and business sectors of the survey respondents. As is evident in Table 5.4, the variety of industries to which the respondents belong indicates that RFID applications in supply chain management range into diverse industrial sectors.

	Table 5.4: Demogra	phic data of resp	ondents
	Category	Frequency	Percentage of total responses
Designation of re	spondents	·	·
	Director, MD, CEO	23	14.1
	Supply chain Manager	78	47.9
	IT specialist/consultant	45	27.6
	Others	17	10.4
Number of emplo	oyees in the company		
	1-10	3	1.8
	11-50	3	1.8
	51-250	65	39.9
	251-500	59	36.2
	500 and above	33	20.2
Company annual	turnover		
	<2 million	19	11.7
	2-10 million	60	36.8
	11-50 million	51	31.3
	51-100 million	18	11.0
	> 100 million	15	9.2
Business sector			
	Healthcare	19	11.7
	Automotive	14	8.6
	Civilian aviation	20	12.2
	Agriculture	11	6.8
	Finance and banking	5	3.1
	Consumer goods	68	41.7
	Construction	8	4.9
	Education/Publishing	18	11.0

The demographic characteristics of the respondents enumerated above are discussed in greater detail below (points 1 to 3).

1. Designation of respondents

Table 5.4 shows the designation of the respondents to the survey. A challenge with organisational-level questionnaire survey is that top management staff (who are usually identified as the target respondents) hardly respond to requests to participate due to their busy schedules. Nevertheless, amongst our respondents, top to middle management staff (MD, CEO, and Directors) constitute 14.1% of the respondents. Supply chain managers and directors constitute the majority, with 47.9% of the

respondents. The second largest designation of respondents was IT specialists/consultants, accounting for 27.6% of responses. Within this study, the most sought after respondents were the supply chain managers or directors. The expectation is that supply chain managers hold the key information solicited in the study, as they possess better overview of the issues that the study hopes to address.

2. Size of organisation

Size of organisation was indicated by number of employees in the organisation and the annual turnover of the organisation. It can be seen in Table 5.4 that out of the sample respondents, about 39.9% of the organisations have between 51-250 employees, while about 36.2% of the organisations have between 251-500 employees. About 20.2% have a workforce in the range of over 500 employees.

Thus, the spectrum of the respondents to the survey cut across large companies, as well as small and medium size enterprises (SMEs), but the majority of the respondents to the survey are SMEs or organisations with employees between 251–500. This is in line with an earlier study of RFID adoption by Barjis and Wamba (2010) where they found the majority (53.5%) of respondents to their survey were SMEs.

Furthermore, Table 5.4 describes size by annual turnover of the responding organisations. The table shows that there are five categories of the company annual turnover. The largest category of the firms (about 36.8%) has a turnover of between 2-10 million pounds. This was closely followed by 31.3% of organisations with a turnover of between 11-50 million pounds. However, there are large organisations with turnovers of 500 million that responded to the survey as well.

Overall, the size of the responding organisations indicates that a significant percentage (over 35%) of the respondents to the survey are small and medium scale enterprises.

3. Business sectors of respondents

Table 5.4 also summarizes the companies in terms of the principal business sectors in which the respondents were involved. A major characteristic of sample respondents is that organisations in the commercial goods sector are the most represented at 41.7%. This is followed by companies operating in civilian aviation at about 12.2%. Additionally, organisations in the healthcare and education sectors constitute about

11.7 and 11%, respectively. There are also several organisations that are undertaking activities classified under the business sectors reported in the table, which echoes the implementation of RFID in varied industrial backgrounds.

5.5 Inferential Statistics

As highlighted in Chapter 4, Binary Logistic regression and Structural Equation Modelling (SEM) were used to establish the relationship between the major research constructs. Binary logistic regression is a statistical method for analysing a dataset in which there are one or more independent variables that determine an outcome. The outcome is measured with a dichotomous variable (in which there are only two possible outcomes). Binary logistic regression calculates the relationship between the dichotomous characteristic of interest (dependent variable/response or outcome variable) and a set of independent (predictor or explanatory) variables. The outcome variable in this study has two categories "adopt RFID" or "do not adopt RFID".

SEM is a statistical technique used for modelling causal relationships between constructs. It is considered as an appropriate data analysis method due to its ability to account for measurement error and derive unbiased estimates for the relations between constructs (Zhu et al., 2006a).

5.5.1 Data screening prior to SEM estimation and testing

5.5.1.1 Coding errors and missing data

The first step of the screening process involved checking the data file for coding errors. In cases where coding errors were discovered, they were corrected using the original questionnaire as advocated by Baumgartner and Homburg (1996); Churchill (1999); and Green et al. (1988).

The second step involved checking for missing data. Although the ML estimation method used in AMOS can handle missing data, cases incorporating missing values were deleted prior to data analysis, following a listwise approach. There are several approaches to deal with missing data, and all of them have their advantages and disadvantages (Hair et al. 1998). In this study, listwise case deletion was considered appropriate because the proportion of missing values was very low (Hair et al. 1998), with around 1.4% of cases containing missing values. Taking also into consideration that this study's quantitative analysis is based on a moderately sized sample, listwise deletion was the selected approach to missing values.

5.5.1.2 Sample size

While there is no consensus on an acceptable sample size for SEM, it is recommended that the sample should contain a sufficient number of cases in relation to the parameters to be estimated. This is in line with the asymptotic theory, upon which the estimation and testing methods of SEM are based (Baumgartner and Homburg, 1996). Baumgartner and Homburg (1996) posit that "the ratio of sample size to the number of free parameters should be at least 5:1 to get trustworthy parameter estimates, and higher in order to obtain appropriate significant tests" (Baumgartner and Homburg, 1996). This criterion is satisfied in this study, given that the models estimated between 3 to 16 parameters, multiple times less than the size of the calibration sample, which contained 163 cases.

5.5.2 Data preparation for SEM analysis

Before estimating the structural equation models, the nature of the data was explored in order to make sure the chosen variables are suitable for the estimations. This section describes the SEM analysis preparation procedures, including the choice of input matrix, estimation technique, and the selection of goodness-of-fit-indices.

5.5.2.1 Covariance and Collinearity

Covariance and correlation determine how data will be presented when specifying models within a software program that implements structural equation modelling. In the context of SEM, covariance and/or correlations between variables are essential because they allow the researcher to include both causal and non-causal relationships between variables. In this study, the structural equation models used contain both causal and non-causal relationships. Obtaining correlation estimates between variables allowed the researcher to better estimate direct and indirect effects with other variables, particularly in complex models with many parameters to be estimated.

In this study, the bivariate correlations between the independent variables were examined, and values of .70 and above were highlighted as potential sources of multicollinearity (based on arbitrary rule of thumb). In such cases, the potential problems of multicollinearity between variables were dealt with by creating relationships between them (e.g. correlation or causation) and/or using a latent variable to eliminate spurious relationships. This was the basis on which the latent variables in the structural models in this study were formed.

Although the correlations of all variables were analyzed, Appendix F shows only the correlation matrix of some key constructs in order to avoid an information overload within the thesis.

5.5.2.2 Forms of Input Data

Data can be input into any SEM computer tool in one of two forms – either as a raw data file or a matrix summary of the data. In respect of the input matrix, a correlation or covariance matrix can be used. However, numerous studies tend to support the use of covariance over correlation matrix. For example, Hair et al. (1998) and Bentler et al. (2001) state that a covariance matrix should be used when the aim of a study is to test a proposed theoretical framework because most of the statistical theory behind SEM has been developed on the assumption that the analysis applies to a covariance matrix.

In AMOS, using the raw data file as input calculates test statistics that correct against inflated chi-square statistics and bias in critical values for determining coefficient significance and standard errors (Baumgartner and Homburg, 1996; Hair et al. 1998). Therefore, in this study, data was entered into AMOS in its raw form.

5.5.2.3 Estimation Technique

Maximum likelihood (ML) is the default estimation method in AMOS and indeed in most statistical packages. It is also one of the most widely used estimation methods (Anderson and Gerbing, 1988; Baumgartner and Homburg, 1996). The ML is maintained as the estimation techniques in this study because it is consistent at producing efficient estimation.

5.5.2.4 Goodness of Fit Indices

While there is no consensus on the appropriate index for assessing overall goodness-of-fit of a model (Ping, 2004), the chi-square statistic has been the most widely used fit index (Bagozzi and Heatherton, 1994; Baumgartner and Homburg, 1996; Ping, 2004). The chi-square statistic tests the estimated covariance matrix vs the empirical (i.e. the sample) matrix. Obtaining a small, non-significant chi-square value indicates that the model fits the data acceptably However, as the chi-square (χ^2) test is not only sensitive to sample size (West et al., 1995), it should not serve as the sole basis for judging model fit. Bollen and Long (1993) recommend the evaluation of several indices simultaneously which represent different classes of goodness-of-fit criteria (Bagozzi and Heatherton 1994; Baumgartner and Homburg 1996).

Although SEM provides several fit indices after running the analysis, to explain and discuss all the indices will be superfluous. Hair et al. (2006) observe that it will be adequate to provide evidence of model fit based on three to four indices. However, not all of the suggested three or four should be reported due to overlap between the different indices. The fit indices RMSEA, NNFI and CFI are sensitive to model misspecifications and do not depend on sample size as strongly as the chi-square test χ^2 (Hu and Bentler, 1998), therefore they should always be considered. Hu and Bentler (1998) recommend to use RMR, supplemented by NNFI, CFI, or RMSEA.

In this thesis, all model fit indices generated when running our models were observed, however, corroborating evidence of model fit is provided by the RMSEA fit statistic, and the NNFI (also known as TLI). RMSEA and NNFI were selected because they are sensitive to model misspecifications and do not depend on sample size as strongly as the chi-square test χ^2 (Fan et al., 1999; Hu and Bentler, 1998). GFI and AGFI were not used because simulation studies suggest that they are not independent of sample size (Hu and Bentler, 1998). Furthermore, both indices decrease with increasing model complexity, especially for smaller sample sizes.

Table 5.5: D models	Table 5.5: Descriptions and thresholds of goodness-of-fit indices used in the assessment of the structural models					
Fit index	Description	Cut-off				
X ²	Indicates the discrepancy between hypothesised model and data; Tests the null hypothesis that the estimated covariance–variance matrix deviates from the sample variance–covariance matrix only because of sampling error	P < 0.05				
RMSEA	Shows how well the model fits the population covariance matrix, taking the number of degrees of freedom into consideration	< 0.05: good fit;< 0.08: reasonable fit				
NNFI	Shows how much better the model fits, compared to a baseline model, normally the null model, adjusted for the degrees of freedom (can take values greater than one)	>0.90				

Table 5.5 summarizes a description of the indices used and their suggested cut-offs.

Source: Bagozzi and Yi (1988); Baumgartner and Homburg (1996); Diamantopoulos and Siguaw (2000); MacCallum et al. (1996); Ping (2004)

Section 5.6 analyses and discusses the responses obtained from the questionnaire survey in context of our research questions. In order to present the result of the statistical tests in a structured manner, the research questions (section 1.3) were addressed in ascending order (starting from research question 1). Alongside, the justification for the statistical technique

adopted is given. The following format is adopted in order to comprehensively discuss the results for each research question. A "results" section, which presents the results (pertaining to that specific question) obtained from running the statistical tests is presented. A "discussion" section then follows, which discusses the results obtained in context of extant literature.

5.6 Research question 1: Drivers and constraints of RFID

adoption

This research question uses binary logistic regression models and structural equation models (SEM) to establish the relationship between a binary outcome variable (RFID adoption) and a group of predictor variables (Drivers and Constraints).

5.6.1 Model definition

5.6.1.1 Binary Logistic models

Binary logistic regression models the logit-transformed probability as a linear relationship with the predictor variables. In this question, two models (A and B) are presented. Model A estimates the probability that organisations will adopt RFID given the values of the independent variables, which are in this case, **drivers** of RFID adoption. Model B estimates the probability that organisations will adopt RFID given the values of the independent variables, which are in this case, **constraints** of RFID adoption The hypotheses under investigation are on the relationship between technological, organisational, and environmental factors and the decision to adopt RFID.

Let **y** be the binary outcome variable indicating non-adoption/adoption of RFID with 0/1 and **p** be the probability of **y** to be 1, **p** = prob(**y**=1). Let **X**₁, ..., **X**_k be the set of predictor variables as shown in Table 5.6. Then the logistic regression of **y** on **X**₁, ..., **X**_k estimates parameter values for β_0 , β_1 , ..., β_k via Maximum Likelihood (ML) method of the following equation.

 $logit(p) = log(p/(1-p)) = \beta_0 + \beta_1^* X_1 + ... + \beta_k^* X_k$

In terms of probabilities, the equation above is translated into

 $\boldsymbol{p} = \exp(\beta_0 + \beta_1^* \boldsymbol{X}_1 + \ldots + \beta_k^* \boldsymbol{X}_k) / (1 + \exp(\beta_0 + \beta_1^* \boldsymbol{X}_1 + \ldots + \beta_k^* \boldsymbol{X}_k)).$

Table 5.6:	Set of independent variables. x _i is the observe	d value of the independent variables for observation i.
Variable	Model A	Model B
<i>X</i> ₁	Availability of IT/IS infrastructure	Capital and recurring costs
X ₂	Perceived RFID benefits	Compliance issues
X ₃	Perceived RFID standards convergence	Technical issues
X4	Top management initiative	Security issues
X 5	Financial readiness/affordability	Manpower (skills) shortages
X 6	Organisational technical capability	Requirements for business process change
X7	Global expansion	Unwillingness to use RFID
X8	Competitive pressure	Lack of industry standards
Хg	Industry pressure	Privacy issues

X 10	Professional & trade association pressure	n/a
X 11	Favourable transactional climate	n/a
X 12	Regulatory pressure	n/a
X ₁₃	Dominant partner pressure	n/a
X 14	Government support	n/a
X15	Media pressure	n/a

5.6.2 Results: Binary Logistic Regression

Logistic regressions based on the models specified above were estimated. Two models were produced. Model A investigates the impact of each 'driver' of RFID adoption on the decision to adopt RFID. Model B investigates the impact of each 'constraint' of RFID adoption on the decision to adopt RFID. In each model, the outcome variable has two categories – "Yes" (adopt RFID) and "No" (do not adopt RFID). Model A contained 15 directly measured independent variables, which were found to be jointly statistically significant, χ^2 (15, N= 163) = 162.181, p < 0.050. Model B contained 9 directly measured independent variables, which were also found to be jointly statistically significant, χ^2 (9, N= 163) = 88.367, p < 0.050.

Probability calculation

- Organisations that have adopted RFID = 96
- Organisations yet to adopt RFID = 67

Total number of organisations = 163

- Probability of adoption is 96/163 = .589
- Probability of non-adoption is 1 .589 or 67/163 = .411

Table 5.7 shows the results from running both models (A and B). Each estimated coefficient (**B**) is the expected change in the log odds of adopting RFID for a unit increase in the corresponding predictor variable, whilst holding the other predictor variables constant. Each exponentiated coefficient **Exp(B)** is the ratio of two odds, or the change in odds in the multiplicative scale for a unit increase in the corresponding predictor variable holding other variables constant.

The "notes" section of the table gives the chi-square (χ^2) goodness of fit of each model. The chi-square value of 162.181 at a p-value of <.05 was obtained for model A, indicating good fit for the regression model. Similarly, a chi-square value of 88.367 at a p-value of <.05 was obtained for model B. This also indicates good fit for the regression model.

Example to illustrate the interpretation of log odds used in sections 5.6.2.1 to 5.6.2.3

Each coefficient in logit model is the difference in the log(odds) (this follows directly from the model definition). This means that:

exp (beta)= q1/q0 (where q1 and q0 are the odds for outcomes 1 and 0 in the dependent
variable). So For instance, if exp(beta) = 1.30, this means that q1=1.3*q0, so the
corresponding explanatory variable makes (the meaning of which depends on how the
variable is measured) having outcome 1 30% more likely than having outcome 0. (1.3-1=0.3)
If exp(beta) = 0.8, for instance, then q1=0.8*q0, so having an outcome 1 is 20% less likely
(0.8-1=-0.2).

So in general q1=exp(beta)*q0 so

q1-q0= [exp(beta) -1]*q0

Hence **[exp(beta) -1]** gives the effect measured as this how much more likely is that 1 happens relative to 0 (i.e.) becoming 1)

	Table 5.7: Variables in models A and B						
Context		Factors	В	S.E.	Sig.	Exp(B)	
	Drivers	Availability of IS/IT infrastructure	1.992	.322	.000	7.332	
		Perceived RFID benefits	2.227	.601	.000	9.276	
Tashnalasiaal		Perceived RFID standards convergence	1.738	.504	.001	5.687	
Technological factors	C	Capital and recurring costs	593	.250	.018	.553	
factors	Constraints	Compliance issues	-1.132	.230	.000	.322	
	raint	Technical issues	875	.220	.000	.417	
	S:	Security issues	-2.569	.877	.003	.077	
	Drivers	Top management initiative	2.158	.637	.001	8.652	
		Financial readiness/affordability	1.949	.706	.006	7.022	
		Organisational technical capability	1.697	.523	.001	5.455	
Organisational		Global expansion	476	1.426	.738	.621	
factors	Constraints	Manpower (skills) shortages	532	.435	.222	.588	
		Requirements for business process change	956	.394	.015	.385	
		Competitive pressure	2.023	.621	.001	7.560	
		Industry pressure	1.560	.536	.004	4.760	
		Professional & trade association pressure	.278	.224	.214	1.321	
Environmental	Drivers	Favourable transactional climate	.377	.171	.027	1.458	
factors	rers	Regulatory pressure	.587	.574	.006	1.799	
		Dominant partner pressure	1.697	.523	.001	5.455	
		Government support	.385	.160	.016	1.470	
		Media pressure	1.265	1.479	.392	3.542	

	Cor	Unwillingness to use RFID	-2.244	.760	.003	.106
	nstraints	Lack of industry standards	-2.017	.746	.007	.133
	lints	Privacy issues	-1.432	.652	.028	.239
Model A: χ ² (15,	N= 163)	= 162.181, p < 0.050				
Model B: χ ² (9, N	= 163) =	88.367, p < 0.050				

5. 6.2.1 Technological factors

Firstly, all the technology drivers of RFID adoption have recorded a statistically significant pvalue. In Table 5.7, the strongest driver that influences organisations' decision to adopt RFID is "perceived RFID benefits", which recorded an odds ratio of 9.276. This indicates that a unit increase in "perceived benefits" (while controlling for other factors in the model) results in a 8.276 (9.276-1) times increase in the odds of adoption of RFID (over odds of non-adoption). Other strong predictors include "perceived RFID standards convergence" and "availability of IS/IT infrastructure", recording odds ratios of 5.687 and 7.332, respectively. This indicates that a unit increase in efforts made towards fostering standardization, and a unit increase in the availability of necessary IT/IS infrastructure increases the odds of organisations adopting RFID (over odds of non-adoption) by 4.7 and 6.3 times, respectively.

On the other hand, all the technological constraints of RFID adoption have recorded a statistically significant p-value. The strongest constraint of RFID adoption is "security issues", which recorded an odds ratio of 0.077. This indicates that a unit increase in "security issues" decreases the odds of adopting RFID (over the odds of non-adoption) by 92% (0.077-1). Other constraints of organisational decision to adopt RFID include "compliance issues" and "technical issues", recording odds ratios of .322 and .417, respectively. This indicates that for a unit increase in either "compliance issues" or "technical issues", the odds of organisations adopting RFID decreases by 67% (0.322-1) or 58% (0.417-1), respectively. Lastly, "capital and recurring costs" recorded an odds ratio of 0.553. This indicates that a unit increase in "capital and recurring costs" (while controlling for other factors in the model) results in the odds of organisations adopting RFID decreasing by 45% (0.553-1).

5.6.2.2 Organisational factors

Secondly, all the organisational drivers of RFID adoption have recorded a statistically significant p-value with the exception of "global expansion". "Top management initiative" and "financial readiness/availability" were found to be the strongest drivers of organisational decision to adopt RFID, recording odds ratio of 8.652 and 7.022, respectively. This indicates

that a unit increase in either "top management initiative" or "financial readiness/availability" (while controlling for other factors in the model) increases the odds of organisations adopting RFID (over odds of non-adoption) by 7.6 (8.652-1) or 6 (7.022-1) times, respectively. The other significant driver is "organisational technical capability", recording an odds ratio of 5.455. The driver "global expansion" was found to be not statistically significant, recording a p-value > .05.

On the other hand, all the organisational constraints of RFID adoption have recorded a statistically significant p-value with the exception of "manpower (skills) shortages". Some of the constraints on organisational decision to adopt RFID include "requirements for business process change", which recorded an odds ratio of .385. This indicates that a unit increase in "requirements for business process change" (while controlling for other factors in the model) results in a decrease in the odds of adopting RFID by 61.5% (0.385-1). Also, "manpower (skills) shortages" was found to be not significant, recording a p-value > .05.

As stated in the paragraphs above, the two variables "global expansion" and "manpower (skills) shortages" recorded non-significant p-values. These two variables will be further explored using SEM and commented on in the results discussion section (5.6.3).

5.6.2.3 Environmental factors

Lastly, all the environmental drivers of RFID adoption have recorded a statistically significant p-value with the exception of "professional & trade association pressure" and "media pressure". "Competitive pressure" and "dominant partner pressure" were found to be the strongest drivers of organisational decision to adopt RFID, recording odds ratios of 7.560 and 4.760, respectively. This indicates that a unit increase in pressure from competitors or supply chain partners increases the odds of organisations adopting RFID by 6.5 and 3.7 times, respectively. The odds ratio of 1.470 for "government support" and 1.458 for "favourable transactional climate" indicate that for a unit increase in either variable, the odds of adopting RFID increase by 47% and 46% respectively.

On the other hand, some of the constraints on organisational decision to adopt RFID include "privacy issues", which recorded an odds ratio of .239. This indicates that for a 1-unit increase in "privacy issues", (while controlling for other factors in the model), the odds of organisations adopting RFID falls by 76%. Also, "unwillingness to use RFID" recorded odds ratios of .106. This indicates that for a unit increase in "unwillingness to use RFID" the odds of organisations adopting RFID fall by 90%.

"Media pressure" and "professional and trade association pressure" were found to be not significant, as they recorded p-values > .05. These results will be further explored and commented on in the SEM results in section 5.5.2.

5.6.1.2 Structural equation model (SEM)

Two structural models were run. Model A included the drivers of adoption. Model B included the constraints of RFID adoption. The notation for both SEM models is shown below. *X_i* is the observed value of the independent variables for observation *i*.

where: Xi = a column vector of observed variables shown in Table 5.6;

\$k = ksi, a column vector of latent variables;

 ΛX = lambda, an *i X k* matrix of coefficients defining the relations between the manifest (*X*) and latent (ξ) variables; $\partial \delta$ = theta-delta, an *i X i* variance/covariance matrix of relations among the residual terms of *X*

All assumptions and data preparation regarding SEM analysis have already been discussed in sections 5.5.1 to 5.5.2.

5.6.3 Results: Structural Equation Modelling (SEM)

Two structural equation models were run – one for drivers of RFID adoption (model A) and the other for constraints of RFID adoption (model B).

Table 5.8 shows the results of running both models, including the parameter estimates (β) associated with each predictor variable, the standard errors, the p-values, and the variance (R^2). The "notes" section of the table shows the evidence of the model fit i.e. Root Mean Square Error of Approximation (RMSEA) and the Non-normed Fit Index (NNFI).

Hu and Bentler (1999) and Hair et al. (2006) recommend NNFI values above 0.90 as denotions of good model fit whereas the recommendations for RMSEA cut-off points have been reduced considerably over the last two decades. In the early nineties, RMSEA values ranging from 0.05 to 0.10 were considered an indication of satisfactory fit and values above 0.10 indicated poor fit (MacCallum et al, 1996). Later, it became widely accepted that RMSEA values ranging between 0.08 to 0.10 indicate a mediocre fit and below 0.08 indicate a good fit (MacCallum et al, 1996). However, more recently, a cut-off value close to .06 (Hu and Bentler, 1999) or a

stringent upper limit of 0.07 (Steiger, 2007) seems to be the general consensus amongst researchers in this area.

As shown in Table 5.8, model A recorded an RMSEA value of .052 and NNFI value of .965. Model B recorded an RMSEA value of .063 and NNFI value of .917. Therefore, the values for both models denote acceptable model fit.

		Table 5.8: Reg	ression weights and significance tests of indiv	idual param	eters		
		Context	Variables	β	S.E.	P- value	R ²
			Drivers		•		
			Availability of IS/IT infrastructure	0.43	0.058	0.013	0.36
			Perceived RFID benefits	0.76	0.027	0.007	0.69
			Perceived RFID standards convergence	0.39	0.075	0.001	0.31
		Technological	Constraints				
		factors	Capital and recurring costs	-0.73	0.047	0.000	0.64
			Technical issues	-0.73	0.051	0.034	0.48
			Security issues	-0.31	0.070	0.050	0.54
			Compliance issues	-0.53	0.053	0.050	0.43
			Drivers				
		Organisational factors	Top management initiative	0.56	0.036	0.027	0.43
			Financial readiness/affordability	0.61	0.026	0.000	0.54
			Organisational technical capability	0.53	0.045	0.010	0.43
			Global expansion	0.29	0.071	0.005	0.26
Decision			Constraints				
to adopt	←		Manpower (skills) shortages	-0.33	0.076	0.019	0.55
RFID			Requirements for business process change	-0.59	0.052	0.001	0.54
			Drivers				
			Competitive pressure	0.38	0.056	0.035	0.28
			Industry pressure	0.43	0.074	0.042	0.27
			Professional and trade association pressure	0.11	0.054	0.048	0.34
			Favourable transactional climate	0.16	0.060	0.012	0.30
			Regulatory pressure	0.10	0.047	0.018	0.42
		Environmental	Dominant partner pressure	0.33	0.060	0.005	0.28
		factors	Government support	0.21	0.061	0.049	0.32
			Media pressure	0.13	0.048	0.047	0.37
			Constraints				
			Unwillingness to use RFID	-0.32	0.050	0.049	0.41
			Lack of industry standards	-0.62	0.063	0.023	0.37
			Privacy issues	-0.46	0.057	0.037	0.62
Notes: Mc	del A	: NNFI = .965; RN	ASEA = .052 <i>Model B:</i> NNFI = .93	17; RMSEA =	= .063		

5.6.3.1 Technological factors

As seen in Table 5.8, all the drivers have p-values < 0.05 and thus make a statistically significant contribution in predicting the model. All the drivers have a direct positive relationship with the "decision to adopt RFID". "Perceived RFID benefits" has the strongest association with "decision to adopt RFID", recording a β estimate of .76. This means for a unit standard deviation increase in "perceived benefits" (while controlling for other factors), the

"decision to adopt" increases by .76. "Availability of IT/IS infrastructure" and "perceived RFID standards convergence" recorded regression estimates of .43 and .39, respectively.

In terms of constraints, all the factors have a significant (p < 0.05) direct negative relationship with the "decision to adopt RFID". "Capital and recurring costs" and "technical issues" both recorded β values of -0.73 while "security issues" and "compliance issues" recorded β values of -0.53 and -0.31, respectively. This indicates that for a standard deviation increase in either "capital and recurring costs" or "technical issues" (while controlling for other variables), the "decision to adopt RFID" decreases by 0.73. Whereas a standard deviation increase in either "security issues" or "compliance issues" decreases the "decision to adopt RFID" by 0.53 and 0.31, respectively.

5.6.3.2 Organisational factors

As seen in Table 5.8, all the drivers have p-values < 0.05 and thus make a statistically significant contribution in predicting the model. All the drivers have a direct positive relationship with the "decision to adopt RFID". "Financial readiness/availability" has the strongest association with "decision to adopt RFID", recording a standardized regression estimate of .61. This means for a unit standard deviation increase in "financial readiness/availability" (while controlling for other factors), the "decision to adopt RFID" increases by .61. "Top management initiative" and "organisational technical capability" recorded regression estimates of .56 and .53, respectively.

In terms of constraints, all the factors have a significant (p < 0.05) direct negative relationship with the "decision to adopt RFID". "Requirements for business process change" recorded β value of -0.59 while "manpower (skills) shortages" recorded β value of -0.33. This indicates that for a standard deviation increase in "requirements for business process change" (while controlling for other variables), the "decision to adopt RFID" decreases by 0.59. Whereas a standard deviation increase in "manpower (skills) shortages" decreases the "decision to adopt RFID" by 0.33.

5.6.3.3 Environmental factors

As seen in table 5.8, all the drivers have p-values < 0.05 and thus make a statistically significant contribution in predicting the model. All the drivers have a direct positive relationship with the "decision to adopt RFID". "Industry pressure" has the strongest association with "decision

to adopt RFID", recording a standardized regression estimate of .43. This means for a unit standard deviation increase in "industry pressure" (while controlling for other factors), the "decision to adopt" increases by .43. "Competitive pressure" and "dominant partner pressure" recorded regression estimates of .38 and .33, respectively.

In terms of constraints, all the factors have a significant (p < 0.05) direct negative relationship with the "decision to adopt RFID". "Lack of industry standards" recorded β value of -0.62 while "privacy issues" and "unwillingness to use RFID" recorded β values of -0.46 and -0.32. This indicates that for a standard deviation increase in "lack of industry standards (while controlling for other variables), the "decision to adopt RFID" decreases by 0.62. Whereas a standard deviation increase in "privacy issues" and "unwillingness to use RFID" decreases the "decision to adopt RFID" by 0.32 and 0.46, respectively.

5.6.4 Discussion: Binary Logistic regression and SEM results

5.6.4.1 Technological factors

The findings from both SEM and logistic regression show a statistically significant direct positive relationship between the drivers of adoption and the decision to adopt RFID. This is consistent with previous studies on technological innovation adoption such as Tonartzky and Klein (1982), Rogers (1995), Matta and Moberg (2006), and Schmitt et al. (2007). On the other hand, the findings from both SEM and logistic regression also show that there is a significant direct negative relationship between constraints of adoption and decision to adopt RFID. It can be seen from both sets of results (SEM and binary logistic regression) that each driver or constraint makes a unique contribution towards "decision to adopt RFID".

For both set of results, "perceived RFID benefits" was found to be the strongest driver of RFID adoption. Our findings are supported by studies of Paydar (2013), Attaran (2012), and Goethals and Newlands (2011) which suggest that organisations that implement RFID are driven to adoption by the promise of achieving benefits, particularly achieving higher efficiency, better supply chain monitoring and better collaboration with partners. Our results also show "availability of IT/IS infrastructure" to be a strong driver of RFID adoption. These findings are consistent with those of Attaran (2012) which suggest that organisations require the necessary IT infrastructure in order to integrate RFID into their existing IT systems.

Paydar (2013), Smart et al., (2010), and Mehrjerdi (2010) found high capital costs and requirements for business process change, to be major factors that hinder RFID adoption and proliferation. From our results, we also found "capital and recurring costs" and "requirements for business process change" to be strong constraints of RFID adoption. Additionally, Mehrjerdi (2010) and Attaran (2012) found technical challenges such as imperfect tag readrates, middleware uncertainty, and lack or shortage of in-house experts/skills to manage RFID systems have been identified to play a strong role in hindering RFID adoption. Our results are consistent with those findings as "technical issues" are seen to have a strong effect on organisational decision to adopt RFID ($\beta = -0.73$). "Compliance issues" ($\beta = -0.53$) were found to hinder the decision to adopt RFID. This indicates that requirements, often from dominant partners, for their partners to comply with their RFID standards, deadlines, or policies contributes to hindering adoption of the technology. "Security issues" has the lowest β value (-0.39) but still make a significant contribution in constraining decision to adopt.

Overall, the decisions on the null hypotheses formulated to investigate the impact of technological factors on RFID adoption decision are as follows (Table 5.9):

Table 5.9: Hypotheses on the impact of technological factors on decision to adopt RFID					
Context	Factor	Hypothesis	Decision		
	Drivers				
	Perceived RFID benefits	H1: Technological drivers of RFID			
	Availability of IS/IT infrastructure	adoption have a significant	Accont		
	Perceived RFID standards convergence	positive influence on the decision	Accept		
Technological		to adopt RFID			
factors	Constraints				
	Capital and recurring costs	H2: Technological constraints of			
	Technical issues	RFID adoption have a significant	Accont		
	Security issues	negative influence on the	Accept		
	Compliance issues	decision to adopt RFID			

5.6.4.2 Organisational factors

In general, the findings from both SEM and logistic regression show a statistically significant direct positive relationship between the drivers of adoption and the decision to adopt RFID, and also a significant direct negative relationship between constraints of adoption and decision to adopt RFID. It can be seen from both sets of results that each driver or constraint makes a unique contribution towards the outcome variable "decision to adopt RFID". "Top management initiative" and "financial readiness/availability" were found to be the strongest drivers of RFID adoption. These findings are supported by Amabile (1988), Brown and Russell (2007), and Lin (2009), which report that management skills and top management support for

innovation improve overall organisational innovation. The support and encouragement of top management, along with financial availability and readiness are considered essential factors for the decision to adopt technological innovation because the financial and managerial resources required for the adoption of innovative technologies will be more readily available if support from management is provided.

In terms of constraints, "shortages in manpower (skills)" and "requirements for business process change" were found to make statistically significant contributions in constraining RFID adoption. These findings are supported by Mehrjerdi (2010) and Attaran (2012), which report that lack of in-house experts/skills to manage RFID systems play a strong role in hindering RFID implementation.

In the logistic regression results, "global expansion" and "manpower (skills) shortages" were found to have p-values greater than .05. However, in the SEM results, those variables recorded significant p-values. Due to this difference, the researcher will use extant literature and results from the case studies in Chapter 6 in order to validate the findings and thus make decisions regarding the hypothesis concerning the two variables ("global expansion" and "manpower skills").

In that regard, Mehrjerdi (2010) and Attaran (2012) report that lack of in-house experts/skills to manage RFID systems play a strong role in hindering RFID implementation providing support for the SEM results to be accepted with regards to the variable "manpower (skills) shortages". For "global expansion", results from the case studies conducted in Chapter 6, section 6.6.1.2 indicate that the variable is a significant driver of RFID adoption. In that regard, OE-3, a respondent in one of the case study organisations, stated that "As we have multiple outlets around the world, such a decision (adopting RFID) is made solely by the CEO or other top execs of the company. Although, they do work and make decisions based on recommendations and reports from lower management, the decision of where to implement the technology is made based on where it's required the most, size or location of outlets, expansion plans and the projected impact it would have." Therefore, this case study finding supports the results for the SEM with regards to the variable "global expansion".

Overall, the decisions for the null hypotheses formulated to investigate the impact of organisational factors on RFID adoption decision are as follows (Table 5.10):

Tabl	Table 5.10: Hypotheses on the impact of organisational factors on decision to adopt RFID					
Context	Factor	Hypothesis	Decision			
	Drivers					
	Top management initiative	H3: Organisational drivers of RFID				
	Financial readiness/affordability	adoption have a significant positive	Accept			
	Organisational technical capability	influence on the decision to adopt RFID				
Organisational	Global expansion					
factors	Constraints					
	Manpower (skills) shortages	H4: Organisational constraints of RFID				
	Requirements for business process	adoption have a significant negative	Accept			
	change	influence on the decision to adopt RFID				

5.6.4.3 Environmental factors

The findings from both SEM and logistic regression indicate "competitive pressure" ($\beta = 0.38$), "industry pressure" ($\beta = 0.43$), and "dominant partner pressure" ($\beta = 0.33$), to be the strongest drivers of organisational decision to adopt RFID. These are closely followed by "government support" ($\beta = 0.21$). This indicates that organisations are driven towards adopting RFID majorly in order to be more competitive or as a result of external pressure. In other words, although support and encouragement from government (in terms of policies and regulations) drives adoption, the pressures from stakeholders has a stronger influence on organisation decision to adopt RFID.

In terms of constraints, "lack of industry standards" (β = -0.62) and "privacy issues" (β = -0.46) were found to be the biggest hindrance on decision to adopt in both sets of results. These findings are supported by Attaran (2012) which found both factors to play a role in constraining the adoption of RFID.

In the logistic regression results, "professional and trade association pressure" and "media pressure" were found to have p-values greater than .05. However, in the SEM results, those variables recorded significant p-values. Therefore, just like section 5.6.4.2 above, the decision on the hypotheses regarding these two variables is made with the support of extant literature on RFID adoption and case study results in Chapter 6.

In that regard, Makhija and Chugan (2015) find that professional & trade association pressure, media pressure, favorable transactional climate and government support drive RFID adoption. They add that these four variables correlate to form the external environment of an organization and its effect on adopting a new technology (forming environmental drivers for adoption of RFID technology within organisations). This finding supports the SEM results, which found "professional and trade association pressure" and "media pressure" to have a statistically significant direct positive relationship with the decision to adopt RFID.

Consequently, the decisions for the null hypotheses formulated to investigate the impact of environmental factors on RFID adoption decision are as follows (Table 5.11):

Table 5.11: Hypotheses on the impact of environmental factors on RFID adoption decision						
Context	Factor	Hypothesis	Decision			
	Drivers					
	Competitive pressure					
	Industry pressure		Accept			
	Dominant partner pressure	H5 : Environmental drivers of RFID				
	Professional and trade association pressure	- adoption have a significant				
	Media pressure	 positive influence on the decision to adopt RFID 				
Environmental	Regulatory pressure					
factors	Favourable transactional climate	7				
	Government support	7				
	Constraints					
	Unwillingness to use RFID	H6: Environmental constraints of				
	Lack of industry standards	RFID adoption have a significant	Accont			
	Privacy issues	negative influence on the decision to adopt RFID	Accept			

5.7 Research question 2: Impact of strength of culture,

business size, and BPR on decision to adopt RFID

This research question uses binary logistic regression models and structural equation models (SEM) to establish the relationship between a binary outcome variable (RFID adoption) and latent constructs of strength of culture, business size, and business process re-engineering.

5.7.1 Model definition

5.7.1.1 Binary Logistic models

In this question, three models (A, B, and C) are presented to estimate the probability that organisations will adopt RFID given the values of their independent latent variables, which are in this case, strength of culture, business size, and BPR. Model A investigates the impact of strength of culture on RFID adoption. Model B investigates the impact of business size on RFID adoption. Model C investigates impact of BPR on RFID adoption.

Let **y** be the binary outcome variable indicating non-adoption/adoption of RFID with 0/1 and **p** be the probability of **y** to be 1, **p** = prob(**y**=1). Let **X**₁, ..., **X**_k be the set of predictor variables as shown in Table 5.12. Then the logistic regression of **y** on **X**₁, ..., **X**_k estimates parameter values for β_0 , β_1 , ..., β_k via Maximum Likelihood (ML) method of the following equation.

 $logit(p) = log(p/(1-p)) = \beta_0 + \beta_1^* X_1 + ... + \beta_k^* X_k$

In terms of probabilities, the equation above is translated into

 $\boldsymbol{p} = \exp(\beta_0 + \beta_1^* X_1 + ... + \beta_k^* X_k) / (1 + \exp(\beta_0 + \beta_1^* X_1 + ... + \beta_k^* X_k)).$

5.7.1.2 Structural equation models (SEM)

One structural equation model was developed to incorporate the three latent constructs (strength of culture, business size, and BPR) and the observed variable (RFID adoption decision), as shown in Figure 5.1 in Appendix C. The notation for the SEM model is shown below. X_i is the observed value of the independent variables for observation *i*.

where: Xi = a column vector of observed variables shown in Table 5.12;

\$k = ksi, a column vector of latent variables;

 ΛX = lambda, an *i X k* matrix of coefficients defining the relations between the manifest (X) and latent (ξ) variables; $\vartheta \delta$ = theta-delta, an *i X i* variance/covariance matrix of relations among the residual terms of X

The results of the structural equation model developed using the variables in Table 5.12 is presented in section 5.7.2.

Table 5.12	: Set of independent variables	<i>x_i</i> is the observed value of the	independent variables for observation i.
Variable	Model A – Strength of culture	Model B – Business size	Model C – BPR
<i>X</i> ₁	Organisational goals and objectives	Number of employees	Data standardization and integration
X ₂	Organisational focus on its performance relative to its competitors	Annual turnover	Restructuring and streamlining of business processes and activities including removal of non-value added tasks, controls and checks
X ₃	Organisational focus on customer satisfaction	International reach	Decentralization of resources and processes
X 4	Effective decision-making	IT/IS infrastructure	Provision of decision-support tools
X 5	Top management initiative	The number of office locations, retail outlets, service centers, etc.	Synchronization of IT resources and business processes
X ₆	Drive to introduce new technologies into business processes	Range of products/services	n/a

5.7.1 Results: Binary Logistic Regression

Logistic regression is used to determine the relationship of each predictor variable of strength of culture, business size, and BPR on "decision to adopt RFID".

Probability calculation

- Organisations that have adopted RFID = 96
- Organisations yet to adopt RFID = 67

Total number of organisations = 163

- Probability of adoption is 96/163 = .589
- Probability of non-adoption is 1 .589 or 67/163 = <u>.411</u>

5.7.1.1 Impact of strength of culture on the decision to adopt RFID (Model A)

Direct logistic regression was performed to assess the impact of organisational culture strength on decision to adopt RFID. In this model (model A), the outcome variable has two categories – "Yes" (adopt RFID) and "No" (do not adopt RFID). The model contained 6 directly measured independent variables (organisational goals and objectives, organisation's focus on

its performance relative to its competitors, organisational focus on customer satisfaction, top management involvement, decision making, drive to implement new technologies into business processes). The Full model containing all predictors was statistically significant, χ^2 (6, N= 163) = 106.275, p < 0.001. As shown in the "sig." column of Table 5.13, all the 6 independent variables made a unique statistically significant contribution to the model. Table 5.14 also shows the results from running the model, including the unstandardized regression coefficients (*B*) and the significance values and odds ratio *Exp*(*B*) of each predictor. The 'notes' section of the table shows chi-square (χ^2) goodness of fit value of the model. For this model, a chi-square value of 106.275 at a p-value of <.05 is obtained. This indicates good fit for the regression model.

Table 5.13: Variables in model A (strength of culture)								
	В	S.E.	Sig.	Exp(B)				
Organisational goals and objectives	.853	.257	.001	2.346				
Organisational focus on its performance relative to its competitors	.654	.162	.000	1.924				
Organisational focus on customer satisfaction	.422	.200	.035	1.525				
Effective decision-making	.854	.325	.009	2.349				
Top management initiative	1.130	.249	.000	3.095				
Drive to introduce new technologies into business processes	.875	.229	.000	2.398				
Notes:								
χ ² (6, N= 163) = 106.275, p = 0.000								

Each estimated coefficient (B) is the expected change in the log odds of adopting RFID for a unit increase in the corresponding predictor variable, whilst holding the other predictor variables constant. Each exponentiated coefficient Exp(B) is the ratio of two odds, or the change in odds in the multiplicative scale for a unit increase in the corresponding predictor variable holding other variables constant.

As seen in Table 5.13, the strongest predictor that influences an organisation's decision to adopt RFID is "top management initiative", recording odds ratio of 3.095. This indicates that for a 1-unit increase in "top management initiative" (while controlling for other factors in the model), the odds of organisations adopting RFID (over odds of non-adoption) increases by 2.095 (3.095-1) times. Other strong predictors include "organisational goals and objectives" and "drive to introduce new technologies into business processes", recording odds ratios of 2.346 and 2.398, respectively. This indicates that organisations with a culture that encourages technological innovation and organisation's that deploy effective decision-making techniques

result in a 1.3 times increase in the odds of organisations adopting RFID (over odds of nonadoption).

5.7.1.2 Impact of business size on the decision to adopt RFID

The binary logistic regression model in Table 5.14 was used to assess the impact of an organisation's size and its decision to adopt RFID. The model contained 6 directly measured independent variables (number of employees, annual turnover, international reach, IT/IS infrastructure, number of office locations, retail outlets, service centers, and range of products/services). The Full model containing all predictors was statistically significant, X^2 (6, N= 163) = 167.375, p < 0.001.

Table 5.14: Variables in the model (business size)							
	В	S.E.	Sig.	Exp(B)			
Number of employees	1.089	.376	.004	2.971			
Annual turnover	1.305	.360	.000	3.687			
International reach	.780	.280	.005	2.181			
IT/IS infrastructure	1.304	.217	.000	3.684			
The number of office locations, retail outlets, service centers, etc.	1.068	.224	.000	2.911			
Range of products/services	.940	.278	.001	2.561			
Notes:							
χ ² (6, N= 163) = 167.375, p = 0.000							

As shown in sig. column of Table 5.14, all 6 predictor variables made a unique statistically significant contribution to the model. The strongest predictor that influences an organisation's decision to adopt RFID is "annual turnover", recording odds ratio of 3.687. This indicates that for a 1-unit increase in "annual turnover" (while controlling for other factors in the model), the odds of organisations adopting RFID increases by 2.687 (3.687-1) times. Another strong predictor is "IT/IS infrastructure", recording odds ratio of 3.684. This also indicates that having greater IS/IT usage and infrastructure increases the odds of organisations adoption) by 2.684 (3.684-1) times.

5.7.1.3 Impact of BPR on the decision to adopt RFID

The binary logistic regression model in Table 5.15 was used to assess the impact of BPR on organisational decision to adopt RFID. The model contained 5 directly measured independent variables (data standardization and integration, restructuring and streamlining of business processes and activities, decentralization of consolidated resources and processes, provision of decision-support tools, and synchronization of IT resources and business processes). The

Full model containing all predictors was statistically significant, X^2 (5, N= 163) = 149.728, p < 0.001.

Table 5.15: Variables in model B (BPR)									
	В	S.E.	Sig.	Exp(B)					
Data standardization and integration	.488	.217	.024	1.629					
Restructuring and streamlining of business processes and activities including removal of non-value added tasks, controls and checks	1.042	.235	.000	2.836					
Decentralization of resources and processes	.376	.170	.027	1.456					
Provision of decision-support tools	.707	.194	.000	2.027					
Synchronization of IT resources and business processes	1.14	0.278	.000	3.126					
<i>Notes:</i> χ ² (5, N= 163) = 149.728, p = 0.000									

As shown in sig. column of Table 5.15, all 5 independent variables made a statistically significant contribution to the model, and have a direct positive relationship with "decision to adopt". The strongest predictor that influences "decision to adopt RFID" is "synchronization of IT resources and business processes", recording odds ratio of 3.126. This means that for a unit increase in "synchronization of IT resources and business processes", recording odds ratio of 3.126. This means that for a unit increase in "synchronization of IT resources and business processes", (while controlling for all other factors), the odds of organisations adopting RFID increases by 2.126 (3.126-1) times. Other strong predictors are "provision of decision-support tools" and "restructuring and streamlining of business processes and activities", recording odds ratio of 2.027 and 2.836, respectively. This indicates that a unit increase in either "provision of decision-support tools" or "restructuring and streamlining of business processes and activities" processes and activities", (while controlling for all other factors), the odds of organisations adopting RFID increases by 1.027 and 2.836 times, respectively.

5.7.2 Results: Structural equation modelling (SEM)

In section 5.7.1, binary logistic regression models determined the relationship of each predictor variable of strength of culture, size, and BPR on the decision to adopt RFID. In this section, business size, strength of culture, and BPR are considered as latent constructs and their relationships with "decision to adopt RFID" is determined. Table 5.16 shows the results obtained from running the structural equation model, including the β values, R², error variances, standard errors, and sig. values. Figure 5.1 in Appendix C shows the relationships between the constructs in the form of a path diagram. The values associated with with each

path are standardized regression coefficients (β). They signify the amount of change in the dependent variable, for a standard deviation change in the independent.

The "notes" section of Table 5.16 shows the chi-square goodness of fit test along with its probability value. The chi-square statistic tests the overall fit of the structural model to the data. The null hypothesis under test is that the model fits the data; therefore the p-value of .067 (p > .05) is indicative of good model fit, suggesting that the model fits the data acceptably in the population from which the researcher drew the sample. Further, corroborating evidence of the model fit is provided by the RMSEA fit statistic, and the NNFI in Table 5.16. The RMSEA fit value obtained for our model was .049 and NNFI value of .987 was obtained. Both values denote good model fit. Also, the model accounts for a large proportion of the variance in the measured variables with the R² values ranging from .45 to .71.

Та	ble 5.1	6: Regression weights and significance tests	of indivi	dual para	ameters		
Independent variable		Dependent variables	β	P- value	R ²	Error variance	S.E.
		Goals and objectives	0.61	0.050	0.51	.554	0.057
		Organisational focus on performance relative to competitors	0.52	0.013	0.49	.371	0.046
Strength of culture	÷	Organisational focus on customer satisfaction	0.50	0.018	0.45	.176	0.058
		Top management initiative	0.84	0.037	0.67	.587	0.049
		Effective and timely decision-making	0.74	0.010	0.48	.183	0.053
		Drive to introduce new technologies into business processes	0.69	0.005	0.54	.639	0.042
	\rightarrow	Decision to adopt RFID	0.71	0.021	0.59	N/A	0.055
	÷	Number of employees	0.84	0.040	0.46	.788	0.063
		Annual turnover	0.92	0.043	0.57	.846	0.036
		International reach	0.75	0.000	0.51	.277	0.048
Business size		IT/IS infrastructure	0.59	0.021	0.52	.054	0.047
DUSITIESS SIZE		Number of offices, retail outlets, service centres, etc.	0.66	0.000	0.65	.190	0.044
		Range of products/services	0.71	0.050	0.53	.788	0.051
	\rightarrow	Decision to adopt RFID	0.79	0.007	0.61	N/A	0.034
		Data standardization and integration	0.53	0.067	0.55	.527	0.052
		Restructuring and streamlining activities	0.67	0.014	0.73	.102	0.048
DDD	÷	Decentralization of consolidated resources and processes	0.85	0.010	0.61	.434	0.062
BPR		Provision of decision-support tools	0.49	0.035	0.66	.389	0.057
		Synchronization of IT resources and business processes	0.53	0.001	0.59	.235	0.048
	\rightarrow	Decision to adopt RFID	0.63	0.029	0.65	N/A	0.054
Notes: χ^2 (45) = 127.8	882, p =	= 0.067; NNFI = .987; RMSEA = .049					

The β values on the paths leading from the latent constructs to the measured variables signify the change in each measured variable per standard deviation change in the latent construct. For example, a unit standard deviation change in "strength of culture" results in a .84 change in "top management initiative". Similarly, a unit standard deviation change in "business size" results in a .92 change in "annual turnover". However, the most noteworthy findings from the SEM model indicate that "strength of culture", "business size" and "BPR" all have a statistically significant positive relationship with "decision to adopt RFID", recording β values of 0.71, 0.79, and 0.63, respectively.

5.7.3 Discussion: Binary logistic regression and SEM

From the results of the regression and structural equation model, the relationship of each factor of the independent variables (strength of culture, business size, BPR) with the dependent variable "decision to adopt RFID" was determined. Both set of results indicate that strength of culture, business size and BPR all have a statistically significant positive relationship with organisational decision to adopt RFID. Consequently, decisions regarding hypotheses H7, H8 and H9 are shown in Table 5.17.

Table 5.17: Hypotheses on impact of strength of culture, size and BPR on decision to adopt RFID						
	Decision					
H7: A strong organisational culture has a significant positive influence on the decision to adopt RFID	Accept					
H8: Organisational size has a significant positive influence on the decision to adopt RFID	Accept					
H9: Business process re-engineering (BPR) has a significant positive influence on the decision to adopt RFID	Accept					

For strength of culture, each predictor variable made a unique statistically significant contribution to predicting "decision to adopt". "Top management initiative" had the strongest influence on organisational decision to adopt RFID. This finding is supported by Park and Rim (2011) and Jeyaraj et al. (2006) which highlighted top management support as a crucial factor in IT systems adoption and implementation. "Effective decision-making" and "focus on performance relative to competitors" also play a crucial role in influencing organisational decision to adopt RFID. These findings are supported by Zhu and Weyant (2003) which suggest that technology adoption decisions are often made under strategic considerations or competitive pressure. They conclude that in many industries, particularly oligopolistic ones with multiple competitors, adopting a new technology is a strategic decision. In terms of "focus on performance relative to be an external factor that drives organisations towards RFID adoption. Consequently, organisations with high focus on their performance relative to their competitors are more driven towards RFID adoption. In the SEM model, strength of

culture as a latent construct, has a statistically significant direct positive relationship with organisational decision to adopt RFID. This indicates that the logistic regression results and the SEM results are in agreement.

For business size, each predictor variable made a unique statistically significant contribution to predicting "decision to adopt". "Annual turnover" was found to be the strongest predictor that influences an organisation's decision to adopt RFID. This suggests that organisations with higher annual turnover can afford to allocate more financial resources towards technological innovation. This result is supported by Lin (2009), Zhu et al. (2004), and Wang et al. (2010), which highlight financial readiness and availability to be a critical determinant of RFID adoption. Another strong predictor of "decision to adopt" is "IT/IS infrastructure". IT infrastructure, according to Mitchell and Zmud (1999), offers an organisation the ability to effectively leverage IT resources. Broadly, IT infrastructure refers to enabling technologies, outsourcing arrangements, and policies (Mitchell and Zmud, 1999). Our results indicate that organisations with adequate IT/IS infrastructure are 2 times more likely to adopt RFID than those without. These findings are in tandem with many studies such as Teo et al., (2006), Lin and Lin (2008), and Pan and Jang (2008) which identify IT infrastructure as a crucial determinant of technological innovation. In the SEM model, business size as a latent construct, has a statistically significant direct positive relationship with organisational decision to adopt RFID. Thus, the logistic regression and SEM results are in agreement.

For BPR, each predictor variable made a unique statistically significant contribution to predicting "decision to adopt". "Synchronization of IT resources and business processes", "provision of decision-support tools", and "restructuring and streamlining of business processes and activities" were found to be the strongest predictors that influence organisational decision to adopt RFID. These findings are consistent with those of Jiao and Zhen (2008), which report that it is necessary to implement BPR with an innovative spirit on the fundamental processes before implementing RFID, in order to achieve greater synergy. Our findings are also theoretically consistent with those of Bendavid et al. (2010), which found that the restructuring and streamlining of business process, specifically the removal of non-value added activities, aided RFID-implementation in healthcare settings.

5.8 Research question 3: Impact of strength of culture, size,

and BPR on RFID implementation process

This research question uses structural equation models (SEM) to establish the relationship between latent constructs of strength of culture, business size, and business process reengineering and RFID implementation processes (project scoping, analysis of existing systems, design of RFID system, prototype testing, implementation, and continuous improvement).

5.8.1 Model definition

5.8.1.1 Structural equation models (SEM)

Three structural equation models were developed for the three latent constructs (strength of culture, business size, and BPR) and the observed variable (RFID implementation processes) Model A investigated the impact of strength of culture on RFID implementation processes. Model B investigated the impact of business size on RFID implementation proceses. Model C investigated the impact of BPR on RFID implementation processes. The notation for the three SEM models is shown below. X_i is the observed value of the independent variables for observation i.

where: Xi = a column vector of observed variables shown in Table 5.18;

 $\boldsymbol{\xi} \boldsymbol{k} = ksi$, a column vector of latent variables;

NX = lambda, an **i** X k matrix of coefficients defining the relations between the manifest (X) and latent (ξ) variables; $\partial \delta$ = theta-delta, an *i* **X** *i* variance/covariance matrix of relations among the residual terms of X

The results of the structural equation model developed using the variables in Table 5.18 are presented in section 5.8.1.

Variable	Model A - Strength of culture	Model B - Business size	Model C - BPR
X 1	Organisational goals and	Number of employees	Data standardization and
	objectives		integration
X2	Organisational focus on its	Annual turnover	Restructuring and streamlining of
	performance relative to its		business processes and activities
	competitors		including removal of non-value
			added tasks, controls and checks
X 3	Organisational focus on	International reach	Decentralization of resources and
	customer satisfaction		processes
X 4	Effective decision-making	IT/IS infrastructure	Provision of decision-support tools

Table 5 18: Set of latent independent variables v is the observed value of the independent variables for

X5	Top management initiative	The number of office locations, retail outlets, service centers, etc.	Synchronization of IT resources and business processes
X ₆	Drive to introduce new technologies into business processes	Range of products/services	n/a

5.8.1 Results: Structural Equation Modelling (SEM)

In the structural equation models, Strength of culture, Business size, and BPR were considered as latent constructs and their relationships with the different stages of RFID implementation processes is determined.

Table 5.19, 5.20, and 5.21 show the results obtained from running the structural equation models (see figures 5.2, 5.3, and 5.4 in appendix C), including the β values, R², error variances, standard errors, and sig. values. The "notes" section of in Table 5.19, 5.20, and 5.21 show the chi-square goodness of fit test for each model, along with its probability value. The chi-square statistic tests the overall fit of the structural model to the data. The null hypothesis under test is that the model fits the data; therefore a non-significant p-value (p > .05) is indicative of good model fit. As explained in Chapter 4., Chi-square is very sensitive to multivariate normality deviations and to sample size changes, therefore further corroborating evidence of the model fit is provided by the RMSEA fit statistic, and the NNFI.

т	Table 5.19: Impact of strength of culture on RFID implementation processes							
Independent variable		Dependent variables	β	P- value	R ²	Error variance	S.E.	
		Goals and objectives	0.57	0.048	0.51	.532	0.047	
		Organisational focus on performance relative to competitors	0.61	0.023	0.49	.341	0.036	
	÷	Organisational focus on customer satisfaction	0.53	0.017	0.45	.263	0.042	
		Top management initiative	0.79	0.017	0.67	.477	0.052	
		Effective and timely decision-making	0.72	0.030	0.48	.293	0.033	
Strength of culture		Drive to introduce new technologies into business processes	0.64	0.015	0.54	.529	0.022	
		Project scoping	0.54	0.021	0.59	.343	0.055	
		Analysis of existing systems	0.57	0.013	0.61	.244	0.068	
	\rightarrow	Design of RFID system	0.67	0.018	0.46	.542	0.039	
	7	Prototype testing of RFID system	0.64	0.001	0.57	.435	0.072	
		Implementation of RFID system	0.75	0.023	0.53	.326	0.066	
		Continuous improvement	0.54	0.017	0.54	.332	0.065	
Notes: χ^2 (24) = 77.0	12, p =	0.059; NNFI = .932; RMSEA = .041						

In Table 5.19, the RMSEA fit value obtained for our model was .041 and NNFI value of .932 was obtained. Both values denote good model fit. Also, the model accounts for a large proportion of the variance in the measured variables with the R² values ranging from .45 to .67.

	Table 5.20: Impact of business size on RFID implementation processes						
Independent variable		Dependent variables	β	P- value	R ²	Error variance	S.E.
		Number of employees	0.79	0.040	0.46	.788	0.063
		Annual turnover	0.87	0.043	0.57	.846	0.036
		International reach	0.69	0.000	0.51	.277	0.048
	÷	IT/IS infrastructure	0.64	0.021	0.52	.054	0.047
		Number of offices, retail outlets, service centres, etc.	0.70	0.000	0.65	.190	0.044
Business size		Range of products/services	0.65	0.050	0.53	.788	0.051
		Project scoping	0.41	0.032	0.50	.343	0.057
		Analysis of existing systems	0.54	0.021	0.67	.653	0.048
	\rightarrow	Design of RFID system	0.59	0.034	0.62	.463	0.063
	7	Prototype testing of RFID system	0.43	0.036	0.43	.354	0.057
		Implementation of RFID system	0.67	0.035	0.53	.456	0.062
		Continuous improvement	0.63	0.007	0.47	.473	0.045
Notes: χ^2 (27) = 71.09	92, p =	= 0.082; NNFI = .966; RMSEA = .057					

In Table 5.20, the RMSEA fit value obtained for our model was .057 and NNFI value of .966 was obtained. Both values denote good model fit. Also, the model accounts for a large proportion of the variance in the measured variables with the R² values ranging from .43 to .67.

		Table 5.21: Impact of BPR on RFID implement	ntation p	rocesses			
Independent variable		Dependent variables	β	P- value	R ²	Error variance	S.E.
		Data standardization and integration	0.63	0.037	0.58	.437	0.052
		Restructuring and streamlining activities	0.71	0.018	0.53	.232	0.048
	÷	Decentralization of consolidated resources and processes	0.78	0.030	0.59	.454	0.062
		Provision of decision-support tools	0.59	0.025	0.64	.334	0.057
BPR		Synchronization of IT resources and business processes	0.57	0.011	0.70	.455	0.048
		Project scoping	0.41	0.057	0.60	.537	0.056
		Analysis of existing systems	0.45	0.038	0.41	.450	0.061
	\rightarrow	Design of RFID system	0.39	0.013	0.58	.462	0.058
	7	Prototype testing of RFID system	0.68	0.002	0.49	.352	0.074
		Implementation of RFID system	0.43	0.048	0.58	.484	0.067
		Continuous improvement	0.59	0.016	0.63	.324	0.046
Notes: χ^2 (23) = 64.03	8, p =	= 0.057; NNFI = .937; RMSEA = .039					

In Table 5.21, the RMSEA fit value obtained for our model was .039 and NNFI value of .937 was obtained. Both values denote good model fit. Also, the model accounts for a large proportion of the variance in the measured variables with the R² values ranging from .41 to .73. The β values on the paths leading from the latent constructs (strength of culture, size, and BPR) to the measured variables signify the change in each measured variable per standard

deviation change in the latent construct. For example, a unit standard deviation change in "strength culture" results in a .79 change in "top management initiative". Similarly, a unit standard deviation change in "business size" results in a .87 change in "annual turnover". However, the most noteworthy findings from the SEM model indicate that "strength of culture", "business size" and "BPR" all have a statistically significant relationship with the different processes of RFID implementation. For instance, BPR has a significant direct positive relationship with "project scoping", recording a standardized regression coefficient value of 0.41. This indicates that for a 1-unit standard deviation increase in BPR, project scoping increases by 0.41. Similarly, business size has a significant (p < 0.05) direct positive relationship with "continuous improvement", recording β value of 0.63. This indicates that for a 1-unit standard deviation increases by 0.63.

5.8.2 Discussion: SEM

From the results of the structural equation models, the relationship of each factor of the independent variables (strength of culture, business size, BPR) with the dependent variable (RFID implementation processes) was determined. The relationships observed between strength of culture, size, and BRP with the following implementation processes:

5.8.2.1 Project scoping

The culture of a business is key to the success of IS adoption and implementation (Talet and Al-Wahaishi, 2011). Thus, understanding culture is a vitally important for organisations because it affects strategic expansion, efficiency, and learning at all levels of management. The first phase of RFID implementation "project scoping" recorded a β value of .54, with a p value of 0.021. The project scoping of RFID systems typically involves defining the objectives and understanding the potential benefits and limitations of the proposed system. As seen in Table 5.19, strength of culture has a statistically significant direct positive relationship with "project scoping". Defining the project objectives can give a clear direction to the implementation team. This is important because organisations tend to create unrealistic expectations and have incorrect perceptions towards a system (Hardgrave and Miller, 2006). Consequently, organisations with a culture that clearly outlines goals and objectives can avoid unrealistic expectations towards RFID system deployment by fully understanding the potential benefits and limitations of the proposed system.
Table 5.20 shows that business size has a significant direct positive relationship with "project scoping", recording a β value of .41, with a p value of 0.032. The size of an organisation affects its financial resources and the availability of skilled workforce. The implementation of IS systems like RFID and its components requires long term investment and technical expertise (Nguyen, 2009), therefore larger organisations which have adequate financial and technical resources are more capable of making a success of RFID implementations, and developing a clear scope and objectives in implementing the system (Ngai et al., 2010).

Table 5.21 shows that BPR has a non-significant relationship with "project scoping", recording a β value of .41, with a p value of 0.057.

5.8.2.2 Analysis of existing systems

The second phase of RFID implementation "analysis of existing systems" recorded a β value of .57, with a p value of 0.013. As seen in Table 5.19, strength of culture has a statistically significant direct positive relationship with "analysis of existing systems". Data collection is an important aspect in the analysis of existing systems. The culture of an organisation affects the techniques, strategies, and efficiency of data collection. The details of the processes of an existing system are often collected by various methods, such as conducting interviews with the key individuals and front-line staff who use the present system, collecting comments from stakeholders, and eliciting experts' opinions. Additionally, support from top management influences the resources attributed to the analysis of current systems including collecting data to identify the limitations of existing systems. Leadership culture is a key to the success of IS adoption and effective leadership is the means by which the culture is created and managed (Talet and Al-Wahaishi, 2011). Thus, organisations that develop a culture that supports effective data collection and analyses, through the support of top management and allocation of financial and technical resources, are more likely to implement RFID, and make a success of it.

In Table 5.20, business size has a statistically significant direct positive relationship with "analysis of existing systems", recording a β value of .54, with a p value of 0.021. Analyzing existing systems involves collecting information about the operation processes, and the analysis and evaluation of the current processes. This is usually performed by using the diagramming techniques and tools that have been agreed upon by the key individuals who are currently using the system. By examining the current process with the aid of workflow

diagrams, areas for improvement can be identified. Larger organisations have (i) greater number of employees and so could appoint the right candidates to study the existing system; (ii) greater annual turnover, so could allocate more resources to the tasks; and (iii) have better IT/IS infrastructure so have access to diagramming techniques and tools used for analysing existing systems.

In Table 5.21, BPR has a statistically significant direct positive relationship with "analysis of existing systems", recording a β value of .45, with a p value of 0.038. Analysis of existing systems involves identifying where areas for improvement exist. During BPR, processes are mapped out and analysed. The main objective of this is to identify disconnects (anything that prevents a process from achieving desired results and in particular information transfer between organisations or people) and non-value-adding processes. This is succeeded by the restructuring and streamlining of activities to achieve total re-invention or redesign of business processes. Consequently, BPR has an influence on the analysis of existing systems.

5.8.2.3 Design of RFID system

The third phase of RFID implementation is the "design of RFID system". The system design stage includes requirement analysis, hardware and software selection, and the development of the new process. As seen in Table 5.19, strength of culture has a statistically significant direct positive relationship with "design of RFID system", recording a β value of .67, with a p value of 0.018. Support from top management and clear outlining of organisational goals and objectives assist the implementation team in performing requirement analysis, so as to thoroughly understand the ways in which RFID technology can address the problems identified in the existing systems, identify and select the appropriate software and hardware for the proposed system, and map out and develop new business processes.

In Table 5.20, business size has a statistically significant direct positive relationship with "analysis of existing systems", recording a β value of .54, with a p value of 0.021. As identified in the previous paragraph, the selection of appropriate hardware and software is an essential process in the design of RFID systems. This is to understand the characteristics of each element of hardware and software and to decide which option is more suitable for the current environment. Accordingly, the financial resources and IT/IS infrastructure of organisations influences the selection and testing of hardware and software in the design of a proposed

system. The financial resources and IT/IS infrastructure of organisations also influence the development of new processes (based upon the knowledge of the current processes).

In Table 5.21, BPR has a statistically significant direct positive relationship with "design of RFID system", recording a β value of .39, with a p value of 0.013. In designing an RFID system, the organisation design the way in which the readers are connected to the network and the software architecture, including the RFID middleware and the application level software. The BPR of business processes involves the restructuring and streamlining of business processes and activities. Accordingly, BPR influences the design of RFID systems as it would give decision-makers a clearer picture of how the hardware and software items function in an integrated system, as well as providing data for measuring the reliability of the proposed system.

5.8.2.4 Prototype testing

Before the actual implementation of the RFID system, it is very important to conduct a pilot test, so as to understand the system and establish its readiness for deployment. Prototype testing may be conducted in the laboratory or in the actual business environment. The key stages of prototype testing include debugging and system adaptation. As seen in Table 5.19, strength of culture has a statistically significant direct positive relationship with "prototype testing", recording a β value of .64, with a p value of 0.001. This suggests that organisations with top management initiative and effective decision making are more likely to make a success of the prototype testing phase of RFID implementation. This is because, apart from debugging the technical system and eliminating the mistakes in the analyses, prototype testing also includes collecting feedback from users after the pilot testing. This is designed as such in order to elicit comments on the various user interfaces and in order to fine tune their design. Thus, this feedback collection process is influenced by the culture of the organisation.

In Table 5.20, business size has a statistically significant direct positive relationship with "analysis of existing systems", recording a β value of .43, with a p value of 0.036. The prototype testing covers both software and hardware tests in order to detect bugs and system collisions. Technical staff are usually involved so as to support the testing and in order to resolve (debug) any technical problems detected in the test. The number of employees and technical expertise and resources will thus affect the success of the prototype testing phase of RFID implementation. This suggests that larger organisations are more likely to make a

success of the prototype testing phase as they have superior resources than SMEs in terms of workforce and expertise.

In Table 5.21, BPR has a statistically significant direct positive relationship with "prototype testing", recording a β value of .68, with a p value of 0.002. Protoype testing involves the adaptation of processes to ensure that the RFID system will deliver the expected performance results. BPR involves the redesigning of systems and processes and thus affects the recording and review of problems found during the pilot testing and thus has an effect on efforts to fine-tune the system and resolve the identified problems.

5.8.2.5 Implementation of RFID system

On the successful completion of prototype testing, the next phase is the implementation of the system in the actual business environment. Implementation involves the installation and commissioning of hardware and software systems, and change management, training and system deployment. All of the tasks in the implementation step are vital, as they will affect the success of the implementation. As seen in Table 5.19, strength of culture has a statistically significant direct positive relationship with "implementation", recording a β value of .75, with a p value of 0.023. Many aspects of strength of culture including top management initiative, clear outlining of organisational goals and objectives, focus on organisational performance relative to competitors, and drive to introduce new technologies into business processes influences the success of system deployment, installation and commissioning of hardware and software systems, as well as developing the new procedures.

In Table 5.20, business size has a statistically significant direct positive relationship with "implementation of RFID system", recording a β value of .67, with a p value of 0.035. The implementation of the RFID system requires software and hardware configuration and deployment. Additionally, users need to receive basic information about the system and training on technical operations of the system. Technical staff are involved in the configuration of hardware and software and their integration with existing business systems and processes. The number of employees and technical expertise and resources will thus affect the success of this phase of RFID implementation.

In Table 5.21, BPR has a statistically significant direct positive relationship with "implementation of RFID system", recording a β value of .43, with a p value of 0.048. BPR involves the redesigning of systems and processes including centralization/decentralization

of resources. Consequently, BPR specifically influences the configuration of software and integration of hardware systems into existing business processes, the use and positioning of centralized/dispersed resources, and the deployment of decision-support tools and strategies.

5.8.2.6 Continuous improvement

The last step for implementation is continuous improvement. Organisations continuously evaluate the system's performance and compare it with the pre-set objectives, enhance the system with emergent technologies, or else adapt it to match the changing needs of the market. This step includes the tasks of system monitoring and the collection of user feedback. As seen in Table 5.19, strength of culture has a statistically significant direct positive relationship with "prototype testing", recording a β value of .54, with a p value of 0.017. Organisations with top management initiative, drive to introduce new technologies, and focus on their performance relative to their competitors are likely to continuously improve their RFID system so as to adapt it to dynamic business environments, and make it more effective.

In Table 5.20, business size has a statistically significant direct positive relationship with "continuous improvement", recording a β value of .63, with a p value of 0.007. After system deployment, the performance of the RFID solution needs to be closely monitored - especially in the early stage of implementation - so that the project team can quickly respond to the problems encountered. Additionally, collection of feedback from users, and training them to use the new system are also essential aspects of continuous improvement. Therefore, the availability of funds to train users, availability of skilled workforce, IT/IS infrastructure, and range of products/services are likely going to influence the direction organisations take in order to continuously improve their existing RFID systems to match changing market needs.

After implementation, organisations often decide to adopt new technology to support or improve their existing RFID systems. In order to do this, the existing system has to be analysed and possibly redesigned. The provision for continuous improvement made when the system was initially designed will have an impact on organisational decision to adopt or integrate a new technology. In Table 5.21, BPR has a statistically significant direct positive relationship with "continuous improvement", recording a β value of .59, with a p value of 0.016. BPR involves the redesigning of systems and processes including centralization/decentralization of resources. Consequently, BPR influences the integration of hardware systems into existing

business processes, the deployment of decision-support tools and strategies and other aspects of continuous improvement.

From the discussions in sections 5.8.2.1 to 5.8.2.6, the following decisions regarding hypotheses H10, H11 and H12 are shown in Table 5.22.

Table 5.22: Decisions for hypotheses on impact of strength of culture, size, and BPR on RFID implementation processes				
Hypotheses	Decision			
H10: A strong organisational culture has a significant positive influence on the implementation processes of RFID	Accept			
H11: Organisational size has a significant positive influence on the implementation processes of RFID	Accept			
H12: Business process re-engineering (BPR) has a significant positive influence on the implementation processes of RFID	Accept			

5.9 Research question 4: Impact of strength of culture, size,

BPR on benefits derived from RFID

This research question uses structural equation models (SEM) to establish the relationship between latent constructs of strength of culture, business size, and business process reengineering and benefits derived from RFID implementation (financial measures, internal processes, customer measures, and learning and growth).

5.9.1 Model definition

5.9.1.1 Structural equation models (SEM)

Three structural equation models were developed for the three latent constructs (strength of culture, business size, and BPR) and the observed variable (RFID benefits). Model A investigated the impact of strength of culture on RFID benefits. Model B investigated the impact of business size on RFID benefits. Model C investigated the impact of BPR on RFID benefits. The notation for the three SEM models is shown below. X_i is the observed value of the independent variables for observation *i*.

where: Xi = a column vector of observed variables shown in Table 5.22;

\$k = ksi, a column vector of latent variables;

 ΛX = lambda, an *i X k* matrix of coefficients defining the relations between the manifest (X) and latent (ξ) variables; $\vartheta \delta$ = theta-delta, an *i X i* variance/covariance matrix of relations among the residual terms of X

The results of the structural equation models developed using the variables in Table 5.23 are presented in section 5.9.2.

observatio	on i.		
Variable	Model A - Strength of culture	Model B - Business size	Model C - BPR
X1	Creating strong internal and external motivation for improvement	Number of trained/skilled employees	Adoption of flexible deployment architecture
X ₂	Developing a clear RFID strategy	IT/IS infrastructure	Continuous review and improvement of procedures
Х3	Innovation	Annual turnover	Restructuring and streamlining activities including removal of non-value added tasks, controls and checks
X 4	Provision of training and support for employees	International reach	Integration and management of large amounts of data

Table 5.23: Set of latent independent variables. *x_i* is the observed value of the independent variables for observation *i*.

X5	Top management support and commitment from leadership	The number of office locations, warehouses, retail outlets, and service centres deploying RFID	Decentralization of resources and processes
X ₆	Organisational knowledge accumulation	Range of products/services using RFID	Synchronization of business processes and IT resources

5.9.2 Results: Structural Equation Modelling (SEM)

In the structural equation model, strength of culture, business size, BPR, and RFID benefits were considered as latent constructs. The RFID benefits were categorized into four groups according to the Balanced Scorecard Approach of Kaplan and Norton (2004). The four categories are financial measures; internal processes; corporate/customer measures; and learning and growth. Financial measures include financially-related metrics such as sales increase, net profit, ROI, etc. Internal processes concern business process metrics that show how well an organisation is running. Corporate/customer measures concern customer focus and customer satisfaction. The learning and growth perspective includes employee training and corporate cultural attitudes related to both individual and corporate self-improvement.

Table 5.24, 5.25, and 5.26 show the results obtained from running the structural equation models (see figures 5.5, 5.6, and 5.7 in appendix C), including the β values, R², error variances, standard errors, and sig. values. Due to limited space, only β values between the latent constructs are reported on figures 5.5, 5.6, and 5.7. For all other β values, refer to tables 5.24, 5.25, and 5.26.

The "notes" section of in Table 5.24, 5.25, and 5.26 show the chi-square goodness of fit test for each model, along with its probability value. A non-significant p-value (p > .05) is indicative of good model fit. Further, corroborating evidence of the model fit is provided by the RMSEA fit statistic, and the NNFI.

Table 5.24: Impact of strength of culture on RFID benefits							
Independent variable		Dependent variables	β	P- value	R ²	Error variance	S.E.
		Sales increase	0.67	0.018	0.48	.332	0.048
		Net profit	0.61	0.033	0.54	.320	0.032
Financial measures	←	Return-on-investment		0.019	0.60	.248	0.040
Findnulai measures		Market share gains	0.54	0.043	0.57	.394	0.027
		Cost reduction	0.62	0.020	0.69	.239	0.031
		Labour savings	0.67	0.035	0.65	.237	0.030
		Risk minimization	0.45	0.041	0.53	.307	0.047
		Reduction of inventory	0.68	0.034	0.63	.237	0.035
		Improved product availability	0.59	0.028	0.46	.245	0.025
		Improved transaction accuracy	0.64	0.021	0.57	.345	0.063
		Improved visibility	0.80	0.018	0.70	.422	0.035
Internal processo	<i>←</i>	Reduced out-of-stock items	0.65	0.027	0.67	.141	0.033
Internal processes		Improved supply chain planning	0.49	0.033	0.56	.233	0.023
		Higher rate of complete orders	0.49	0.040	0.62	.327	0.056
		Improved data integrity	0.67	0.032	0.49	.253	0.023
		Electronic traceability	0.78	0.028	0.55	.453	0.032
		Improved sourcing of new products	0.54	0.043	0.45	.303	0.055
		Increase in transportation efficiency	0.69	0.023	0.56	.544	0.032
	÷	Improved corporate social responsibility	0.54	0.033	0.54	.249	0.035
		Improved business sustainability	0.56	0.029	0.62	.550	0.045
C		Environmental compliance	0.57	0.018	0.49	.263	0.038
Corporate/Customer		Improved organisational learning	0.64	0.043	0.60	.356	0.028
measures		Improved health and safety	0.59	0.027	0.45	.236	0.040
		Customer retention	0.73	0.027	0.61	.197	0.022
		Enhanced staff motivation	0.72	0.030	0.58	.203	0.043
		More accurate forecast of demand	0.64	0.015	0.59	.239	0.032
	÷	Increase in organisational knowledge accumulation	0.58	0.041	0.43	.233	0.035
Learning and growth		Enhancement of employee satisfaction	0.60	0.037	0.51	.194	0.028
		Improvement in employees' RFID- related skills and proficiency	0.67	0.029	0.45	.234	0.021
		Creating strong internal and external motivation for improvement	0.77	0.018	0.51	.402	0.027
		Developing a clear RFID strategy	0.75	0.030	0.59	.01	0.036
		Innovation	0.66	0.017	0.65	.200	0.040
	÷	Provision of training and support for	0.00	0.027	0.07	447	0.050
		employees	0.69	0.027	0.67	.417	0.058
Strength of culture		Top management support and commitment from leadership	0.72	0.019	0.58	.273	0.043
		Organisational knowledge accumulation	0.64	0.015	0.64	.324	0.032
		Financial measures	0.63	0.019	0.59	N/A	0.045
		Internal processes	0.76	0.023	0.61	N/A	0.054
	\rightarrow	Corporate measures	0.67	0.030	0.66	N/A	0.032
		Learning and growth	0.64	0.019	0.57	N/A	0.023

In Table 5.24, the RMSEA fit value obtained for our model was .055 and NNFI value of .951 was obtained. Both values denote good model fit. Also, the model accounts for a large proportion of the variance in the measured variables with the R² values ranging from .43 to .69

	Table 5.25: Impact of business size on RFID benefits							
Independent variable		Dependent variables	β	P- value	R ²	Error variance	S.E.	
		Sales increase	0.60	0.018	0.51	.332	0.017	
		Net profit	0.62	0.022	0.54	.421	0.036	
F inancial management		Return-on-investment	0.57	0.019	0.60	.302	0.052	
Financial measures	←	Market share gains	0.69	0.037	0.57	.423	0.056	
		Cost reduction	0.62	0.035	0.53	.193	0.039	
		Labour savings	0.66	0.043	0.59	.234	0.034	
		Risk minimization	0.50	0.011	0.54	.302	0.025	
		Reduction of inventory	0.56	0.033	0.60	.234	0.038	
		Improved product availability	0.60	0.028	0.60	.242	0.034	
		Improved transaction accuracy	0.61	0.041	0.57	.153	0.045	
		Improved visibility	0.55	0.032	0.49	.543	0.027	
	←	Reduced out-of-stock items	0.61	0.023	0.53	.323	0.046	
Internal processes	~	Improved supply chain planning	0.60	0.019	0.55	.523	0.042	
		Higher rate of complete orders	0.64	0.015	0.61	.407	0.050	
		Improved data integrity	0.53	0.022	0.53	.213	0.037	
		Electronic traceability	0.61	0.016	0.55	.219	0.029	
		Improved sourcing of new products	0.59	0.020	0.59	.233	0.035	
		Increase in transportation efficiency	0.58	0.023	0.61	.254	0.048	
	÷	Improved corporate social responsibility	0.53	0.018	0.55	.242	0.039	
		Improved business sustainability	0.54	0.023	0.61	.235	0.043	
		Environmental compliance	0.61	0.023	0.31	.648	0.031	
Corporate/Customer		Improved organisational learning	0.60	0.034	0.49	.345	0.035	
measures		Improved health and safety	0.53	0.050	0.54	.263	0.042	
		Customer retention	0.56	0.023	0.60	.417	0.045	
		Enhanced staff motivation	0.67	0.043	0.53	.233	0.036	
		More accurate forecast of demand	0.57	0.025	0.43	.459	0.029	
		Increase in organisational knowledge accumulation	0.64	0.011	0.45	.332	0.045	
Learning and growth	÷	Enhancement of employee satisfaction	0.62	0.043	0.32	.194	0.034	
		Improvement in employees' RFID-						
		related skills and proficiency						
		Number of trained/skilled employees	0.59	0.028	0.45	.522	0.042	
		IT/IS infrastructure	0.60	0.013	0.41	.201	0.053	
		Annual turnover	0.60	0.014	0.50	.113	0.026	
	÷	International reach	0.72	0.023	0.60	.277	0.024	
Business size		The number of office locations,						
		warehouses, retail outlets, and service centres deploying RFID	0.64	0.031	0.58	.293	0.053	
		Range of products/services using RFID	0.59	0.042	0.60	.500	0.032	
		Financial measures	0.39	0.042	0.60	.500 N/A	0.052 0.055	
		Internal processes	0.72	0.020	0.59	N/A N/A	0.055	
	\rightarrow	Corporate measures	0.85	0.020	0.81	N/A N/A	0.088	
		Learning and growth	0.71	0.031	0.40	N/A N/A	0.039	
Notoc: $x^2(107) = 391$	670 ~	= 0.069; NNFI = .980; RMSEA = .053	0.01	0.025	0.57	N/A	0.072	

In table 5.25, the RMSEA fit value obtained for our model was .053 and NNFI value of .980 was obtained. Both values denote good model fit. Also, the model accounts for a large proportion of the variance in the measured variables with the R² values ranging from .41 to .61.

		Table 5.26: Impact of BPR on RFID b	enefits				
Independent variable		Dependent variables	β	P- value	R ²	Error variance	S.E.
		Sales increase	0.60	0.026	0.54	.423	0.028
		Net profit	0.63	0.013	0.57	.352	0.032
		Return-on-investment	0.59	0.023	0.61	.256	0.030
Financial measures	←	Market share gains	0.56	0.043	0.60	.394	0.057
		Cost reduction	0.70	0.029	0.61	.352	0.051
		Labour savings	0.64	0.015	0.62	.135	0.040
		Risk minimization	0.57	0.021	0.57	.327	0.024
		Reduction of inventory	0.64	0.034	0.48	.147	0.053
		Improved product availability	0.56	0.018	0.46	.262	0.034
		Improved transaction accuracy	0.59	0.025	0.53	.264	0.045
		Improved visibility	0.75	0.034	0.67	.332	0.024
	,	Reduced out-of-stock items	0.60	0.039	0.63	.442	0.053
Internal processes	←	Improved supply chain planning	0.55	0.036	0.56	.342	0.039
		Higher rate of complete orders	0.56	0.025	0.61	.137	0.035
		Improved data integrity	0.61	0.042	0.56	.453	0.049
		Electronic traceability	0.69	0.016	0.65	.245	0.033
		Improved sourcing of new products	0.58	0.032	0.54	.243	0.056
		Increase in transportation efficiency	0.62	0.027	0.56	.244	0.052
		Improved corporate social responsibility	0.50	0.043	0.66	.342	0.050
	÷	Improved business sustainability	0.56	0.039	0.52	.254	0.035
		Environmental compliance	0.49	0.011	0.49	.263	0.053
Corporate/Customer		Improved organisational learning	0.60	0.035	0.60	.656	0.024
measures		Improved health and safety	0.59	0.024	0.55	.532	0.030
		Customer retention	0.67	0.043	0.59	.327	0.045
		Enhanced staff motivation	0.70	0.020	0.53	.453	0.032
		More accurate forecast of demand	0.59	0.050	0.58	.234	0.042
		Increase in organisational knowledge accumulation	0.60	0.042	0.67	.233	0.045
Learning and growth	←	Enhancement of employee satisfaction	0.61	0.033	0.43	.154	0.045
		Improvement in employees' RFID- related skills and proficiency	0.63	0.022	0.45	.234	0.045
		Adoption of flexible deployment architecture	0.70	0.034	0.59	.412	0.029
		Continuous review and improvement of procedures	0.71	0.050	0.50	.421	0.031
	÷	Restructuring and streamlining activities including removal of non-value added tasks, controls and checks	0.59	0.024	0.60	.256	0.044
BPR		Integration and management of large amounts of data	0.66	0.023	0.62	.117	0.048
		Decentralization of resources and processes	0.70	0.043	0.65	.573	0.033
		Synchronization of business processes and IT resources	0.68	0.016	0.61	.364	0.032
		Financial measures	0.61	0.042	0.53	N/A	0.052
		Internal processes	0.73	0.018	0.56	N/A	0.034
	\rightarrow	Corporate measures	0.69	0.032	0.60	N/A	0.013
		Learning and growth	0.68	0.028	0.65	N/A	0.032
Notes: χ^2 (94) = 275.0)01, p =	= 0.053; NNFI = .921; RMSEA = .050					

In table 5.26, the RMSEA fit value obtained for our model was .050 and NNFI value of .921 was obtained. Both values denote good model fit. Also, the model accounts for a large proportion of the variance in the measured variables with the R² values ranging from .43 to .67.

In figures 5.5, 5.6, and 5.7, the β values on the paths leading from any of the latent constructs (financial measures, internal processes, corporate measures, learning and growth, business size, strength of culture, BPR) to the measured variables signify the change in each measured variable per standard deviation change in the latent construct. In Figure 5.5 for example, a unit standard deviation change in "strength of culture" results in a .66 change in "innovation". Similarly, in figure 5.6, a unit standard deviation change in "financial measures" results in a .62 change in "net profit". However, the most noteworthy findings from the SEM models indicate that "strength of culture", "business size" and "BPR" all have a statistically significant relationship with the different categories of RFID benefits. For instance, BPR has a significant direct positive relationship with "internal processes", recording a standardized regression coefficient value of 0.73. This indicates that for a 1-unit standard deviation increase in BPR, internal processes increases by 0.73. Similarly, business size has a significant (p < 0.05) direct positive relationship with "financial measures", recording β value of 0.72. This indicates that for a 1-unit standard deviation increase by 0.72.

5.9.3 Discussion: SEM

From the results of the structural equation models, the relationship of each factor of the independent variables (strength of culture, business size, BPR) with the dependent variable (RFID benefits) were determined. The relationships observed between organisational culture, size, and BRP (in figures 5.5, 5.6, and 5.7) with the four categories of RFID benefits were as follows:

5.9.3.1 Strength of culture

Strength of culture affects the extent to which innovative solutions are encouraged, supported and implemented. A culture supportive of innovation encourages innovative ways of representing problems and finding solutions, regards innovation as both desirable and normal, and favours innovators as models to be emulated (Lock and Kirkpatrick, 1995). In that regard, organisations and leaders try to create an institutional framework in which innovation will be accepted as fundamental cultural norms in the midst of technological and other

changes. Thus, understanding culture is a vitally important for organisations aiming to maximize the benefits derivable from their technological innovations because it affects strategic expansion, efficiency, and learning at all levels of management.

Table 5.27 shows that strength of culture has a statistically significant relationship with all of the 4 categories of RFID benefits.

Table 5.27: Hypotheses on impact of culture strength on RFID benefits					
Category	β value	p value	Hypothesis	Decision	
Financial measures	0.63	0.019	H13: A strong organisational		
Internal processes	0.76	0.023	culture has a significant		
Corporate measures	0.67	0.030	positive influence on the	Accept	
Learning & growth	0.64	0.019	benefits derivable from RFID implementation		

5.9.3.2 Business size

The size of an organisation affects its financial resources and the availability of skilled workforce. Financial resources are important for successful IS investments, as the cost of integrating IS to achieve greater benefits can be substantial (lacovou et al. 1995). In terms of RFID implementation, larger organisations which have adequate financial and technical resources are believed to be more capable of making a success of RFID implementations, and realizing the most benefits (Ngai et al., 2010).

Table 5.28 shows that business size has a statistically significant relationship with all of the 4 categories of RFID benefits.

Table 5.28: Hypotheses on impact of organisational size on RFID benefits						
Category	β value	p value	Hypothesis	Decision		
Financial measures	0.72	0.020	H14: Organisational size			
Internal processes	0.65	0.026	has a significant positive			
Corporate measures	0.71	0.031	influence on the benefits	Accept		
Learning & growth	0.61	0.023	derivable from RFID implementation			

The costs can include investment in hardware and software, ongoing support and maintenance, and modifications to current IT systems (O'Callaghan et al., 1992). In instances where RFID is part of an inter-organisational system (IOS) investment, the extent to which benefits are derived depend on the extent to which IOS is used to process data and link to trading partners; as this eventually leads to greater benefits (Williams et al., 1998). IOS implementation frequently involves a need to change and upgrade internal systems

(Saunders and Clark, 1992). Therefore, larger organisations which have highly integrated and digitized processes are better prepared to integrate their IOS systems and achieve greater benefits (lacovou et al. 1995).

5.10.3.3 BPR

IT and IOS implementation frequently involves a need to change and upgrade internal systems (Saunders and Clark 1992). Thus, BPR is often required to adopt and integrate IT and IOS with existing internal applications, and establish links with trading partners (Premkumar and Ramamurthy 1995). Prior research shows that adequate IT infrastructure provides a platform that enables organisations to pursue important initiatives such as the electronic integration of supply chains and outsourcing to strategic partners (Bardhan et al. 2006a; Bardhan et al. 2006b; Zhu and Kraemer 2002). Consequently, in terms of RFID implementation, the compatibility of technology with internal IT systems leads to greater integration internally and with supply chain partners, and greater implementation success and benefits (Premkumar et al., 1994). Similarly, a strong IT platform is required to achieve greater benefits from RFID implementation. Organisations may need to upgrade existing applications and invest in new hardware and software, to aggregate and filter data generated by RFID, and to integrate this data with enterprise systems (Dutta et al., 2007).

Table 5.29 shows that business size has a statistically significant relationship with all of the 4 categories of RFID benefits.

Table 5.29: Hypotheses on impact of BPR on RFID benefits					
Category	β value	p value	Hypothesis	Decision	
Financial measures	0.72	0.020	H15: Business process re-		
Internal processes	0.65	0.026	engineering (BPR) has a significant	Accept	
Corporate measures	0.71	0.031	positive influence on the benefits	Accept	
Learning & growth	0.61	0.023	derivable from RFID implementation		

5.10 Question 5: Impact of RFID-related factors on benefits

derived from RFID

This research question uses One-way ANOVA to investigate the impact of the following RFID– related factors on benefits derived from RFID implementation.

Independent variables: PULT, RFID implementation stage, and Organisational pedigree in RFID (each variable has 3 or more levels)

Dependent variables: RFID benefits

5.10.1 Results: One-Way ANOVA

As there is one independent variable (with three or more levels/groups) and one dependent continuous variable in this research question, one-way ANOVA is the most appropriate tool for analysing the differences between the groups and their associated procedures. It compares the variance between the different groups with the variability within each of the groups. An *F ratio* is calculated, which indicates the variance between the groups divided by the variance within the groups. Large *F ratios* indicate that there is more variability between the groups (caused by the independent variable) than there is within each group (referred to as error term). A statistically significant *F test* means that the null hypothesis should be rejected, which suggests that the groups' means are equal. Post-hoc tests are then conducted to find out which groups differ.

5.10.1.1 RFID implementation stage

The ANOVA test compares the variances between and within the three implementation stages. It indicates whether there is a significant difference among the mean scores on the dependent variable (benefits derived from RFID) for the three stages (pilot stage, partial implementation, full implementation). Table 5.30 in Appendix D gives information about each implementation stage, including the number in each group, the means, standard errors, and standard deviations. Table 5.31 in Appendix D indicates the statistical significance of the differences between each pair of stages.

For variables with a significant difference among the mean scores of the three implementation stages (significant p value), the results in Table 5.31 indicate exactly where

the differences occur. In the column labelled *Mean Difference*, the values with asterisks (*) indicate that there is a statistically significant difference between the three implementation stages being compared. The exact significance value is indicated in the column labelled *Sig.*

As shown in Table 5.31, a one-way between groups analysis of variance was conducted to explore the impact of RFID implementation stage on benefits derived from RFID adoption. There are three stages of implementation considered – pilot stage, partial implementation stage, and full implementation stage. There was a statistically significant difference at the *p* < .05 level in mean scores of the following RFID benefits between at least two of the three stages of RFID implementation: *Sales increase F* (2, 94) = 1.36, *p* = .048; *Net profit F* (2, 94) = 14.74, p = .000; *Return-on-investment F* (2, 94) = 5.74, p = .004; *Cost reduction F* (2, 94) = 18.65, p = .000; *Labour savings F* (2, 94) = 3.21, p = .045; *Reduction of inventory F* (2, 94) = .285, p = .003; *Visibility F* (2, 94) = .751, p = .015; *Reduced-out-of-stock F* (2, 94) = .338, p = .038; *Supply chain planning F* (2, 94) = .274, p = .011; *Electronic traceability F* (2, 94) = .489, p = .039; *Organisational learning F* (2, 94) = 4.14, p = .019; *Demand forecast F* (2, 94) = 9.83, p = .000; *Organisation knowledge accumulation F* (2, 94) = .532, p = .017; *Employees' RFID-related skills and proficiency F* (2, 94) = .145, p = .024.

<u>5.10.1.2 PULT</u>

Table 5.32 gives information about each PULT group, including the means, standard errors, and standard deviations.

Table 5.33 shows the results of the analysis of variance between and within the four PULT groups. The statistical significance of the differences between each pair of groups is provided in Table 5.33, which gives the results of the post-hoc tests.

For variables with a significant p value, the post-hoc tests in Table 5.33 indicates exactly where the differences amongst the four PULT groups occur. In the column labelled *Mean Difference*, the values with asterisks (*) indicate that there is a statistically significant difference between the four PULT groups being compared. The exact significance value is indicated in the column labelled *Sig.*

A one-way between groups analysis of variance was conducted to explore the impact of Product Unit Level of Tagging (PULT) on benefits derived from RFID adoption. Four RFID tagging levels are considered – Pallet-level, Case-level, Container-level and Item-level. There was a statistically significant difference at the p < .05 level in mean scores of the following RFID benefits between at least two of the four levels of tagging: *Net profit F* (3, 93) = 9.300, p = .000; *Cost reductions F* (3, 93) = 7.165, p = .000; *Labour savings F* (3, 93) = 1.742, p = .014; *Reduction of inventory F* (3, 93) = .938, p = .006; *Visibility F* (3, 93) = 1.644, p = .050; *Supply chain planning F* (3, 93) = .974, p = .009; *Data integrity F* (3, 93) = 5.156, p = .002; *Electronic traceability F* (3, 93) = 2.592, p = .037; *Transport efficiency F* (3, 93) = 3.388, p = .021; *Organisational learning F* (3, 93) = 6.444, p = .001; *Staff motivation F* (3, 93) = 3.480, p = .019; *Demand forecast F* (3, 93) = 4.292, p = .007.

5.10.1.3 Organisational pedigree in RFID

Table 5.34 gives information about the different levels of organisational pedigree in RFID, including the number in each group, the means, standard errors, and standard deviations.

Table 5.35 shows the results of the analysis of variance between and within the four levels of organisational pedigree in RFID. The table, which gives the results of the post-hoc tests, shows the statistical significance of the differences between each pair of levels of organisational pedigree in RFID.

A one-way between groups analysis of variance was conducted to explore the impact of organisational pedigree in RFID on benefits derived from RFID adoption. Four levels of organisational pedigree in RFID are considered – 'Fully conversant with aspects of RFID', 'Understand most of the concepts of RFID', 'Understand the principles of RFID', and 'Little knowledge of RFID principles but the system works'. There was a statistically significant difference at the *p* < .05 level in mean scores of the following RFID benefits between atleast two of the four levels of organisational pedigree in RFID: *Cost reduction F* (3, 159) = 8.407, *p* = .032; Labour savings F (3, 159) = 4.536, p = .004; Supply chain planning F (3, 159) = 2.723, p = .046; Business sustainability F (3, 159) = 5.813, p = .001; Organisational learning F (3, 159) = 21.429, p = .000; Staff motivation F (3, 159) = 5.198, p = .002; Organisational knowledge accumulation F (3, 159) = 6.894, p = .000; Employee satisfaction F (3, 159) = 4.025, p = .009.

5.10.2 Discussion: One-way ANOVA

From the results of the structural equation models, the relationship of each factor of the independent variables (RFID implementation stage, PULT, organisational pedigree in RFID) with the dependent variable (RFID benefits) were determined. The relationships observed were as follows:

5.10.2.1 RFID implementation stage

Table 5.36 shows that RFID implementation stage has a statistically significant relationship with all of the 4 categories of RFID benefits. From the results of the one-way ANOVA, it can be seen that certain RFID benefits derived (across the four BSC categories investigated) are influenced by the stage of RFID implementation within the organisation.

Table 5.36: Hypotheses on the impact of RFID implementation stage on RFID benefits						
Category Hypothesis Decision						
Financial measures	1116. Higher implementation stage of an PEID system	Accept				
Internal processes	H16: Higher implementation stage of an RFID system has a significant positive influence on the benefits					
Corporate measures	derivable from RFID implementation					
Learning & growth						

The findings suggest that benefits accrue the most when RFID is fully implemented in the organisation, as opposed to partial or pilot implementation. This is likely because maximum synergy is achieved throughout the organisation. Also, benefits recorded when RFID is deployed as a pilot project outweigh benefits reaped when RFID is partially implemented. As Turban et al. (2002) reports, pilot projects within organisations are usually implemented within a limited boundary i.e. one department, location; while partial implementation usually takes place in phases, where the organisation gradually adopts the new technology in different phases, per module or sub-system. Due to the limited boundary of pilot projects, they are less sophisticated, experience less disruptions, and are often easier to manage. This explains why deploying RFID at the pilot stage reaps more benefits then when partially implemented within the organisation. Additionally, when RFID is partially implemented within the organisation. Additionally, when RFID is partially implemented within the organisation.

<u>5.10.2.2 PULT</u>

Table 5.37 shows that PULT has a statistically significant relationship with all of the 4 categories of RFID benefits. From the results of the one-way ANOVA, it can be seen that certain RFID benefits derived (across the four BSC categories investigated) are influenced by the product unit level of tagging.

Table 5.37: Hypotheses on the impact of PULT on RFID benefits					
Category	Hypothesis	Decision			
Financial measures	1117: Lower Droduct Unit Lovel of Tagging (DULT)	Accept			
Internal processes	H17: Lower Product Unit Level of Tagging (PULT) has a significant positive influence on the				
Corporate measures	benefits derivable from RFID implementation				
Learning & growth	benefits derivable from Kind implementation				

Generally speaking, it can be inferred from the results that the lower the tagging level, the greater the benefits derived. The findings show that implementing RFID at the item-level accrues the most benefits as compared to the case, pallet, or container levels. However, this largely depends on the industrial or business case application of the technology. In industries/applications like retail where numerous items need to be tracked, item-level tagging delivers more value than tagging cases, pallets or containers. This is because RFID offers an automated and fast way to count, track, and manage items, so the more items tagged, the more benefits accrued. However, in some industrial or business case applications, tracking multiple items is not necessary. For instance, in the automotive industry it will be more beneficial to tag parts bins rather than the parts themselves because the parts remain within the bins until the assembly/installation phase. In such cases, extra investment to tag individual parts might not yet greater benefits.

5.10.2.3 Organisational pedigree in RFID

Table 5.38 shows that PULT has a statistically significant relationship with all of the 4 categories of RFID benefits. From the results of the one-way ANOVA, it can be seen that certain RFID benefits derived (across the four BSC categories investigated) are influenced by the organisations internal capacity or knowledge of RFID.

Table 5.38: Hypotheses on the impact of organisational pedigree on RFID benefits					
Category	Hypothesis	Decision			
Financial measures	H18: An organisation's internal	Accept			
Internal processes	capacity/pedigree for implementing the				
Corporate measures	technology has a significant positive influence				
Learning & growth	on the benefits derivable from RFID				

The findings suggest that the greater the organisation's pedigree/knowledge in RFID, the greater the benefits derived. Generally speaking, organisations with employees that are fully conversant in RFID derive more benefits from implementing the technology. This highlights the importance of training to RFID implementation success and benefits. Deploying an RFID

system usually requires process change. Training users/employees and following up to ensure the new process is adhered to and that the technology is being used correctly and effectively is very important. However, it is not necessary for every individual within the organisation to become an RFID expert. Usually, there is a dedicated team that deploys and supports the system, handles training, attends to queries, manages upgrades and so on. This is usually adequate.

CHAPTER 6 – CASE STUDIES

6.1 Introduction

This chapter presents four case studies, all from organisations that have adopted RFID technology. The four organisations were chosen from the retail, manufacturing, healthcare, and logistics sectors, with the aim of giving a representative spread across a broad spectrum of industrial supply chains.

Case study is a common methodology adopted in operations management research, and is primarily used for theory building or as a follow-up technique for results validation. When used for theory building, it is adopted in the early phase of the research process, particularly in poorly studied fields, where prior studies are not available to guide subsequent studies. When case study is used as a follow up technique to validate results, it is essential that the context is properly defined, and that it is integrated into the overall research methodology. Rather than viewing and using methodologies as single entities that are mutually exclusive, researchers advocate that the synergy within different methodologies be exploited. This idea has been regarded as methodological fit or triangulation (Edmondson and McManus, 2007). Triangulation enables quantitative research like surveys and qualitative research like case studies to be seen as two ends of a continuum rather than as a mutually exclusive set of approaches. Accordingly, this research integrates both methodologies in order to utilise the strengths of each and to overcome their weaknesses; thus, improving the quality and validity of the findings.

Data collection methods in case study research include in-depth structured, semi-structured or unstructured interviews. In order to validate the results of the exploratory survey by questionnaire carried out in Chapter 5, studies of four cases were conducted, through a more detailed qualitative study of selected organisations.

6.2 Case study protocol

In this thesis, the case studies conducted provide the context regarding the findings that organisational and technological characteristics have an impact on the adoption, implementation, and benefits of RFID technology in organisations. All the organisations that took part in the case study were notified of the topic to be discussed well beforehand. Additionally, they were informed that the method of data collection would be teleconference interviews and/or documentation review. In cases where interviews are conducted, the need for recording of the interviews for subsequent transcribing was also highlighted. A copy of the issues to be discussed, the estimated length of the interview, and the type of information to be solicited was communicated to the organisations prior to conducting the case studies. Finally, the responding organisations were assured of strict confidentiality adherence in relation to handling and reporting information obtained from them. Generally, suggestions on case study research best practices and guidelines from Yin (2003) were incorporated in the case study. The interview questions are shown in Appendix E.

6.2.1 Sample and organisation selection

The selection of a representative sample for case study research could be either based on random sampling techniques (Pagell, 2004) or based on purposeful or opportunistic samples (Voss and Frolich, 2002). In this research, respondents to the case study were solicited using the survey instrument (see Appendix A). Respondents were asked to indicate their interest in participating in a case study at the end of the questionnaire, by ticking a box for 'yes' or leaving it unticked for 'no'. Those respondents that ticked the box were informed of the issues to be covered in the case study. This was done by sending them a case study protocol (see appendix 3). Voss and Frolich (2002) recommend developing and sending (to respondents) a protocol at the start of a case study, detailing the research framework and the research questions. The case studies were set up across different business sectors.

6.2.2 Data Collection procedure and analysis in the case studies

Semi-structured interviews and documentation review were the two sources of information used in the case study. Interviews were conducted with top, middle, and lower management within the participating organisations. A cross section of supply chain managers, IT directors, operations managers, and technical specialists were interviewed, because they were in the best positions to provide the information solicited. Data collected was used to analyse the themes of the research case studies, and in validating the results obtained from the questionnaire survey in Chapter 5.

6.3 Business environment and the industrial context of the

case studies

The four organisations used for the case study consist of one from the logistics industry, one from the retail industry, one from the manufacturing industry, and one from the healthcare industry.

6.3.1 UK Logistics Industry

The UK logistics industry employs around 2.2 million people in over 196,000 companies, and is worth £74.45billion (ONS, 2013). In 2014, the UK was ranked 4th in the World's top logistics performers. Freight logistics companies either manage their own distribution system or manage it on behalf of another as 'third-party logistics' (3PL) or 'hauliers'. Over 60% of UK freight is carried as 3PL.

The key to modern logistics management is the automatic identification of products, containers, vehicles and staff. In the transportation and logistics industry, the costs of inefficiencies caused by lack of visibility are considerable. RFID improves visibility across the supply chain by tackling shrinkage, inaccuracies and inefficient order fulfilment. RFID improves counting and tracking processes, shipping, receiving, and order accuracy; order processing; and reduces labour costs. Figure 6.1 shows some applications of RFID within the logistics industry.



Figure 6.1. Some applications of RFID in the logistics industry (Source: Stid.com)

6.3.2 UK Retail Industry

The UK retail sector is a large and active industrial sector within the UK economy. It generates 5% of the Gross Domestic Product of the UK. In 2014, the total value of UK retail sales were £333 billion. In the retail sector, RFID has been considered an appropriate technology to alleviate the challenges of inventory management, supply and demand synchronization, and out-of-stocks. Although the adoption of RFID within this sector has been slow in the past decade, we are now seeing an ever increasing number of retailers and brands, in the UK and globally, adopting RFID for item-level tagging, providing the platform to generate multichannel growth, and offering consumers a seamless shopping experience (ONS, Eurostat, Retail Economics analysis). Figure 6.2 outlines some uses of RFID technology in simplifying retail processes.



Figure 6.2. Uses of RFID technology in retailing processes (Source: Stid.com)

6.3.3 UK Manufacturing Industry

Manufacturing contributes 11% of UK Gross Value Added (GVA); 54% of UK exports; and directly employs 2.6 million people. Overall, the UK industrial sector has increased by 1.4% a year since 1948, according to the 2015 report from the Office for National Statistics (ONS, 2015).

In the manufacturing sector, RFID technology can provide high-quality, reliable product tracking and tracing across the supply chain; redefine production standards with improved execution, efficiency, and product quality; and automate processes to control and monitor operations and refine schedules, directly impacting their efficiency gains and improving production. Figure 6.3 outlines some the application areas (numbered 1-9) of RFID in manufacturing settings.



Figure 6.3. RFID application areas in manufacturing (Source: Abr.com)

6.3.4 UK Healthcare Industry

The UK Healthcare industry operates a decentralized system, with England, Northern Ireland, Scotland and Wales each having their own systems of publicly funded healthcare. Most healthcare in England is provided by the National Health Service (NHS), which is funded by the Department of Health (£110 billion in 2013-14).

In the healthcare sector, RFID has been used to reduce costs, improve operational efficiency, and ensure safety; enabling healthcare providers and administrators to make the most effective clinical and business decisions. A growing use of RFID in healthcare is for asset tracking (as shown in Figure in 6.4).



Figure 6.4. RFID application areas in healthcare (Source: Flickr.com)

6.4 Case studies

6.4.1 Case study organisation 1 (CSO-1)

6.4.1.1 Introduction

CSO-1 is a clothing and accessories manufacturer and retailer founded in 1963 and based in Arteixo, Galicia, Spain. It started life in a small workshop, making mostly women's and children clothing but today has over 6,900 stores worldwide. Through its history, the organisation has evolved to become the reputable business it is today, reaching many notable milestones along its journey. The organisation adopts a customer-oriented business model focussing on listening closely to its customers' fashion desires and appetites, and reacting quickly to the latest fashion trends.

"CSO-1 is always striving to meet the needs of its customers at the same time as helping to inform their ideas, trends and tastes. The idea is to share responsible passion for fashion across a broad spectrum of people, cultures and ages" – Press Dossier

CSO-1's customer focus underpins an organisational structure that encompasses all stages of the fashion value chain (design, manufacturing, distribution and sale in proprietary stores). Their customer oriented model is the driving force behind the integration of many sustainable and environmental policies used throughout the organisation's supply chain today.

"The organisation's goal is to offer products of the highest quality to all its customers while simultaneously striving to develop a sustainable business" – Press Dossier

CSO-1 has identified a set of stringent business principles. In consideration of the its goal of offering products of the highest quality to all its customers, a Code of Conduct and Responsible Practices framework was developed to stipulate the binding principles that apply in each and every area of the organisation's operations, both within the company and with its partners. Thus the organisation's processes are inspired by and stem from its Code of Conduct. With this as a basis, stringent product health and safety, labour, and environmental sustainability standards were enshrined by the Code of Conduct for Manufacturers and Suppliers. These form the foundations of the organisation's environmental and sustainable strategy, which comprise a key part of the group's effort to make products that will meet

consumer expectations. This pledge means continuous open lines of communication with all of the organisation's stakeholders are necessary to provide access to sufficient, clear, comprehensive, and up to date information to enable stakeholders to evaluate the company's business practices. Figure 6.5 is an illustration of the operational business model of CSO-1.

The success stemming from adopting this strong customer orientation led to the launch of the first CSO-1 retail store in 1975, in the coastal town of A Coruña in the northwest of Spain. Today, CSO-1 has over 2,000 stores strategically located in leading cities across 88 countries. CSO-1's designers and customers are inextricably linked. Specialist teams receive constant feedback on the decisions its customers are making at every CSO-1 store. This feedback inspires CSO-1's creative team which is made up of over 200 professionals.

With its logistics headquarters in Spain, an RFID-enabled delivery system has been implemented to deliver new products to all of the CSO-1 stores twice weekly, in order to meet consumer demand. In addition, since 2008, RFID systems have been piloted and fully implemented in a number of CSO-1 UK warehouses and stores.





6.4.1.2 CSO-1 RFID System

CSO-1 began working on developing an RFID system in year 2007 and started implementing the technology in their CSO-1 retail division and distribution centers in 2012. Today, the system is being used in more than 800 CSO-1 stores in 22 countries, as well as in three CSO-1 distribution centres. The system includes RFID/acoustic magnetic tags, readers and tag

detachers, mobile handheld readers that collect near-real-time data on inventory and application software and reporting that connect collected data with CSO-1's inventory system. The solution also includes RFID tag encoders in distribution centers (DCs).

CSO-1 is using Tyco Retail's new Sensormatic RFID/acoustic magnetic Dual Technology tags to deliver the security of an acoustic magnetic anti-theft solution together with the inventory visibility of an electronic product code-based RFID. The tags, empty of information save a unique serial number, are attached to products at the manufacturer's facilities. When those source-tagged products come into the DCs, they pass through the Checkpoint RFID encoding system, which includes hardware set up in a tunnel-like configuration. As packaged items pass through the tunnels, Checkpoint's encoding software assigns each garment a unique item number, coding the information CSO-1 wants tracked into the reusable and recyclable Tyco Dual Technology tags.

CSO-1 store associates can read those codes through any iOS device. When a tagged item is sold, the item information is read by Tyco's Smart Tag Detachers at the point of sale, giving CSO-1 real-time item data that makes quick replenishment possible. The detachers simultaneously deactivate the theft alarm stored on a chip inside the tag and delete the information embedded in the chip. If an item is not paid for and deactivated, it sounds an alert when someone tries to exit the store. To date, the tags are deployed on 90 percent of the items on display in CSO-1 stores. For fiscal year 2015, CSO-1 tagged around 500 million items. The tags enable individual identification of every garment; provide real-time knowledge of where every item's physical whereabouts throughout the entire distribution-to-sale process; and deliver precision, speed and enhanced in-store customer service (as shown in Figure 6.6).

At CSO-1's annual general meeting in July, CSO-1 Chairman and CEO (name withheld) described the simultaneous implementation and phased-in deployments of the RFID Inventory Intelligence and Loss Prevention solutions as "one of the most significant changes ever in how the organisation's stores operate. He said the organisation expects the system to be active in a total of 1,000 CSO-1 stores in 31 countries by the end of year 2015. He estimated the rollout to all CSO-1 stores will be complete by the end of 2016.

165



Figure 6.6: Improvements in CSO-1 store workflow attributable to RFID (Source: CSO-1 RFID

implementation report)

6.4.2 Case study organisation 2 (CSO-2)

6.4.2.1 Introduction

Established in 1974, CSO-2 is a growing international freight forwarding, relocation and project logistics management company delivering cost-effective solutions throughout Europe, Asia, and the Middle East. The company develops comprehensive freight forwarding, project logistics and relocation service plans tailored to meet specific requirements of customers.

CSO-2's business model comprises learning customers' exact objectives with regards to their internal and external requirements, thus providing quality services more consistently than competing service providers in the market. Supported by numerous offices and associates worldwide, CSO-2 employs a team of professionals that efficiently monitor and manage every transaction handled by the company. With a service network across 65 countries, CSO-2 aims to be the most reliable logistics services company in the market with an inspired, people-driven and dedicated approach to serving customers.

"Our tried and proven multimodal transportation routes in Europe ensure international reach whatever your cargo and timeframe is. As the preferred supplier and the first point of contact for various companies aiming to increase supply chain efficiency, we are very proud

of our reputation and always strive to maintain it." – CSO-2 Company Profile, 2015

Since establishment in 1974, CSO-2 has earned its mark as a reputable, reliable, and successful independent logistics services company in Europe, Asia and the Middle East. Successful freight forwarding, relocation and project logistics management services in challenging markets like the Middle East require expertise, inside knowledge, and reputation businesses can trust. This is why CSO-2 is the preferred choice of many Fortune 500 companies in the region.

"Our in-depth knowledge of Europe, Asia, and Middle East, coupled with our regional and international service network makes CSO-2 a leading service provider in the regions it covers. CSO-2 provides "one-stop-solution" to meet all of your logistics requirements. Whether you are looking to relocate household goods across the region or move an offshore drilling platform across the seas, CSO-2 has the level of service, expertise and experience to make it happen. You will get personalized service at every level with CSO-2 because we are truly

independent, make our own decisions and specialize in our market." - CSO-2 Company Profile, 2015

CSO-2's primary objectives are:

- To promote Total Quality Management and to maintain its success through steady investment in service expansions and innovations
- To promote health, safety and environmental safety throughout our organization
- To develop and maintain a first-class infrastructure to ensure employee satisfaction, which drives customer loyalty leading to sustained profit growth and creating improved company value
- To exceed the expectations of our customers through total quality management and providing cost effective and reliable solutions to help our customers to realize their goals

6.4.2.2 CSO-2 RFID system

In 2009, CSO-2 deployed an RFID system to help manage its growing cargo. The system was deployed to improve inventory and warehouse management and transportation processes such as shipping and receiving automation. The system operates passive UHF tags and different collections of active tags operating at a range of frequencies (from 270MHz to 2.0 GHz).

When cargo arrives at CSO-2's warehouse, the cases of individual items are tagged with the UHF passive transponders and the pallets of high value goods are tagged with active transponders. This enables the monitoring of the cargo within the warehouse. All transponders are encoded with a unique ID that is recognized and processed by the middleware system and stored in a database used by CSO-2 to maintain an inventory of the tagged items.

When cargo is to be transported, the pallets are loaded into the trucks. Readers installed on the warehouse entrance/exit read the active tags from the pallet. The middleware system is able to compare and match the appropriate outbound order and register the cargo as being in transit. For cargo that does not match the outbound order, an alarm sets off and a member of staff is notified. To track cargo in transit, CSO-2 installed mobile RFID readers inside trucking containers. The readers communicate with the active tags on the pallets of cargo and notify CSO-2 staff when a pallet is removed from the interrogation zone within the truck.

6.4.3 Case study organisation 3 (CSO-3)

6.4.3.1 Introduction

CSO-3 was founded in 1970. The company's core business is the manufacture of chemicals for water treatment, and the supply of commodity chemicals to the Steel manufacturing, Food and Paper making Industries. CSO-3 also operate purpose built grinding, milling, filtration, and spray drying plants, all of which are made available to customers seeking to process chemical materials on a short or long term basis.

CSO-3 has grown over the past 40 years from a company with just one vehicle to now operating six manufacturing sites in the UK and one in the USA; employing over 400 staff; and handling over a million tonnes of materials each year. CSO-3 delivers over 300,000 tonnes of products to customers in the detergent, paper, water treatment and chemical industries worldwide. Handling hazardous materials has meant that CSO-3 has needed to manage its operations in line with standards such as the UK's Pollution Prevention and Control Regulations and the Control of Major Accident Hazard Regulations.

CSO-3's West Thurrock site was one of the first to be granted a UK Pollution Prevention and Control permit. CSO-3 have traditionally supplied chemicals in bulk using the company's own fleet of tanker vehicles but have recently entered the packaged chemicals market delivering product in Intermediate Bulk Containers (IBCs), pump over pressure bins and other small containers. IBCs have a metal frame with a re-usable tank able to contain up to 1000 litres of product, CSO-3 has over 3000 IBCs representing an asset value over £400,000. IBCs are delivered to customer premises where the product will be consumed and then the IBC collected by the company for reuse.

CSO-3's business model is built on maximizing customer satisfaction through timely and quality products and services delivery. The company's definition of quality is products/services that are delivered when they're needed, in a safe and controlled manner, to specification, and at the right cost. CSO-3 operates a quality system that has been designed to meet the requirements of ISO 9001, and customer management systems. The company has maintained third certification for its quality management system since 1994. CSO-3's attention to product quality and high level of service has helped establish the company as a reliable and well-respected supplier. For example, CSO commands a high profile in the water

utility Industry, as the one company in the UK with the ability to offer the greatest range of coagulants including both Aluminium and Iron Salts.

Shipping of hazardous chemicals has to be managed closely to ensure that both chemicals and their containers can be effectively tracked to minimize any loss of the assets and monitor all legal container compliance requirements. The IBCs and pump over pressure bins used by CSO-3 to deliver their products represent valuable assets which the company needs to monitor closely. Consequently, CSO-3 appreciated that electronic tagging of IBCs could provide them with the traceability they needed and could help to reduce the costs of lost and damaged IBCs. CSO-3 chose CoreRFID to work with them on the selection and supply of the correct RFID technology and develop a tailored, user friendly solution for their asset management needs.

6.4.3.2 CSO-3 RFID system

The primary purpose of CSO-3 developing a radio frequency identification solution was to track the location and condition of its reusable containers leaving its facilities or those returned by customers. The RFID system was developed with the objective of improving efficiency and ensuring that damaged or out-of-date IBCs are not used to ship chemicals.

The IBCs need to be tracked into and out of company premises and monitored to know where the assets are located at any time, how long the assets have been at customer premises, record any damage assets on return and monitor IBCs service status and service life. Manual tracking of IBCs, logging delivery points and checking stocks regularly, was not effective and was extremely time consuming. The packaged chemicals division is a fast growing area of the business and CSO-3 wanted to implement a tracking and monitoring solution that could grow with the development of the business and offer maximum control over these moving assets.

The RFID system used by CSO-3 to track their IBCs uses UHF RFID tags. The tags can be read from a distance of up to 3 metres. CoreRFID developed (and now host and operate) an application to track IBCs to the location where they were last checked and to control IBCs that can only be re-used a specified number of times.


Figure 6.7: Intermediate Bulk Container and the RFID tags used to track it (*Source: CSO-2 RFID system report*)

The tags were selected for their ruggedness and suitability for use in an industrial logistics application as well as providing reading characteristics that allowed them to be easily detected and read. The selected tag was designed for use in a wide temperature range. It has a small footprint to allow it to be attached to the metal frame carriers of the IBCs. The device used to read tags is a compact, robust, handheld computer which is a Windows Mobile compatible computer that is able to read RFID tags and bar-code labels. The handheld has a camera and a wide range of communication options, CoreRFID has found it a flexible and reliable option in many logistics and asset related applications.

A software application running on an RFID reader is used to record in and out IBC movements from company premises and to carry out internal and external stock-takes. If an IBC is seen to be damaged on return, a photograph can be taken using the ATiD AB700's 3 mega-pixel camera and can be linked with the IBC check-in record. The application used is one of a number of similar Windows Mobile software solutions developed by CoreRFID. The application focus is on simplicity of operation with a minimum of data entry and menu choices needed to achieve the required result. At the end of each day, or whenever needed, data can be uploaded to a database operated by CoreRFID on behalf of CSO-3. Access to this database provides CSO-3 with an easy way to determine the location of IBCs their usage history. They can also identify IBCs that are approaching the end of their operational life and data from the system can be easily downloaded for additional analysis.

6.4.4 Case study organisation 4 (CSO-4)

6.4.4.1 Introduction

CSO-4 is one of the largest Hospital Trusts in England. CSO-4 includes four major hospitals in the Midlands and also runs a number of smaller satellite units all around the UK, enabling people to be treated as close to home as possible.

CSO-4 originally developed from a fever hospital and sanatorium in Yardley, which opened in June 1895. After a number of successful mergers, the hospital developed into a Trust. Today, the Trust is a world leader in tackling MRSA and specialises in treating patients suffering from a wide range of illnesses including heart and kidney disease, cancer, HIV and AIDS, as well as respiratory conditions like Cystic Fibrosis. The Trust also has expertise in premature baby care, bone marrow transplants and thoracic surgery.

The Trust is one of top employers in the Midlands, with around 11,000 members of staff. The Trust treats over 1.2 million people each year, with about 25,000 people attending the hospitals' emergency departments each year.

6.4.4.2 CSO-4 RFID system

CSO-4's estates department (responsible for managing the trust's hospital buildings, infrastructure and equipment) developed an RFID pilot project at one of its hospitals to locate and manage beds, and to track and trace surgical equipment. In terms of bed tracking, the RFID system tracks both standard and specialized beds, as well as hoists used to lift patients onto and off of them. Once fully deployed in all the hospitals in the Trust, the solution is expected to track approximately 2,000 beds and hoists.

In 2013, the trust's clinical engineering department—which manages mobile medical devices, such as infusion pumps and monitors—deployed an active RFID system provided by Harland Simon. It has attached active 2.4 GHz tags, which use a proprietary air-interface protocol, to each of about 2,000 medical devices, and is currently tracking their locations and movements among different sites within the three hospitals that make up the trust.

The solution, known as RFID Discovery, consists of proprietary readers deployed throughout the hospitals, as well as software deployed on the departments' own servers. When applying a tag to a bed or hoist, hospital personnel first use a PDA with a built-in bar-code scanner to read a bar-coded serial number printed on a label attached to the bed or hoist itself, and then the bar-coded serial number on the front of the RFID tag, which is the same number as the one transmitted by the tag. The tag and bed (or hoist) ID numbers are thereby stored in the Discovery software and forwarded to the facilities-management system. Employees can input the maintenance date for a particular item so that users can be alerted in advance when that object is again due for maintenance or servicing.

Typically, readers capture a tag's ID at a distance up to 20 meters (65.6 feet). As the Discovery software receives data from the readers, it can approximate the location of that bed or hoist and then display that location on a dashboard that includes a map of the facility and an icon representing each tagged hoist or bed. In this way, the hospital staff can utilize the solution to identify where beds and hoists are located when engineers conduct inspections and any necessary maintenance. The software can also be used to determine when there are too many accumulating in one area, or not enough in another.

6.5 Interview Data Collection and Analysis

6.5.1 Introduction

As highlighted in section 6.2.2, semi-structured interviews were conducted with selected personnel, including managers, directors, and technical specialists with the view of assessing the impact of organisational factors on the decision to adopt RFID, RFID implementation processes, and benefits derived from RFID. Results from the case studies seek to validate empirical results obtained in the questionnaire survey in Chapter 5 by obtaining direct views and real-life experiences of RFID adopters. In gathering and analysing valid data from the interviews, this study followed a set of procedures (interview guide) before, during, and after the interviews. The protocol adopted was as follows:

Background

• Interviewer introduced himself, explained the aim of the interview, and briefed the interviewee of the purpose of the research.

Questioning

- Relevant interview questions were devised to help address the research objectives
- A list of those questions or key points were outlined, with a plan to work through them methodically. The questions were grouped in themes that followed a logical sequence
- Across the different organisations studied, similar questions were asked of the respondents. However, supplementary questions asked differed where appropriate.
 Supplementary questions were follow-up or probing in nature
- Provision was made to easily move back and forth between questions or topic areas, as interviewees may naturally move on to another subject

Recording and Transcription

- The method of recording the responses was proposed. This was either by digital recording or note taking (with the informed consent of the interviewee). In either case the interview process was a flexible one, with the emphasis on the answers given by the interviewee. In cases where the interviewee agreed to be interviewed but decline to be recorded, the interview still went ahead, although the note taking then focused on writing down key points
- Once interviews had been completed, transcription of notes/recordings followed

- The names of the participating organisations were withheld and coded as follows: CSO (case study organisation) and attached a number at the end to indicate the order of the case. e.g. CSO-1 means Case Study Organisation 1
- The identities/official positions of the respondents were coded in the following denominations: GM (General Manager), OM (Operations Manager), ITS (IT specialist or consultant), DR (Director), SCM (Supply Chain Manager), OE (Other Employee)

Post-interview reflection

• Once the interviews were completed, the interviewer reflected on how it went and assessed whether there was anything that could have been done differently/better

Data analysis

- The researcher browsed through all transcripts, one by one and line by line, reading very carefully and making notes about any first impressions
- The researcher labelled or coded relevant words, sections, sentences, and phrases.
 Labels were about activities, actions, concepts, differences, processes, opinions or whatever the researcher thought was relevant for the study (this process is sometimes referred to as indexing or coding)
- The researcher subsequently decided which codes were important, to create categories by bringing several codes together, (for instance, words that were often repeated severally or identified as explicit by the interviewee(s); words that surprised the researcher; words that seemed to be relevant or important; words that the researcher has seen or read in a previous articles, reports or publications; words that reminded the researcher of a theory or a concept)
- The researcher decided if there was hierarchy among the categories i.e. whether one category was more important than the other
- The researcher finally writes up the result. The researcher draws diagrams or figures to summarize result

6.5.2 Reflective report on interview process

The four organisations studied provided valuable insights into the impact of organisational factors on RFID adoption decisions, RFID implementation processes, and RFID benefits. After the organisations had indicated their willingness to participate in a case study, the researcher explained to the interviewees his request to conduct an interview and to also secure a suitable date and time. An online link of informed consent forms was sent both before and on the day

of the interview. In addition, some of the interviewees also requested for the interview schedule before an interview date could be agreed. Thus, prior to the interview date of each organisation, the researcher sent draft copies of the standardized interview questions to all of the respondents in the organisation. This was done to provide them with an overview of the type of questions they were to be asked.

In addition, all the participating organisations had already provided the researcher with a host of company profile documentation, RFID implementation reports, and other relevant material in advance of the official interview dates. On one occasion, the researcher was requested by the participating organisation to extract some information from the organisations' online resource portal. This was done in order to enable the researcher to ask questions in context of the organisation's operations, industry, and environment, focus on asking relevant questions and prevent duplication of information, and finally ensure that the interviews do not take longer than the indicated 20-25 minutes per interviewee.

The informed consent form was drafted to make sure potential participants were offered adequate information to allow them to decide whether or not they want to take part in the research study. While it was important to ensure that sufficient information was provided, the researcher also considered the need of using non-technical terms and the need to be easily understood by all respondents. The overall interview process was overseen by the researcher.

On the first day of interview, the researcher followed the interview guide by, first of all, introducing the research topic and research questions, and asked the participants if they would be willing to share their thoughts regarding their organisation's decision to adopt RFID, its subsequent implementation, and benefits derived. Even though, most of the participants granted an interview, majority of them insisted on remaining anonymous. In line with the consent forms distributed at the start off the interviews and the research privacy and confidentiality policies, the researcher concealed the identity of the respondents. Some of the respondents also requested that handwritten notes be taken rather than audio recordings. The researcher signified that transcribing by hand may make the interview process longer, to which the respondents offered no objections.

The interview process went on very smoothly and the participants were very free and friendly. They tendered information often beyond the content of the research question. They also responded willingly to follow-up questions, thereby enabling the researcher to collect indepth and sufficient information on the research subject.

There were no major limitations to the interview process apart from two instances where the respondents were hesitant to provide certain information due to them feeling they are not in the best position to do so, and were cautious of providing potentially wrong or misleading information. In such instances, the respondents referred the researcher to the company reports or suggested contacting superior staff for further information. Overall, the researcher was happy with the quality and depth of case study data collected. All participating organisations and respondents were thanked for their role in the case study.

6.6 Interview Analysis

6.6.1 Research question 1: Drivers and constraints of RFID

adoption

There are several significant drivers for industries and governmental institutions to develop and implement RFID solutions within their supply chains. This research had adopted factors from the Technology-Organisation-Environment (TOE) framework and the Diffusion of Innovation (DOI) model and assessed their influence on organisational decision to adopt RFID. The survey results in section 5.5.1 indicated that multiple factors (across all categories of the TOE framework) drive RFID adoption decisions. Perceived RFID benefits, convergence of various international standards and specifications, top management initiative, financial availability, competitive and dominant partner pressure were found to be significant drivers of RFID adoption.

6.6.1.1 Motives for adopting RFID

In the interviews conducted, the respondents were first of all asked of general motives and reasons behind their organisations to adopt RFID solutions. In that regard, OM-1, an Operations Manager in one of the responding organisations stated "Although we knew RFID could have many applications in a wide range of settings for us, particularly within the supply chain, we however, adopted it for specialised applications. Applications where we were looking to have incremental performance and where a return-on-investment could be achieved ASAP." Nevertheless, respondents from the other case study organisations

highlighted that their adoption of RFID solutions were driven by the desire to either tackle a unique/particular set of challenges, cut costs or losses, or improve on some business processes. These were not necessarily considered to be specialised applications but rather general ones. Accordingly, OM-2 stated that "Our adoption of RFID was problem-driven; we had clearly identified some pretty general issues within our operations that we needed resolved and had assessed a number of potential technological solutions. RFID presented us with the best outlook for the long term". Similarly, OE-3 outlined that his organisation's decision to implement RFID solutions was based on perceived benefits of the technology. In his words, "The top management had already agreed on finding ways to improve the efficiency of our warehouse operations. The choice of RFID was not particularly discussed inhouse but was a decision made by top management in collaboration with consultants. An RFID-based inventory management system was put in place in order to keep record of inventory levels and reduce loss of items."

When asked about what they specifically hoped to achieve by adopting the technology, each respondent gave a unique response. OE-3 stated that "We adopted RFID to improve our inventory management. I can say that was our motivation. There was a whole lot being lost or misplaced so we needed to have a system that would help us track what's in stock, how much of it was used, how much needs to be replenished, etc. We also wanted to make product distribution more efficient." OM-2 said "We needed a user friendly tracking solution. Due to the sensitivity of our products, we needed to monitor their movements and be able to trace them on-site." OE-4 stated "As one of the largest hospital trusts in England, we have a vast amount of assets that need to be tracked and monitored efficiently. You are talking thousands of beds, hoists, medical devices such as pumps, monitors, and surgical equipment. We needed an efficient system to help us track and monitor available beds, allocate these medical devices, and so on. We also wanted to achieve maximum utilization of beds and equipment." Lastly, OM-1 stated "CSO-2 decided to add RFID-based systems to its operations so it could maintain an inventory on the cargo it stores and transports for its clients. At a glance, the system was developed for inventory and warehouse management, shipping and receiving automation. Additionally, the system was developed to provide a higher level of control and security for cargo."

These responses allowed the researcher to establish the business context in which these organisations decided to adopt RFID solutions, thus, helping to ask appropriate follow up questions. The first trend discovered from the responses was that organisations adopt RFID for a variety of reasons.

6.6.1.2 Key drivers of RFID adoption

As indicated by the survey results and the literature review, the decision on RFID adoption is influenced by technological factors related to the development of the technology, costs and benefits of implementing the technology, organisational factors such as firm size, knowledge and readiness, and environmental factors related to external pressure and support. Accordingly, multiple drivers and constraints from the technology, organisation, and environment categories were discussed during the interviews.

Under the technology category, the main drivers discussed were "Availability of IT infrastructure", "Perceived RFID benefits", and "Perceived RFID standards convergence". Although the respondents generally agreed that all those factors played some role in their decision to adopt RFID, it became clear from the interview responses that "perceived RFID benefits" was the strongest driver of adoption. This is because all the respondents explained that the potential of deriving benefits from RFID led their organisations towards adopting the technology. This is consistent with our survey results, where "perceived RFID benefits" was also found to be the strongest driver of RFID adoption. From the interview responses, it was further observed that RFID adoption was either targeted at

- (i) Solving pre-existing problems or challenges For example, OE-3 stated "We had already identified our problem area so our outlook was firmly fixed on tackling those challenges in managing our inventory management. So you can say that our eyes were fixed on the prize."
- (ii) Providing a general solution/benefit For example, SCM-2 stated that "The potential benefit of getting a full asset management solution which would improve product accountability and overall management of our container fleet." Similarly, OE-4 stated "There is mounting pressure on our budgets and the desire for us to efficiently use available resources is high. Therefore, we considered RFID as an innovative way to improve our operational efficiency." Lastly, SCM-1 stated that "The main driver was the desire to achieve greater operational efficiency and

ensure that we have thorough visibility of the cargo we transport for our clients. We handle a vast amount of cargo types, going through different transportation methods. Therefore, knowing the location of inventory within the warehouse, within transport containers, at any one time is very important."

Under the organisation category, the main drivers discussed were "Top management initiative", "Financial readiness/affordability", "Organisational technical capability", and "Global expansion". The respondents generally agreed to these factors playing a role in their adoption of RFID, but highlighted the key ones that played the strongest role. Accordingly, SCM-1 stated that "Most of the factors you listed played some role. In particular, knowing that we have the capacity, financially and technically, to buy and run new IT systems and innovations helped us to make the decision to adopt RFID in the first place." Similarly, OE-3, when asked about the key drivers of adoption, indicated that "Global expansion" and "Top management initiative" played key roles in his organisation's decision to adopt RFID. He stated that "As we have multiple outlets around the world, such a decision (adopting RFID) is made solely by the CEO or other top execs of the company. Although, they do work and make decisions based on recommendations and reports from lower management, the decision of where to implement the technology is made based on where its required the most, size or location of outlets, and the projected impact it would have."

Although these responses point in the direction that the decision to adopt RFID is often influenced by a combination of many factors, the strongest and most recurring drivers indicated were related to top management support or involvement, and financial and technical capacities of the organisations. Accordingly, OE-4 stated that *"The top management of the company were involved from the beginning to the end of the project and handled matters of finance, and put together a team of experts to work with the consultants. So yes, initiative from top management, availability of finance and technical capacity were key factors for us."*

Under the environment category, the main drivers discussed were "Competitive pressure", "Industry pressure", "Regulatory pressure", "Media pressure", "Dominant partner pressure" and "Government support". In general, the respondents agreed that external pressures played a role in their decision to adopt RFID. However, they did so in different capacities. For example, OM-2 identified "Regulatory pressure" as a key driver by saying *"We are required to*

comply with standards for handling hazardous materials such as the Control of Major Accident Hazard (COMAH) regulations and UK's Pollution Prevention and Control regulations. Therefore, regulatory pressure played a role our decision to go for the RFID solution." However, OE-4 played down the role of some of the external factors by saying "In terms of pressure from outside, I would say that the desire to be more competitive is always there but I do not think competitive pressure was a big enough factor in this adoption. It is more a matter of improving our own operations, reducing costs, and improving customer service and safety. So it's more of pressure coming from within the company than from outside".

Another important factor that has been mentioned by respondents is the desire to have a good portfolio/scorecard with their major partners. For example, in a situation where a major (usually dominant) retailer demands its suppliers/vendors to use RFID, the dominant partner keeps scorecards of suppliers delivering products. This scorecard often includes product description, quantity, etc. When the products are delivered and an error or discrepancy is encountered, full inspection of the delivered cargo has to be conducted. For huge product quantities, this could mean spending a lot of time, money and effort on trying to rectify the error. The supplier is thus billed for the inspection costs. It is therefore in the best interest of suppliers to tag their products at the item-level or case-level in order to be able to pick out any errors right from their warehouses as opposed to after they've shipped out the products to the retailers. This would prevent the suppliers from incurring inspection costs and would secure a good reputation with their partners. In the specific context of the case organisations, they emphasized the importance of having seamless and efficient communications with their partners, one that is based on accurate information, in order to enable them make high-quality decisions. This is considered a major driver of RFID adoption.

<u>6.6.1.3 Constraints of RFID adoption</u>

Despite the potential of RFID to improve supply chain processes, several challenges remain, which hinder organisational decision to adopt RFID. The different constraints investigated were grouped under the technology, organisation, and environmental categories of the TOE framework. The survey results in section 5.5.2 and 5.5.3 reveal that high capital and recurrent costs, requirements for business process change, and security and compliance concerns are significant constraints of organisational decision to adopt RFID, amongst others.

Under the technology category, "capital and recurring costs", "technical issues", "security issues" and "compliance issues" were discussed. Under the organisation category, "manpower shortages" and "requirements for business process change required" were discussed. Lastly, under the environment category "lack of industry standards", "unwillingness to use RFID", and "privacy issues" were discussed. The interview responses indicated that several challenges (from across the 3 categories of the TOE framework) hindered organisational decisions to adopt RFID, albeit momentarily (as the organisations eventually decided to adopt the technology). In that regard, OE-3 remarked that "Cost is always an issue when dealing with new technology. We adopted an improved barcode inventory system about 4 years ago and the cost implications were carefully assessed. RFID is considerably more expensive in comparison and therefore even more attention was paid to its cost implications. Since we eventually decided to go for an RFID solution, you can say that costs delayed rather than hindered our adoption of RFID." Similarly, SCM-1 stated that "Initially, I couldn't get my head round the issue of standards, thinking receiving cargo from different parts of the world was going to pose standardization issues. But as you've suggested now, that is no longer an issue these days as a lot of progress has been made in terms of standards convergence. Aside from that, cost was a determining factor too. Due to the scale of our application, the capital cost was very high when we looked getting RFID in 2006. However, six years later, the costs had come down considerably. What we struggled with was to actually find the right tag as there was a lot of variety out there with competitive pricing, better performance."

Therefore, it was observed that although high costs of RFID systems are still an issue, respondents were aware that as a result of technological gains made in the past decade, a greater variety of RFID components are available in the market, at cheaper rates and with better performance.

It was also observed that although most of the constraints were acknowledged to have played a role or to potentially play a role in hindering organisations to adopt RFID, organisations have good knowledge about them and so tend to thoroughly consider them before a decision is made whether or not to adopt RFID. In that regard, OM-2 remarked that "As said earlier, we believe that we had the technical capacity to adopt RFID as a company, thereby potential shortage in skills was not considered as something that could happen quite frankly. We knew by putting the right team in place, any technical issues that may arise will be effectively managed. Actually, a lot of planning had gone into adopting RFID, so most of these factors were considered before the final decision was taken."

Out of the constraints discussed, the key ones identified were "technical challenges" and "Requirements for business process change required" where SCM-2 stated that "Prior to installing the new system, we had a manual tracking system that was very hectic and time consuming. We knew the new system would have to track and monitor, and offer control of moving assets. We expected that such a system would have to be tailored to our needs, therefore, the financial demands were carefully looked into. However, what concerned us the most was how we'd deal with technical challenges, and how we'd have to restructure some of our processes, train our employees, and so on. " Similarly, it was observed that "Security issues" and "Privacy issues" were of particular concern to organisations planning on adopting RFID solutions. In that regard, OE-4 stated that "Security and privacy issues were discussed even after we launched our RFID system. It goes to show you how important they are in society today. All the security or privacy issues discussed were momentarily considered before our decision to adopt the system and are still considered today in order not to make infringements".

In addition to the constraints discussed in the survey section and those highlighted above, the respondents identified ROI uncertainties and poor tag reader rates as factors that discouraged their adoption of RFID solutions. SCM-1 stated "Although projections on cost savings were made, the Return on Investment (ROI) was still unclear. This hindered talks for the new system for a while." Also, OE-4 stated that "Perhaps the biggest constraint was the technical inconsistencies. The Medical Engineering team reported imperfect read rates of some tags and interference from medical equipment as problems they faced with their RFID system. Therefore, for this bed tracking system, we needed to consider that."

However, in terms of ROI, not all the respondents agreed that unclear ROI was a major concern. OE-3 stated that "ROI is really up to those in finance to work it out, because it is dependent on so many other issues like compliance with partners. If you're not compliant with let's say your major supplier or retailer, you quickly realize that there are costs that go with every order you place, or every order you receive. In our case it was up to something like 50p per unit ordered. So when you order or receive thousands of units, you are talking big money.

So what we decided to do was to make sure that we let the finance people deal with the ROI whilst we make sure we are compliant with our major partners".

6.6.1.4 Key findings and conclusions

As identified in Chapter 2, one of the most popular technology adoption research topics is the identification of factors that influence the adoption process, with the aim of facilitating or guiding the way to achieving best adoption procedures (Loraas and Wolfe, 2006). The survey findings from Chapter 5 indicate that technological, organisational and environmental factors influence RFID adoption decisions. Building on the survey results, the findings from the case studies offer more detailed insights into how those factors determine RFID adoption decisions. The following key findings were made:

- 1. Firstly, it was observed that a collection of several different factors determine an organisations decision to adopt RFID. These factors were found to transcend across the three contexts of the TOE framework investigated – technological, organisational, and environmental. No particular context was found to be the most important. This finding is expected as the effects of technological, organizational and environmental factors on RFID adoption vary from culture to culture and industry to industry. For example, all the case study organisations investigated had a clear idea of what RFID could potential offer them in terms of benefits through the feasibility studies they'd conducted. Therefore, motivated by the perceived benefits and some form of external pressure (competitive, industry, etc.), they'd decided to implement RFID and had identified a set of key performance indicators with which they'd assess the effect of the RFID system and how best to achieve a return on investment. This development was achieved with the necessary support, involvement, and cooperation of management and staff. So perceived benefits or relative advantage (belonging to the technological context of the TOE framework), top management initiative (belonging to the organisational context of the TOE framework) and external pressure (belonging to the environmental context of the TOE framework) have all played a significant role in influencing the decision to adopt RFID.
- 2. Secondly, it was observed that each organisation is driven or constrained by a variety of factors that directly or indirectly relate to its industrial context, modes of operation, vision, and culture. This is an important observation as it sheds light on the importance

of contextualizing the motives behind an organisation's adoption of RFID in order to fully identify and understand the factors that drive and constrain its adoption. For instance, CSO-3 was in the cargo/freight forwarding industry where competition is rife and had just expanded into a new market in Asia. Its decision to adopt RFID was majorly target-driven. In order to maintain high levels of customer satisfaction in the new market, it needed to ensure a tracking system was implemented to ensure visibility of goods in transit and at various points of the supply chain. Thus, in this particular context, CSO-3 adopted RFID in order to meet demands of the new market, which are inherently connected with the organisations vision and long term goals.

3. Thirdly, it was observed that RFID adoption was inherently targeted at two factors. These are (i) solving pre-existing problems or challenges or (ii) providing a general solution/benefit. The studied organisations either adopted RFID after identifying a number of challenges within their operations and/or processes that they needed to overcome or they adopted RFID in order to reap the benefits of an automated, accurate system. For example, CSO-3 adopted RFID because they'd identified the potential benefit of getting a full asset management solution towards improving product accountability and overall management of their container fleet. On the other hand, CSO-4 adopted RFID to mounting pressure on their budgets and their desire for to efficiently use available resources. Therefore, they considered RFID as an innovative way to improve our operational efficiency in light of shrinking budgetary allocations.

In summary, the case study findings are consistent with the survey results in Chapter 5. Technology factors were found to have a significantly positive influence on the organizational decision to adopt RFID. This finding is consistent with many prior studies on innovation and RFID adoption (Brown and Russell, 2007; Schmitt et al. 2007; Wamba et al. 2009; Leimeister et al. 2009). From the case studies, it was gathered that key attributes such as "perceived RFID benefits" and "perceived RFID standards convergence" were considered critical in making the decision to adopt RFID.

The case studies also indicated that organization factors had a significant positive effect on the RFID adoption. The finding is consistent with early studies on IT adoption (Rogers, 1995) 40] and current literature on RFID technology adoption (Wu et al. 2006; Ngai et al. 2008; Brown and Russell, 2007;Wamba et al. 2009). Organizational factors are critical in influencing an organisation's decision to adopt RFID because they concern the capability and readiness of the organisations (in terms of existing information infrastructures and IT skills and experiences) to adopt the technology. Key organisational factors found to play a significant role include "top management initiative" and "availability of IT/IS infrastructure".

Environmental factors were also found to have a significantly positive effect on RFID adoption. This finding is consistent with the literature (Niederman, 2007; Brown and Russell, 2007; Wu et al. 2009). The case study results found that environment factors receive significant attention from the adopters of RFID. Key environmental factors found to have an effect on adoption include "competitive pressure" and "regulatory pressure".

6.6.2 Research question 2: Impact of strength of culture, size, and BPR on decision to adopt RFID

Research on organisational attitude towards technological innovation has helped us to understand and explain technology adoption decisions, patterns, and diffusion. This research question explored how characteristics of organisations, namely, strength of culture, business size, and business process reengineering influence organisational decision to adopt RFID.

The survey results in section 5.6.2 indicated organisational culture, business size, and BPR all had a statistically significant relationship with decision to adopt RFID. Organisational culture factors such as "top management initiative", "effective decision making" and "drive to introduce new technology into business processes" were found to be key determinants of organisational decision to adopt RFID. Business size factors such as "annual turnover", "IT infrastructure" and BPR factors such as "synchronization of IT resources and business processes" were also found to be key determinants of organisational decision to be key determinants of organisational decision to be key determinants of synchronization of IT resources and business processes" were also found to be key determinants of organisational decision to adopt RFID.

6.6.2.1 Strength of culture

6.6.2.1.1 General overview of Strength of culture

The different factors of organisational culture and their impact on the decisions to adopt RFID were discussed during the interviews. The respondents were initially asked about their organisational cultures generally and in relation to technology adoption. SCM-3 stated "*I* would say that our corporate culture is based on teamwork, open communication, and a high level of demand, and it offers employees and various other stakeholders a dynamic and international environment to work in. In terms of technological adoption, our corporate culture encourages innovation and offers an enabling environment in terms of pre-requisite technical infrastructure, support and training of employees, financial involvement, and manpower".

DR-4 stated "Generally, the culture of the Trust is a good one. It is one where there is involvement of all stakeholders, and where all members of staff are well-regarded. I would say that the culture is one of a style of leadership which asserts the fundamental values and vision of the Trust, ensures that they are understood and embraced by all, that they are reflected in all endeavours of both employees and the Trust, and that those who depart from them are swiftly brought back into line through the appropriate means".

OM-2 stated that "Considering the history of our organisation and how much it's grown over just 40 years, I can attribute much of the success to our culture of hard work, dedication, and teamwork. We are always ready to add any technology to our operations as long as a clear ROI is worked out. This is a keen yet careful approach to improving our operational efficiency" SCM-1 stated "CSO-2 operates a very open culture. While the structure is traditional, it is not strict. We operate a dynamic culture due to our involvement across many different sectors and countries. Overall, decentralised, flexible working practices are promoted throughout".

6.6.2.1.2 Impact of strength of culture on decision to adopt RFID

In the interviews conducted, the respondents were asked of the link between their organisations' culture and their decision to adopt RFID. The responses varied according to the use of RFID within the case study organisations. The main factors of organisational culture discussed were "organisational goals and objectives", "organisational focus on performance relative to competitors", "organisational focus on customer satisfaction", "effective decision making", "top management initiative", and "drive to introduce new technologies into business process". The respondents accepted those factors to be essential constituents of organisational culture and acknowledged their importance in achieving organisational synergy and ensuring the success of the technology implemented. In that regard SCM-2 stated that *"We were well aware that focusing only on the technology, without due attention to cultural aspects of the organisation, could lead to failed implementation; which we desperately wanted to avoid".*

Generally, it was observed that the implementation of RFID led to change within the organisations, particularly in terms of core working functions, related policies, administrative functions, and various other components of the organisation. Different factors of organisational culture play a role in different contexts/applications of RFID adoption. For example, when asked about the extent to which organisational culture affected their decision to adopt RFID. OE-3 stressed the importance of defining goals and objectives, where he stated that "Due to the dynamic nature of our market, our business strategy involves adapting to changing market demands and being creative in creating constant variation, expanding on

successful product items and continuing in-season development. This is drilled into every employee as it represents the values, goals, and objectives that the organisation stands for. Having clearly outlined objectives acts as a guideline towards achieving targets. Although top management has set us general targets, every store manager is responsible for a business unit and so has his own targets to meet. These goals and objectives thus guide any technological innovation requirements to be proposed to top management".

Similarly, DR-4 explained the importance of top management support and involvement. He stated that "Different types of technology are continuously being adopted in different departments of the Trust. Essentially, wherever the Trust identifies the need to improve quality and safety of patients' care through technological innovation, the top management are involved straightaway. Any requirements in terms of finance, training, structural changes and so on are evaluated and a decision is made".

Other factors such as innovation and teamwork were highlighted to have played a role in the decision to adopt RFID. OE-2 stated "As we are very action-oriented, adoption of technological innovation is often a necessity in order to get things done. Our culture supports innovation and encourages improved working conditions and results through teamwork."

Summarily, it was observed from the interview responses that implementing RFID technology is perpetual and it affects functions and decision-making at multiple levels of the organisation. Notwithstanding, the culture and the type of leadership exercised had an impact on the organisations' decisions to adopt RFID, how they responded and changed, and how they developed their technology implementation strategies.

6.6.2.2 Business size

6.6.2.2.1 Impact of business size on decision to adopt RFID

The different factors of business size and their impact on the decisions to adopt RFID were discussed during the interviews. The main factors of business size discussed were "annual turnover", "number of employees", "IT infrastructure" and "Range of products/services". The respondents were initially asked about the size of their organisations and what effect that may have had on organisational decision to adopt RFID. Accordingly, DR-4 stated that "Our size has definitely played a role in our adoption decision. For example, we knew we had to go for phased implementation of the new system. It didn't make economic sense for us to go for

a complete roll-out at that moment. This was because we had quite a number of departments that would need to be linked up to use the new system." Similarly, OE-1 added that "Our highest number of employees are in the warehousing unit. Most times we hire part-time workers to help with inventory management and so on. With the automation of the inventory management system, we knew we couldn't train each and every one of them. So a number of dedicated permanent staff were trained to use the new system and other staff were redeployed elsewhere. So yes, we had to consider the number of employees we had before making a decision to adopt RFID".

The interview responses generally indicated that availability of funds, IT infrastructure, and number of employees were the key attributes of business size that play a role in organisational decision to adopt. In that regard, OM-2 noted that "Without investing sufficient financial resources, you stand the risk of not making the most out of the RFID system. So although we are not the biggest company around, I would imagine that we dedicated sufficient financial and technical resources to the project, and that's why it's worked." OE-4 also stated that "The technical demands for implementing our type of RFID system are quite high actually. Before the adoption, the consultants conducted an in-house assessment of our infrastructure and capabilities. I was part of the technical team that was assessed. We had a good IT infrastructure in place, and we had a good technical and data mining team. These helped top management in deciding to go for the RFID system".

The range of products and services that will be using RFID also influence the decision to adopt RFID. This became apparent when OE-3 stated that *"Yes, we considered our product range before making a decision on whether to go for the technology or not. As we have a wide range of clothing in the shop we needed to decide what to tag. At the moment, we tag mainly high value goods".*

6.6.2.3 Business process Reengineering (BPR)

6.6.2.3.1 Impact of BPR on decision to adopt RFID

The BPR factors investigated were "data standardization and integration", "restructuring and streamlining of business processes", "Decentralization of consolidated resources and processes", "provision of decision support tools", and "synchronization of IT and business processes". Responses from the interview indicate that organisations acknowledge the

importance of strategically aligning business processes and IT in order to efficiently use IT assets to assist business management and practices. In that regard, SCM-1 stated that "When the RFID system was proposed, decisions were taken to decentralize certain resources including decision making. This is largely because we wanted to start RFID as a pilot project in the warehouse, and we believed the operations manager should have greater control of the system without the need to be subject to hierarchical or bureaucratic interference. So before our adoption of the system, top management had to evaluate the management structure and reposition some key processes. For example, warehouse and transportation operations were initially under the same department. Since the planned introduction of RFID for inventory management, the warehousing operations have been given greater autonomy."

The respondents also indicated that their organisations were generally aware of BPR requirements that accompany the adoption of RFID, but that were mostly concerned about indirect effects of BPR, particularly workforce changes. OE-2 stated that "*Top management had to deliberate about automating some business processes and practices. On the one hand, they'd reduce costs, on the other, they'd reduce manpower required. This would mean that staff would have to be reassigned elsewhere or allocated roles appropriate for their expertise. At the end of the day, we all had to put our thinking hats on and design the best implementation strategy. This included, as you mentioned earlier, removal of some tasks and processes".*

In general, the responses indicated that organisations are very much aware of BPR requirements as a result of project scoping and assessment carried out either in-house or by RFID vendors or consultants. Decentralization of consolidated resources is observed to be a common process in BPR before RFID is adopted. This is usually because a pilot or phased implementation of the system is launched. The decision to go for full implementation/roll-out is usually made after assessing benefits derived from the pilot projects. Similarly, the ways and techniques to achieve synchronization of existing IT resources with the new system and the restructuring of business processes were found to be considered before RFID adoption decisions are made.

<u>6.6.2.4 Key findings and conclusions</u> <u>Impact of strength of culture on decision to adopt RFID</u> The survey findings from Chapter 5 indicate that a strong culture has a positive significant relationship with organisational decision to adopt RFID. Building on that, the case study results underline the key dimensions of strong culture that influence RFID adoption decisions. In addition, the case study results highlight the fashion in which these dimensions operate in either driving or constraining the adoption of RFID. The following key findings have been made:

- The dominant dimensions of a strong organisational culture such as management involvement and cooperation, clear definition of goals and objectives, and innovation have a significant impact on the generation of new and innovative ideas and practices that lead to the adoption of RFID.
- 2. Strong culture is found to be critical in enabling organisations to develop the capacity to absorb RFID into the organisational operations and management processes.
- 3. Strong culture influences the extent to which RFID solutions are encouraged, supported, and implemented by empowering management to innovate ways of representing problems and finding solutions. This has been the case in at least two of the case study organisations investigated where the implementation of RFID was largely problem-driven. The culture in those organisations empowered and supported the different processes of RFID systems development from conducting initial feasibility studies to the eventual deployment of the system.
- 4. Strong culture attributes such as effective decision making, flexibility, and teamwork promoted the adoption of RFID by enabling employees to bond, coordinate, and cooperate in effectively contributing towards innovation.
- 5. Finally, strong cultures that ensure the provision of support mechanisms have a positive influence on the decision to adopt RFID. The provision of decision support tools and training an attribute of strong cultures- promotes the adoption of RFID by creating an enabling atmosphere and environment for such technological innovation.

The implications of the findings of points 1 to 5 are that the results capture the dynamic linkages between strength of culture and RFID adoption, including patterns across different organisations and industrial contexts. Summarily, the case study results reveal that organisations that adopt RFID have imparted innovation into their aims, objectives, and vision.

They have also prescribed a set of strategic goals and objectives that reflect the priorities and values of the organisation thus promoting the adoption of RFID and general organisational innovation.

Impact of business size on decision to adopt RFID

Business size has long been considered a critical determinant of organisational decision to adopt technological innovation. The survey findings from Chapter 5 indicate that business size has a positive significant relationship with organisational decision to adopt RFID. Building on that, findings from the case studies provide valuable insights into the impact of organisations' resources; workforce size and availability; and IT/IS infrastructure on RFID adoption. Key findings from the case studies are:

- Business size is considered a key determinant of RFID adoption in terms of its structure and processes. It was observed that decentralization of managerial decision-making authority, the availability of financial and technical resources, complex and diverse facilities, provision of decision support tools, and the availability of skilled workforce profoundly influence the processes in which organisations adopt RFID.
- 2. RFID adoption was prevalent in organisations of different sizes. The characteristics of different organisational sizes play a role in the adoption of RFID. Larger organisations are driven towards adopted by primarily by superior financial and technical resources and adequate IT/IS infrastructure. However, smaller organisations also adopt RFID and are primarily driven by their greater flexibility/adaptability i.e. the less complex nature (in terms of management structure, hierarchy and processes) of smaller organisations means it becomes easier to coordinate and collaborate when developing RFID systems.
- 3. The availability of funds, IT infrastructure, and number of employees were the key attributes of organisational size that were found to play a role in the decision to adopt. These were found to be determinants that influence how deeply committed organisations are towards strategic planning of the RFID projects, developing pilots, and the eventual RFID project implementation.

In summary, business size has been shown to be a determinant of RFID adoption decisions. These findings validate the survey findings in chapter 5 by explicitly stating how individual attributes or organisational size influence the adoption of RFID. For example, the case studies reveal that greater financial resources of larger organisations do not only help them in overcoming high capital and recurrent costs of RFID systems but also enable them to take greater risks associated with RFID adoption. This view is supported by findings of Thong (1999); Kuan and Chau (2001); Zhu et al., (2003); and Gibbs and Kraemer (2005). However, in comparison, smaller organisations also benefit from attributes such as flexibility and adaptability, which drive them towards the decision to adopt RFID.

Impact of Business Process Reengineering (BPR) on decision to adopt RFID

Implementing RFID often necessitates business process change. The survey findings from Chapter 5 indicate that BPR has a positive significant relationship with organisational decision to adopt RFID. Building on that, the findings from the case studies provide clearer insights into the interaction of BPR attributes with the decision to adopt RFID. In that regard, the following key findings were made.

- 1. Organisations' strategic alignment of business processes and IT resources is paramount in order to efficiently deploy and use RFID systems.
- Organisations may not necessarily have to change their management structure but may have to change some processes in order to functionally integrate incoming RFID systems with already existing systems.
- 3. As found in the survey results in chapter 5, the case studies confirm that BPR attributes such as "data standardization and integration", "restructuring and streamlining of business processes", "decentralization of consolidated resources and processes", "provision of decision support tools", and "synchronization of IT and business processes" are critical determinants of the decision to adopt RFID. They give the implementation team and/or management a clearer picture of how proposed RFID systems will integrate with existing processes to create new ones and how those processes will be managed effectively. It also gives management an idea of the technical and manpower resources and support tools required to implement the proposed RFID system, thus enabling top management to make informed decisions about the adoption.

In summary, the responses from the case studies indicated that organisations are very much aware of BPR requirements as a result of project scoping and assessment carried out either in-house or by RFID vendors or consultants. Decentralization of consolidated resources is observed to be a common process in BPR before RFID is adopted. This is usually because a pilot or phased implementation of the system is launched. The decision to go for full implementation/roll-out is usually made after assessing benefits derived from the pilot projects. Similarly, the ways and techniques to achieve synchronization of existing IT resources with the new system and the restructuring of business processes were found to be considered before RFID adoption decisions are made.

<u>6.6.3 Research question 3: Impact of strength of culture, size, and</u> <u>BPR on RFID implementation processes</u>

This research question investigates the impact of strength of culture, business size, and BPR on RFID implementation processes with the eventual aim of providing guidelines for practitioners for the implementation of RFID projects. The question investigates how strong culture factors such as goals and objectives, top management initiative; business size factors such as number of employees, annual turnover, IT/IS infrastructure; and BPR factors such as decentralization of consolidated resources, provision of decision-support tools influence the adoption of RFID. The RFID implementation processes investigated were "project scoping", "analysis of existing systems", "design of RFID system", "prototype testing", "implementation of RFID system" and "continuous improvement".

6.6.3.1 Impact of strength of culture on RFID implementation processes

The survey results from section 5.7.2 indicated that strong culture has a statistically significant relationship with RFID implementation processes. Scoping of RFID projects involves defining the objectives of the proposed system and understanding its potential benefits and limitations. When asked how organisational culture impacted the scoping of RFID projects, the respondents generally indicated that a culture with good organisation and clearly defined goals and objectives gives a clear direction as to where the proposed system is going, how it is expected to be beneficial, how the deployment will occur, and what level of participation is required from employees. In that regard, ITS-1 stated *"Getting the implementation strategies right is very important. For example, we knew the best way to achieve the most benefits was to divide the project into different phases and to continuously improve the system based on the benefits achieves. Therefore, I would say our culture of teamwork and effective decision-making helped develop well-defined boundaries for the implementation of the scoping and eventual implementation of the RFID project."*

Often RFID projects come in to supplement or overhaul already existing systems. This calls for the analysis of the existing system and often includes collecting data about the strengths and limitations of the existing system. Respondents indicated that, where existing systems were in place, data about them is usually documented in company reports either annually or monthly. SCM-3 highlighted that process mapping of their existing team was carried out in phases before their implementation of RFID. In his words, "We had a barcode system in place that we wanted to continue running alongside the RFID system. Top management had taken the decision that the RFID solution would be implemented in phases, thereby the existing barcode system process and information flows were mapped to help prioritize what stage of the process to start implementing RFID in". The respondents also highlighted teamwork, effective-decision making and support from top management to be key corporate culture attributes that impact the analysis of existing systems. OE-4 stated "That decision (analysis of existing systems) was taken by top management, and it was done by the same IT consulting firm offering us the RFID solution. This was done so as to be able to tailor to our specific demands about the proposed system. I believe it was a vital step to ensure that the system meets expectations." Similarly, OE-3 remarked that "It involved a lot of data collection as our existing system was quite vast. Employees were split into groups and were assigned objectives. A lot of teamwork and effort was put into that process. I remember being part of the interviewing team and we had to work overtime for some days."

The next phase of RFID implementation discussed was the design of the RFID system. This stage involves very vital processes such as requirement analysis, software and hardware selection, and development of new processes. From the interview responses, it became clear that this stage was mainly handled by consultants rather than in-house. The respondents could not specifically pinpoint how their culture may have influenced the design of the RFID system. OE-2 remarked that "The consultants had that job to do. Quite frankly we had no idea what they were doing. We were involved in the requirement analysis phase, where we reviewed potential business process that needed to be modified. Otherwise, the consultants dealt with everything else really." Nevertheless, OE-1 added that "After the software and hardware were selected, they were tested to understand the characteristic of each element. A number of our employees were brought in to decide which options were more suited for our current environment." In general, it was observed that top management initiative and involvement is very vital at this stage of RFID implementation. The respondents indicated that decisions had to be taken by top management to approve the design of the integrated RFID system and its associated item functions. At this phase of RFID implementation, the participation of top management and effective-decision making appear to be the key cultural

attributes that give a clear picture of the operations and reliability of the proposed RFID system.

The next phase of RFID implementation is the prototype testing phase. It involves testing the designed RFID system to assess its fit for purpose and readiness for deployment. With regards to this phase, OE-3 stated that *"Essentially all the technical staff of the organisation were rallied for this phase. They were involved in supporting the testing and in debugging. Operations staff were also involved to assess the flexibility and capability of the system. There were orders from top management to make sure all concerns or comments are reported accordingly."* Generally, respondents agreed that this phase required and involved a lot of top management initiative, teamwork, and effective decision-making.

After successful prototype testing, the integrated RFID system is implemented. This stage involves the installation of all software and hardware packages and the commission of the system. It also involves a lot of capacity development, change management, and training. When asked how organisational culture affects this stage of the RFID implementation process, OM-3 stated "As we decided to run the RFID system alongside our existing barcode system, employees needed training on how to run the two systems concurrently and how to phase out of the old system when/if the performance of the new system is assured." It was indicative from the responses that cultures that encourage capacity development/employee empowerment make the most success of this stage. "Rather than allowing employees to learn on the job, the consultants were retained for a couple of weeks after implementation, where they conducted training programmes for all employees" remarked OE-4. The tasks in this phase affect the success of the overall RFID system and hence the eventual benefits derived thereof.

The final phase of the RFID implementation process is continuous improvement. This phase involves monitoring the system to identify limitations and areas requiring improvement. The respondents identified organisational focus on competitors and on customer satisfaction to be key attributes of culture that influence the desire for continuous improvement. OM-3 stated *"Competitive pressure played its role in getting us to adopt RFID. Therefore we always keep an eye on our competition and look for ways to improve our system to help us cut costs, increase efficiency and so on"*. In addition, top management involvement is necessary to ensure feedback is collected from the different stakeholders of the RFID system in order to

200

analyze and spot potential problems and issues in the newly deployed system. Accordingly, OE-2 "We are encouraged to continue to independently evaluate the performance of the system including individual processes. Any issues or concerns were reported to the supervisor or manager in charge of operations".

6.6.3.2 Business size

6.6.3.2.1 Impact of business size on RFID implementation processes

The survey results from section 5.7.3 indicated that business size has a statistically significant relationship with RFID implementation processes. Scoping of RFID projects involves defining the objectives of the proposed system and understanding its potential benefits and limitations. When asked how business size impacted the scoping of RFID projects, SCM-3 stated "When you begin to consider implementing any new technology, you must have in mind the scale to which you picture it working. Is it just in a department? Is it throughout the organisation? Is it a pilot project or a full roll out? Those are issues you'd be deliberating. Most, if not all of these issues are determined by the size of the organisation. For us, we were thinking of implementing the system in one shop, but we needed it to integrate with our international delivery system, which is based in Spain. Therefore, defining the scope of the project considered our size, our resources, and our expectations. For example, if we were a bigger outlet, we'd certainly have had different objectives in terms of what the inventory system would entail". This indicates that the project scoping phase of RFID implementation is influenced by the range of products and/or the number of offices, retail outlets, warehouses etc. that are looking to be RFID-enabled.

With regards to the other phases of RFID implementation. The responses indicated that availability of resources and skilled manpower is very critical to implementation success. Availability of financial resources was particularly highlighted. OE-2 noted that *"Yes I believe having the necessary financial resources is key. Money is required at multiple stages, from the analysis of the existing system to testing the RFID system. In our case all financial obligations were met to ensure the success of the project. I wouldn't be able to say whether that is directly attributed to our annual turnover or not. Nevertheless, I believe top management budgeted quite generously for the RFID project". He also stressed the importance of having skilled manpower that possess the necessary technical skills to be at the helm of the implementation*

process. He remarked that "The consultants solicited the participation and expertise of our inhouse IT team and worked with them throughout the process of implementing the new system. So having the skilled manpower available helped in business process mapping, scoping of the project, prototype testing, and eventual installation".

6.6.3.3 BPR

6.6.3.3.1 Impact of BPR on RFID implementation processes

In the survey results in section 5.7.3, BPR had a statistically significant relationship with RFID implementation processes. From the interviews conducted, responses indicated that BPR mainly influences RFID system design, RFID implementation, and continuous improvement. With regards to analysing existing systems, BPR is observed to set the stage and give a clear outline of existing business processes including mapping out disconnects, non-value added processes, and areas requiring improvement. In that regard, DR-4 stated that *"When the RFID solution was proposed, we saw it as an enabler for the organisation to improve processes, cut costs, and so on. But due to the technical requirements of developing such a system, some process structures had to change. We had to upgrade our IT infrastructure to support the proposed system including the establishment of a databank, which is now essentially a storage database of generated RFID data. The IT infrastructure and BPR are interdependent in the sense that deciding the information requirements for the new business processes determines the IT infrastructure to be used for the RFID system".*

The responses indicated that effective overall system architecture, flexible IT infrastructure and proper installation of IT components all contribute to building an effective IT infrastructure for business processes. In addition, recognition of IT capabilities provides alternatives for BPR. Building a responsive IT infrastructure is highly dependent on an appropriate determination of business process information needs. This, in turn, is determined by the types of activities within a business process, and the sequencing and reliance on other on other organisational processes.

Some respondents also highlighted that business process mapping that occurred during BPR helped to give the project decision-makers a clearer picture of the IT infrastructure required to support the RFID system, and how software and hardware items function in an integrated system. In that regard, SM-3 remarked that *"We had to look at the processes to design the*

best way in which the readers will be connected to the network and the software architecture, including the RFID middleware and the application software. This provided data for measuring the reliability of the proposed system".

6.6.3.4 Key findings and conclusions

Impact of strength of culture on RFID implementation processes

Building on the survey results from chapter 5, the findings from the case studies provide insights into how the different processes of RFID implementation interact with strong culture attributes. The key findings made in that regard are listed as follows.

- 1. Project scoping An organisation with a strong culture ensures that its aims, objectives, and vision are clearly defined, stated, and communicated to all concerned stakeholders. This is paramount in ensuring the success of RFID implementation processes at project scoping stage. Clearly defined goals and objectives give the implementation team a clear direction as to where the proposed system is going, how it is expected to be beneficial, how the deployment will occur, and what level of participation is required from concerned stakeholders.
- 2. Analysis of existing systems It was found that teamwork, effective-decision making, and support from top management to be key attributes of a strong culture that impact the analysis of existing systems. This was particular in cases where RFID projects come in to supplement or overhaul already existing systems. Also, strong culture was found to have an influence on processes such as collecting and documenting data about the strengths and limitations of the existing system.
- 3. Design of RFID system In general, it was observed that top management initiative and involvement is very vital at this stage of RFID implementation. The respondents indicated that decisions had to be taken by top management to approve the design of the integrated RFID system and its associated item functions. At this phase of RFID implementation, the participation of top management and effective-decision making appear to be the key attributes that give a clear picture of the operations and reliability of the proposed RFID system.
- 4. Prototype testing It was found that key attributes of strong culture such as effective decision-making and top management initiative influence this stage of RFID

implementation by enabling the efficient testing of the designed RFID system in order to assess its fit for purpose and readiness for deployment.

- 5. Implementation It was indicative from the case studies that strong cultures encourage organisations to focus on capacity development/employee empowerment thereby enabling the efficient installation of appropriate software and hardware packages and the commissioning of the system. It also means that change management and training associated with the installation of the new RFID system is accorded priority.
- 6. Continuous improvement The case study responses identified organisational focus on competitors and on customer satisfaction to be key attributes of strong culture that influence the desire for continuous improvement. Strong culture supports the monitoring of the system to identify limitations and areas requiring improvement. In addition, top management involvement was found to be necessary in ensuring feedback is collected from the different stakeholders of the RFID system in order to analyze and spot potential problems and issues in the newly deployed system.

In summary, strong culture provides a clear direction and visibility of the various RFID implementation processes thereby enabling the project implementation team to design the system to meet the demands of the organisation, integrate and supplement existing systems, and to understand the functionality of the system.

Impact of business size on RFID implementation processes

Findings from the survey results in chapter 5 indicate that business size has a positive significant relationship with RFID implementation processes. Building on that, responses from the case studies provide insights into the interaction of specific business size attributes with the different processes of RFID implementation. The key findings made in that regard are listed as follows.

1. The availability of financial and technical resources is very critical to implementation success. Availability of financial and technical resources was particularly highlighted to have an effect across the various phases of RFID systems deployment from the analysis of the existing system through to the testing the RFID system, and the eventual installation. It determines the scope of the RFID project, the selection of hardware and software, and the execution of key processes such as prototype testing.

- 2. It is critical to have skilled manpower with the necessary technical skills to be at the helm of the implementation process. In the case of 3 of the studied organisations, the participation and expertise of both in-house IT teams and external consultants were solicited throughout the process of implementing the new systems. This was done in order to ensure that key processes such as business process mapping, scoping of the project, prototype testing, and eventual installation of the system were conducted in a hitch-free manner.
- 3. RFID implementation processes like the project scoping, system design, prototype testing, implementation, and continuous improvement are influenced by the range of products and/or the number of offices, retail outlets, warehouses etc. that are going to be RFID-enabled. For instance, the scoping of RFID projects involves defining the objectives of the proposed system and understanding its potential benefits and limitations. This indicates that the extent to which RFID is developed will thus be determined by the range of products and/or the number of offices, retail outlets, warehouses, etc. looking to be RFID-enabled.

In summary, different attributes of business size were found to impact different processes of RFID implementation. Larger organisations benefit from having greater financial and technical resources and are likely to have greater influence in determining the scope of the RFID project, have access to a greater selection of hardware and software, and strongly influence the execution of key processes such as prototype testing and continuous improvement. Nevertheless, smaller organisations also benefit from attributes such as flexibility and adaptability, which enable easier integration of the RFID system.

Impact of BPR on RFID implementation processes

Building on the survey results from chapter 5, responses from the case studies provide detailed insights into the interaction of BPR attributes with the different processes of RFID implementation. The key findings made in that regard are listed as follows.

 BPR mainly influences RFID system design, RFID implementation, and continuous improvement. BPR is observed to set the stage and give a clear outline of existing business processes including mapping out disconnects, non-value added processes, and areas requiring improvement. In that regard, BPR is perceived as an enabler for the organisation to improve processes, cut costs, and so on.

- BPR attributes such as effective overall system architecture, flexible IT infrastructure and proper installation of IT components all contribute to building an effective IT infrastructure for business processes which leverage the RFID systems.
- 3. Through business process mapping, BPR gives the project decision-makers a clearer picture of the IT infrastructure required to support the RFID system, and how software and hardware items function in an integrated system. For instance, in CSO-2, the implementation team were able to have an idea on how readers will be connected to the network and the software architecture, including the RFID middleware and the application software. This provided them with data for measuring the reliability of the proposed system.

In summary, the success of RFID implementation processes is highly dependent on an appropriate determination of business process information needs. BPR enables organisations to determine the types of activities within a business process, and the sequencing and reliance on other on other organisational processes. This helps in structuring how the RFID system hardware and software function as part of an integrated system.

<u>6.6.4 Research question 4: Impact of strength of culture, business</u> <u>size, and BPR on benefits derived from RFID</u>

This research question investigates the impact of strong culture, size, and BPR on benefits derived from RFID implementation. The question investigates how strong culture factors such as team orientation and capability development, top management commitment and support; business size factors such as number of skilled employees, annual turnover, IT/IS infrastructure; and BPR factors such as decentralization of consolidated resources, provision of decision-support tools influence the derivable benefits of RFID. The RFID benefits investigated were categorized according to the Balanced Scorecard (BSC) approach, into (i) financial, (ii) internal processes, (iii) corporate, and (iv) learning and growth.

6.6.4.1 Impact of strength of culture on RFID benefits

The survey results from section 5.8.2 indicated that organisational culture influences benefits derived from RFID across the four categories of the BSC. In the interviews conducted, respondents were asked of the influence of their culture on benefits derived. SCM-1 stated that "*It took us a while to realize and sustain benefits from the new system. This was because we needed to acclimatize and get proper hands-on experience with the system. It took some employees a while to wrap their heads round it but they all did so eventually. There was a lot of training and support available to ensure employees were guided." Similarly, OE-3 stressed the importance of training and capacity development and the provision of decision support tools as key culture attributes that help realize and sustain benefits. For example, we rey particular also, about providing all necessary <i>IT support tools for employees. This way, the efficiency and learning increased over time, and so did the benefits. For example, we learnt that placing tags on or close to metals led to poor read rates for some warehouse inventory. This enabled us to move the tagging to pallets rather than items. This provided us with much better visibility and accountability for inventory".*

In general, it was observed that developing a clear RFID strategy, creating a strong internal and external motivation for improvement, organisational knowledge accumulation, and provision of training and decision support tools were the key attributes of organisational culture that influence benefits derived from RFID implementation. DR-4 indicated that *"The*
strategy we developed from the beginning helped us to manage our expectations and to plan how best to operate the new system. We also documented our experiences while using the system. Benefits, shortfalls, all the lot. We now have a comprehensive database that we've accumulated over the past 4 years that we access regularly for continuous improvement". Similarly, OE-2 stated that "We always want to improve. We realized many benefits in terms of cost savings, better visibility, reduction in inventory, better staff motivation and much more but we still want to improve. This is the culture in this organisation really. No sleep, no slumber. If we feel can improve, we will try our best to do so".

In general, the respondents indicated that benefits from across the four categories of the BSC were influenced by organisational culture.

6.6.4.2 Impact of business size on RFID benefits

From the survey results in section 5.8.3, there was a significant relationship between business size and benefits derived. The size of a business affects the availability of financial and technical resources and of skilled workforce. From the interview responses, it was observed that for RFID benefits to be realized and sustained, continuous support for users of the RFID system, regular maintenance of the RFID system, and system improvement procedures need to be provided. Therefore, top management involvement in ensuring that sufficient financial and technical resources are available for training and support, for system upgrades, maintenance, and data processing is key realizing and sustaining benefits. In that regard, OM-4 noted that *"The Trust employs around 11,000 people, with thousands working in a range of departments and playing a variety of roles. Aside from the four main hospitals in Birmingham, Solihull, and Sutton, we also run smaller satellite units. Although still part of the Trust, the smaller units do not have the technical capacity, nor the space really, to host RFID hardware and middleware systems. So even within the same organisation, you can see that size can be a factor in how smoothly you run the system, and hence how much benefits accrue."*

Some respondents also indicated that their organisations' IT infrastructure provided a platform for better integration internally and with supply chains. This allows for the implementation of data mining techniques. In that regard, SCM-1 stated "With the amount of cargo coming in, a lot of data is generated and the important bits need to be sieved out and

used to continuously improve our processes. We have a great IT team that works on that and the necessary infrastructure in place to support data processing".

6.6.4.3 Impact of BPR on RFID benefits

Accordingly, it was observed from the responses that the continuous review of processes and procedures, provision of decision support tools, synchronization of IT resources and business, and data integration and management were key BPR attributes that influence RFID benefits. In that regard, DR-4 noted *"After the process mapping, we had to move things around, redesign some business processes, and decentralize some resources and so on. However, the key to us achieving and sustaining benefits is by granting greater employee control and involvement. Decision-making was decentralized allowing division leaders/managers to take full charge of the systems. This meant that those that come in contact with the system or supervise its usage, get to make decisions".*

The respondents generally indicated that BPR processes enabled their organisations to structurally and dynamically align their business processes with their IT resources. This enabled them to derive benefits by removing non-value added tasks, therefore making processes leaner. With specific regards to which benefits were influenced, OE-3 stated that "We made savings by preventing inventory loss and misplacement, increase in transportation efficiency and so on. This was made possible by making sure our business processes were in tune with our IT resources".

6.6.4.4 Key findings and conclusions

Impact of strength of culture on RFID benefits

The survey results in Chapter 5 indicate that strong culture positively impacts benefits derivable from RFID deployment. Building on that, responses from the case studies provide insights into how the attributes of strong culture interact with RFID benefits. The key findings made in that regard are listed as follows.

 It was observed that developing a clear RFID strategy, creating a strong internal and external motivation for improvement, organisational knowledge accumulation, and provision of training and decision support tools were the key attributes of organisational culture that influence benefits derived from RFID implementation. They were found to help the organisation manage expectations and to plan how best to operate the new system. This has knock-on effects on the success of the implemented system and thus influences the benefits derivable.

- 2. Training and capacity development and the provision of decision support tools were also found to assist organisations in realizing and sustaining benefits derived from the RFID system. Training is critical in ensuring that the system is operated as required and that key issues such as interference and operability are fully understood by staff operating the system or handling equipment such as readers. This has an effect on the performance of the system and hence the benefits derivable.
- 3. Provision of necessary IT support tools for employees. Respondents indicated that this ensured that employee efficiency and learning increased over time. For example, CSO-3 learnt that placing tags on or close to metals led to poor read rates for some warehouse inventory. This enabled them to move the tagging to pallets rather than items, consequently achieving better visibility and accountability for inventory.

In summary, strong cultures provide a direction for the implementation of RFID systems in terms of encouraging capacity development and the provision of tools to support employees in operating the new RFID system.

Impact of business size on RFID benefits

The survey results in Chapter 5 indicate that business size positively impacts benefits derivable from RFID deployment. Building on that, responses from the case studies provide insights into the interaction of business size attributes with RFID benefits. The key findings made in that regard are listed as follows.

1. The size of a business affects the availability of financial and technical resources and of skilled workforce. From the interview responses, it was observed that for RFID benefits to be realized and sustained, continuous support for users of the RFID system, regular maintenance of the RFID system, and system improvement procedures need to be provided. Therefore, top management involvement in ensuring that sufficient financial and technical resources are available for training and support, for system upgrades, maintenance, and data processing is key realizing and sustaining benefits. For example, CSO-4, a Hospital Trust, employs around 11,000 people, with thousands working in a range of departments and playing a variety of roles. Aside from the four main hospitals in Birmingham, Solihull, and Sutton, they also run smaller satellite

units. Although still part of the Trust, the smaller units do not have the technical capacity, nor the space really, to host RFID hardware and middleware systems. So even within the same organisation, size can be a factor in how smoothly the RFID system is run, and hence how much benefits accrue.

2. Some respondents also indicated that their organisations' IT infrastructure provided a platform for better integration internally and with supply chains. This allows for the implementation of data mining techniques. For instance, in CSO-1, a lot of data is generated from the RFID system and thus the most important details need to be sieved out and used to continuously improve the system processes. Thus, the organisation equipped its IT team with the necessary infrastructure in place to support data processing.

In summary, business size plays a role in determining both financial and technical resources that are dedicated to an RFID project. This affects the daily operational activities of the system, the tools provided for supporting employees, and the benefits derivable.

BPR impact on RFID benefits

The survey results in Chapter 5 indicate that BPR positively impacts benefits derivable from RFID deployment. Building on that, responses from the case studies provide insights into the interaction of the attributes of BPR with RFID benefits. The key findings made in that regard are listed as follows.

- BPR processes enabled their organisations to structurally and dynamically align their business processes with their IT resources. This enabled them to derive benefits by removing non-value added tasks, therefore making processes leaner. For instance, OE-3 stated that "We made savings by preventing inventory loss and misplacement, increase in transportation efficiency and so on. This was made possible by making sure our business processes were in tune with our IT resources".
- 2. The key to achieving and sustaining benefits is by granting greater employee control and involvement. In organisations where decision-making was decentralized, it allowed division leaders/managers to take full charge of the systems. This meant that those that come in contact with the system or supervise its usage get to make decisions.

3. The continuous review of processes and procedures, provision of decision support tools, synchronization of IT resources and business, and data integration and management were key BPR attributes that influence RFID benefits. For instance, after the process mapping, CSO-4 redesigned some of its business processes and decentralized some resources in order to maximize benefits.

In summary, BPR is necessitated by RFID systems implementation. BPR enables synchronization of business processes and the RFID systems functional units, ensuring that the system operations are aligned with the strategic decision-making of the organisation. This helps support decision-making capabilities such as resource decentralization, and data management and integration. Through these processes, the level of benefits derivable from RFID systems can be determined.

6.6.5 Research question 5: Impact of RFID-related factors on

benefits derived from RFID

This research question investigated the impact of RFID—related factors on benefits derived from RFID implementation. The RFID-related factors investigated were PULT, RFID implementation stage, and organisational pedigree in RFID. The RFID benefits investigated were categorized according to the Balanced Scorecard (BSC) approach, into (i) financial, (ii) internal processes, (iii) corporate, and (iv) learning and growth.

6.6.5.1 Key findings and conclusions

RFID implementation stage

The three stages of RFID implementation investigated were Full implementation, Partial Implementation, and Pilot implementation. The survey results obtained in Chapter 5 indicate that RFID implementation stage has an impact on benefits derived from RFID. Building on that, the case studies reveal the following key findings:

- Benefits accrue the most when RFID is fully implemented, as opposed to pilot or partial implementation. This is because full implementation enables the different departments within an organisation and/or partners along the supply chain to have access to RFID-enabled data capture and sharing and benefit from any process optimization.
- 2. Full implementation provides greater synergy and integration between business processes in the organisation. For instance, DR-4 stated "I cannot tell with our system at the moment as we are still in the pilot phase. But if anything, we can be able to judge from the RFID Discovery system implemented in the Medical Engineering department. They initially started with a small section of the department and later decided to go for full implementation because they wanted to achieve greater synergy and integration between all the processes in the department. For example, it was the electronics and mechanical section of the department that implemented the pilot. Although they were getting benefits, what they came to realize was that they needed to maintain timely and effective communication with the renal support unit and the intensive care unit. However, it was just the electronics and mechanical unit that had access to accurate data and could locate resources so quickly. So within that unit, they

made asset tracking quicker and more effective but this wasn't transcending to the other units, when it did, it caused delays and confusion".

3. Full implementation provides greater insights from the data generated. For instance, OM-3 indicated that "You obviously get far more benefits from the technology when it is fully deployed than when it is partially deployed. Moreover, you are likely to gain additional, unexpected benefits as you use the fully deployed system. That's because you will discover insights from the data that you did not expect. You might also be able to tag a few more things and get benefits you originally did not plan on. For example, we tagged most of our products in order to improve inventory management. But then we were also benefitting from better product availability on the shop floor, we had an idea of what we had in store and helped us calculate how soon we can get it out and ready for customers. This ofcourse means we can plan better. So we have better operational efficiency. So that's how it goes. It's a bit like a chain. Knock-on effects from this to that".

However, some of the respondents also indicated that full implementation poses a challenge and requires not only expertise but also dedication to keep it profitable. In that regard, SCM-2 stated "Pilots and partial are good. They allow you to do things at your own pace. You can view and assess the performance of the system in different phases, at different points, or per module, and so on. But as you point out, you also only see the benefits in that light, in that context. For example, if deployed in just one phase in one department, you will have a general idea or to imagine or project what full implementation will be like but you may not necessarily be able to see and accurately assess the full benefits on the whole organisation. That's because full implementation presents its own challenges. Greater data generation so better filtering required, more integration and training of staff is required, likely to have more disruptions, and so on. All these are issues that need to be taken into account. But having said that, if you get those right, then you also gain a lot more benefits".

Lastly, from the survey results in section 5.9.2, it was observed that when RFID is deployed as a pilot project, the benefits reaped outweigh benefits derived when RFID is implemented partially. When asked about this, the respondents indicated that there were not many differences in benefits between pilot and partial deployments of RFID. This was mainly due to the fact that both systems usually work alongside already existing ones and are executed within limited boundaries. SCM-1 stated "We are still running a pilot project so I wouldn't be able to compare it with the others. But as it is, we are achieving our objectives of asset tracking and I'm sure we will further expand when the need arises. One of the main reasons for going for a pilot project is that it is less costly and less sophisticated. This allows us, as beginners, to learn the system and easily manage it. I don't believe it will be much different with a partial implementation. I imagine it will have the same effects. With a full rollout however, the ball game changes. Everything is on a bigger scale. There will be a lot more benefits but a lot of sophistication as well".

Product Unit Level of Tagging (PULT)

The four levels of PULT investigated were item-level, case-level, pallet-level, and containerlevel. The survey results in Chapter 5 indicate that PULT has a statistically significant relationship with benefits derived from RFID. Building on that, the case study results indicate that the lower the tagging level, the greater the benefits derived. The key findings are as follows:

- 1. The lower the tagging level, the greater the benefits. The reason tagging individual items delivers more value than cases, pallets or containers is that RFID is an automated and fast way to count and track things. The more things you count, track and manage, the more benefits you receive. But in some cases, tracking items is not necessary. For example, CSO-2 deals with cargo, and so it is more beneficial for them to track pallets or even containers because the cargo remains in the pallet or container before it's shipped or even when it's shipped. This concept can be observed even across other industries. For instance, a car manufacturer might consider it more beneficial to track parts bins than the actual parts because the parts remain within the bins until they are put in a car. The extra money tracking the individual part might not yield much of a benefit. On the other hand, a store where individual items are handled constantly, knowing exact location of a shirt in the store is more important than knowing where the box the shirt came in is.
- 2. The industrial and business context determines which PULT is the most effective in deriving maximum benefits. In industries like retail where numerous items are tagged and traced, the benefits of item-level tagging are emphasized. OE-3 buttressed this point by stating that "Certainly item-level is what works the best for us. Most of the goods in our store are tagged to allow us to see where they are at any given time.

Either in the warehouse or on the shop floor, we know how many shoes, watches, bags are available. As we get our orders delivered every 2 weeks, this is invaluable to us. It automatically feeds the system on what products need to be replenished. I agues it's possible to also do that with cases but mainly in instances where you sell in bulk. We do not do that here so I'm not in a position to speak about it". Similarly, DR-4 emphasis the benefits of item-level tagging "We need to track individual beds, hoists, and other equipment. Item-level is good in showing us where they are at any one time. At the moment, we have not deployed RFID beyond the item-level".

However, it was also observed that in instances where respondents tag at various levels, the benefits derived are not necessarily dependent on the level of tagging but on how the system is being operated. This means that strategies and business procedures affect benefits derived regardless of the PULT. SCM-1 stated that *"I cannot say categorically the impact of tagging levels on benefits. I mean we tag at item-level, pallet-level and container-level here and we derive benefits accordingly. Each level of tagging has its own role to play. For instance, we tag at individual levels when bringing cargo into the warehouse. This enables us to monitor individual items in the warehouse. We then tag at pallet levels when transporting the cargo between warehouses or to the dock or shipping yard. This allows us to monitor cargo in transit and so on. We also tag the containers to know the trucks conveying the cargo and for shipping monitoring. So each application has its benefits".*

Organisational pedigree in RFID

The four levels of organisational pedigree investigated were "fully conversant with aspects of RFID", "understand most of the concepts of RFID", "understand the principles of RFID", and "little knowledge of RFID but operate a working system". The survey results in Chapter 5 indicate that the greater knowledge in RFID, the greater the benefits derived. Building on that, the following key findings were derived from the case studies:

1. Training and capacity development towards ensuring the success of RFID systems was highlighted to be particularly important in determining the benefits derivable from RFID implementation. It was observed that deploying an RFID system usually requires process change. Training people and following up to ensure the new process is followed and RFID is being used correctly is therefore critical. However, it is not necessary for everyone in the company to become an RFID expert. Usually there is a team that deploys and supports the systems, handles training, answers questions, manages upgrades and so on. This is usually adequate.

2. Some respondents emphasized the importance of knowledge on running an RFID system. Knowledge accumulation and training was found to inform operations from which benefits are subsequently derived. These include processes such as the automatic scanning or tracing of products, data mining, etc. However, some respondents played down the impact of knowledge on benefits derived. They highlighted that only knowledge on the basic principles of RFID operation is required to reap benefits. This was particularly prevalent in organisations that use consultants to handle all complex aspects of the RFID system. In such a case, employees do not need to have complex knowledge on RFID and most learnt by demonstration.

In summary, respondents agree that knowledge in RFID systems and training is important in operating RFID systems and deriving benefits. However, they indicate that expertise is not necessarily required because (i) interfaces are friendly enough to enable employees with light to medium level training to use the system, and (ii) dedicated teams are in place to tackle any complex issues that may arise.

<u>CHAPTER 7 – SUMMARY AND</u> <u>IMPLICATIONS</u>

7.1 Introduction

This thesis investigated three phases of RFID systems deployment. In the pre-adoption phase, it investigated the role of technological, organisational and environmental factors on driving and constraining RFID adoption decisions, and on how those factors are moderated by the strength of an organisational culture, business process re-engineering and business size. Secondly, the study identified the key processes in RFID systems implementation and investigated their interaction with the strength of culture, business process re-engineering, and business size. Six key processes were investigated; project scoping, analysis of existing systems, system design, prototype testing, implementation, and continuous improvement. Lastly, the study investigated how benefits are derived from RFID implementation and how they are moderated by the strength of an organisational culture, business process re-engineering and business size, and by RFID-related factors (RFID implementation stage, organisational pedigree in RFID, and product unit level of tagging).

In doing so, this thesis provides detailed empirical accounts on the influence of different determinants on RFID adoption decisions and the processes involved in RFID systems deployment. The thesis also provides insights on how underlying organisational and technological factors such as culture strength, size, BPR affect RFID adoption decisions, implementation processes, and benefits derived from RFID deployment. It is expected that organisations seeking to adopt RFID, organisations that have already adopted RFID, and practitioners and academics can derive valuable insights from this study that will further stimulate RFID adoption and research.

The succeeding sections present the summary of the findings, the original contribution made by this study, the limitations of this study, and recommendations for further research.

7.2 Summary of findings

The findings are discussed according to the three phases of RFID system deployment i.e preadoption phase, implementation phase, and post-implementation phase.

7.2.1 Pre-adoption phase of RFID system deployment

In the pre-adoption phase, the study found that the decision to adopt RFID was influenced by technological, organisational and environmental factors. It was observed that these factors were significant in either driving or constraining organisations towards adoption of RFID. The key findings made are as follows:

1. Overall, technological, organisational and environmental factors were found to have significant relationships in either driving or constraining the adoption of RFID. In terms of drivers, technological factors like "perceived RFID benefits" and "availability of IT/IS infrastructure" were found to play the strongest role in driving organisations towards RFID adoption. This is reflective of the current state of RFID research where multiple studies and business cases have identified applications and benefits of RFID implementation in the supply chain, thus driving organisations towards adoption. The availability of IT infrastructure enables the integration of RFID components with existing legacy systems and provides the platform for organisations to satisfy business and management needs, and enable process changes. As RFID technology adoption requires a huge effort in terms of standardization, convergence of interface protocols, data structures, etc. drive organisations towards adoption.

Within the organisational context, "top management initiative" was found to play the strongest role in driving organisations towards RFID adoption. Due to the high costs of RFID systems, having adequate financial and technical resources encourages adoption. However, it's the support and encouragement of top management that is key, particularly because the resources and decision-making required for the adoption of new technologies are often the responsibility of top management. Therefore, if the management responsible for these resources support the plans, the likelihood of organisations adopting RFID increases.

It was found that environmental factors have a direct positive relationship with decision to adopt RFID. In order to keep up with their competitors, follow industry trends, or meet demands and mandates of business partners, organisations are driven towards adopting RFID. Their effort is often propelled by government support in terms of finance and favourable policy formulation.

2. In terms of constraints, in the technological context, "high capital and recurring costs", "technical issues", "security issues", "compliance issues" were found to have a negative direct relationship with "decision to adopt RFID". "Capital and recurring costs" were found to play the strongest role in constraining organisational decision to adopt RFID. Although, the cost of RFID projects largely depends on the sophistication of the RFID system; the product unit level of tagging i.e. whether RFID tagging occurs at item-level, case-level, pallet-level or container level; and scope of the project/deployment, it has been observed however, that RFID solutions have built a reputation of being grossly expensive, with the prices of tags, readers and middleware cited as constraints of adopting the technology. This is still a popular opinion despite the fact that today, less expensive, more portable and modular RFID components have been designed. For example, technology has been developed to detect tags in motion and those stationary, longer read ranges have emerged, and ability to read tags on metals and in liquids.

In the organisational context, "manpower shortages" and "degree of process change required" were found to have the strongest negative direct relationship with "decision to adopt RFID". Despite the fact that software systems related to RFID are becoming more turnkey, making the integration into existing legacy systems and the management of data generated from reading RFID tags easier, the requirements for business process change in order to integrate RFID with an organisation's existing processes remains the top organisational hindrance factor of RFID adoption. This view is still held likely due to low awareness of the progress made in terms of RFID middleware integration and standardization.

In the environmental context, "Lack of industry standards" and "privacy issues" were found to have a negative direct relationship with "decision to adopt RFID" and to be the most pertinent constraints of organisational adoption of RFID. Although a lot of progress has been made in terms of standardization in frequency bands between countries, a lot remains to be done in terms of hardware and software standardization. The RFID market is congested, with a massive amount of diverse players such as chip makers, transponder manufacturers, system integrators or consultancies, all of whom offer different, and generally proprietary, products and services. Available systems consist of different frequency ranges, transfer modes, etc. For a potential adopter, it is difficult to acknowledge the distinct benefits and disadvantages of these different RFID solutions.

In addition to the technological, organisational, and environmental factors discussed in the paragraphs above, the study also investigated the impact of the strength of organisational culture, business size and BPR had significant influence on decisions to adopt RFID. In that regard, the key findings are as follows:

Firstly, it was observed that strong cultures supportive of innovation have a greater likelihood of adopting RFID. Specifically, it was found that the goals and objectives of an organisation play a crucial role in shaping employees' collective and individual understanding of the targets and visions of the organisation – enabling employees to set personal goals and define agendas. This study has found that organisations with clearly outlined goals and objectives and those keen to stick to or enforce them, albeit in a flexible yet steadfast approach, set the precedent for the development of innovative ideas and innovative technologies. As adopting RFID is largely dependent on shared vision and mission, regarding its implementation as a crucial means towards achieving organisational targets helps drive organisations towards adopting the technology.

Other key dimensions of strong organisational culture that drive RFID adoption is the support and encouragement from top management and effective decision making. Top management support affects organisations' decision-making strategies and financial resource allocations.

Secondly, the thesis findings indicate that business size has a significant direct positive
relationship with organisational decision to adopt RFID. Overall, the results indicate
that the superior resources (financial and non-financial) of larger organisations makes
them more likely to adopt RFID than SMEs. Larger organisations have more financial
resources to not only face the burden of high capital costs of RFID systems but to also
hire specialized/skilled workforce. In addition, larger organisations tend to have more
capable and sophisticated IT infrastructure in place, thereby providing the necessary
technical platform for RFID systems integration.

Larger organisations also have a greater international reach, with their partners and supply chains likely to span across countries. This means that coordination of processes between all stakeholders becomes even more important, leading to their adoption of RFID. However, overall, restricted resources of SMEs is regarded as the major differentiator between RFID adoption in SMEs and large organisations.

 Thirdly, the thesis findings indicate that there is a significant direct positive correlation between BPR and RFID adoption. It was found that synchronization of business processes and IT resources, and the streamlining of business processes play a crucial role in the decision to adopt RFID. They offer organisations the opportunity to remove any non-value added activities from their processes and to enable greater integration and synergy between existing legacy systems and incoming RFID systems. In cases where resources and processes are consolidated, it was found that decentralizing business processes such as decision-making encourages the adoption of RFID.

7.2.2 Implementation phase of RFID system deployment

In the implementation phase, the thesis examined the impact of the strength of organisational culture, business size, and BPR on the implementation processes of RFID. Six RFID implementation processes were investigated. These are "project scoping", "analysis of existing systems", "design of RFID system", "prototype testing of RFID system", "implementation of RFID system", and "continuous improvement". The key findings are as follows:

1. Firstly, the findings indicate that strong culture has a significant direct positive relationship with RFID implementation processes. The results indicate that the strength of culture is important for organisations because it affects strategic expansion, efficiency, and learning at all levels of management. The first phase of RFID implementation is project scoping. Project scoping of RFID systems typically involves defining the objectives and understanding the potential benefits and limitations of the proposed system. Strong culture with clearly outlined goals and objectives will help give a clear direction to the RFID implementation team, in terms of developing strategies for deployment. This is important because it prevents organisations from creating unrealistic expectations of the proposed system.

The second phase of RFID implementation is the analysis of existing systems, in which data collection is a critical component. The strength of culture affects the techniques, strategies, and efficiency of data collection. The details of the processes of an existing system are often collected by various methods, such as conducting interviews with the key individuals and front-line staff who use the present system, collecting comments from stakeholders, and eliciting experts' opinions. In strong cultures, support from top management is readily available to support processes including collecting data to identify the limitations of existing systems. Thus, organisations with a strong culture support effective data collection and analyses, through the support of top management and adequate allocation of financial and technical resources, are more likely to implement RFID, and make a success of it.

The third phase of RFID implementation is the "design of RFID system". The system design stage includes requirement analysis, hardware and software selection, and the development of the new process. In strong cultures, support from top management and clear outlining of organisational goals and objectives assist the implementation team in performing requirement analysis. This is done so as to thoroughly understand the ways in which RFID technology can address the problems identified in the existing systems, identify and select the appropriate software and hardware for the proposed system, and map out and develop new business processes.

Before the actual implementation of the RFID system, it is very important to conduct a pilot test, so as to understand the system and establish its readiness for deployment. Prototype testing is the fourth phase of RFID implementation. It may be conducted in the laboratory or in the actual business environment. The key stages of prototype testing include debugging and system adaptation. Organisations with strong culture attributes such as top management initiative and effective decision making are more likely to make a success of the prototype testing phase of RFID implementation. This is because, apart from debugging the technical system and eliminating the mistakes in the analyses, prototype testing also includes collecting feedback from users after the pilot testing. This is designed as such in order to elicit comments on the various user interfaces and in order to fine tune their design. Thus, this feedback collection process is influenced by the culture strength of the organisation.

On the successful completion of prototype testing, the next phase is the implementation of the system in the actual business environment. Implementation involves the installation and commissioning of hardware and software systems, and change management, training and system deployment. All of the tasks in the

implementation step are vital, as they will affect the success of the implementation. Many aspects of strong organisational culture including top management initiative, clear outlining of organisational goals and objectives, focus on organisational performance relative to competitors, and drive to introduce new technologies into business processes influence the success of system deployment, installation and commissioning of hardware and software systems, as well as developing the new procedures.

The last step for RFID implementation is continuous improvement. Organisations continuously evaluate the system's performance and compare it with the pre-set objectives, enhance the system with emergent technologies, or else adapt it to match the changing needs of the market. This step includes the tasks of system monitoring and the collection of user feedback. Organisations strong culture attributes such as top management initiative, drive to introduce new technologies, and focus on their performance relative to their competitors are likely to continuously improve their RFID system so as to adapt it to dynamic business environments, and make it more effective.

2. Secondly, the results indicate that business size has a significant direct positive relationship with RFID implementation processes. The annual turnover, number of employees, IT/IS infrastructure were found to be particularly pertinent in influencing the different processes of RFID implementation. The size of an organisation affects its financial resources and the availability of skilled workforce. The implementation of IS systems like RFID and its components requires long term investment and technical expertise, therefore larger organisations which have adequate financial and technical resources are more capable of making a success of RFID implementations, and developing a clear scope and objectives in implementing the system.

Specifically, the impact of the size of an organisation comes into effect in RFID implementation processes like the analysis of existing systems. Analyzing existing systems involves collecting information about the operation processes, and the analysis and evaluation of the current processes. This is usually performed by using the diagramming techniques and tools that have been agreed upon by the key individuals who are currently using the system. By examining the current process with the aid of workflow diagrams, areas for improvement can be identified. Larger

organisations have (i) greater number of employees and so could appoint the right candidates to study the existing system; (ii) greater annual turnover, so could allocate more resources to the tasks; and (iii) have better IT/IS infrastructure so have access to diagramming techniques and tools used for analysing existing systems.

In designing the RFID system, the selection of appropriate hardware and software is an essential process. This is to understand the characteristics of each element of hardware and software and to decide which option is more suitable for the current environment. Accordingly, the financial resources and IT/IS infrastructure of organisations influences the selection and testing of hardware and software in the design of a proposed system. The financial resources and IT/IS infrastructure of organisations also influence the development of new processes (based upon the knowledge of the current processes). Similarly, business size impacts the prototype testing phase of RFID implementation. Prototype testing covers both software and hardware tests in order to detect bugs and system collisions. Technical staff are usually involved so as to support the testing and in order to resolve (debug) any technical problems detected in the test. The number of employees and technical expertise and resources will thus affect the success of the prototype testing phase of RFID implementation. This suggests that larger organisations are more likely to make a success of the prototype testing phase as they have superior resources than SMEs in terms of workforce and expertise.

Lastly, business size impacts continuous improvement phase of RFID implementation. After system deployment, the performance of the RFID solution needs to be closely monitored - especially in the early stage of implementation - so that the project team can quickly respond to the problems encountered. Additionally, collection of feedback from users, and training them to use the new system are also essential aspects of continuous improvement. Therefore, the availability of funds to train users, availability of skilled workforce, IT/IS infrastructure, and range of products/services are likely going to influence the direction organisations take in order to continuously improve their existing RFID systems to match changing market needs.

3. Thirdly, the results indicate that there is a significant direct positive correlation between BPR and RFID implementation processes. The redesign of business processes and systems, and the synchronization of business processes and IT resources are seen to play a crucial role in the determining the success of RFID implementation processes. BPR also influences key aspects of the RFID implementation process such as "continuous improvement" especially when organisations come to align their dynamic capabilities with the environment and optimize their business processes.

In designing an RFID system, the organisation design the way in which the readers are connected to the network and the software architecture, including the RFID middleware and the application level software. The BPR of business processes involves the restructuring and streamlining of business processes and activities. Accordingly, BPR influences the design of RFID systems as it would give decision-makers a clearer picture of how the hardware and software items function in an integrated system, as well as providing data for measuring the reliability of the proposed system.

Protoype testing of RFID systems involves the adaptation of processes to ensure that the RFID system will deliver the expected performance results. BPR involves the redesigning of systems and processes and thus affects the recording and review of problems found during the pilot testing and thus has an effect on efforts to fine-tune the system and resolve the identified problems. Additionally, BPR involves the redesigning of systems and processes including centralization/decentralization of resources. Consequently, BPR influences the integration of hardware systems into existing business processes, the deployment of decision-support tools and strategies and other aspects of continuous improvement.

7.2.3 Post-implementation phase of RFID system deployment

The post-implementation phase examined the impact of the strength of organisational culture, business size, and BPR on the benefits derived from RFID implementation. It also examined the impact of RFID-related factors on benefits derived from RFID implementation. The RFID related factors investigated are Product Unit Level of Tagging (PULT), organisational pedigree in RFID, and RFID implementation stage. The benefits derived from RFID were divided into four categories proposed by Kaplan and Norton (2004), namely, financial measures; internal processes; corporate measures; and learning and growth. The key findings in that regard are as follows:

1. Firstly, the findings indicate that strong organisational culture has a significant direct positive relationship with all four categories of RFID benefits. The results indicate that

strong organisational culture where support from top management is readily available, goals and objectives are pre-set and carefully outlined, and where training and support is available for employees are essential in making a success of RFID implementation, and deriving benefits from the implementation.

- 2. Secondly, the results indicate that business size has a significant direct positive relationship with all four categories of RFID benefits. Annual turnover and IT/IS infrastructure in particular, were found to be particularly pertinent in influencing the benefits derived from RFID implementation. Larger organisations tend to have more financial and technological resources to hire specialized/skilled workforce, extensively train users of RFID systems to become conversant with operating the system, and integrate necessary hardware or software required to have seamless synchronization of RFID system with existing IS systems. These are critical steps in making the most of RFID solutions.
- 3. Thirdly, the results indicate that there is a significant direct positive correlation between BPR and all four categories of RFID benefits. The redesign of business processes and systems, and the synchronization of business processes and IT resources are seen to play a crucial role in the determining the success of RFID implementation processes, and benefits derived thereof. BPR also influences key aspects of the RFID implementation process such as "continuous improvement" especially when organisations come to align their dynamic capabilities with the environment and optimize their business processes. These in turn, allows the RFID system to be improved to realize more benefits, overtime.

In terms of the impact of RFID-related factors on RFID benefits, the following key findings were made:

 Firstly, the findings from this study indicate that RFID implementation stage has a significant direct positive relationship with all four categories of RFID benefits. This is important because despite RFID's potential to improve supply chain processes and offer significant business advantage, there have been more pilots and trials than fullscale implementations. However, our results indicate that a full roll-out of RFID implementation offers significantly greater benefits than when partially implemented or trialled as a pilot project. This is because fully implementing RFID allows for insights to be gained from the RFID data generated, which often leads to additional unexpected benefits.

- Secondly, the findings indicate that product unit level of tagging (PULT) has a significant direct positive relationship with all four categories of RFID benefits, and that the lower the tagging level, the greater the benefits derived. However, this depends on the industrial application of RFID. For example, item-level tagging accrues more benefits than case, pallet, or container level tagging in industries dealing with high value products, multiple handled products, or sensitive products including retail, pharmaceutics, and logistics industries. In logistics industries, pallet-level or container-level tagging may offer the most benefits.
- Lastly, the findings indicate that organisational pedigree in RFID has a significant direct positive relationship with all four categories of RFID benefits. Generally, the greater the knowledge on RFID, the more benefits derived. This could be due to the fact that specialized/skilled workforce is required to deploy and operate the system, to extensively train users of the system to become conversant with operating the system, and to integrate necessary hardware or software required to have seamless synchronization of RFID system with existing IS systems. However, in instances where RFID integrators or consultants are used, employee knowledge on RFID is not as important.

7.3 Implications and original contribution from this study

The development of this study was motivated by the lack of (i) practical advisory framework which considers quantifiable firm characteristics and the costs and benefits of implementing RFID, in yielding advice to guide decisions on RFID adoption, and (ii) a framework that covers the complete processes of RFID project deployment (from adoption decision to benefits derived) in yielding advice to guide decisions on RFID adoption. This thesis set out to close that gap and hence makes the following contributions.

 The first contribution of this thesis is that it provides detailed empirical accounts of the different determinants of RFID adoption across a variety of contexts. Although numerous studies (Alqahtani and Wamba, 2012; Schmitt and Michahelles, 2009; Huber et al., 2007; Eckfeldt, 2005; Swanton, 2005; Asif and Mandviwalla, 2005; Walker, 2004) provide evidence that a variety of factors influence whether organisations will adopt RFID systems, many of the studies simply focus on the technology itself, often disregarding broader societal, organisational, cultural, and environmental factors that often determine how a new technology is adopted. Thus, those studies have fallen short of drawing important conclusions that can be applied in practice. This study fills that gap by adding new perspectives to the study of determinants of RFID adoption by investigating drivers and barriers of RFID adoption across technological, organisational and environmental contexts; including investigating privacy, security, regulatory, and cultural aspects of RFID adoption.

In doing so, the thesis provides new insights on factors that drive and constrain RFID adoption based not only on theoretical technological adoption models but also on social and industrial processes by which diffusion of innovation/technology occurs.

The implication is that the findings will help organisations that have adopted RFID and those seeking to adopt RFID to understand the concepts of RFID adoption and identify and analyse factors that drive and constrain RFID adoption decisions. This will support them in weighing the perceived benefits and balancing them against the costs, before making optimal decisions to adopt RFID or not.

2. The second contribution of the thesis is that it provides insights into the impact of the strength of organisational culture on RFID decision, implementation processes, and benefits derived. Although numerous studies have investigated the role of organisational culture in activating or inhibiting technological innovation, this thesis builds on those studies and adds value by highlighting the significance of organisational culture strength in providing a platform in which RFID will be accepted and implemented to achieve maximum derivable benefits. In doing so, this thesis investigates the dimensions of strength of culture that are not just based on typical ideal organisational (structural, managerial, and social) subsystems and the external environment.

The implication is that the findings offer practitioners practical insights or guidelines towards understanding and pinpointing which aspects of their corporate culture affect their adoption, implementation, and benefits of RFID. This will enable that have adopted RFID or those seeking to adopt RFID in aligning their internal characteristics and capabilities with RFID implementation requirements and procedures.

229

3. The third contribution of this thesis is that it provides empirical accounts of the impact of business size on RFID adoption decision, implementation processes, and benefits. Previous studies on the impact of business size on RFID adoption considered business size as a single dimensional construct. For instance, many studies investigated impact of number of employees on IT adoption. This thesis adds value by investigating business size as a multidimensional latent variable, with dimensions from managerial, structural, environmental and organisational contexts. The implication of this is that factors that are known to be significant in determining the adoption of RFID solutions, for example, number of skilled workforce, management structure, international reach, IT infrastructure, and number of offices, warehouses and service centres are investigated. The implication is that the findings can be applied more widely and be used to draw conclusions that can be applied in practice.

It is expected that the findings will offer practitioners a more realistic approach towards understanding how the size of their organisation or how size-related organisational changes impact RFID adoption decisions, subsequent implementation processes, and benefits derived.

4. The fourth unique contribution of this thesis is that it provides empirical insights into the impact of BPR on RFID adoption decisions, implementation processes, and benefits. To the best of our knowledge, studies on the impact of BPR, specifically on RFID technology, are lacking. Previous studies either focus on theoretical discussion of successful factors of business process reengineering (BPR) or employ a case study approach that offers insights for IT implementation strategies based on a specific firm's experience (Pan and Jang, 2008; Shin, 2006). Thus, this study addresses that gap by providing insights on the impact of BPR on the decision to adopt RFID, RFID implementation processes and benefits and considering inter-relationships between the decision to adopt RFID, RFID-enabled BPR, and related performance outcomes and benefits. As organisations are constantly evolving within a dynamic environment of increasing complexity, it is valuable to assess these interrelationships.

Findings in this study provide insights into how organisations can design a framework through which they can achieve aligning their dynamic capabilities with the environment and optimizing business processes. Also, it would enable organisations to bring forward policies and frameworks that encourage and guide BPR for RFID implementation.

Overall, this thesis provides insights and acts as a useful reference to help managers to understand how RFID should be implemented along with the activities and issues that need to be considered in implementing RFID systems. Managers find it difficult to make decisions on the implementation of RFID systems due to a lack of knowledge about RFID technology. Unfamiliarity with the system leads to creating unrealistic expectations and erroneous perceptions about the benefits that an RFID system can deliver. With contributions from this study, organisations would be able to assess the factors that drive them towards adoption and weight them against perceived costs. Organisations will also have a better understanding on how their internal characteristics (organisational culture strength, size, and BPR) influence the deployment of RFID and benefits derived thereof. This will help them to understand how to make a success of each phase of RFID implementation and to be able to realistically manage their expectations.

7.4 Recommendations for practitioners and researchers

Findings obtained from this study provide insights on strategies for promoting and accelerating the adoption of RFID by organisations, the deployment processes of RFID and their interactions with organisational characteristics, and the factors that determine the extent to which benefits are derived from RFID deployments. This will enable practitioners to make informed decisions of RFID adoption and optimize their processes to derive the most benefits from RFID solutions. Based on the findings, the following recommendations could be considered in order to stimulate interest of organisations to adopt RFID.

- Government policies and financial assistance are needed to stimulate interest of potential adopters, particularly SMEs, which are often deterred by the financial burden of RFID systems, despite having strong needs for the technology.
- 2. Success stories of RFID implementations, along with guidelines for such implementations should be shared amongst industry corporate executives in order to promote successful business cases and stimulate interest of other potential adopters. Industry participation and collaboration through shared learning and experience from pilots is a significant driver of RFID adoption. However, collaboration does not exist in

numerous industries at the moment. Therefore, the RFID industry needs to address this.

- 3. Training programmes and technical consulting should be made more accessible so as to assist organisations in understanding the RFID systems and determining whether RFID is compatible with their existing systems and processes. These programmes could be provided by independent media/technology companies such as RFID Journal, NGOs, or through government policies.
- 4. Organisational culture, size, and BPR are significant determinants of RFID adoption and should be studied in greater detail by future researchers. Future researchers should conduct multi-industry comparative studies to consider the role of industryrelated parameters on the decision to adopt RFID.
- 5. As discussed in the literature review chapter of this thesis, numerous studies highlight the contribution of RFID in supporting supply chain processes such as enabling more responsive and efficient logistics activities, improving product quality, customer satisfaction, and hence overall supply chain efficiency (Mehrjerdi, 2013; Zelbst et al. 2012; Wang et al. 2011; Brusey and McFarlane, 2009). However, realizing these benefits is dependent on the nature, efficiency and effectiveness of intra- and interorganisational culture, processes and information systems. Therefore, further research is needed, on the one hand, to explore the impact of RFID on legacy information systems and intra- and inter-organisational setups and processes, and, on the other hand, to identify and understand how these processes can be optimized by RFID.
- 6. There is equally a need to concretely characterize what "benefits" imply. For example, in the case of business benefits, it is necessary to map the dimensions and sub-dimensions that may be used to define business benefits. Future researchers could build on this study to investigate how the benefits of RFID are likely to be moderated by factors such as business/industrial sector of the firm, product line, business structure, existing information technologies and systems, the external environment, etc. The external environment is determined by elements such as the available basic infrastructure, present communication systems, economic conditions, regulatory policies, taxation, culture, skills market, manpower costs, and climate. The extents to

which these factors influence the benefits derivable from RFID investments have not been well studied in the extant literature.

- 7. IoT is a dynamic global network infrastructure with self-configuring capabilities based on standard and interoperable communication protocols. RFID is considered to be one of the sensory organs of the IoT. The integrity of the data collected by RFID systems and appropriate curbs on the technology's wireless power are essential. However, the communications bandwidth between RFID tags and readers needs to be improved. Further research is required in designing a system that can boost data rate and could be used to transmit images and possibly video if enough energy could be harvested.
- 8. Although this study offers insights into the impact of BPR on RFID implementation, there are areas requiring further research. For example, in a survey of RFID user community, Musa et al. (2014) found that users prefer open and interoperable systems to proprietary systems (tags, readers, middleware, and data exchange infrastructure and formats between RFID and legacy backend ERP systems). However, the development of compatible RFID platforms and systems seems is still far behind expectation. Full compatibility between RFID systems, and between RFID and other sensor types and communication protocols, is needed if RFID is to play the roles that have been projected for it in the era of Internet of Things (IoT). Fortunately, industry and government directives are gradually leading to common standards across industries and technologies, permitting future interoperability across devices (Wu et al., 2013; Farris et al., 2013; Xu and Chen, 2013; Gao et al., 2012).

7.5 Limitations of this study

There are a number of limitations to the study. Firstly, the study surveyed organisations from multiple countries in the questionnaire but could only gain access to case study organisations within the UK. Although, the case study organisations were across different industrial sectors, the opportunity to assess differences (if any) in responses that could be attributed to foreign cultures was lost. Secondly, data collected on the aspects of RFID implementation was primarily from managers (rather than through direct observation). This presents the possibility of bias in responses. However, the potential biases cannot be verified without direct observation of the phenomenon (Woodside and Wilson, 2003). In similar regard, RFID

systems these days are mostly deployed by integrators or consultants, who are more knowledgeable in the processes involved and can give first-hand accounts of their experiences. However, getting hold of consultants to give information on projects they executed years ago is a difficult task. So, this study was limited in gaining first-hand accounts on some of the processes investigated.

REFERENCES

Acar, E., Koçak, I., Sey, Y. and Arditi, D. (2005). Use of information and communication technologies by small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) in building construction. Construction Management and Economics, 23(7), 713-722.

Accenture (2004). eGovernment Leadership: High Performance, Maximum Value, Accenture, Cambridge MA

Adler, P. A. and Adler, P. (1998). 'Observational techniques', in Denzin, N. K. and Lincoln, Y. S. (eds.), *Collecting and interpreting qualitative materials*, London, Sage Publications.

Ahmed, M. K., Ben-Akiva, H. K. and Mishalani, R. (1996). Models for freeway lane changing and gap acceptance behavior. In *Proceedings of 13th International Symposium on Transportation and Traffic Theory*, Lyon France.

Ahuja, V., Yang, J. and Shankar, R. (2009). Study of ICT Adoption for Building Project Management in the Indian Construction Industry. Automation in Construction, 18(4), 415-423.

Ajzen, I. (1985). From Intentions to Actions: A Theory of Planned Behaviour, Berlin, Springer.

Ajzen, I. (1991). "The theory of planned behaviour". *Organizational Behaviour and Human Decision Processes*, 50(2), 179-211.

Aladwani, A. (2001). Change Management Strategies for Successful ERP Implementation. Business Process Management Journal, 7(3), 266-275.

Alavi, M. and Carlson, P. (1992). "A review of MIS research and disciplinary development". *Journal of Management Information Systems*, 8(4), 45-62.

Alomair, B., Lazos, L. and Poovendran, R. (2011). "Securing low-cost RFID systems : An unconditionally secure approach". *Journal of Computer* Security, 19: 229-257. doi: 10.3233/JCS-2010-0406

Alqahtani, S. and Wamba, S. F. (2012). "Determinants of RFID Technology Adoption Intention in the Saudi Retail Industry: An Empirical Study". *45th Hawaii International Conference on System Science* (HICSS), 4-7, 4720-4729.

Amabile, T. M. (1988). "A model of creativity and innovation in organisations". In B. M. Stew & L. L. Cummings (Eds.), Research in organizational behavior (pp. 123-167). Greenwich, CT: JAI. Amini, M., Otondo, R. F., Janz, B. D. and Pitts, M. G. (2007). "Simulation modeling and analysis: a collateral application and exposition of RFID technology". *Production and Operations Management*, 16 (5), 586-598. doi: 10.1111/j.1937-5956.2007.tb00282.x

Anand, A. and Wamba, S. F. (2013). "Business value of RFID-enabled healthcare transformation projects". *Business Process Management Journal*, 19 (1), 111-145. doi: 10.1108/14637151311294895

Anderson, J.C. and Gerbing, D.W. (1988). Structural equation modeling in practice: a review and recommended two-step approach. Psychol. Bull. 103(3), 411–423.

Anderson, J.C. and Gerbing, D.W. (1988). Structural equation modeling in practice: a review and recommended two-step approach. Psychol. Bull. 103(3), 411–423

Angeles, R. (2005). "RFID technologies: Supply-chain applications and implementation issues". *Information Systems Management*, 22, 51-65. doi: 10.1201/1078/44912.22.1.20051201/85739.7

Angeles, R. (2013). "The structurational model of technology: The case of Dow chemical's RFID tracking system for hazardous materials". *Human Systems Management*, 32 (4), 267-282. doi:10.3233/HSM-130797

Appelhanz, S., Schumann, M., Osburg, V. and Toporowski, W. (2016). "Traceability system for capturing, processing and providing consumer-relevant information about wood products: System solution and its economic feasibility". *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 110, 132-148. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.02.034

Arad, S., Hanson, M. A. and Schneider, R. J. (1997). "A framework for the study of relationships between organizational characteristics and organizational innovation". *The Journal of Creative Behavior*, 31(1), 42-58.

Armstrong, M. (1995). A Handbook of Personnel Management Practice (5th ed.). London: Kogan Page.

Arnold, J. and Bures, C. (2003). "Revisiting retail challenge". Industrial Engineer, 35(12), 38-41.

Arnold, J. and Bures, C. (2003). Revisiting retail challenge. Industrial Engineer, 35(12), 38–41 Asif, Z. and Mandviwalla, M. (2005). "Integrating the supply chain with RFID". *Communications of the Association for Information Systems*, 15 (24), 393-426.

Attaran, M. (2007). "RFID: an enabler of supply chain operations". *Supply Chain Management: An International Journal*, 12 (4), 249-257. doi: 10.1108/13598540710759763

Attaran, M. (2012). "Critical success factors and challenges of implementing RFID in supply chain management". *Journal of Supply Chain and Operations Management*, 10(1), 144–167.

Avison, D. E., Dwivedi, Y. K., Fitzgerald, G. and Powell, P. (2008). "The beginnings of a new era: time to reflect on 17 years of the ISJ". *Information Systems Journal*, 18(1), 5-21.

Azevedo, S. G. and Carvalho, H. (2012). "Contribution of RFID technology to better management of fashion supply chains". *International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management*, 40(2), 128-156. doi: 10.1108/09590551211201874

Azevedo, S. G. and Ferreira, J. (2009). "RFID technology in retailing: an exploratory study on fashion apparels". *The IUP Journal of Managerial Economics*, 7 (1), 7-22.

Baars, H., Gille, D. and Strüker, J. (2009). "Evaluation of RFID applications for logistics: a framework for identifying, forecasting and assessing benefits". *European Journal of Information Systems*, 18, 578-591. doi: 10.1057/ejis.2009.32

Babakus, E. and Boller, G.W. (1992). An Empirical Assessment of the SERVQUAL Scale. Journal of Business Research, 24 (1992), pp. 253–268

Bagozzi, R.P. and Yi, Y. (1988). On the evaluation of structural equation models. J. Acad. Mark. Sci. 16, 74–94

Bagozzi, R.P., Heatherton, T.F. (1994). A general approach to representing multifaceted personality constructs: application to state self-esteem. Structural Equation Modeling, 1(1), 35–67.

Baker, J. (2011). "The technology-organization-environment framework". *Information Systems Theory: Explaining and Predicting Our Digital Society,* Springer, New York, NY, pp. 231-246. Baker, T.L. (1994). *Doing Social Research* (2nd Edn.), New York: McGraw-Hill Inc.

Baldini, G., Oliveri, F., Braun, M., Seuschek, H. and Hess, E. (2012). "Securing disaster supply chains with cryptography enhanced RFID". *Disaster Prevention and Management*, 21(1), 51-70. doi: 10.1108/09653561211202700

Balocco, R., Miragliotta, G., Perego, A. and Tumino, A. (2011). "RFID adoption in the FMCG supply chain: an interpretative framework". *Supply Chain Management: An International Journal*, 16(5), 299-315. doi: 10.1108/1359854111155820

Bardhan, I.R., J. Whitaker, S. Mithas. (2006b). "Information Technology, Production Process Outsourcing and Manufacturing Plant Performance". *Journal of Management Information Systems*, 23(2), 13-40. Bardhan, I.R., S. Mithas, S. Lin. (2006a). Information technology and manufacturing plant performance: Outsourcing of supporting business processes, 1st International Symposium of Information Systems at the Indian School of Business, Hyderabad, India.

Barenji, A. V., Barenji, R. V. and Hashemipour, M. (2016). "Flexible testing platform for employment of RFIDenabled multi-agent system on flexible assembly line". *Advances in Engineering Software*, 91, 1-11. doi:10.1016/j.advengsoft.2015.08.010

Barjis, J. and Wamba S. F. (2010). "Organizational and business impacts of RFID technology". Business Process Management Journal, 16, 897.

Barut, M., Brown, R., Freund, N., May, J. and Reinhart, E. (2006). RFID and corporate responsibility: hidden costs in RFID implementation. Business and Society Review, 111(3), 287-303.

Barut, M., Brown, R., Freund, N., May, J. and Reinhart, E. (2006). "RFID and corporate responsibility: hidden costs in RFID implementation". *Business and Society Review*, 111(3), 287-303. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8594.2006.00273.x

Baumgartner, H. and Homburg, C. (1996). Applications of Structural Equation Modeling in Marketing and Consumer Research: A Review. International Journal of Research in Marketing, 13 (2), 139-61

Benbasat, I., Goldstein, D. K. and Mead, M. (1987). "The case research strategy in studies of information systems". *MIS Quarterly, 11*, 368-386.

Bendavid, Y. and Boeck, H. (2011). "Using RFID to improve hospital supply chain management for high value and consignment items". *Procedia Computer Science*, 5, 849-856. doi: 10.1016/j.procs.2011.07.117

Bendavid, Y. and Cassivi, L. (2010). "Bridging the gap between RFID/EPC concepts, technological requirements and supply chain e-business processes". *Journal of Theoretical and Applied Electronic Commerce Research*, 5(3), 1-16. doi: 10.4067/S0718-18762010000300002

Bendavid, Y., Boeck, H. and Philippe, R. (2010). "Redesigning the replenishment process of medical supplies in hospitals with RFID". *Business Process Management Journal*, 16(6), 991-1013. doi: 10.1108/14637151011093035

Bendavid, Y., Boeck, H. and Philippe, R. (2012). "RFID-enabled traceability system for consignment and high value products: a case study in the healthcare sector". *Journal of Medical Systems*, 36(6), 3473-89. doi: 10.1007/s10916-011-9804-0

Bendavid, Y., Lefebvre, É., Lefebvre, L. A. and Fosso-Wamba, S. (2009). "Key performance indicators for the evaluation of RFID-enabled B-to-B e-commerce applications: the case of a five-layer supply chain". *Information Systems and e-Business Management*, 7(1), 1-20. doi: 10.1007/s10257-008-0092-2

Benssalah, M., Djeddou, M., and Drouiche, K. (2014). "Security enhancement of the authenticated RFID security mechanism based on chaotic maps". *Security and Communication Networks*, 7(12), 2356-2372.

Bertolini, M., Botanni, E., Rizzi, A., Volpi, A. and Renzi, P. (2013). "Shrinkage reduction in perishable food supply chain by means of an RFID-based FIFO management policy". *International Journal of RF Technologies: Research and Applications*, 5(3-4), 123-136. doi: 10.3233/RFT-130052

Bertolini, M., Bottani, E., Ferretti, G., Rizzi, A., and Volpi, A. (2012). "Experimental evaluation of business impacts of RFID in apparel and retail supply chain". *International Journal of RF Technologies: Research and Applications*, 3(4), 257-282. doi:10.3233/RFT-2012-028

Bhagwat, R. & Sharma, M. K. (2007). "Performance Measurement of Supply Chain Management: A Balanced Scorecard Approach". Journal of Computers and Industrial Engineering, 53(1), 43-62.

Bhakoo, V. and Chan, C. (2011). "Collaborative implementation of e-business processes within the health-care supply chain: the Monash Pharmacy project". *Supply Chain Management: An International Journal*, 16(3), 184-193. doi: 10.1108/1359854111127173

Bhattacharya, M. (2012). "Impact of RFID on the retail value chain: An exploratory study using a mixed method approach". *Journal of Technology Management and Innovation*, 7(4), 36-49. doi: 10.4067/S0718-27242012000400003

Bhattacharya, M. (2015). "A conceptual framework of RFID adoption in retail using Rogers stage model". Business Process Management Journal, 21(3), 517-540.

Bhattacharyya, R., Floerkemeier, C., Sarma, S., and Deavours, D. (2011). "RFID tag antenna based temperature sensing in the frequency domain". Paper Presented at the IEEE International Conference on RFID, 12-14 April 2011, Orlando, FL, pp. 70-77.

Bhuptani, M and Moradpour, S. (2005). *RFID field guide: deploying radio frequency identification systems*, Upper Saddle River, NJ: Sun Microsystems Press, Prentice Hall.

Björk, A., Erlandsson, M., Häkli, J., Jaakkola, K., Nilsson, Å., Nummila, K. and Puntanen, V. (2011). "Monitoring environmental performance of the forestry supply chain using RFID". *Computers in Industry*, 62(8-9), 830-841. doi: 10.1016/j.compind.2011.08.001

Bjorn-Andersen, N. (1985) "IS research -A Doubtful Science" in Mumford, E., Hirschheim, R. A., Fitzgerald, G. and Wood-Harper, A. T. (eds.) Research Methods In Information Systems North-Holland, Amsterdam, pp. 273,277.

Black, I. (2006). "The presentation of interpretivist research". *Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal*, 9(4), 319–324.

Bolan, C. (2005). Is RFID's tag too pricey? Global Cosmetic Industry, 173(1), 24-28.

Bolan, C. (2005). "Is RFID's tag too pricey?". Global Cosmetic Industry, 173(1), 24-8.

Bollen, K.A. (1989). Structural equations with latent variables (Wiley, New York, 1989)

Borkovich, D. J., Breese-Vitelli, J. and Skovira, R. J. (2015). New technology adoption: embracing cultural influences. Issues in Information Systems, 16 (3), 138-147.

Bose, I. and Lam, C. Y. (2008). "Facing the challenges of RFID data management". International Journal of Information Systems and Supply Chain Management, 1(4), 1-19.

Bose, I. and Pal, R. (2005). "Auto-ID: Managing anything, anywhere, anytime in the supply chain". *Communications of the ACM*, 48(8), 101–106.

Bose, I. and Pal, R. (2005). Auto-ID: Managing anything, anywhere, anytime in the supplychain. Communications of the ACM, 48(8), 101–106.

Bose, I., Ngai, E. T., Teo, T. H., & Spiekermann, S. (2009). "Managing RFID projects in organisations". *European Journal of Information Systems*, 18(6), 534-540. doi:10.1057/ejis.2009.43

Bosona, T. and Gebresenbet, G. (2013). "Food traceability as an integral part of logistics management in food and agricultural supply chain". *Food Control*, 33, 32-48. doi: 10.1016/j.foodcont.2013.02.004

Bottani, E. and Rizzi, A. (2008). "Economical assessment of the impact of RFID technology and EPC system on the fast-moving consumer goods supply chain". *International Journal of Production Economics*, 112(2), 548-569. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpe.2007.05.007

Bottani, E., Ferretti, G., Montanari, R., and Rizzi, A. (2009). "The impact of RFID technology on logistics processes of the fashion industry supply chain". *International Journal of RF Technologies: Research and Applications*, 1(4), 225-252. doi:10.1080/17545730903321675

Bottani, E., Hardgrave, B. and Volpi, A. (2009). "A methodological approach to the development of RFID supply chain projects". *International Journal of RF Technologies: Research and Applications*, 1(2), 131-150. doi: 10.1080/17545730802065043

Bottani, E., Manfredi, M., Vignali, G., and Volpi, A. (2014). "Life cycle assessment of RFID implementation in the fresh food supply chain". *International Journal of RF Technologies: Research and Applications*, 6(1), 51-71. doi:10.3233/RFT-140060

Bottani, E., Montanari, R. and Volpi, A. (2010). "The impact of RFID and EPC network on the bullwhip effect in the Italian FMCG supply chain". *International Journal of Production Economics*, 124(2), 426-432. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpe.2009.12.005

Bradford, M. and Florin, J. (2003). "Examining the role of innovation diffusion factors on the implementation success of enterprise resource planning systems". *International Journal of Accounting Information Systems*, 4(3), 205-225.

Bradford, M. and Florin, J. (2003). Examining the role of innovation diffusion factors on the implementation success of enterprise resource planning systems. International Journal of Accounting Information Systems, 4(3), 205-225.

Brintrup, A., Ranasinghe, D. and McFarlane, D. (2010). "RFID opportunity analysis for leaner manufacturing". *International Journal of Production Research*, 48(9), 2745-2764. doi: 10.1080/00207540903156517

Brown, I., & Russell, J. (2007). "Radio frequency identification technology: An exploratory study on adoption in the South African retail sector". *International Journal of Information Management*, 27, 250–265.

Brown, D.E. (2007). RFID implementation, New York: McGraw-Hill Communications.

Bruque, S. and Moyano, J. (2007). Organisational determinants of information technology adoption and implementation in SMEs: The case of family and cooperative firms. Technovation, 27 (5), 241-253

Brusey, J. and McFarlane, D. C. (2009). "Effective RFID-based object tracking for manufacturing". *International Journal of Computer Integrated Manufacturing*, 22(7), 638-647. doi: 10.1080/09511920701805519

Bryman, A. (2004). Social Research Methods (2nd Edition). Oxford, England: Oxford University Press.

Bryman, A. and Bell, E. (2003). Business Research Methods. Oxford, England: Oxford University Press.

Bryman, A. and Bell, E. (2007). *Business Research Methods* (2nd Edition). Oxford, England: Oxford University Press.

Bureau, S., Meiller, Y., Zhou, W. and Piramuthu, S. (2011). "Performance drivers for RFID-generated item-level information in the oil industry". *Journal of Organizational Computing and Electronic Commerce*, 21(4), 295-314. doi: 10.1080/10919392.2011.614191

Burt, R. S., Gabbay, S. M., Holt, G. and Moran, P. (1994). Contingent organization as a network theory: The culture performance contingency function. Acta Sociologica, 37, 345-370.

Byrne, B.M. (1998). Structural Equation Modeling with LISREL, PRELIS and SIMPLIS: Basic Concepts, Applications and Programming. Mahwah, New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

Çakıcı, Ö. E., Groenevelt, H. and Seidmann, A. (2011). "Using RFID for the management of pharmaceutical inventory — system optimization and shrinkage control". *Decision Support Systems*, 51(4), 842-852. doi:10.1016/j.dss.2011.02.003

Caldeira, M. M. and Ward, J. M. (2003). Using resource-based theory to interpret the successful adoption and use of information systems and technology in manufacturing small and medium-sized enterprises. European Journal of Information Systems, 12(2), 127-141.

Camdereli, A. Z. and Swaminathan, J. M. (2010). "Misplaced inventory and radio-frequency identification (RFID) technology: information and coordination". *Production and Operations Management*, 19(1), 1-18. doi: 10.1111/j.1937-5956.2009.01057.x

Cannon, A. R., Reyes, P. M., Frazier, G. V. and Prater, E. L. (2008). "RFID in the contemporary supply chain: multiple perspectives on its benefits and risks". *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 28(5), 433-454. doi: 10.1108/01443570810867196

Cao, H., Folan, P., Mascolo, J. and Browne, J. (2009). "RFID in product lifecycle management: a case in the automotive industry". *International Journal of Computer Integrated Manufacturing*, 22(7), 616-637. doi: 10.1080/09511920701522981

Caridi, M., Perego, A. and Tumino, A. (2013). "Measuring supply chain visibility in the apparel industry". *Benchmarking: An International Journal*, 20(1), 25-44. doi: 10.1108/14635771311299470

Carmeli, A., Sternberg, A. and Elizur, D. (2008). Organizational culture, creative behavior, and information and communication technology (ICT) usage: A facet analysis. CyberPsychology and Behavior, 11(2), 175-180 Carson, D., Gilmore, A., Perry, C., and Gronhaug, K. (2001). *Qualitative Marketing Research*. London: Sage.

Castro, L., Lefebvre, E. and Lefebvre, L. A. (2013). "Adding Intelligence to mobile asset management in hospitals: The true value of RFID". *Journal of Medical Systems*, 37(5), 1-17. doi: 10.1007/s10916-013-9963-2

Catarinucci, L., Colella, R., De Blasi, M., Patrono, L. and Tarricone, L. (2012). "Enhanced UHF RFID tags for drug tracing". *Journal of Medical Systems*, 36(6), 3451-3462. doi: 10.1007/s10916-011-9790-2

Chan, H., Choi, T., and Hui, C. (2012). "RFID versus bar-coding systems: Transactions errors in health care apparel inventory control". *Decision Support Systems*, 54(1), 803-811. doi:10.1016/j.dss.2012.08.004

Chand, D., Hachey, G., et al. (2005). "A balanced scorecard based framework for assessing the strategic impacts of ERP systems". *Computers in Industry*, 56(6), 558–572.

Chang, S-I., Hung, S-Y., Yen, D. C. and Chen, Y-J. (2008). The Determinants of RFID Adoptionin the Logistics Industry: A Supply Chain Management Perspective. Communications of the Association for Information Systems, 23(12), 197-218. Chao, C., Yang, J. and Jen, W. (2007). "Determining technology trends and forecasts of RFID by a historical review and bibliometric analysis from 1991 to 2005". *Technovation*, 27(5), 268-279.

Chao, C.-C., Yang, J.-M., Jen, W.-Y. (2007). "Determining technology trends and forecasts of RFID by a historical review and bibliometric analysis from 1991 to 2005". *Technovation*, 27, 268–279. doi: 10.1016/j.technovation.2006.09.003

Chatziantoniou, D., Pramatari, K. and Sotiropoulos, Y. (2011). "Supporting real-time supply chain decisions based on RFID data streams". *Journal of Systems and Software*, 84(4), 700-710. doi: 10.1016/j.jss.2010.12.011

Chau, P.Y.K. and Tam, K.Y. (1997). "Factors affecting the adoption of open systems: An exploratory study". *MIS Quarterly*, 21(1), 1-24.

Chau, P.Y.K. and Tam, K.Y. (1997). Factors affecting the adoption of open systems: An exploratory study. MIS Quarterly, 21(1), 1-24.

Chen, C.-L., Chen, Y.-Y., Kuo, T.-M., Chiou, K.-C and Deng, Y.-Y. (2012). "Design of an RFID on-line authentication and anti-counterfeit transaction protocol". *International Journal of RF Technologies: Research and Applications*, 4(1), 37-53. doi: 10.3233/RFT-2012-0034

Chen, C.-L., Huang, Y.-C., and Jiang, J.-R. (2013). A secure ownership transfer protocol using EPCglobal Gen-2 RFID. *Telecommunication Systems*, 53(4), 387-99.

Chen, F., Drezner, Z., Ryan, J. K. and Simchi-Levi, D. (2000). "Quantifying the bullwhip effect in a simple supply chain: the impact of forecasting, lead time, and information". *Management Science*, 46(3), 436-443. doi: 10.1287/mnsc.46.3.436.12069

Chen, J. C., Cheng, C. H. and Huang, P. B. (2012). "Supply chain management with lean production and RFID application: A case study". *Expert Systems and Applications*, 40(9), 3389-3397. doi:10.1016/j.eswa.2012.12.047

Chen, J. C., Cheng, C.-H., Huang, P. B., Wang, K.-J., Huang, C.-J. and Ting, T.-C. (2013). "Warehouse management with lean and RFID application: a case study". *The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology*, 69, 531-542. doi: 10.1007/s00170-013-5016-8

Chen, S., Chang, C., Liu, K., and Kao, C. (2014). "The prototype and application of RFID implementation : A case study of automobiles assembly industries". *International Journal of Electronic Business Management*, 12(2), 145–156.

Chen, W. and Hirschheim, R. (2004). A paradigmatic and methodological examination of information systems research from 1991 to 2001. *Information Systems Journal*, 14(3), 197-235.

Cheng, Y.-H. and Yang, A. S. (2007). Investigating Key Factors of Deciding RFID's Adoption in Logistics Service Providers. 11th International Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work in Design, Melbourne, Australia, April 26-28.

Cheon-pyo, L., and Shim, J. P. (2007). "An exploratory study of radio frequency identification (RFID) adoption in the healthcare industry". *European Journal of Information Systems*, 16(6), 712-724. doi:10.1057/palgrave.ejis.3000716

Chew, E. P., Lee, L. H. and Sim, C.-K. (2013). "The impact of supply chain visibility when lead time is random". *OR Spectrum*, 35, 163-190. doi: 10.1007/s00291-011-0254-3

Chiasson, M. W. and C. Y. Lovato. (2001). "Factors Influencing the Formation of a User's Perceptions and Use of a DSS Software Innovation". *Database for Advances in Information Systems*, 32(3), 16-35.

Choi, S. H., Yang, Y. X., Yang, B., and Cheung, H. H. (2015). "Item-level RFID for enhancement of customer shopping experience in apparel retail". *Computers in Industry*, 71, 10–23. doi:10.1016/j.compind.2015.03.003

Choi, T.-M. (2011). "Coordination and risk analysis of VMI supply chains with RFID technology". *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Informatics*, 7(3), 497-504. doi: 10.1109/TII.2011.2158830

Chong, A. Y.-L. and Chan, F. T. S. (2012). "Structural equation modeling for multi-stage analysis on Radio Frequency Identification (RFID) diffusion in the health care industry". *Expert Systems with Applications*, 39(10), 8645-8654. doi: 10.1016/j.eswa.2012.01.201

Chong, A.Y.L., Ooi, K.B., Lin, B.S. and Raman, M. (2009) Factors affecting the adoption level of c-commerce: An empirical study. Journal of Computer Information Systems, 50(2), 13-22.

Chongwatpol, J. and Sharda, R. (2013). "RFID-enabled track and traceability in job-shop scheduling environment". *European Journal of Operational Research*, 227(3), 453-63. doi:10.1016/j.ejor.2013.01.009

Chow, H. K. H., Choy, K. L., Lee, W. B. and Chan, F. T. S. (2007). "Integration of web-based and RFID technology in visualizing logistics operations – a case study". *Supply Chain Management: An International Journal*, 12(3), 221-234. doi: 10.1108/13598540710742536

Churchill, G. (1999). Marketing Research: Methodological Foundations (Dryden Press, Orlando, 1999)

Cinicioglu, E. and Shenoy, P. (2012). "A new heuristic for learning Bayesian networks from limited datasets: a real-time recommendation system application with RFID systems in grocery stores". *Annals of Operations Research*, 1-21. doi:10.1007/s10479-012-1171-9

Clarke, M. and Oxman, A. D. (2001). "Cochrane Reviewers Handbook". The Cochrane Library, Oxford.

Colamn, A.M., Norris, C.E. and Preston, C.C. (1997). Comparing rating scales of different lengths: equivalence of scores from 5-point and 7-point scales. Psychological Reports, 80, 355–362

Collins, R. S. and Cordon, C., (1997), 'Survey methodology issues in manufacturing strategy and practice research', *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 17(7), 697-706. Collis, J., & Hussey, R. (2009). *Business Research: A Practical Guide for Undergraduate and Postgraduate Students* (3rd Edition). Basingstoke, UK: Palgrave Macmillan.

Condea, C., Thiesse, F., and Fleisch, E. (2012). "RFID-enabled shelf replenishment with backroom monitoring in retail stores". *Decision Support Systems*, 52(4), 839-849. doi:10.1016/j.dss.2011.11.018

Cooper, R.B. and Zmud, R.W. (1990) Information technology implementation research - a technological diffusion approach. Management Science, 36 (2), 123-139.

Costa, C., Antonucci, F., Pallottino, F., Aguzzi, J., Sarriá, D., and Menesatti, P. (2013). "A review on agri-food supply chain traceability by means of RFID technology". *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, 6(2), 353-366. doi: 10.1007/s11947-012-0958-7

Coughlan, P. and Coghlan, D., (2002), 'Action research for operations management', *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 22(2), 220-240.

Coustasse, A., Arvidson, C. and Rutsohn, P. (2010). "Pharmaceutical counterfeiting and the RFID technology intervention". *Journal of Hospital Marketing & Public Relations* 20(2), 100-115. doi: 10.1080/15390942.2010.493369

Crawford, D. (2005). "Editorial pointers, special issue: RFID". Communications of the ACM, 48(9), 5.

Creswell, J. (2007). *Qualitative Inquiry & Research Design: Choosing Among Five Approaches.* Thousand Oaks, CA, USA: Sage publications.

Creswell, J. W. (2009). Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches. Los Angeles: Sage Publications, Inc.

Creswell, J. W. (2011). Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative and Mixed Research Approaches, fourth edition, Washington DC, Sage Publications

Creswell, J.W. (2003). *Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches* (2nd Edition). Thousand Oaks, CA, USA: Sage Publications.

Creswell, J.W. (2009). *Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative and Mixed Methods* (3rd Edition). Thousand Oaks, CA, USA: Sage Publications.

Crotty, M. (1998). The foundations of social research, Sage Publications Ltd.

Cui, B., Wang, Z., Zhao, B. and Chen, X. (2016). "Design and analysis of secure mechanisms based on tripartite credibility for RFID systems". *Computer Standards & Interfaces*, 44, 110-116. doi:10.1016/j.csi.2015.06.003

Cui, L., Wang, L., and Deng, J. (2014). "RFID technology investment evaluation model for the stochastic joint replenishment and delivery problem". *Expert Systems with Applications*, 41(4), 1792–1805. doi:10.1016/j.eswa.2013.08.078

Curkovic, S., Vickery, S. K. and Droge, C., (2000), 'An empirical analysis of the competitive dimensions of quality performance in the automotive supply industry', *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 20, 3, 386-403.

Curran, K. and Porter, M. (2007). "A primer on radio frequency identification for libraries". *Library Hi Tech*, 25(4), 595-611. doi: 10.1108/07378830710840536

Dai, F. F., Stroud, C. E. and Zhang, J. B. (2009). "Editorial to special section on industrial implementation of RFID systems". *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, 56(7), 2295-2298.

Dai, H. and Tseng, M. M. (2012). "The impacts of RFID implementation on reducing inventory inaccuracy in a multi-stage supply chain". *International Journal of Production Economics*, 139(2), 634-641. doi: 10.2139/ssrn.1387024

Dash, D. P. (2011). "Supply chain management : The RFID advantage". *IUP Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 8(4), 42-57.

Davenport TH, Short JE. (1990). "The new industrial engineering: information technology and business process redesign", Sloan Management Review, 11-27.

Davis, F. D. (1986). "A Technology Acceptance Model for Empirically Testing New End-User Information Systems: Theory and Results". Doctoral dissertation, USA: Massachusetts Institute of Technology.

Davis, F. D. (1989). "Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology". *MIS Quarterly*, 13(3), 319-340.

Davis, F. D., Bagozzi, R. P., & Warshaw, P. R. (1989). "User acceptance of computer technology: a comparison of two theoretical models". *Management Science*, 35(8), 982-1003.

Davis, H. E. and Luehlfing, M. S. (2004). "Radio frequency identification: the wave of the future". *Journal of Accountancy*, 198(5), 43-49.
Dawes, J. (2008). Do data characteristics change according to the number of points used? An experiment using 5-point, 7-point and 10-point scales. International Journal of Market Research, 50, 61–77.

De Burca, S., Fynes, B. and Marshall, D. (2005). Strategic technology adoption: extending ERP across the supply chain. The Journal of Enterprise Information Management, 18(4), 427-440.

De Donno, D., Catarinucci, L., Di Serio, A., and Tarricone, L. (2013). "A long-range computational RFID tag for temperature and acceleration sensing applications". *Progress in Electromagnetics Research C*, 45, 223-235. doi: 10.2528/PIERC13101904

De Kok, A. G. and Shang, H. K. (2007). "Inspection and replenishment policies for systems with inventory record inaccuracy". *Manufacturing and Service Operations Management*, 9(2), 185-205. doi: 10.1287/msom.1060.0136

Deal, T. and Kennedy, A. (2000). Corporate cultures: Rites and rituals. New York: Basic Books.

DeHoratius, N. and A. Raman. (2008). "Inventory record inaccuracy: an empirical analysis". *Management Science*, 54(4), 627-641. doi: 10.1287/mnsc.1070.0789 del Castillo, E. (2007). *Process Optimization: A Statistical Approach*. Springer, New York.

Delen, D., Hardgrave, B. C. and Sharda, R. (2007). "RFID for better supply-chain management through enhanced information visibility". *Production and Operations Management*, 16(5), 613-624. doi: 10.1111/j.1937-5956.2007.tb00284.x

Deshpandé R. and Webster, F.E. (1989). "Organizational Culture and Marketing: Defining the Research Agenda". Journal of Marketing, 53(1), 3-15. DOI: 10.2307/1251521

Deshpande, R., Farley, J. U. and Webster, F. E. (1993). Corporate culture, customer orientation, and innovativeness in Japanese firms: A quadrad analysis. Journal of Marketing, 57, 23-37.

Diamantopoulos, A. and Siguaw, J. (200). Introducing LISREL (SAGE, London, 2000)

Dierckx, M. A. F., and Stroeken, J. H. M. (1999). "Information technology and innovation in small and mediumsized enterprises". *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 60(2), 149-166.

Dillman, D. A., Tortora, R. D., Conradt, J., & Bowker, D. (1998). Influence of plain vs. fancy design on response rates for Web surveys. In: *Proceedings of Survey Methods Section*.

Dimakopoulou, A. G., Pramatari, K. C., and Tsekrekos, A. E. (2014). "Applying real options to IT investment evaluation: The case of radio frequency identification (RFID) technology in the supply chain". *International Journal of Production Economics*, 156, 191–207. doi:10.1016/j.ijpe.2014.06.005

Dimitropoulos, P. and Soldatos, J. (2010). "RFID enabled fully automated warehouse management: Adding the business context". *International Journal of Manufacturing Technology and Management*, 21(3-4), 269-288. doi: 10.1504/IJMTM.2010.035436

Doerr, K.H., Gates, W.R. and Mutty, J.E. (2006). *A hybrid approach to the valuation of the RFID/MEMS technology applied to ordnance inventory. International Journal of Production Economics*, 103(2), 726-41.

Dong, Q., Ding, W., Wei, L. (2014). "Improvement and optimized implementation of cryptoGPS protocol for low-cost radio frequency identification authentication". Security and Communication Networks, 8, 1474-1484. doi: 10.1002/sec.1096

Dortch, M. (2008). "Where RFID meets ROÍ: Beyond supply chains". Aberdeen research group, Boston, MA, Research benchmark.

Drew, S. (2003). "Strategic Uses of E-commerce by SMEs in the east of England". *European Management Journal*, 21(1), 79-88.

Duan, Q. and Liao, T. W. (2013). "A new age-based replenishment policy for supply chain inventory optimization of highly perishable products". *International Journal of Production Economics*, 145(2), 658-671. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpe.2013.05.020

Dutta, A. and Whang, S. (2007). "Radiofrequency Identification applications in private and public sector operations: Introduction to the special issue". *Production and Operations Management Society*, 16(5), 523-524.

Dutta, A., H.L. Lee, S. Whang. (2007). RFID and operations management: Technology, value and incentives. Production and Operations Management, 16(5).

Eckfeldt, B. (2005). "RFID: tagging the world: What does RFID do for the consumer?". *Communications of the ACM*, 48(9), 77-79.

Eder, L.B. and Igbaria, M. (2001) Determinants of intranet diffusion and infusion. Omega-International Journal of Management Science, 29(3), 233-242.

Eder, L.B. and Igbaria, M. (2001). "Determinants of intranet diffusion and infusion". *Omega-International Journal of Management Science*, 29(3), 233-242.

Edmondson, A. C., & McManus, S. E. (2007). Methodological fit in organizational field research. Academy of Management Review: In press.

Eisenhardt, K. M., (1989), 'Building theories from case study research', *Academy of Management Review*, 14(4), 532-550.

Fan, T. J., Chang, X. Y., Gu, C. H., Yi, J. J., and Deng, S. (2014). "Benefits of RFID technology for reducing inventory shrinkage". *International Journal of Production Economics*, 147(PART C), 659–665. doi:10.1016/j.ijpe.2013.05.007

Fan, T., Tao, F., Deng, S., and Li, S. (2015). "Impact of RFID technology on supply chain decisions with inventory inaccuracies". *International Journal of Production Economics*, 159, 117–125. doi:10.1016/j.ijpe.2014.10.004

Fan, X., Thompson, B. and Wang, L. (1999). Effects of Sample Size, Estimation Methods, and Model Specification on Structural Equation Modeling Fit Indexes. Structural Equation Modeling, 6 (1), 56-83.

Fangtsou, C.-T. (2014). "Optimizing Recommendations with an RFID-Based Approach for the Taiwan Trainquali Document Management System". *International Journal of Electronic Commerce Studies*, 5(1), 1–26. doi:10.7903/ijecs.1148

Farris, I., Iera, A., and Spinella, S.C. (2013). "Introducing a novel 'virtual communication channel' into RFID ecosystems for IoT". *IEEE Communications Letters*, 17(8), 1532-1535. doi: 10.1109/LCOMM.2013.070913.130392

Ferrer, G., Heath, S. K. and Dew, N. (2011). "An RFID application in large job shop remanufacturing operations". *International Journal of Production Economics*, 133(2), 612-621. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpe.2011.05.006

Fink, D. (1998). Guidelines for the successful adoption of information technology in small and medium enterprises. International Journal of Information Management, 18(4), 243-253.

Finkenzeller, K. (2003). "RFID Handbook: Fundamentals and Applications in Contactless Smart Cards and Identification (2e)". UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Fleisch, E. and Tellkamp, C. (2005). "Inventory inaccuracy and supply chain performance: a simulation study of a retail supply chain". *International Journal of Production Economics*, 95(3), 373-385. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpe.2004.02.003

Flynn, B. B., Sakakibara, S., Schroeder, R. G., Bates, K. A. and Fynn, E. J., (1990). "Empirical research methods in operations management". *Journal of Operations Management*, 9(2), 250-284.

Forza, C. (2002). "Survey research in operations management: a process-based perspective". *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 22(2), 152-194.

Forza, C., (2002), 'Survey research in operations management: a process-based perspective', *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 22(2), 152-194.

Furnham, A. and Gunter, B. (1993). *Corporate Assessment: Auditing a Company's Personality*. London: Routledge.

Gadh, R., Roussos, G., Michael, K., Huang, G., Prabhu, S. and Chu, P. (2010). "RFID - A unique radio innovation for the 21stCentury". *In Proceedings of the IEEE*, 1541-1542.

Galliers, R. D. (1991) "Choosing appropriate Information Systems research approaches: a revised taxonomy, 0 In: Nissen, H. -E.; Klein, H. K.; and Hirschhelm, R. (eds.) Information Systems Research. ContemDorarv ADDroaches & Emergent Trends. Amsterdam: North-Holland, pp. 327-345.

Galliers, R. D., & Land, F. F. (1987). Viewpoint: choosing appropriate information systems research methodologies. *Communications of the ACM*, 30(11), 901-902.

Ganesh D. Bhatt, (2000). "Exploring the relationship between information technology, infrastructure and business process re-engineering". *Business Process Management Journal*, 6(2), 139 – 163.

Gangwar, H., Hema Date, H., and Ramaswamy, R. (2015). Understanding determinants of cloud computing adoption using an integrated TAM-TOE model. *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, 28(1), 107-130.

Gao, H. D., Guo, Y. J., Cui, J. Q., Hao, H. G., and Shi, H. (2012). "A communication protocol of RFID systems in Internet of Things". *International Journal of Security & Its Applications*, 6(2), 91-101.

Garcia, A., Chang, Y., Abarca, A. and Oh, C. (2007). "RFID enhanced MAS for warehouse management". *International Journal of Logistics Research and Applications*, 10(2), 97-107. doi: 10.1080/13675560701427379

Gastaldi, L., Mangiaracina, R., Miragliotta, G., Perego, A., and Tumino, A. (2015). "Measuring the benefits of tracking medical treatment through RFID". *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management*, 64(2), 175-193. doi:10.1108/IJPPM-10-2013-0171

Gaukler, G. M. (2010). "Preventing avoidable stock-outs: the impact of item-level RFID in retail". *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, 25(8), 572-581. doi: 10.1108/08858621011088301

Gaukler, G. M. (2011). "Item-level RFID in a retail supply chain with stock-out-based substitution". *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Informatics*, 7(2), 362-370. doi: 10.1109/TII.2010.2068305

Gaukler, G. M. and Hausman, W. H. (2008). "RFID in mixed-model automotive assembly operations: Process and quality cost savings". *IIE Transactions*, 40(11), 1083-1096. doi: 10.1080/07408170802167654

Gaukler, G. M., Seifert, R. W. and Hausman, W. H. (2007). "Item-level RFID in the retail supply chain". *Production and Operations Management*, 16(1), 65-76. doi: 10.1111/j.1937-5956.2007.tb00166.x

Geary, S., Disney, S. M. and Towill, D. R. (2006). "On bullwhip in supply chains — historical review, present practice and expected future impact". *International Journal of Production Economics*, 101, 2-18. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpe.2005.05.009

Geerts, G. L., and O'Leary, D. E. (2014). "A supply chain of things: The EAGLET ontology for highly visible supply chains". *Decision Support Systems*, 63(1), 633-22. doi:10.1016/j.dss.2013.09.007

Ghadim, A. K. A., and Pannell, D. J. (1999). A Conceptual Framework of Adoption of an Agri-cultural Innovation. Agricultural Economics (21), 145-154

Ghadim, A. K. A., Pannell, D. J. and Burton, M. P. (2005). Risk, Uncertainty, and Learning inAdoption of a Crop Innovation. Agricultural Economics (33), 1-9

Ghobakhloo, M., Arias-Aranda, D. and Benitez-Amado, J. (2011a). Adoption of e-commerce applications in SMEs. Industrial Management & Data Systems, 11(8), 1238-1269.

Ghobakhloo, M., Sabouri, M.S., Tang, S.H. and Amirizadeh, K. (2011b). Electronic commerce-enabled supply chain process integration and business value. Journal of Systems and Information Technology, 13(4), 344-368.

Goel, R. (2007). "Managing RFID consumer privacy and implementation barriers". *Information Systems Security* 16, 217-223. Doi: 10.1080/10658980701576396

Goethals, F. G. and Newlands, D. (2011). Critical issues to consider when evaluating inter-organizational process integration configurations, IÉSEG School of Management (LEM-CNRS), France.

Goodhue, D.L., Kirsch, L.J., and Wybo, M.D. (1992). "The Impact of Data Integration on the Costs and Benefits of Information Systems". MIS Quarterly, September.

Goodhue, D.L., Kirsch, L.J., Quillard, J.A. and Rockart, J.F. (1988). "Managing the Data Resource: A Contingency Perspective". MIS Quarterly, September.

Gordon, G. G. and DiTomaso, N. (1992). Predicting corporate performance from the strength of organizational culture. Journal of Management Studies, 29(6), 783-798.

Gordon, J. and Sohal, A. S., (2001). "Assessing manufacturing plant competitiveness: An empirical field study". *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 21, 1/2, 233-253.

Green, P. E., Donald S. T. and Gerald, A. (1988). Research for Marketing Decisions. Englewood Cliffs: Prentice Hall

Grunow, M. and Piramuthu, S. (2013). "RFID in highly perishable food supply chains - Remaining shelf life to supplant expiry date?". *International Journal of Production Economics*, 146(2), 717-727. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpe.2013.08.028

Guba, E. G. (Ed.). (1990). *The Paradigm Dialog*. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications.

Gunasekaran, A., and Ngai, E. W. T. (2004). "Information systems in supply chain integration and management". *European Journal of Operational Research*, 159(2), 269-295. doi: 10.1016/j.ejor.2003.08.016

Gunasekaran, A., Ngai, E. W. T. and McGaughey, R. E. (2006). "Information technology and systems justification: A review for research and applications". *European Journal of Operational Research*, 173(3), 957-983. doi: 10.1016/j.ejor.2005.06.002

Hage, J. (1980). "Theories of Organisations: Forms, Process and Transformation". New York: John Wiley & Sons.

Hair, J. F. Jr., Black, W. C., Babin, B. J., Anderson, R. E., & Tatham, R. L. (2006). Multivariate data analysis (6th Ed.), New Jersey: Prentice-Hall.

Hammer, M. (1990). "Reengineering Work: Don't Automate, Obliterate". Harvard Business Review, 104-112.

Hammer, M. and Champy, J. A. (1993). "Reengineering the Corporation: A Manifesto for Business Revolution". Harper Business Books, New York. Doi: 10.1002/qre.4680100613

Hardgrave, B. and Miller, R. (2006). "The Myths and Realities of RFID". *International Journal of Global Logistics* & Supply Chain Management, 1(1), 1-16.

Hardgrave, B. C., Aloysius, J. A. and Goyal, S. (2013). "RFID-enabled visibility and retail inventory record inaccuracy: Experiments in the field". *Production and Operations Management*, 22(4), 843-856. doi: 10.1111/poms.12010

Hardgrave, B. C., Aloysius, J. and Goyal, S. (2009). "Does RFID improve inventory accuracy? A preliminary analysis". *International Journal of RF Technologies: Research and Applications*, 1(1), 44-56. doi: 10.1080/17545730802338333

Heese, H. S. (2007). "Inventory record inaccuracy, double marginalization, and RFID adoption". *Production and Operations Management*, 16(5), 542-553. doi: 10.1111/j.1937-5956.2007.tb00279.x

Hellström, D. and Wiberg, M. (2010). "Improving inventory accuracy using RFID technology: a case study". *Assembly Automation*, 30(4), 345-351. doi: 10.1108/01445151011075807

Higgins, L. N. and Cairney, T. (2006). "RFID opportunities and risks". *Journal of Corporate Accounting & Finance* 17, 51-57. doi: 10.1002/jcaf.20231

Hinkka, V. (2012). "Challenges for building RFID tracking systems across the whole supply chain". *International Journal of RF Technologies: Research and Applications*, 3(3), 201-218. doi:10.3233/RFT-2012-025

Hinkka, V., Främling, K., and Häkkinen, M. (2015). "Typology of configurable RFID tracking in fashion logistics". *International Journal of RF Technologies: Research and Applications*, 6(2-3), 77-97. doi:10.3233/RFT-130061

Hirschheim, R. A. (1985) "Information Systems Epistemology: An Historical Perspective. ff In: Mumford, E.;

Hirschheim, R.; Fitzgerald, G. & Wood-Harper, T. (eds.) Research Methods in Information Systems (IFIP 8.2 Proceedings) North-Holland, Amsterdam, pp. 13 - 36.

Hirschheim, R. and Klein, H. (1989). "Four paradigms of Information systems development". *Communications of the ACM*, 32(10), 1199-1216.

Hofstede, G. (1998). "Attitudes, values and organizational culture: disentangling the concepts". *Organization Studies*, 19(3), 477-92.

Holden, M. T., & Lynch, P. (2004). "Choosing the appropriate methodology: understanding research philosophy". *The Marketing Review*, 4(4), 397-409.

Holloway, S. (2006). "RFID: An introduction". Solidsoft Ltd.

Holweg, M., Disney, S., Holmstrom, J. and Smaros, J. (2005). "Supply chain collaboration: Making sense of the strategy continuum". *European Management Journal*, 23(2), 170-181. doi: 10.1016/j.emj.2005.02.008

Hong, I.-H., Dang, J.-F., Tsai, Y.-H., Liu, C.-S., Lee, W.-T., Wang, M.-L., and Chen, P.-C. (2011). "An RFID application in the food supply chain: A case study of convenience stores in Taiwan". *Journal of Food Engineering*, 106(2), 119-126. doi: 10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2011.04.014

Hong, S. R., Kim, S. T. and Kim, C. O. (2010). "Neural network controller with on-line inventory feedback data in RFID-enabled supply chain". *International Journal of Production Research*, 48(9), 2613-2632. doi: 10.1080/00207540903564967

Hossain, M. M. and Prybutok, V. R. (2008). Consumer Acceptance of RFID Technology: An Exploratory Study. IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management, 55 (2), 316 - 328.

Hossain, M.A. and Quaddus, M.(2011). The adoption and continued usage intention of RFID: an integrated framework. Inform Technol People, 24(3), 236–256.

Hou, J.-L. and Huang, C.-H. (2006). "Quantitative performance evaluation of RFID applications in the supply chain of the printing industry". *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 106(1), 96-120. doi: 10.1108/02635570610641013

Hozak, K. and Collier, D. A. (2008). "RFID as an enabler of improved manufacturing performance". *Decision Sciences*, 39(4), 859-881. doi: 10.1111/j.1540-5915.2008.00214.x

Hribernik, K.A., Rabe, L., Thoben, K.-D. and Schumacher, J. (2006). "The product avatar as a product-instancecentric information management concept". *International Journal of Product Lifecycle Management*, 1, 367-379. doi: 10.1504/IJPLM.2006.011055

Hsiaoping, Y. (2013). "Effects of RFID in Retailing on Customer Trust". *Journal of Service Science and Management*, 6(2), 143-150.

Hsu, M.-H., Yen, C.-H., Chiu, C.-M., & Chang, C.-M. (2006). "A longitudinal investigation of continued online shopping behavior: An extension of the theory of planned behaviour". *International Journal of Human-Computer Studies*, 64, 889-904.

Hsu, P.F., Kraemer, K.L. and Dunkle, D. (2006). "Determinants of e-business use in us firms". *International Journal of Electronic Commerce*, 10(4), 9-45.

Hu, L., & Bentler, P. M. (1998). Fit indices in covariance structure modeling: Sensitivity to underparameterized model misspecification. Psychological Methods, 3, 424–453.

Hu, L., & Bentler, P. M. (1999). Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: Conventional criteria versus new alternatives. Structural Equation Modeling, 6, 1–55.

Huang, G. Q., Wright, P. K., Molina, A. and Ranky, P. G. (2009). "Editorial on special issue: RFID & wireless manufacturing". *International Journal of Computer Integrated Manufacturing*, 22(7), 577-578.

Huang, G., Jin, H. L., Yuan, X. D., Goa, L. and Rao, Y. (2012). "RFID-enabled real-time PBS monitoring for automobile assembly factory". *International Journal of Computer Integrated Manufacturing*, 25(1), 66-85. doi: 10.1080/0951192X.2010.528034

Huang, G.Q., Wright, P.K., and Newman, S.T. (2008). Wireless manufacturing: a literature review, recent developments, and case studies. International Journal of Computer Integrated Manufacturing, 22(7), 1-16.

Huang, K. S. and Tang, S. M. (2008). "RFID Applications Strategy and Deployment in Bike Renting system". 10th International Conference on Advanced Communication Technology, pp660-663. Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE), USA.

Huber, N., Michael, K. and McCarthie, L. (2007). "Barriers to RFID adoption in the Supply Chain". *RFID Eurasia*, 1st Annual, 5-6 September, Istanbul, Turkey.

Huberman, A. M. and Miles, M. B., (1998), 'Data management and analysis methods', in denzin, N. K. and Lincoln, Y. S. (eds.), *Collecting and interpreting qualitative materials*, London, Sage Publications.

Hudson, L., and Ozanne, J. (1988). Alternative Ways of Seeking Knowledge in Consumer Research. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 14(4), 508–521.

Hussey, J., and Hussey, R. (1997). Business Research. A Practical Guide for Undergraduate and Postgraduate Students, Basingstoke, UK: Palgrave.

Iacovou, C. L., Benbasat, I. and Dexter, A. S. (1995). "Electronic data interchange and small organisations: adoption and impact of technology". *MIS Quarterly*, 19(4), 465-485.

IDTechEx, (2015). Accessed from: <u>http://www.idtechex.com/research/reports/rfid-forecasts-players-and-opportunities-2016-2026-000451.asp</u>

Ilie-Zudor, E., Kemény, Z., van Blommestein, F., Monostori, L. and van der Meulen, A. (2011). A survey of applications and requirements of unique identification systems and RFID techniques. Computer Industry, 62(3), 227–252. doi:10.1016/j.compind.2010.10.004 Information and Management, 42(1), 227-242. 100.

IoT Agenda, (2006). Accessed from: <u>http://internetofthingsagenda.techtarget.com/definition/Internet-of-Things-IoT</u>

Jaggi, A. S., Sawhney, R. S., Balestrassi, P. P., Simonton, J., and Upreti, G. (2014). An experimental approach for developing radio frequency identification (RFID) ready packaging. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 85, 371-381. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2014.08.105

Jarugumilli, S. and Grasman, S.E. (2007). "RFID-enabled inventory routing problems". *International Journal of Manufacturing Technology and Management*, 10(1), 92-105.

Jarvinen, P. (1999). On Research Methods, Tampereen Yliopistopaino Oy, Tampere, Finland: Juvenes-Print.

Jaselskis, E. J., Asce, A. M. and El-misalami, T. (2003). "Implementing radio frequency identification in the construction process". *Journal of Construction Engineering and Management*, 129(6), 680-689. doi: 10.1061/(ASCE)0733-9364

Jedermanna, R., Ruiz-Garciab, L., and Langa, W. (2009). "Spatial temperature profiling by semi-passive RFID loggers for perishable food transportation". *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*, 65, 145–154. doi: 10.1016/j.compag.2008.08.006

Jenkins, Jr., G. D. and Taber, T. D. (1977). A Monte-Carlo study of factors a Decting three indices of composite scale reliability. Journal of Applied Psychology, 62, 392-398.

Jeong, B.-K. and Lu, Y. (2008). "The impact of radio frequency identification (RFID) investment announcements on the market value of the firm". *Journal of Theoretical and Applied Electronic Commerce Research*, 3(1), 41-54.

Jeyaraj, A., Rottman, J. W. and Lacity, M. C. (2006). "A review of the predictors, linkages, and biases in IT innovation adoption research". *Journal of Information Technology*, 21, 1-23.

Jiao, Y.-Y. and Zhen,Y.-W. (2008). "Hospital Linens Inventory Control Re-engineering Based on RFID". *IEEE Conference on Cybernetics and Intelligent Systems*, 612-617.

Jimenez, C., Dauzère-Pérès, S., Feuillebois, C., and Pauly, E. (2013). "Optimizing the positioning and technological choices of RFID elements for aircraft part identification". *European Journal of Operational Research*, 227(2), 350-357. doi:10.1016/j.ejor.2012.10.034

Johns, R. (2010). Likert items and scales. Colchester: UK Data Archive. Survey Question Bank Methods Fact Sheet 1.

Jones, E. C., Riley, M. W., Franca, R. and Reigle, S. (2007). "Case study: the engineering economics of RFID in specialized manufacturing". *The Engineering Economist*, 52(3), 285-303. doi: 10.1080/00137910701503951

Jones, P., Clarke-Hill, C., Comfort, D., Hillier, D. and Shears, P. (2005). "Radio frequency identification and food retailing in the UK". *British Food Journal*, 107(6), 356-360. doi: 10.1108/00070700510602156

Jones, R. A., Jimmieson, N. L., and Griffiths, A. (2005). The impact of organizational culture and reshaping capabilities on change implementation success: The mediating role of readiness for change. Journal of Management Studies, 42(2), 361-386.

Joo, Y. B. and Kim, Y. G. (2004)." Determinants of Corporate Adoption of e-Marketplace: An Innovation Theory Perspective". *Journal of Purchasing & Supply Management*, 10(2), 89-101.

Juban, R. L. and Wyld, D. C. (2004). Would You Like Chips With That? Consumer Perspectives of RFID. Management Research News(27:11/12), 29-44.

Juels, A. (2006). "RFID security and privacy: a research survey". *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, 24(2), 381-394. doi: 10.1109/JSAC.2005.861395

Jun, H.-B., Shin, J.-H., Kim, Y.-S., Kiritsis, D. and Xirouchakis, P. (2009). "A framework for RFID applications in product lifecycle management". *International Journal of Computer Integrated Manufacturing*, 22(7), 595-615. doi: 10.1080/09511920701501753

Kang, Y. and Gershwin, S. B. (2004). "Information inaccuracy in inventory systems — stock loss and stockout". *IEEE Transactions*, 37(9), 1-29. doi: 10.1080/07408170590969861

Kaplan, B. and Duchon, D. (1988). "Combining qualitative and quantitative methods in information systems research: a case study". *MIS Quarterly*, 12(4), 571–586.

Kaplan, R. S. and D.P. Norton (1992). *The Balanced Scorecard: Measures that Drive Performance*, Harvard Business Review, (January-February), 71-79.

Kaplan, R. S. and D.P. Norton (1993). *Putting the Balanced Scorecard to Work*, Harvard Business Review (September-October).

Kaplan, R. S. and D.P. Norton (2004a). *Strategy Maps: Converting Intangible Assets into Tangible Outcomes,* Boston, HBS Press.

Kaplan, R. S. and D.P. Norton (2004b). *Measuring the Strategic Readiness of Intangible Assets*, Harvard Business Review (February), 52-63.

Kapoor, G., Wei, Z., and Piramuthu, S. (2009). "Challenges associated with RFID tag implementations in supply chains". *European Journal of Information Systems*, 18(6), 526-533. doi:10.1057ejis.2009.41

Kapoor, G., Zhou, W., and Piramuthu, S. (2011). "Multi-tag and multi-owner RFID ownership transfer in supply chains". *Decision Support Systems*, 52(1), 258-270. doi:10.1016/j.dss.2011.08.002

Kapoor, K., Dwivedi, Y., C. Piercy, N., Lal, B., and Weerakkody, V. (2014). "RFID integrated systems in libraries: extending TAM model for empirically examining the use". *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, 27(6), 731–758. doi:10.1108/JEIM-10-2013-0079

Karaer, Ö. and Lee, H. L. (2007). "Managing the reverse channel with RFID-enabled negative demand information". *Production and Operations Management* 16(5), 625-645. doi: 10.1111/j.1937-5956.2007.tb00285.x

Kärkkäinen, M. (2003). "Increasing efficiency in the supply chain for short shelf-life goods using RFID tagging". *International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management*, 31(10), 529-536. doi: 10.1108/09590550310497058

Kasiri, N., Sharda, R., and Hardgrave, B. (2012). "A balanced scorecard for item-level RFID in the retail sector: a Delphi study". *European Journal of Information Systems*, 21(3), 255-267. doi:10.1057/ejis.2011.33

Kettinger, W. (1994). National Infrastructure Diffusion and the US Information Super Highway. Information and Management, 27(6), 357-368

Khandwalla, P. (1970). "Environment and the Organizational Structure of Firms". Montreal, Canada: McGill University, Faculty of Management.

Kim, H. and Sohn, S. (2009). "Cost of ownership model for the RFID logistics system applicable to u-city". *European Journal of Operational Research*, 194(2), 406-417. doi:10.1016/j.ejor.2007.12.015 Kim, K., Kim, H., Kim, S. and Jung, J. (2016). "i-RM: An intelligent risk management framework for context-aware ubiquitous cold chain logistics". *Expert Systems with Applications*, 46, 463-473. doi:10.1016/j.eswa.2015.11.005

Kimberly, J. R. and Evanisko, M. J. (1981). "Organizational innovation: The influence of individual, organizational, and contextual factors on hospital adoption of technological and administrative innovations". Academy of Management Journal, 24(4), 689–713.

Kiritsis, D.. (2011). Closed-loop PLM for intelligent products in the era of the Internet of things. *Computer-Aided Design*, 43, 479-501.

Klein, H. K., & Myers, M. D. (1999). A set of principles for conducting and evaluating interpretive field studies in information systems. *MIS Quarterly*, 67-93.

Klundert, J., Muls, P. and Schadd, M. (2008). "Optimizing sterilization logistics in hospitals". *Health Care Management Science*, 11(1), 23-33. doi: 10.1007/s10729-007-9037-4

Ko, J. M., Kwak, C., Cho, Y. and Kim, C. O. (2011). "Adaptive product tracking in RFID-enabled large-scale supply chain". *Expert Systems with Applications*, 38(3), 1583-1590. doi: 10.1016/j.eswa.2010.07.077

Kochar, B. and Chhillar, R. S. (2011). "A novel RFID data mining system: Integration of effective sequential pattern mining and fuzzy rules generation techniques". *International Journal of Wireless Information Networks*, 18, 309-318. doi: 10.1007/s10776-011-0151-3

Kök, A. and Shang, K. (2014). "Evaluation of cycle-count policies for supply chains with inventory inaccuracy and implications on RFID investments". *European Journal of Operational Research*, 237(1), 91-105. doi:10.1016/j.ejor.2014.01.052

Kok, A. G. D., Donselaar, K. H. V. and Woensel, T. V. (2008). "A break-even analysis of RFID technology for inventory sensitive to shrinkage". *International Journal of Production Economics*, 112(2), 521-531. doi:10.1016/j.ijpe.2007.05.005

Kotter, J. P. and Heskett, J. L. (1992). Corporate culture and performance. New York: The Free Press.

Krosnick, Jon A. (1991). Response strategies for coping with the cognitive demands of attitude measures in surveys. Applied Cognitive Psychology, 5, 213-236.

Kuan, K. K. and Chau, P. Y. (2001). "A perception-based model for EDI adoption in small businesses using a technology–organization–environment framework". *Information & Management*, 38(8), 507-521.

Kuhn T. (1970) The structure of scientific revolutions. 2nd Edition. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.

Kuhn, T. (1974) The Essential Tension: Selected Studies In Scientific Tradition and Change. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Kumar, A., and Rahman, S. (2014). "RFID-enabled process reengineering of closed-loop supply chains in the healthcare industry of Singapore". *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 85, 382–394. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2014.04.037

Kumar, S., Anselmo, M. and Berndt, K. (2009). "Transforming the retail industry: potential and challenges with RFID technology". *Transportation Journal*, 48(4), 61.

Kvarnström, B. and Vanhatalo, E. (2010). "Using RFID to improve traceability in process industry: Experiments in a distribution chain for iron ore pellets". *Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management*, 21(1), 139-154. doi: 10.1108/17410381011011524

Kvarnstrom, B., Bergquist, B. and Vannman, K. (2011). "RFID to improve traceability in continuous granular flows – An experimental case study". *Quality Engineering*, 23(4), 343-357. doi: 10.1080/08982112.2011.602278

Kwok, S. K., Ting, J. S. L., Tsang, A. H. C., Lee, W. B. and Cheung, B. C. F. (2010). "Design and development of a mobile EPC-RFID-based self-validation system (MESS) for product authentication". *Computers in Industry*, 61(7), 624-635. doi: 10.1016/j.compind.2010.02.001

Kwok, S. K., Ting, S. L., Tsang, A. H. C. and Cheung, C. F. (2010). "A counterfeit network analyzer based on RFID and EPC". *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 110(7), 1018-1037. doi: 10.1108/02635571011069086

Kwon, K., Kang, D., Yoon, Y., Sohn, J.-S., and Chung, I.-J. (2014). "A real time process management system using RFID data mining". *Computers in Industry*, 65(4), 721–732. doi:10.1016/j.compind.2014.02.007

Lai, F., Hutchinson, J. and Zhang, G. (2005). "Radio frequency identification (RFID) in China: opportunities and challenges". *International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management*, 33(12), 905-916. doi: 10.1108/09590550510634639

Lambert, D. M. and Cooper, M. C., (2000), 'Issues in supply chain management', *Industrial Marketing Management*, 29(1), 65-83.

Lambert, D. M. and Harrington, T. C., (1990), 'Measuring nonresponse bias in customer service mail surveys', *Journal of Business Logistics*, 11(2), 5-25.

Landt, J. (2005). "The History of RFID". IEEE Potentials, 24(4), 8-11.

Langer, N., Forman, C., Kekre, S. and Scheller-Wolf, A. (2007). "Assessing the impact of RFID on return center logistics". *Interfaces*, 37(6), 501-514. doi: 10.1287/inte.1070.0308

Lao, S.I., Choy, K. L., Ho, G. T. S., Tsim, Y. C. and Lee, C. K. H. (2011). "Real-time inbound decision support system for enhancing the performance of a food warehouse". *Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management*, 22(8), 1104-1031. doi: 10.1108/17410381111177467

Lee, C. K. M., Ho, W., Ho, G. T. S., and Lau, H. C. W. (2011). "Design and development of logistics workflow systems for demand management with RFID". *Expert Systems with Applications*, 38, 5428-5437. doi: 10.1016/j.eswa.2010.10.012

Lee, C.-F., Chien, H.-Y. and Laih, C.-S. (2012). "Server-less RFID authentication and searching protocol with enhanced security". *International Journal of Communication Systems*, 25(3), 376-385. doi: 10.1002/dac.1246

Lee, D. and Park, J. (2008). "RFID-based traceability in the supply chain". *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 108(6), 713-725. doi: 10.1108/02635570810883978

Lee, H. and Özer, Ö. (2007). "Unlocking the value of RFID". *Production and Operations Management*, 16(1), 40-64. doi: 10.1111/j.1937-5956.2007.tb00165.x

Lee, I. and Lee, B.-C. (2012). "Measuring the value of RFID investment: Focusing on RFID budget allocation". *IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management*, 59(4), 551-559. doi: 10.1109/TEM.2011.2163072

Lee, O. K., Wang, M., Lim, K. H. and Peng, Z. (2009). "Knowledge management systems diffusion in Chinese enterprises: A multistage approach using the technology-organization-environment framework". *Journal of Global Information Management (JGIM)*, 17(1), 70-84.

Leimeister, S., Leimeister, J. M., Knebal, U. and Krcmar, H. (2009). A cross-national comparison of perceived strategic importance of RFID for CIOs in Germany and Italy. International Journal of Information Management, 29(1), 37–47.

Leung, J., Cheung, W., and Chu, S. C. (2014). "Aligning RFID applications with supply chain strategies". *Information and Management*, 51(2), 260–269. doi:10.1016/j.im.2013.11.010 Levin, W. C. (1988) Sociological Ideas. 2nd ed. Belmont, CA: Wadsworth.

Levy, M., Powell, P. and Yetton, P. (2001). SMEs: aligning IS and the strategic context. Journal of Information Technology, 16(3), 133-144

Li, J., Wang, Y.-F., Zhang, Z.-M. and Chu, C.-H. (2010). "Investigating acceptance of RFID in Chinese firms: the technology-organization-environment framework". *Program for the IEEE International Conference on RFID-Technology and Applications*, Guangzhou, June 17-19.

Li, L. (2013). "Technology designed to combat fakes in the global supply chain". *Business Horizons*, 56, 167-177. doi: 10.1016/j.bushor.2012.11.010

Li, S., Visich, J. K., Khumawala, B. M. and Zhang, C. (2006). "Radio frequency identification technology: applications, technical challenges and strategies". *Sensor Review*, 26(3), 193-202. doi: 10.1108/02602280610675474

Liao, W.-P., Lin, T. M. Y., and Liao, S.-H. (2011). "Contributions to radio frequency identification (RFID) research: An assessment of SCI-, SSCI-indexed papers from 2004 to 2008". *Decision Support*, 50, 548-556. doi: 10.1016/j.dss.2010.11.013

Likert, Rensis (1932). A technique for the measurement of attitudes. Archives of Psychology, 140, 1-55

Lim, M. K., Bahr, W., and Leung, S. C. H. (2013). "RFID in the warehouse: A literature analysis (1995-2010) of its applications, benefits, challenges and future trends". *International Journal of Production Economics*, 145, 409-430. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpe.2013.05.006

Lin, C. (2009). "An empirical study on organizational determinants of RFID adoption in the logistics industry". *Journal of Technology Management & Innovation, 4*(1), 1-8. doi: 10.4067/S0718-27242009000100001

Lin, C.C. and Ku, T.H. (2009). The impact of RFID application to business performance: Towards a systemic view. International Journal of Electronics and Business Management, 7, 12-25.

Lin, H.F. and Lin, S.M. (2008) Determinants of e-business diffusion: A test of the technology diffusion perspective, "Technovation", 28(3), 135-145.

Lin, L. (2009). "An integrated framework for the development of radio frequency identification technology in the logistics and supply chain management". *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, 57, 832–842.

Lincoln, Y., and Guba, E. (1985). Naturalistic Inquiry. London: Sage.

Lissitz, R. W. and Green, S. B. (1975). Elect of the number of scale points on reliability: a Monte-Carlo approach. Journal of Applied Psychology, 60, 10-13.

Liu, C. M. and Chen, L. S. (2009). "Applications of RFID technology for improving production efficiency in an integrated-circuit packaging house". *International Journal of Production Research*, 47(8), 2203-2216. doi: 10.1080/00207540802380556

Liu, M. (2008). "Determinants of e-commerce development: An empirical study by firms in Shaanxi, china". In: *4th International Conference on Wireless Communications, Networking and Mobile Computing,* Dalian, China, October (pp. 1-4).

Liu, X., Tang, O. and Huang, P. (2008). "Dynamic pricing and ordering decision for the perishable food of the supermarket using RFID technology". *Asia Pacific Journal of Marketing and Logistics*, 20(1), 7-22. doi: 10.1080/12297119.2006.9707377

Lock, E. A. and Kirkpatrick, S. A. (1995). Promoting creativity in organisations. In Ford, C. M., and Gioia, D. A.(Eds), *Creative Action in Organisations: Ivory Tower Visions & Real World Voices* (pp.115-120). London: Sage.

Loebbecke, C. and Huyskens, C. (2007) 'Towards Standardizing Success: RFID in Fashion Retailing', International Bled eConference, Bled.

Loraas, T. and Wolfe, C. (2005). Why wait? Modeling the factors that influence the decision of when to learn a new use of technology, Working paper, Texas A&M University.

Lord, F. M. and Novick, M. R. (1968). "Statistical theories of mental test scores". Reading MA: Addison-Welsley Publishing Company

Love, J. (2007). "Process Automation Handbook: A Guide to Theory and Practice". Springer-Verlag, London. doi: 10.1007/978-1-84628-282-9

Love, P. E. D. and Irani, Z. (2004). An exploratory study of information technology evaluation and benefits management practices of SMEs in the construction industry.

Love, P. E. D., Irani, Z., Standing, C., Lin, C. and Burn, J. M. (2005). The enigma of evaluation: benefits, costs and risks of IT in Australian small – medium-sized enterprises. Information and Management, 42(7), 947-964

Lutton, E., Skinner, G. and Regan, B., (2008). RFID rationale and deployment methodology. *In: Proceedings of the 8th conference on applied computer science*, 21–23 November, Venice, Italy, 211–216.

Luttropp, C. and Johansson, J. (2010). "Improved recycling with life cycle information tagged to the product". *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 18(4), 346-354. doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2009.10.023

Ma, D. and Saxena, N. (2014). "A context-aware approach to defend against unauthorized reading and relay attacks in RFID systems". Security and Communication Networks, 7, 2684-2695. doi: 10.1002/sec.404

MacGregor, R. C. and Vrazalic, L. (2005) "A basic model of electronic commerce adoption barriers: A study of regional small businesses in Sweden and Australia". *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 12(4), 510 – 527.

MacVaugh, J. and Schiavone, F. (2010). "Limits to the diffusion of innovation". *European Journal of Innovation Management*, 13(2), 197-221.

Madni, M., Chalasani, H. P. D and Boppana, R. V. (2007). "Guest Editor's Introduction: RFID technology: opportunities and challenges". *IEEE Systems Journal*, 1(2), 78-81.

Maffia, M., Mainetti, L., Patrono, L., and Urso, E. (2012). "Evaluation of potential effects of RFID-based item-level tracing systems on the integrity of biological pharmaceutical products". *International Journal of RF Technologies: Research and Applications*, 3(2), 101-118. doi:10.3233/RFT-2012-022

Maleki, R.A. and Meiser, G. (2011). "Managing returnable containers logistics - A case study: Part II - Improving visibility through using automatic identification technologies". *International Journal of Engineering Business Management*, 3(2), 45-54. doi: 10.5772/50936

Malhotra, M. K., Steele, D. C., & Grover, V. (1994). Important Strategic and Tactical Manufacturing Issues in the 1990s. *Decision Sciences*, 25(2), 189-214. Marquardt, M. J. (2002). Building the Learning Organization (2 Ed.). Palo Alto, CA: Davies-Black.

Martin, P. Y., & Turner, B. A. (1986). "Grounded theory and organizational research". *Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, 22(2), 141-157.

Martins, E. C. (2000). *The influence of organisational culture on creativity and innovation in a university library* (MInf dissertation). Pretoria: University of South Africa.

Martins, M. and Oliveira, T. (2009). "Determinants of e-commerce adoption by small firms in Portugal". In: *Proceedings of the 3rd European Conference on Information Management and Evaluation.* Gothenburg, Sweden, September, pp. 328-338.

Marton-Williams, J., 1984. Questionnaire design. In: R. Worcester and J. Downham eds. Consumer market research handbook Yd ed. UK: E. S. O. M. A. R., 111-147.

Matta, V. and Moberg, C. (2006). "The development of a research agenda for RFID adoption and effectiveness in supply chains". *Issues in Information Systems*, 7, 246-251.

Matta, V. and Moberg, C. (2007). Defining the antecedents for adoption of RFID in the supply chain. *Issues in Information Systems*, 8, 449–453.

McFarlane, D., Sarma, S., Chirn, J., Wong, C. and Ashton, K. (2003). "Auto ID systems and intelligent manufacturing control". *Engineering Applications of Artificial Intelligence*, 16, 365-376. doi: 10.1016/S0952-1976(03)00077-0

McKelvie, S. J. (1978). Graphic rating scales: How many categories? British Journal of Psychology, 69, 185-202.

Mehrjerdi, Y. Z. (2010). "RFID-enabled healthcare systems: risk-benefit analysis". *International Journal of Pharmaceutical and Healthcare Marketing*, 4(3), 282-300. doi: 10.1108/17506121011076192

Mehrjerdi, Y. Z. (2010). "RFID-enabled healthcare systems: risk-benefit analysis". *International Journal of Pharmaceutical and Healthcare Marketing*, 4(3), 282-300. doi: 10.1108/17506121011076192

Meiller, Y., Bureau, S., Zhou, W. and Piramuthu, S. (2011). "Adaptive knowledge-based system for health care applications with RFID-generated information". *Decision Support Systems*, 51(1), 198-207. doi: 10.1016/j.dss.2010.12.008

Mejjaouli, S., and Babiceanu, R. F. (2015). "RFID-wireless sensor networks integration: Decision models and optimization of logistics systems operations". *Journal of Manufacturing Systems*, 35, 234–245. doi:10.1016/j.jmsy.2015.02.005

Memon, Q. A. and Khoja, S. A. (2012). "RFID-based patient tracking for regional collaborative healthcare". *International Journal of Computer Applications in Technology*, 45(4), 231-244. doi: 10.1504/IJCAT.2012.051123

Meredith, J. R., Raturi, A., Amoako-Gyampah, K. and Kaplan, B., (1989), 'Alternative research paradigms in operations', *Journal of Operations Management*, 8(4), 297-327.

Meredith, S. and Francis, D., (2000), 'Journey towards agility: the agility wheel explored', *The TQM Magazine*, 12(2), 137-143.

Metters, R. (1997). "Quantifying the bullwhip effect in supply chains". *Journal of Operations Management*, 15, 89-100. doi: 10.1016/S0272-6963(96)00098-8

Meyer, H., Fuchs, F. and Thiel, K. (2009). "Manufacturing Execution Systems (MES), Optimal Design, Planning, and Deployment". McGraw-Hill Companies Inc.

Meyer-Larsen, N., Müller, R., Lyridis, D., and Zacharioudakis, P. (2012). "Improving intermodal container logistics and security by RFID". *International Journal of RF Technologies: Research and Applications*, 3(1), 15-38. doi:10.3233/RFT-2011-015

Michael, K. and McCathie, L. (2005). "The pros and cons of RFID in supply chain management". Proceedings of the International Conference on Mobile Business: IEEE, Computer Society.

Michalska J (2005). "The usage of the balanced scorecard for estimation of the enterprise's effectiveness". *Journal of Materials Processing Technology*, 162–163, 751–758.

Miller, G. A. (1956). The magical number seven, plus or minus two: some limits on our capacity for processing information. Psychological Review, 63(2), 81-97.

Miragliotta G., Perego A. and Tumino A. (2009). "A quantitative model for the introduction of RFID in the fast moving consumer goods supply chain: are there any profits?" *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 29(10), 1049-1082. doi: 10.1108/01443570910993483

Mirza, Z. and Brohi, M. N. (2013). "An in-depth analysis on integrating campus radio frequency identification system on clouds for enhancing security". *Journal of Computer Science*, 9(12), 1710-1714. doi: 10.3844/jcssp.2013.1710.1714

Mitchell, V. and Zmud, R. (1999). "The effects of coupling IT and work process strategies in redesign process". *Organization science*, 10(4), 424-438.

Mole, K. F., Ghobadian, A., O'Regan, N. and Liu, J. (2004). The use and deployment of soft process technologies within UK manufacturing SMEs: An empirical assessment using logit models. Journal of Small Business Management, 42(3), 303-324.

Muir, S. (2007). "RFID security concerns". Library Hi Tech, 25(1), 95-107. doi: 10.1108/07378830710735885

Mulaik, S.A., James, L.R., Van Alstine, J., Bennet, N., Lind, S., and Stilwell, C.D. (1989). Evaluation of Goodnessof-Fit Indices for Structural Equation Models. Psychological Bulletin, 105(3), 430-45.

Mumford, E. (2001). Action Research: Helping Organisations to Change, in *Qualitative Research in IS: Issues and Trends*, ed. Trauth, E. M., Hershey, USA: Idea Group, p. 308.

Musa, A., Gunasekaran, A., and Yusuf, Y. 2014a. "Supply chain product visibility: Methods, systems and impacts". *Expert Systems with Applications*, 41(1), 176-194. doi: 10.1016/j.eswa.2013.07.020

Musa, A., Gunasekaran, A., Yusuf, Y., and Abdelazim, A. 2014b. "Embedded devices for supply chain applications: Towards hardware integration of disparate technologies". *Expert Systems with Applications*, 41(1), 137-155. doi: 10.1016/j.eswa.2013.07.017

Myers, M. D. (1997). Qualitative research in information systems. *Management Information Systems Quarterly*, 21, 241-242.

Myers, M.D. (2009). Qualitative Research in Business and Management, London: Sage Publications.

Nachmias, C. F. and Nachmias, D. (1992). *Research methods in the social sciences*. 4th edn., London, Edward Arnold.

Nativi, J. J. and Lee, S. (2012). "Impact of RFID information-sharing strategies on a decentralized supply chain with reverse logistics operations". *International Journal of Production Economics*, 136(2), 366-377. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpe.2011.12.024

Nemeth, P., Toth, L. and Hartvanyi, T. (2006). "Adapting RFID in supply chain". *In ICM 2006 IEEE 3rd International Conference on Mechatronics*, 263-266.

Neuman, L. W. (2000). *Social Research Methods: Qualitative and Quantitative Approaches (4th Ed.)*, USA: Allyn and Bacon.

Neuman, W. (1997). *Social Research Methods: Qualitative and Quantitative Approaches* (3rd Edition). Needham Heights, MA, USA: Allyn & Bacon.

Newman, I., and Benz, C. R., (1998) *Qualitative-Quantitative Research Methodology: Exploring the Interactive Continuum*, Southern Illinois, Southern Illinois University Press

Newman, M. and Robey, D. (1992). A social process model of user-analyst relationships, MIS Quarterly, 16(2), 249-266

Newman, M. and Robey, D. (1992). A social process model of user-analyst relationships, *MIS Quarterly*, 16(2), 249-266.

Ngai, E. T., Leung, T. P., Wong, Y. H., Lee, M. M., Chai, P. F., and Choi, Y. S. (2012). "Design and development of a context-aware decision support system for real-time accident handling in logistics". *Decision Support Systems*, 52(4), 816-827. doi:10.1016/j.dss.2011.11.016

Ngai, E. W. T. and Cheng, T. C. E., (1997). "Identifying potential barriers to total quality management using principal component analysis and correspondence analysis". *International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management*, 14(4), 391-408.

Ngai, E. W. T., Cheng, T. C. E., Lai, K.-H., Chai., P. Y. F., Choi, Y. S. and Sin, R. K. Y. (2010). "Development of an RFID-based traceability system: Experiences and lessons learned from an aircraft engineering company". *Production and Operations Management*, 16(5), 554-568. doi: 10.5555/ijop.2007.16.5.554

Ngai, E. W. T., Cheung, B. K. S., Lam, S. S., and Ng, C. T. (2014). "RFID value in aircraft parts supply chains: A case study". *International Journal of Production Economics*, 147(PART B), 330–339. doi:10.1016/j.ijpe.2012.09.017

Ngai, E. W. T., Moon, K. K. L., Liu, J. N. K., Tsang, K. F., Law, R. and Wong, I. C. L. (2008). "Extending CRM in the retail industry : An RFID-based personal shopping assistant system". *Communications of the Association for Information Systems*, 23, 277-294.

Ngai, E. W. T., Moon, K. K. L., Riggins, F. J., and Yi, C. Y. (2008). "RFID research: An academic literature review (1995-2005) and future research. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 112, 510-520. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpe.2007.05.004

Ngai, E. W. T., To, C. K. M., Moon, K. L., Chan, L. K., Yeung, P. K. W. and Lee, C. M. (2010). "RFID systems implementation: a comprehensive framework and a case study". *International Journal of Production Research*, 48(9), 2583-2612.

Ngai, E. W. T., Li, C.-L., Cheng, T. C. E., Lun, Y. H. V., Lai, K.-H., Cao, J. and Lee, M. C. M. (2011). "Design and development of an intelligent context-aware decision support system for real-time monitoring of container terminal operations". *International Journal of Production Research*, 49(12), 3501-3526. doi: 10.1080/00207541003801291

Ngai, E., Cheng, T., Au, S., and Lai, K. (2007). "Mobile commerce integrated with RFID technology in a container depot". *Decision Support Systems*, 43(1), 62-76. doi:10.1016/j.dss.2005.05.006

Nguyen, S. D., Pham, T. T., Blanc, F. F., Le, N. N., Dang, C. M. and Tedjini, S. (2013). "Approach for quality detection of food by RFID-based wireless sensor tag". *Electronics Letters*, 49(25), 1588-1589. doi: 10.1049/el.2013.3328

Nguyen, T. U. H. (2009). Information technology adoption in SMEs: an integrated framework. International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behaviour and Research, 15(2), 162-186.

Novick, M.R. 1966. "The axioms and principal results of classical test theory". *Journal of Mathematical Psychology*, 3(1), 1-18.

Nummela, J., Lehto, A., Ukkonen, L., and Sydänheimo, L. (2009). "Automatic reel identification by RFID technology in paper reel supply chains: Examples from paper mill and sea port environments". *International Journal of RF Technologies: Research and Applications*, 1(3), 194-213. doi:10.1080/17545730903140851

Nunnally, J. C. (1978). Psychometric Theory. McGraw-Hill Book Company, 86-113, 190-255.

O'Callaghan, R., P.J. Kauffmann, B.R. Konsynski. (1992). Adoption Correlates and Share Effects of Electronic Data Interchange Systems in Marketing Channels. *Journal of Marketing*, 56, 45-56.

O'Reilly, C. A. and Chatman, J. A. (1996). Culture as social control: Corporations, cults, and commitment. Research in Organizational Behavior, 18, 157-200.

OECD (2006). RADIO-FREQUENCY IDENTIFICATION (RFID): DRIVERS, CHALLENGES AND PUBLIC POLICY CONSIDERATIONS, 1-35. Accessed: <u>http://www.oecd.org/internet/consumer/36323191.pdf</u>

Oliveira, T. and Martins, M. (2011). "Literature review of information technology adoption models at firm level". *The Electronic Journal Information Systems Evaluation*, 14(1), 110-121.

Oliveira, T. and Martins, M.F.O. (2008). "A comparison of web site adoption in small and large Portuguese firms". In: *Proceedings of the international Conference on E-Business*. Porto, Portugal, July, pp. 370-377.

Oliveira, T., & Martins, M. F. (2010). "Understanding e-business adoption across industries in European countries". *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 110(9), 1337-1354.

Olson, E. and Slater, F. S. (2002). "The Balanced Scorecard, Competitive Strategy, and Performance". *Business Horizons*, 45(3), 11-16.

Ondemir, O. and Gupta, S. (2014). "A multi-criteria decision making model for advanced repair-to-order and disassembly-to-order system". *European Journal of Operational Research*, 233(2), 408-419. doi:10.1016/j.ejor.2013.09.003

Ondemir, O., Ilgin, M. A. and Gupta, S. M. (2012). "Optimal end-of-life management in closed-loop supply chains using RFID and sensors". *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Informatics*, 8(3), 719-728. doi: 10.1108/S0276-8976(2012)0000015009

ONS, (2015). Accessed from: https://www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade

Oppenheim, A. N., (1992), *Questionnaire design, interviewing and attitude measurement*. New edn., London, Pinter Publishers.

Orlikowski, W. J. and Baroudi, J. J. (1991). Studying information technology in organisations: Research approaches and assumptions. *Information Systems Research*, 2(1), 1-28.

Oztekin, A., Pajouh, F. M., Delen, D., and Swim, L. K. (2010). "An RFID network design methodology for asset tracking in healthcare". *Decision Support Systems*, 49(1), 100-109. doi:10.1016/j.dss.2010.01.007

Page, D. (2000). "The case for smart luggage". Science Spectra, 21, 12-15.

Pagell, M., and Wu, Z., (2004). "Building a More Complete Theory of Sustainable Supply Chain Management Using Case Studies of 10 Exemplars". *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 45(2), 37–56.

Pan, M. J. and Jang, W. Y. (2008). "Determinants of the adoption of enterprise resource planning within the technology-organization-environment framework: Taiwan's communications". *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, 48(3), 94-102.

Pan, M.J. and Jang, W.Y. (2008). "Determinants of the adoption of enterprise resource planning within the technology-organization-environment framework: Taiwan's communications". *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, 48(3), 94-102.

Papalexandris, A., Ioannou, G. and Prastacos, G.P. (2004). "Implementing the balanced scorecard in Greece: A software firm's experience". *Long Range Planning*, 37(4), 351-366.

Park, Y.-J. and Rim, M.-H. (2011). "The Relationship Analysis of RFID Adoption and Organizational Performance". *The Sixth International Conference on Systems and Networks Communications*, 76-82.

Park, Y.J. and Rim, M.H. (2011). The relationship analysis of RFID adoption and organizational performance. ISBN: 978-1-61208-166-3.

Paydar, S. (2013). Environmental Determinants of RFID Adoption in Retail Supply Chain, A Binary Logistic Regression Analysis. IEEE International Conference on RFID Technologies and Applications. (2013). Johor Bahru, Malaysia, p. 1–6. (2013).

Peat, J., Mellis, C., Williams, K. and Xuan W. (2002). *Health Science Research: A Handbook of Quantitative Methods*, London: Sage.

Peña-mora, F., Vadhavkar, S., and Aziz, Z. (2009). "Technology strategies for globally dispersed construction teams." *Journal of Information Technology in Construction*, 14, 70–80.

Peters, T. J. and Waterman, R. H. (1982). In search of excellence. NY: Harper & Row.

Pettigrew, A. M. (1997). What is a processual analysis? Scandinavian Journal of Management, 13(4), 337-348

Phillips, T., Karygiannis, T. and Kuhn, R. (2005). "Security standards for the RFID market". *IEEE Security & Privacy Magazine*, 3(6), 85-89. doi: DB27D663-87D5-47E9-9CD2-8B12AC62B325

Ping, R.A. (2004). On assuring valid measures for theoretical models using survey data. Jornal of Business Research, 57, 125–141.

Piramuthu, S., Farahani, P., and Grunow, M. (2013). "RFID-generated traceability for contaminated product recall in perishable food supply networks". *European Journal of Operational Research*, 225(2), 253-262. doi:10.1016/j.ejor.2012.09.024

Pizam, A. (1994). Planning a Tourism Research Investigation. In J. R. B. Ritchie and C. Goeldner (Ed.), *Travel, Tourism, and Hospitality Research* (pp. 91-104). New York: John Wiley & Sons Inc.

Polit, D.F., Beck, C.T. and Hungler, B.P. (2001), *Essentials of Nursing Research: Methods, Appraisal and Utilization*. 5th Ed., Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins

Poon, T. C., Choy, K. L., Chan, F. T. S., Ho, G. T. S., Gunasekaran, A. and Lau, H. C. W. (2011). "A real-time warehouse operations planning system for small batch replenishment problems in production environment". *Expert Systems with Applications*, 38, 8524-8537. doi: 10.1016/j.eswa.2011.01.053

Poon, T. C., Choy, K. L., Chow, H. K. H., Lau, H. C. W., Chan, F. T. S. and Ho, K. C. (2009). "A RFID case-based logistics resource management system for managing order-picking operations in warehouses". *Expert Systems with Applications*, 36(4), 8277-8301.

Premkumar, G. (2003). "A Meta-Analysis of research on information technology implementation in small business". *Journal of Organizational Computing and Electronic Commerce*, 13(2), 91-121.

Premkumar, G., K. Ramamurthy, S. Nilkanta. (1994). Implementation of Electronic Data Interchange: An Innovation Diffusion Perspective. Journal of Management Information Systems, 11(2), 157-186.

Premkumar, G., K. Ramamurthy. (1995). The Role of Interorganizational and Organizational factors on the Decision Mode for Adoption of Interorganizational Systems. Decision Sciences, 26(3), 303-336.

Quaddus, M. and Hofmeyer, G. (2007). An Investigation into the Factors Influencing the Adoption of B2B Trading Exchanges in Small Business. European Journal of Information Systems (16), 202-215.

Rahman, F. and Ahamed, S. I. (2012). "Efficient detection of counterfeit products in large-scale RFID systems using batch authentication protocols". *Personal and Ubiquitous Computing*. doi: 10.1007/s00779-012-0629-8

Raman, A. (2000). "Retail data quality: evidence, causes, costs, and fixes". *Technology in Society* 22, 97–109. doi: 10.1016/S0160-791X(99)00037-8

Ramdani, B., Kawalek, P. and Lorenzo, O. (2009). "Predicting SMEs adoption of enterprise systems". *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, 22(2), 10–24.

Ranasinghe, D. C., Harrison, M., Främling, K., & McFarlane, D.. (2011). Enabling through life product-instance management: Solutions and challenges. *Journal of Network & Computer Applications*, 34, 1015-1031.

Ranganathan, C. and Jha, S. (2005). Adoption of RFID Technology: An ExploratoryExamination from Supplier's Perspective. In Proceedings of the 11th Americas Conference on Information Systems, Omaha, Nebraska, August 11-14

Rangone, A. (1999). A resource based approach to strategy analysis in small-medium sized relationship to business-unit performance. Strategic Management Journal, 9, 43-60.

Ray, B. R., Abawajy, J., and Chowdhury, M. (2014). Scalable RFID security framework and protocol supporting Internet of Things. *Computer Networks*, 67, 89-103. doi:10.1016/j.comnet.2014.03.023

Rekik, Y. (2011). "Inventory inaccuracies in the wholesale supply chain". *International Journal of Production Economics*, 133(1), 172–181. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpe.2010.02.012

Rekik, Y., Jemai, Z., Sahin, E. and Dallery, Y. (2007). "Improving the performance of retail stores subject to execution errors: coordination versus RFID technology". *OR Spectrum*, 29(4), 597-626.

Rekleitis, E., Rizomiliotis, P., and Gritzalis, S. (2014). How to protect security and privacy in the IoT: A policybased RFID tag management protocol. Security and Communication Networks, 7(12), 2669-2683.

Remenyl, D. and Williams, B. (1996). "The nature of research: qualitative or quantitative, narrative or paradigmatic?". *Information Systems Journal*, 6, 131-146.

Remenyl, D. William, B., Money, A. & Swartz, E. (1998). Doing Research In Business and Management: An Introduction to Process and Method. London: Sage.

Revere, L., Black, K. and Zalila, F. (2010). "RFIDs can improve the patient care supply chain". *Hospital Topics*, 88(1), 26-31.

Reyes, P. M. and Jaska, P. (2007). "RFID Right for Your Organization or Application?. *Management Research News*, 30, 570-580.

Rigdon, E.E. (1996). CFI versus RMSEA: A comparison of two fit indexes for structural equation modeling. *Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal*, 3(4), 369-379. doi: 10.1080/10705519609540052

Rinaldi, R. and Bandinelli, R. (2015). "A model to evaluate logistics RFID-based investments economic effectiveness in the apparel field". *International Journal of RF Technologies: Research and Applications*, 6(2-3), 121-150. doi:10.3233/RFT-140063

Riolli, L. and Savicki, V. (2003). Information system organizational resilience. Omega, 31(3), 227-233.

Riquelme, H. (2002), "Commercial internet adoption in China: comparing the experience of small, medium and large businesses", Internet Research: Electronic Networking Applications and Policy, 12(3), 276-286.

Roberts, C. M. (2006). "Radio frequency identification (RFID)". Computers & Security, 25(1), 18-26.

Rockwell Automation, (2004). *RFID in manufacturing–a practical guide on extracting measurable value from RFID implementations in plant and warehouse operations*. White paper. Rockwell Automation, Milwaukee, WI.

Rogers, E. M. (1995). "Diffusion of innovations". New York: Free Press.

Rogers, E.M. (2003). "Diffusion of Innovations (5th Edition)". New York: The Free Press.

Ronald E., Quirk, Jr. and Stacia J. B. (2005). RFID: rapid deployment and regulatory challenges. Venebles, 1-7.

Roper, K. O., Sedehi, A. and Ashuri , B. (2015). "A cost-benefit case for RFID implementation in hospitals: adapting to industry reform". *Facilities*, 33(5/6), 367-388.

Ross, A. D., Twede, D., Clarke, R. H. and Ryan, M. (2009). "A framework for developing implementation strategies for a radio frequency identification (RFID) system in a distribution center environment". *Journal of Business Logistics*, 30(1), 157-183.

Ross, D. F. (2015). Distribution Planning and Control: Managing in the Era of Supply Chain Management. Springer, New York.

Roy, S., Sivakumar, K. and Wilkinson, I. F. (2004). "Innovation generation in supply chain relationships: A conceptual model and research propositions". *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 32(1), 61–79.

Roy, S., Sivakumar, K. and Wilkinson, I. F. (2004). Innovation generation in supply chainrelationships: A conceptual model and research propositions. Journal of theAcademy of Marketing Science, 32(1), 61–79

Roy, S., Sivakumar, K. and Wilkinson, I.F. (2004). "Innovation generation in supply chain relationships: a conceptual model and research propositions". Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science, 32(1), 61-79. 1

Russell, D. M. and Hoag, A. M. (2004). "People and information technology in the supply chain: Social and organizational influences on adoption". *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, 34(1/2), 102-122.

Sadlovska, V. and Vishwanata, N. (2009). "Integrated demand Supply Network, five steps to gaining visibility and control". Aberdeen research group, Boston, MA, Research benchmark.

Safari, A., Fesharaki, H. M. and Fesharaki, H. H. (2013). "Examining the role of RFID technology on SCM effectiveness, case: Food industry of Iran". *International Journal of Information Science and Management*, 11, 97-110.

Sahin, E., Buzacott, J. and Dallery, Y. (2008). "Analysis of a newsvendor which has errors in inventory data records". *European Journal of Operational Research*, 188(2), 370-389. doi: 10.1016/j.ejor.2007.04.021

Sahinidis, G. A and Kanellopoulous, C. C. (2010). The effects of Strong Culture on Organizational Innovation. A Cultural Model Of Innovation. Volume on Management issued by University of Pireaus in honor of Prof. Bartolomeos, Vol. B', 1025-1044.

Sambamurthy, V. and Kirsch, L.J. (2000). An integrative framework of the information systems development process. Decision Sciences, 31, 391-412.

Sandhya, M. and Rangaswamy, T. R. (2011). "A secure and efficient authentication protocol for mobile RFID systems". *Journal of Digital Information Management*, 9(3), 99-105.

Sarac, A., Absi, N. and Dauzère-Pérès, S. (2010). "A literature review on the impact of RFID technologies on supply chain management". *International Journal of Production Economics*, 128, 77-95.

Sari, K. (2008). "Inventory inaccuracy and performance of collaborative supply chain practices". *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 108(4), 495-509. doi: 10.1108/02635570810868353

Sari, K. (2010). "Exploring the impacts of radio frequency identification (RFID) technology on supply chain performance". *European Journal of Operational Research*, 207(1), 174-183. doi: 10.1016/j.ejor.2010.04.003

Sarosa, S. and Zowghi, D. (2003). Strategy for Adopting Information Technology for SMEs: Experience in Adopting Email within an Indonesian Furniture Company. Electronic Journal of Information Systems Evaluation, 6(2), 165-176.

Saunders M. Lewis P and Thornhill A. (2000). Research Methods for Business Students, Essex, England: Pearson Education Ltd.

Saunders, C.S., S. Clark. (1992). EDI Adoption and Implementation: A Focus on Interorganizational Linkages. Information Resources Management Journal, 5(1), 9-19.

Saunders, M. Lewis, P. and Thornhill, A. (2012) (6th Edition). Research Methods for Business Students. Harlow, England: Prentice Hall.

Saunders, M., Lewis, P. and Thornhill, A. (2007). Research Methods for Business Students (4th Edition). London: Prentice Hall.

Saygin, C. (2007). "Adaptive inventory management using RFID data". *International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology*, 32, 1045-1051. doi: 10.1007/s00170-006-0616-1

Scandura, T. A. and Williams, E. A., (2000). 'Research methodology in management: current practices, trends and implication', *Academy of Management Journal*, 43(6), 1248-1264.

Schapranow, M.-P., Müller, J., Zeier, A. and Plattner, H. (2011). "Costs of authentic pharmaceuticals: research on qualitative and quantitative aspects of enabling anti-counterfeiting in RFID-aided supply chains". *Personal and Ubiquitous Computing*, 16(3), 271-289. doi: 10.1007/s00779-011-0390-4

Schmidt, M., Thoroe, L. and Schumann, M. (2013). "RFID and barcode in manufacturing logistics: Interface concept for concurrent operation". *Information Systems Management*, 30(2), 100-115. doi: 10.1080/10580530.2013.773801

Schmitt, P. and Michahelles, F. (2009). "Status of RFID/EPC adoption". AutoID Labs.

Schmitt, P., Michaelles, F. and Fleisch, E. (2008). Why RFID Adoption and Diffusion TakesTime: The Role of Standards in the Automotive Industry. AUTO-ID Labs

Schmitt, P., Thiesse, F. and Fleisch, E. (2007). "Adoption and diffusion of RFID technology in the automotive industry". *European Conference on Information Systems: St. Gallen*.

Scupola, A. (2003). The Adoption of Internet Commerce by SMEs in the South of Italy: AnEnvironmental, Technological and Organizational Perspective. Journal of Global Infor-mation Technology Management, 6(1), 51-71.

Seale, J. and Barnard, S., (1998) *Therapy Research; Processes and Practicalities*, Oxford, Butterworth Heinemann

Sekaran, U., and Bougie, R. (2009) *Research Methods for Business: A Skill Building Approach*, Fifth edition. West Sussex, John Wiley and Sons Ltd

Sekaran, U., and Bougie, R. (2013) Research Methods for Business: A Skill Building Approach, Sixth edition. West Sussex, John Wiley and Sons Ltd

Sharma, A. and Citurs, A. (2005). Radio Frequency Identification (RFID) Adoption Drivers: ARadical Innovation Adoption Process. In Proceedings of the 11th Americas Conference on Information Systems, Omaha, Nebraska, August 11-14.

Sharma, A., Citurs, A. and Konsynski, B. (2007). "Strategic and institutional perspectives in the adoption and early integration of radio frequency identification (RFID)". *40th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences*, Big Island, HI.

Sharma, A., Citurs, A. and Konsynski, B. (2007). Strategic and Institutional Perspectives in theAdoption and Early Integration of Radio Frequency Identification (RFID). In Proceedings of the 40th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences (Big Island, Hawaii, January3-6), Los Alamitos, CA: IEEE Computer Society.

Sharma, S., Mickle, M. H., Mc Farlane, D., Cole, P. and Engels, D.W. (2009). "Editorial: special section on RFID". *IEEE Transactions on Automation Science and Engineering*, 6(1), 1-3.

Sheng, Q. Z., Zeadally, S., Mitrokotsa, A. and Maamar, Z. (2011). "RFID technology, systems, and applications". *Journal of Network and Computer Applications*, 34, 797-798. doi: 10.1016/j.jnca.2010.07.008

Shi, J., Zhang, J. and Qu, X. (2010). "Optimizing distribution strategy for perishable foods using RFID and sensor technologies". *Journal of Business and Industrial Marketing*, 25(8), 596-606. doi: 10.1108/08858621011088338

Shi, Jie, Li, Y., He, W. and Sim, D. (2012). "SecTTS: A secure track & trace system for RFID-enabled supply chains". *Computers in Industry*, 63(6), 574-585. doi: 10.1016/j.compind.2012.03.006

Shin, S., and Eksioglu, B. (2015). "An Empirical study of RFID productivity in the U.S. retail supply chain". *International Journal of Production Economics*, 163, 89–96. doi:10.1016/j.ijpe.2015.02.016

Shin, T. H., S. Chin, S. W. Yoon, and S. W. Kwon. (2011). "A service-oriented integrated information framework for RFID/WSN-based intelligent construction supply chain management". *Automation in Construction*, 20(6), 706-715. doi: 10.1016/j.autcon.2010.12.002

Singh, G. and Midha, M. (2008). "RFID: A new technology in library management systems". *Journal of Interlibrary Loan, Document Delivery & Electronic Reserve*, 18(4), 439-447. doi: 10.1080/10723030802181778

Singh, S. P., McCartney, M., Singh, J. and Clarke, R. (2008). "RFID research and testing for packages of apparel, consumer goods and fresh produce in the retail distribution environment". *Packaging Technology and Science*, 21(2), 91-102. doi: 10.1002/pts.782

Smart, A. U., Bunduchi, R. and Gerst, M. (2010). "The costs of adoption of RFID technologies in supply networks". *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 30(4), 423-447. doi: 10.1108/01443571011029994

Smartrac. (2015). Accessed from: https://www.smartrac-group.com/internet-of-things-promises-huge-rfid-growth.html

Smith, A. D. (2005). "Exploring radio frequency identification technology and its impact on business systems". *Information Management & Computer Security*, 13(1), 16-28.

Soares-Aguiar, A. and Palma-dos-Reis, A. (2008). "Why do firms Adopt e-procurement System? Using Logistic Regression to Empirically Test a Conceptual Model". *IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management*, 55(1), 120-133.

Sooksaksun, N., and Sudsertsin, S. (2014). "The application of RFID in warehouse process: case study of consumer product manufacturer in Thailand". *Scientific Journal of Logistics*, 10(4), 423–431.

Southern, A. and Tilley, F. (2000). Small Firms and Information and Communication Technologies (ICTs): Toward a Typology of ICTs Usage. New Technology, Work and Employment, 15(2), 138-154.

Soylemezoglu, A., Zawodniok, M.J., Cha, K., Hall, D., Birt, J. and Sarangapani, J. (2006). "A Testbed Architecture for Auto-ID Technologies". *Assembly Automation*, 26(2), 127-136.

Spencer, J.W. (2003). "Firms' knowledge-sharing strategies in the global innovation system: Empirical evidence from the flat panel display industry". *Strategic Management Journal*, 24(3), 217-233.

Srivastava, B. (2004). "Radio frequency ID technology: The next revolution in supply chain management". *Business Horizons*, 47(6), 60-68. doi: 10.1016/j.bushor.2004.09.009

Stadtler, H. and Kilger, C. (2008). "Supply Chain Management and Advanced Planning: Concepts, Models, Software and Case Studies". Springer, Berlin.

Stair, R. and Reynolds, G. (2008). *Principles of Information Systems*, Thomson Course Technology, Boston, MA.

Stankovski, S., Lazarevic, M., Ostojic, G., Cosic, I. and Puric, R. (2009). "RFID technology in product/part tracking during the whole life cycle". *Assembly Automation*, 29(4), 364-370. doi: 10.1108/01445150910987781

Starbuck, W.H. (1976). "Organisations and their environments". Chicago, Rand McNally.

Stewart, G., Milford, M., Jewels, T., Hunter, T. and Hunter, B. (2000). Organisational readiness for ERP implementation. Paper presented at the Americas Conference on Information Systems AMCIS

Su, C.-Y. and Roan, J. (2013). "Using Hurst exponent to investigate the impact of RFID implementation on supply chain dynamics". *International Journal of Business and Management*, 8(10), 52-66. doi: 10.5539/ijbm.v8n10p52

Swafford, P. M., Ghosh, S. and Murthy, N. N., (2006b). "A framework for assessing value chain agility". *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 26(2), 118-140.

Swafford, P. M., Ghosh, S. and Murthy, N., (2006a). "The antecedents of supply chain agility of a firm: Scale development and model testing". *Journal of Operations Management*, 24, (2), 170-188.

Swanson, R. A. and Holton, E. F. (1997). *Human Resource Development Handbook: Linking Research and Practice*. San Francisco, CA: Berrett-Koehler, 114-137.

Swanton, B. (2005). "RFID Adoption Presentation - Obstacles with regard to RFID adoption". *International Electronics Manufacturing Initiative* (iNEMI), October 4, Newark, CA: AMR Research

Swartz, S. M., Vaidyanathan, V. and Raman, H. (2010). "A post-retail consumer application of RFID in medical supply chains". *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, 25(8), 607-611. doi: 10.1108/08858621011088347

Symonds, P. M. (1924). On the loss of reliability in ratings due to coarseness of the scale. Journal of Experimental Psychology, 7, 456-461.

Syrett, M., and Lammiman, J. (1997). "The art of conjuring ideas". Director, 50(9), 48-54.

Szmerekovsky, J. G., Tilson, V. and Zhang, J. (2011). "Analytical model of adoption of item level RFID in a twoechelon supply chain with shelf-space and price-dependent demand". *Decision Support Systems*, 51(4), 833-841. doi: 10.1109/HICSS.2010.447 Tajima, M. (2007). "Strategic value of RFID in supply chain management". *Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management*, 13, 261-273. doi: 10.1016/j.pursup.2007.11.001

Talet, N. and Alwahaishi, S. (2011). "The information technology organizational culture & its effect on user satisfaction, motivation, and performance". *Change Management: An International Journal*, 13(4), 33-53.

Tan, K. S., Chong, S. C., Lin, B. and Eze, U. C. (2009). Internet-based ICT Adoption: Evidence from Malaysian SMEs. Industrial Management and Data Systems, 109(2), 224-244.

Tan, M. I., Razali, R. N. and Desa, M. I. (2012). Factors Influencing ICT Adoption in Halal Transportations: A Case Study of Malaysian Halal Logistics Service Providers. IJCSI International Journal of Computer Science Issues, 9 (1).

Tech4Business. (2014). Accessed: http://tech4businessnow.com/connecting-your-smb-to-the-internet-of-things/

Teo, T. S., Ranganathan, C. and Dhaliwal, J. (2006). "Key dimensions of inhibitors for the deployment of webbased business-to-business electronic commerce". *IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management*, 53(3), 395-411.

Thiesse, F., AI-Kassab, J., and Fleisch, E. (2009). "Understanding the value of integrated RFID systems: a case study from apparel retail". *European Journal of Information Systems*, 18(6), 592-614. doi:10.1057/ejis.2009.33

Thiesse, F., and Buckel, T. (2015). "A comparison of RFID-based shelf replenishment policies in retail stores under suboptimal read rates". *International Journal of Production Economics*, 159, 126-136. doi:10.1016/j.ijpe.2014.09.002

Thompson, J.D. (1967). "Organisations in action". New York, McGraw-Hill.

Thong, J. Y. L. (2001). Resource constraints and information systems implementation in Singaporean small businesses. Omega, 29 (2), 143-156

Thong, J.Y.L. (1999). "An integrated model of information systems adoption in small businesses". *Journal of Management Information Systems*, 15(4), 187-214.

Thoroe, L., Knothe, B., Raabe, K. and Schumann, M. (2011). "Impacts of item-level RFID on packaging waste recycling: Exploratory study of the industry's expectations in Germany". *International Journal of Innovation and Sustainable Development*, 5(4), 358-370.

Thoroe, L., Melski, A. and Schumann, M. (2009). "The impact of RFID on management of returnable containers". *Electronic Markets*, 19(2-3), 115-124. doi: 10.1007/s12525-009-0013-3

Ting, S. L., Tsang, A. H. C. and Tse, Y. K. (2013). A framework for the implementation of RFID systems. International Journal of Engineering Business Management, 5, 1–16.

Tornatzky, L. and Fleischer, M. (1990). "The Process of Technology Innovation". Lexington Books, Lexington, MA.

Tornatzky, L. G. and Klein, K. J. (1982). "Innovation characteristics and innovation adoption-implementation: A meta-analysis of findings". *IEEE Transactions on engineering management*, 29, 28-45.

Tracey, M., Lim, J.-S. and Vonderembse, M. A. (2005). "The impact of supply-chain management capabilities on business performance". *Supply Chain Management: An International Journal*, 10(3), 179-191.

Tracy, P. (2005). "Two ways to play the growth in Radio Frequency Identification (RFID)". *Street Authority*. Accessed June 22, 2015 from <u>http://www.streetauthority.com/cmnts/pt/2005/02-22.asp</u>

Tracy, P. (2005). Two ways to play the growth in Radio Frequency Identification (RFID). Street Authority.

Tranfield, D., Denyer, D., & Smart, P. (2003). "Towards a methodology for developing evidence-informed management knowledge by means of systematic review". *British Journal of Management*, 14(3), 207-222.

Trice, H. M. and Beyer, J. M. (1993). The Culture of Work Organisations. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.

Trochim, W. (2006). The Research Methods Knowledge Base, 2nd Edition.

Turban, E., Mclean, E., Wetherbe, J., Bolloju, N. and Davison, R. (2002), Information Technology Management: Transforming Business in the Digital Economy, 3rd ed., Wiley, New York, NY

Tushman, M. L. and O'Reilly, C. A. (1997). "Winning Through Innovation: a practical guide to leading organizational change and renewal". Boston, Mass.: Harvard Business School Press.

Tzeng, S. F., Chen, W. H. and Pai, F. Y. (2008). "Evaluating the business value of RFID: evidence from five case studies". *International Journal of Production Economics*, 112, 601–613. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpe.2007.05.009

Tzeng, S., Chen, W. and Pai, F. (2008). Evaluating the business value of RFID: evidence from five case studies. International Journal of Production Economics, 112(2), 601-13.

Uckelmann, D., Hamann, T., and Zschintzsch, M. (2009). "Performance increase and benefit compensation in supply chains by partial information sharing and billing based on identification of returnable transport items". *International Journal of RF Technologies: Research and Applications*, 1(1), 23-43. doi:10.1080/17545730802474039

Uçkun, C., Karaesmen, F. and Savaş, S. (2008). "Investment in improved inventory accuracy in a decentralized supply chain". *International Journal of Production Economics* 113 (2), 546-566. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpe.2007.10.012

Upfold, C. and Liu, H.(2010). Radio Frequency identification (RFID) adoption in the South African retail sector: an investigation of perceptions held by members of the retail sector regarding the adoption constraints. Journal of Information Systems Evaluation, 13(1), 87–96.

Ustundag, A. (2010). "Evaluating RFID investment on a supply chain using tagging cost sharing factor". *International Journal of Production Research*, 48(9), 2549-2562. doi: 10.1080/00207540903564926

Ustundag, A. and Tanyas, M. (2009). "The impacts of radio frequency identification (RFID) technology on supply chain costs". *Transportation Research Part E: Logistics and Transportation Review*, 45(1), 29-38. doi: 10.1016/j.tre.2008.09.001

Ustundag, A. L. P. and Ikcan, E. C. E. V. (2008). "Vehicle route optimization for RFID integrated waste collection system". *International Journal of Information Technology and Decision Making*, 7(4), 611-625. doi: 10.1142/S0219622008003125

Vecchi, A. and Brennan, L. (2010). "RFID supply chain implementation challenges for short-life products". *International Journal of RF Technologies: Research and Applications*, 2(2), 117-134. doi:10.3233/RFT-2010-008

Veeramani, D., Tang, J. and Gutierez, A. (2008). "A framework for assessing the value of RFID implementation by tier-one suppliers to major retailers". *Journal of Theoretical and Applied Electronic Commerce Research*, 3(1), 55-70. doi: 10.1.1.144.3087

Véronneau, S. and Roy, J. (2009). "RFID benefits, costs, and possibilities: The economical analysis of RFID deployment in a cruise corporation global service supply chain". *International Journal of Production Economics*, 122(2), 692-702. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpe.2009.06.038

Vijayaraman, B. S. and Osyk, B. A. (2006). "An empirical study of RFID implementation in the warehousing industry". *The International Journal of Logistics Management*, 17(1), 6-20.

Vishwa, V.K. and Felix, T.S.C. (2010). "A superiority search and optimization algorithm to solve RFID and an environmental factor embedded closed loop logistics model". *International Journal of Production Research*, 49(16), 4807-4831. doi: 10.1080/00207543.2010.503201

Visich, J. K. and Khumawala, B. M. (2007). "Enhancing product recovery value in closed-loop supply chains with RFID". *Journal of Managerial Issues*, 19(3), 436-453.

Visich, J. K., Li, S., Khumawala, B. M. and Reyes, P. M. (2009). "Empirical evidence of RFID impacts on supply chain performance". *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 29(12), 1290-1315. doi: 10.1108/01443570911006009

Viswanathan, N. (2008). "Process Collaboration in Multi-Enterprise Supply Chains". Aberdeen research group, Boston, MA, Research benchmark.

Vlachos, I. P. (2013). "A hierarchical model of the impact of RFID practices on retail supply chain performance". *Expert systems with Applications*, 41(1), 5-15. doi: 10.1016/j.eswa.2013.07.006

Voss, C., Tsikriktsis, N. and Frohlich, M., (2002), 'Case research in operations management', *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 22(2), 195-219.

Waldner, J. B. (2008). "Nanocomputers and Swarm Intelligence". London, ISTE John Wiley & Sons.

Walliman, N., (2011). Your research project; designing and planning your work, 3rd edition. London, Sage publications

Wamba, S. F. (2012). "Achieving supply chain integration using RFID technology: The case of emerging intelligent B-to-B e-commerce processes in a living laboratory". *Business Process Management Journal*, 18(1), 58-81. doi: 10.1108/14637151211215019

Wamba, S. F. and Boeck, H. (2008). "Enhancing information flow in a retail supply chain using RFID and the EPC network: a proof-of-concept approach". *Journal of Theoretical and Applied Electronic Commerce Research*, 3(1), 92-105.

Wamba, S. F. and Chatfield, A. T. (2009). "A contingency model for creating value from RFID supply chain network projects in logistics and manufacturing environments". *European Journal of Information Systems*, 18(6), 615-636. doi:10.1057ejis.2009.44

Wamba, S. F., Anand, A., and Carter, L. (2013). "A literature review of RFID-enabled healthcare applications and issues". *International Journal of Information Management*, 33, 875-891. doi: 10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2013.07.005

Wamba, S. F., Bendavid, Y., Lefebvre, L. A. and Lefebvre, É. (2006). "RFID Technology and the EPC Network as Enablers of Mobile Business: a Case Study in a Retail Supply Chain". *International Journal of Networking and Virtual Organisations*, 3(4).

Wang, D. W., Ip, W.H.(2013). Survey on modelling and optimization within RFID technology and applications. Control Engineering China, 20(1), 9–12.

Wang, H., Chen, S. and Xie, Y. (2010). "An RFID-based digital warehouse management system in the tobacco industry: a case study". *International Journal of Production Research*, 48(9), 2513-2548. doi: 10.1080/00207540903564918

Wang, L. (2010). "RFID-empowered monitoring and controlling for advanced manufacturing". *International Journal of Manufacturing Technology and Management*, 21(3-4), 308-315. doi: 10.1504/IJMTM.2010.035437.308-315

Wang, L. (2010). "Editorial on Special Issue on AIT-Driven manufacturing and management". *International Journal of Manufacturing Technology and Management*, 21(3/4), 207.

Wang, L.-C., Lin, Y.-C. and Lin, P. H. (2007). "Dynamic mobile RFID-based supply chain control and management system in construction". Advanced Engineering Informatics, 21(4), 377-390. doi: 10.1016/j.aei.2006.09.003

Wang, S. J., Liu, S. F. and Wang, W. L. (2008). "The simulated impact of RFID-enabled supply chain on pullbased inventory replenishment in TFT-LCD industry". *International Journal of Production Economics*, 112, 570-586. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpe.2007.05.002

Wang, S.-J., Huang, C.-T., Wang, W.-L. and Chen, Y.-H. (2010). "Incorporating ARIMA forecasting and servicelevel based replenishment in RFID-enabled supply chain". *International Journal of Production Research*, 48(9), 2655-2677. doi: 10.1080/00207540903564983

Wang, S.-J., Wang, W.-L., Huang, C.-T. and Chen, S.-C. (2011). "Improving inventory effectiveness in RFIDenabled global supply chain with Grey forecasting model". *The Journal of Strategic Information Systems*, 20(3), 307-322. doi: 10.1016/j.jsis.2011.03.003

Wang, W., Wang, X. and Archer, N. (2006). "RFID implementation issues in China: Shanghai Port case study". *Journal of Internet Commerce*, 5(4), 89-104. doi: 10.1300/J179v05n04_06 Wang, Y. M., Wang, Y. S. and Yang, Y. F. (2010). "Understanding the determinants of RFID adoption in the manufacturing industry". *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 77(5), 803-815.

Wang, Y.M., Wang, Y.S. and Yang, Y.F. (2010) Understanding the determinants of RFID adoption in the manufacturing industry. Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 77, 803-815. Want, R. (2006). "An Introduction to RFID Technology". IEEE Pervasive Computing, 5(1), 25.

Ward, P. T., McCreery, J. K., Ritzman, L. P. and Sharma, D. (1998) 'Competitive Priorities in Operations Management', *Decision Sciences*, 29(4), 1035-1046.

Wei, G. and Zhang, H. (2013). "A lightweight authentication protocol scheme for RFID security". *Wuhan University Journal of Natural Sciences*, 18(6), 504-510. doi: 10.1007/s11859-013-0964-2

Wei, Z., Kapoor, G., and Piramuthu, S. (2009). "RFID-enabled item-level product information revelation". *European Journal of Information Systems*, 18(6), 570-577. doi:10.1057/ejis.2009.45

Wen, L., Zailani, S. and Fernando, Y. (2009). "Determinants of RFID adoption in supply chain among manufacturing companies in China: a discriminant analysis". *Journal of Technology Management & Innovation* 4 (1), 22-33. doi: 10.4067/S0718-27242009000100003

Wen, T. and Chang, Y. (2008). "Cost-benefit analysis of RFID application in apparel retailing for SME: a case from Taiwan". *Transport Journal*, 49(3), 57-66.

West, S. G., Finch J. F. and Curran, P. J. (1995). Structural equation models with nonnormal variables: Problems and remedies. In: Hoyle RH, editor. Structural equation modeling: Concepts, issues, and applications. Sage; Thousand Oaks, CA: 56–75.

Whang, S. (2010). "Timing of RFID Adoption in a Supply Chain". Management Science, 56(2), 343-355.

Whitaker, J., Mithas, S. and Krishnan, M. S. (2007). "A field study of RFID deployment return expectations". *Production and Operations Management*, 16, 599-612. doi: 10.1111/j.1937-5956.2007.tb00283.x

White, A., Johnson, M., and Wilson, H. (2008). "RFID in the supply chain: lessons from European early adopters". *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, 38(2), 88-107. doi:10.1108/09600030810861189

Will, T. and Blecker, T. (2012). "RFID-driven process modifications in container logistics: SOA as a solution approach". *International Journal of Logistics Research and Applications*, 15(2), 71-86. doi: 10.1080/13675567.2012.674106

Williams, L.R., G.D. Magee, Y. Suzuki. (1998). A Multidimensional View of EDI: Testing the Value of EDI Participation to Firms. Journal of Business Logistics, 19(2), 73-87.

Wu, N. C., Nystrom, M. A., Lin, T. R. and Yu, H. C. (2006). "Challenges to global RFID adoption". *Technovation*, 26(12), 1317-1323.

Wu, N.C., Nystrom, M.A., Lin, H.A. Yu, H. C. (2006). Challenges to global RFID adoption, Technovation, 26 (12), 1317–1323.

Wu, Y., Sheng, Q. Z., Shen, H., and Zeadally, S. (2013). "Modeling object flows from distributed and federated RFID data streams for efficient tracking and tracing". *IEEE Transactions on Parallel and Distributed Systems*, 24(10), 2036-2045. doi: 10.1109/TPDS.2013.99

Wyld, D. C. (2006). "RFID 101: the next big thing for management". *Management Research News*, 29(4), 154-173.

Xu, D. and Chen, Y. (2013). "A safe RFID authentication protocol for Internet of Things". *Journal of Theoretical* & *Applied Information Technology*, 48(1), 215-220.

Xu, J., Feng, G., Tian, J., and Jiang, W. (2012). "Comparing improvement strategies for inventory inaccuracy in a two-echelon supply chain". *European Journal of Operational Research*, 221(1), 213-221. doi:10.1016/j.ejor.2012.03.008

Yan, B., Hu, D. and Shi, P. (2012). "A traceable platform of aquatic foods supply chain based on RFID and EPC Internet of Things". *International Journal of RF Technologies: Research and Applications,* 4(1), 55-70. doi: 10.3233/RFT-2012-0035

Yang, H., Yang, L. and Yang, S.-H. (2013). "Hybrid Zigbee-RFID sensor network for humanitarian logistics centre management". *Journal of Network and Computer Applications*, 34(3), 938-948. doi: 10.1016/j.jnca.2010.04.017

Yang, Z., Zhang, P. and Chen, L. (2016). "RFID-enabled indoor positioning method for a real-time manufacturing execution system using OS-ELM". *Neurocomputing*, 17(4), 121-133. doi:10.1016/j.neucom.2015.05.120

Yazici, H. J. (2014). "An exploratory analysis of hospital perspectives on real time information requirements and perceived benefits of RFID technology for future adoption". *International Journal of Information Management*, 34(5), 603–621. doi:10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2014.04.010

Yin, R. K., (2003). *Case study research: design and methods.* 3rd edn., Thousand Oaks, California, Sage publications.

Yong-Dong, S., Yuan-Yuan, P. and Wei-Min, L.(2009). The RFID application in logistics and supply chain management. Journal of Applied Sciences, 4(1), 57–61.

Yoon, E. J. and Zhou, W. (2011). "Mixed strategy multiple-channel retailing with RFID information". *Journal of Organizational Computing and Electronic Commerce*, 21(4), 368-383. doi: 10.1080/10919392.2011.614557

Yu, S.-C. (2007). "RFID implementation and benefits in libraries". *The Electronic Library*, 25(1), 54-64. doi: 10.1108/02640470710729119

Yüksel, A. S. and Yüksel, M. E. (2011). "RFID technology in business systems and supply chain management". *Journal of Economic and Social Studies*, 1(1), 53-71.

Zeimpekis, V., Minis, I. and Pappa, V. (2010). "Real-time logistics management of dried figs using RFID technology: Case study in a Greek cooperative company". International Journal of Logistics Systems and Management, 7(3), 265-285. doi: 10.1504/IJLSM.2010.035035

Zelbst, P. J., Green, K. W., Sower, V. E. and Reyes, P. M. (2012). "Impact of RFID on manufacturing effectiveness and efficiency". *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 32(3), 329-350. doi: 10.1108/01443571211212600

Zelbst, P. J., Jr, K. W. G. and Sower, V. E. (2010). "Impact of RFID technology utilization on operational performance". *Management Research Review*, 33(10), 994-1004. doi: 10.1108/01409171011083996

Zelbst, P.J., Green Jr. K.W., Sower, V.E. and Reyes, P. (2008a). "The impact of RFID utilization on manufacturing effectiveness and efficiency within a supply chain context". Working paper, Sam Houston State University, Huntsville, TX.

Zelbst, P.J., Green, W., Jr, K., Sower, V.E., and Abshire, R.D. (2014). "Impact of RFID and information sharing on JIT, TQM and operational performance". *Management Research Review*, *37*(11), 970–989. doi:10.1108/MRR-10-2014-273

Zelbst, P.J., K.W. Green Jr. and V.E. Sower, (2010). Impact of RFID technology utilization on operational performance. Management, 33, 994-1004.

Zelbst, P.J., Sower, V.E. and Green, K.W. (2008b). "An experiential approach to develop understanding of RFID technology". *International Journal of Management in Education*, 2(4), 419-31.

Zhang, M. and Li, P. (2012). "RFID application strategy in agri-food supply chain based on safety and benefit analysis". *Physics Procedia*, 25, 636-642. doi: 10.1016/j.phpro.2012.03.137

Zhang, Y., Huang, G. Q., Qu, T. and Ho, O. (2010). "Agent-based workflow management for RFID-enabled realtime reconfigurable manufacturing". *International Journal of Computer Integrated Manufacturing*, 23(2), 101-112. doi: 10.1080/09511920903440354

Zhong, R. Y., Huang, G. Q., Lan, S., Dai, Q. Y., Chen, X., and Zhang, T. (2015). "A big data approach for logistics trajectory discovery from RFID-enabled production data". *International Journal of Production Economics*, doi:10.1016/j.ijpe.2015.02.014

Zhong, R. Y., Huang, G. Q., Lan, S., Dai, Q. Y., Zhang, T., and Xu, C. (2015). "A two-level advanced production planning and scheduling model for RFID-enabled ubiquitous manufacturing". *Advanced Engineering Informatics*. doi:10.1016/j.aei.2015.01.002

Zhou, W. (2009). "RFID and item-level information visibility". *European Journal of Operational Research*, 198(1), 252-258. doi:10.1016/j.ejor.2008.09.017

Zhou, W. and Piramuthu, S. (2012). "Consumer preference and service quality management with RFID". *Annals of Operations Research*, 216(1), 1-17. doi:10.1007/s10479-012-1082-9

Zhou, W. and Piramuthu, S. (2013). "Remanufacturing with RFID item-level information: Optimization, waste reduction and quality improvement". *International Journal of Production Economics* 145 (2), 647-657. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpe.2013.05.019

Zhou, W. and Piramuthu, S. (2015). "Effect of ticket-switching on inventory and shelf-space allocation". *Decision Support Systems*, 67, 6931-39. doi:10.1016/j.dss.2014.11.004

Zhou, W. and Piramuthu, S. (2015). "Effects of ticket-switching on inventory management: Actual vs. information system-based data". *Decision Support Systems*, 77, 7731-40. doi:10.1016/j.dss.2015.05.010

Zhou, W., Tu, Y. and Piramuthu, S. (2009). "RFID-enabled item-level retail pricing". *Decision Support Systems*, 48(1), 169-179. doi:10.1016/j.dss.2009.07.008

Zhou, W., Yoon, E. J., and Piramuthu, S. (2012). "Simultaneous multi-level RFID tag ownership & transfer in health care environments". *Decision Support Systems*, 54(1), 98-108. doi:10.1016/j.dss.2012.04.006

Zhu, K. and Kraemer, K.L. (2005). "Post-adoption variations in usage and value of e-business by organisations: Cross-country evidence from the retail industry". *Information Systems Research*, 16(1), 61-84.

Zhu, K. and *Weyant*, J. P. (2003). "Strategic decisions of new technology adoption under asymmetric information: A game-theoretic model". *Decision Sciences*, 34(4), 643-675.

Zhu, K., & Kraemer, K. L. (2005). "Post-adoption variations in usage and value of e-business by organisations: cross-country evidence from the retail industry". *Information Systems Research*, 16(1), 61-84.

Zhu, K., Dong, S.T., Xu, S.X. and Kraemer, K.L. (2006b). "Innovation diffusion in global contexts: Determinants of post-adoption digital transformation of european companies". *European Journal of Information Systems*, 15(6), 601-616.

Zhu, K., K.L. Kraemer. (2002). "E-Commerce Metrics for Net-Enhanced Organisations: Assessing the Value of e-Commerce to Firm Performance in the Manufacturing Sector". *Information Systems Research*, 13(3), 275-295.

Zhu, K., Kraemer, K. and Xu, S. (2003). "Electronic business adoption by European firms: a cross-country assessment of the facilitators and inhibitors". *European Journal of Information Systems*, 12(4), 251-268.

Zhu, K., Kraemer, K. L., & Xu, S. (2006a). "The process of innovation assimilation by firms in different countries: a technology diffusion perspective on e-business". *Management Science*, 52(10), 1557-1576.

Zhu, K., Kraemer, K. L., Xu, S. and Dedrick, J. (2004). "Information technology payoff in e-business environments: An international perspective on value creation of e-business in the financial services industry". *Journal of Management Information Systems*, 21(1), 17–54.

Zhu, Q., Sarkis J., Lai, K-H. and Geng, Y. (2008). "The role of organizational size in the adoption of green supply chain management practices in China". *Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management*, 15(6), 322-337.

Zipkin, P. (2006). "The best things in life were free: on the technology of transactions". *Manufacturing and Service Operations Management*, 8(4), 321-329. doi: 10.1287/msom.1060.0113

Zipkin, P. (2007). "RFID: vision or fantasy". *International Commerce Review*, 7, 69-71. doi: 10.1007/s12146-007-0011-3.

APPENDICES

<u> Appendix A – Questionnaire (Survey instrument)</u>

Questionnaire on RFID adoption decision, implementation, and benefits

Dear Sir/Madam,

Re: Research questionnaire on RFID adoption in UK companies

I am a PhD student at the University of Central Lancashire, Preston, UK. I am undertaking a research project to establish the relationship between the adoption of Radio Frequency Identification (RFID) technology and business performance.

The project investigates the links between organisational characteristics and RFID adoption, implementation process, and benefits. I would very much appreciate your contribution to this important research by completing this questionnaire. It will take only a short time (approx. 20 minutes) to complete this questionnaire, as most of the questions require only a tick. It will be most helpful if you could be as accurate as possible and return your responses within a week.

All information obtained in this study will be used for academic purposes only; your identity and that of your company will be kept strictly confidential.

If you are interested, a summary of the findings of the research will be made available to you. A check box is provided at the end of the questionnaire to this effect.

If you have any questions please contact me on phone +447760983842 or by email at aadabo@uclan.ac.uk.

Thank you for your time and support.

Sincerely,

Al-Amin Abba Dabo

PART I - COMPANY DETAILS

- 1. Respondent's organization/company
- 2. Respondent's name (if the respondent is willing to provide it)
- 3. Respondent's post or position in the organization
- 4. Contact telephone number (if the respondent is willing to provide it)
- 5. Respondent's or company's email address
- 6. In which year was your company established?
- 7. How many people work in your organization?

	1-10	11-50	51-250	251-500	501 and a	above
8.	What is your c	ompany's annua	l turnover?			
	<£2m 🗌	£2m-10m 🗌	£11m-£50m	£5	51m-100m 🗌	>£100m

9. How would you describe your business in terms of its nature? Please tick as many as applicable.

Manufacturing – Industrial	Retail: Specialty merchandising	
Manufacturing – Consumer	Logistics & physical distribution	
Mining (including oil and gas)	Defense and security	
Retail: General merchandising	Transport (including aviation)	
Other (please specify)		

10. How would you describe your business in terms of its sector? Please choose one.

Healthcare	Asset and facilities	Military and/or military aviation
Automotive	Finance and banking	Education/publishing
Civilian aviation	Consumer goods	Professional services
Agriculture	Other(s) (please specify)	Aerospace

11. What legal form of company is your organization?

Sole proprietorship	Public Limited Company (Plc)	Private Limited Company (Ltd)
Partnership	Private Unlimited Company	Other (specify)

PART II – RFID TECHNOLOGY

12. Has your company adopted RFID technology? Yes No

If yes, please answer ONLY questions 13 to 25. If no, please go to question 26 and complete to the end of the survey.

13. Which of the following best describes your state of RFID technology adoption?

Currently in pilot stage on RFID adoption	
Currently in partial RFID implementation stage	
Currently in full RFID implementation stage	

14. How long has your company been using RFID technology for?

<1 year 1-5 years 6-1	0 years 📃 11-15 years	>15years
-----------------------	-----------------------	----------

15. Which of the following situations best describes your company's knowledge of RFID (please choose one)?

Fully conversant with all aspects of RFID	
Understand most of the concepts of RFID	
Understand the principles of RFID	
Little knowledge of RFID principles but the system works for us	

16. Which of the following is the single MOST compelling reason to adopt RFID?

Lack of product visibility	Return processing costs	Stock-outs
High inventory costs	Replenishment cost	Industry mandates
Missed fulfillment commitments	Lack of demand visibility	Inventory shrinkage
Pressure from partner company	Low inventory turns	Other (please
		specify)

17. At what product level is your company implementing RFID? Tick as many as applicable.

Item level	Case level	Pallet level	Container level 🗌	Other

18. To what extent has RFID technology been adopted across your company?

19. In which of the following areas do you see the most use of RFID in your industry?

Business-to-business logistics	
Internal operations	
Business-to-customer marketing and logistics	
Business-to-customer after-sales service	

20. Who is the key champion or has the greatest responsibility in your company for RFID adoption? Please choose one.

Chairman	Supply chain manager/director	
CEO/MD	Technical specialist	
Executive Director	Sponsorship from business partner	

21. To what extents have the following factors influenced your company's decision to adopt RFID?

	None	Low	Moderate	High	Very high
Drivers of adoption					
Top management support					
Availability of IS/IT infrastructure					
Financial readiness/affordability					
Perceived RFID benefits					
Organisational technical capability					
Desire to achieve lean processes					
Effective data sharing with supply chain partners					
Perceived RFID standards convergence					
Competitive pressure					
Industry pressure					
Professional & trade association pressure					
Favourable transactional climate					
Regulatory pressure					
Dominant partner pressure					
Government support					
Media pressure					
Global expansion					

22. To what extent have the following measures of business performance been impacted by your organisation's adoption of RFID?

	None	Low	Moderate	High	Very high
Financial measures					
Sales increase attributable to RFID					
Net profit attributable to RFID					
Return-on-investment attributable to RFID					
Market share gains attributable to RFID					
Cost reduction attributable to RFID					
Labour savings attributable to RFID					
Internal processes					
Risk minimization attributable to RFID					
Reduction of inventory attributable to RFID					
Improved product availability attributable to RFID					
Improved transaction accuracy attributable to RFID					
Improved visibility attributable to RFID					
Reduced out-of-stock items attributable to RFID					
Improved supply chain planning attributable to RFID					
Higher rate of complete orders attributable to RFID					
Improved data integrity attributable to RFID					
Electronic traceability attributable to RFID					
Improved sourcing of new products attributable to RFID					
Increase in transportation efficiency attributable to RFID					
Corporate/Customer measures					
Improved corporate social responsibility attributable to RFID					
Improved business sustainability attributable to RFID					
Environmental compliance attributable to RFID					
Improved organizational learning attributable to RFID					
Improved health and safety attributable to RFID					
Customer retention attributable to RFID					
Enhanced staff motivation attributable to RFID					
Learning and growth					
More accurate forecast of demand attributable to RFID					
Increase in organisational knowledge accumulation attributable to RFID					
Enhancement of employee satisfaction attributable to RFID					
Improvement in employees' RFID-related skills and proficiency					

23. Before your organisation's adoption of RFID, to what extents have the following factors hindered its decision to adopt it?

	None	Low	Moderate	High	Very high
Cost issues					
Manpower (skills) issues					
Compliance issues					
Privacy issues					
Security issues (e.g., identity theft)					
Technical issues					
Lack of industry standards					
A Requirements for business process change required					
The unwillingness of the customer and supplier to use it					

24. Rate the extent to which the following factors affected your organisation's adoption of RFID.

Note: By business process re-engineering, we are referring to the redesign and/or streamlining of work process in order to achieve significant levels of improvement in quality, time management, and cost.

	None	Low	Moderate	High	Very high
Organisational culture measures					
Company goals and objectives					
Company focus on its performance relative to its competitors					
Company focus on customer satisfaction					
Top Management initiative					
Effective decision making					
Drive to implement new technologies into business processes					
Business size measures					
Number of employees					
Annual turnover					
International reach					
IT/IS infrastructure					
The number of office locations, retail outlets, service centres, etc.					
Product/service range					
Business process re-engineering (BPR) measures					
Data standardization and integration					
Restructuring and streamlining of business processes and					
activities including removal of non-value added tasks, controls					
and checks					
Decentralization of consolidated resources and processes					
Provision of decision-support tools					
Synchronization of IT resources and business processes					
25. Rate the extent to which the following factors affect the benefits your organisation derives from RFID.

	None	Low	Moderate	High	Very high
Organisational culture measures					
Creating strong internal and external motivation for					
improvement					
Developing a clear RFID strategy					
Innovation					
Provision of training and support for employees					
Top management support and commitment from leadership					
Organisational knowledge accumulation					
Business size measures					
Number of trained/skilled employees					
IT/IS infrastructure					
Annual turnover					
International reach					
The number of office locations, warehouses, retail outlets, and					
service centers deploying RFID					
Range of products/services using RFID					
Business process re-engineering (BPR) measures					
Adoption of flexible deployment architecture					
Continuous review and improvement of procedures					
Restructuring and streamlining activities including removal of					
non-value added tasks, controls and checks					
Integration and management of large amounts of data					
Centralization of dispersed resources and processes					
Synchronization of business processes and IT resources					

NOTE: Answer Q26 to Q29 only if you have answered "No" to Q12

26. Although your company hasn't yet adopted RFID, to what extents will the following factors influence its decision to adopt it?

	None	Low	Moderate	High	Very high
Drivers of adoption					
Top management support					
Availability of IS/IT infrastructure					
Financial readiness/affordability					
Perceived RFID benefits					
Organisational technical capability					
Perceived RFID standards convergence					
Competitive pressure					
Industry pressure					
Professional & trade association pressure					
Favourable transactional climate					
Regulatory pressure					
Dominant partner pressure					

Government support			
Media pressure			
Global expansion			

27. Although your company hasn't yet adopted RFID, to what extents will the following factors hinder its decision to adopt it?

	None	Low	Moderate	High	Very high
Cost issues					
Manpower (skills) issues					
Compliance issues					
Privacy issues					
Security issues (e.g., identity theft)					
Technical issues					
Lack of industry standards					
A Requirements for business process change required					
The unwillingness of the customer and supplier to use it					

28. Rate the extents to which the following factors will affect your organisation's adoption of RFID

Note: By business process re-engineering, we are referring to the redesign and/or streamlining of work process in order to achieve significant levels of improvement in quality, time management, and cost.

	None	Low	Moderate	High	Very high
Organisational culture measures					
Company goals and objectives					
Company focus on its performance relative to its competitors					
Company focus on customer satisfaction					
Top Management initiative					
Effective decision making					
Drive to implement new technologies into business processes					
Business size measures					
Number of employees					
Annual turnover					
International reach					
IS/IT infrastructure					
The number of office locations, retail outlets, service centers,					
etc.					
Product/service range					
Business process re-engineering (BPR) measures					
Data standardization and integration					
Restructuring and streamlining of business processed and					
activities including removal of non-value added tasks, controls					
and checks					
Decentralization of resources and processes					
Provision of decision-support tools					
Synchronization of IT resources and business processes					

29. Rate the extent to which the following factors will affect the benefits derived from RFID

	None	Low	Moderate	High	Very high
Organisational culture measures					
Creating strong internal and external motivation for					
improvement					
Developing a clear RFID strategy					
Innovation					
Provision of training and support for employees					
Top management support and commitment from leadership					
Organisational knowledge accumulation					
Business size measures					
Number of trained/skilled employees					
IT/IS infrastructure					
Annual turnover					
International reach					
The number of office locations, warehouses, retail outlets, and					
service centers deploying RFID					
Range of products/services using RFID					
Business process re-engineering (BPR) measures					
Adoption of flexible deployment architecture					
Continuous review and improvement of procedures					
Restructuring and streamlining activities including removal of					
non-value added tasks, controls and checks					
Integration and management of large amounts of data					
Centralization of dispersed resources and processes					
Synchronization of business processes and IT resources					

30. Please provide below any additional information about your company that you believe is not covered by any of the above and may be useful to this survey.

Please tick (\checkmark) here if you will like to participate in company-based case study that will be conducted as part of this research. Such a case study will be brief and will not in any way interrupt the normal flow of activities in your organization. I desperately need to conduct company-based observations and interviews as part of this research. Thank you for volunteering. \Box

If you are interested in receiving a summary of the findings of the research, please tick this box **** END ****

Thanking you so much for your time and support.

Appendix B – Descriptive and distribution statistics of the

research variables

		Table 5.3: Descriptive and distribution statistics of the research va	riable	5		
		RESEARCH VARIABLES	Min	Max	Mean	Std dev.
>	Number o	f people working in responding organisation	3	5	3.82	.761
log	Organisati	ion's annual turnover	1	5	2.69	1.107
RFID technology	Has comp	any adopted RFID?	0	1	.60	.492
ech		od organisation has adopted RFID for	1	3	2.05	.627
t	Area of m	ost use of RFID within the responding organisation's industry	1	4	1.85	.524
50	State of R	FID adoption	0	3	.91	.888
RFID Character istics (RC)		s pedigree in RFID	1	4	1.96	.841
RFID haract tics (R		nit Level of Tagging (PULT)	1	4	2.18	1.054
isi C	Extent of I	RFID implementation across the company	1	4	1.56	.802
		Data standardization and integration	1	5	4.16	-1.575
	ess ng	Restructuring and streamlining activities, including the removal of				
	roc eri	non-value-adding tasks, controls and checks	3	5	4.61	-1.485
(uc	ess Pr ngine((BPR)	Decentralization of consolidated resources and processes, including	_			
Organisational characteristics (adoption)	Business Process Re-engineering (BPR)	decision-making	2	4	2.69	256
op	usi Re-	Provision of decision-support tools	1	3	2.25	358
e) s	<u> </u>	Synchronization of IT resources and business processes	2	5	3.55	.264
stic		Number of employees	2	5	3.45	.680
eri	ize	Annual turnover	3	5	4.65	-1.223
act	ss s	International reach	1	5	3.71	-1.364
har	Business size	IS/IT infrastructure	2	5	3.48	646
al c	aus	The number of office locations, retail outlets, service centres, etc.	1	5	3.34	257
ion	-	Range of products/services	1	5	3.74	276
sati		Organisational goals and objectives	2	5	3.93	.271
ani	of	Focus on performance relative to competitors	2	5	3.67	.243
Drg	Strength of culture	Focus on customer satisfaction	1	5	3.90	809
0	eng Sult	Top management involvement	3	5	4.55	-1.153
	Str	Effective decision-making	2	5	3.06	.723
		Drive to implement new technologies into business processes	1	5	4.13	-1.179
		Data standardization and integration	1	5	3.71	445
(uo	Business Process Re-engineering (BPR)	Restructuring and streamlining activities, including the removal of non-value-adding tasks, controls and checks	1	5	4.04	874
plementation)	ess Pr ngine (BPR)	Decentralization of consolidated resources and processes, including	1	5	3.29	347
me	e-ei	decision-making	4	-	2.00	1 050
ple	Bu	Provision of decision-support tools	1	5 5	3.96	-1.050
(ju		Synchronization of IT resources and business processes	3		4.21	-1.513
ics	e.	Number of employees	1	5	3.20	-1.041
isti	Business size	Annual turnover	1	5	3.48	759
cter	less	International reach	1	5	3.71	445
arao	lsin	IS/IT infrastructure	1	5	3.66	708
cha	BL	The number of office locations, retail outlets, service centres, etc.	1	5	4.21	-1.513
Organisational characteristics (im		Range of products/services	1	5	3.20	-1.041
tion	<u>т</u>	Organisational goals and objectives	1	5	3.40	333
lisa	Strength of culture	Focus on performance relative to competitors	2	5	3.54	812
gan	rength c culture	Focus on customer satisfaction	1	5	3.71	445
ō	tre cu	Top management initiative	1	5	3.64	432
	S	Effective decision-making	3	5	4.04	874
		Drive to implement new technologies into business processes	2	5	4.21	-1.513
Or ga nis	Or ga nis	Creating strong internal and external motivation for improvement	2	5	3.96	277
	· -	Developing a clear RFID strategy	3	5	4.64	-1.500

	7	Innovation	2	5	3.94	324
		Provision of training and support for employees	3	5	4.80	-2.331
		Top management support and commitment				
		Organisational knowledge accumulation	2	5	3.71	158
		Number of trained/skilled employees	2	5	3.71	158
	دە د	IT/IS infrastructure	2	5	2.77	.645
	Business size	Annual turnover	2	5	3.84	459
	ess	International reach	2	5	3.77	646
	sine	The number of office locations, warehouses, retail outlets, and service	2	5	5.77	.040
	Bus	centers deploying RFID	1	5	3.07	.415
		Range of products/services using RFID				
		Adoption of flexible deployment architecture	2	5	3.88	325
	SS B	Continuous review and improvement of procedures	1	5	4.18	-1.107
	oce erir	Restructuring and streamlining activities including removal of non-	1	5	4.10	-1.107
	Business Process Re-engineering (BPR)	value added tasks, controls and checks	3	5	4.64	-1.262
	less (BI	Integration and management of large amounts of data	1	5	3.20	006
	e-e		2			
	BC R	Centralization of dispersed resources and processes		5 5	4.00	249
		Synchronization of business processes and IT resources	2		3.72	.001
		Sales increase attributable to RFID	2	5	2.90	1.054
	al es	Net profit attributable to RFID	1	3	2.15	223
	Financial measures	Return-on-investment attributable to RFID	1	4	2.67	473
	ina	Market share gains attributable to RFID	1	3	1.75	.185
	ш с	Cost reduction attributable to RFID	2	5	4.11	757
		Labour savings attributable to RFID	3	5	4.18	165
		Risk minimization attributable to RFID	1	5	2.87	004
		Reduction of inventory attributable to RFID	3	5	4.66	-1.108
		Improved product availability attributable to RFID	3	5	3.66	.672
Э Ч	es	Improved transaction accuracy attributable to RFID	3	5	4.67	-1.436
Dac	Internal processes	Improved visibility attributable to RFID	3	5	4.75	-2.252
pro	LOC	Reduced out-of-stock items attributable to RFID	3	5	4.28	.492
ap	dle	Improved supply chain planning attributable to RFID	1	5	2.79	149
ssc	rna	Rate of complete orders attributable to RFID	2	5	3.34	.364
e (E	nte	Improved data integrity attributable to RFID	2	4	3.15	031
ů.	-	Electronic traceability attributable to RFID	4	5	4.85	-2.010
Ĕ		Improved sourcing of new products attributable to RFID	2	5	4.01	351
Business performance (BSC approach)		Increase in transportation efficiency attributable to RFID	2	5	3.11	.599
реі		Improved corporate social responsibility attributable to RFID	1	3	2.34	649
SSS	mo	Improved corporate social responsibility attributable to RFID	1	3	1.82	.203
ine	usto res	Environmental compliance attributable to RFID	1	3	2.33	500
Bus	e/C asu		2			
_	Corporate/Custom er measures	Improved organisational learning attributable to RFID		5	3.36	083
	pol	Improved health and safety attributable to RFID	1	3	1.65	.477
	Cor	Customer retention attributable to RFID	1	5	3.09	.356
	-	Enhanced staff motivation attributable to RFID	3	5	3.90	.182
	g	More accurate forecast of demand attributable to RFID	3	5	3.77	.422
	th	Increase in organisational knowledge accumulation attributable to	2	5	3.88	508
	arning ar growth	RFID				
	Learning and growth	Enhancement of employee satisfaction attributable to RFID	2	5	3.27	.760
	Le	Improvement in employees' REID related skills and profisionsy	2	F	4.07	065
	T	Improvement in employees' RFID-related skills and proficiency	3	5	4.07	.065
		gement support	3	5	4.77	.462
Ę		y of IS/IT infrastructure	3	5	4.15	.750
ţi		readiness/affordability	4	5	4.85	.355
doþ		RFID benefits	4	5	4.65	.372
ad		ional technical capability	3	5	4.06	.585
E		RFID standards convergence	1	5	3.53	.964
fR		ve pressure	2	5	4.09	.715
0	Industry p		1	5	3.13	.946
Š	Professio	nal & trade association pressure	1	3	2.63	.694
ivers	1101033101		~ ~		0	770
Drivers of RFID adoption		e transactional climate	3	5	3.57	.770
Drivers	Favourab	e transactional climate y pressure	3	5 3	3.57	.770

	Government support	1	4	2.72	.788
	Media pressure	1	3	1.79	.623
	Global expansion	2	5	3.52	.912
	Cost issues	2	5	4.44	.620
₽	Manpower (skills) issues	1	4	2.27	.685
RFID	Compliance issues	1	5	2.00	.809
i of ion	Privacy issues	1	З	1.80	.675
traints of adoption	Security issues (e.g., identity theft)	1	З	1.74	.644
Constraints adopti	Technical issues	1	5	3.33	.728
suc	Lack of industry standards	1	5	3.48	.898
ğ	A Requirements for business process change required	1	5	3.62	.983
	The unwillingness of the customer and supplier to use it	1	4	2.01	.662

Figure 5.1: Impact of strength of culture, size, BPR on decision to adopt RFID (research question 2)





e12

Continuous

improvement









Appendix D – One-Way ANOVA results for research question 5

Benefits derived from	RFID implementation			Std.	Std.		
RFID	stage	N	Mean	Deviation	Error	Min	Max
Sales increase	Pilot stage	52	3.23	.645	.089	2	5
	Partial implementation	39	3.21	.615	.098	2	5
	Full implementation	6	3.67	.816	.333	3	5
	Total	97	3.25	.646	.066	2	5
Net profit	Pilot stage	52	2.73	.448	.062	2	3
	Partial implementation	39	2.28	.456	.073	2	3
	Full implementation	6	3.18	.610	.087	3	4
	Total	97	2.57	.498	.051	2	3
Return-on-investment	Pilot stage	52	3.37	.486	.067	3	4
	Partial implementation	39	3.13	.339	.054	3	4
	Full implementation	6	3.67	.516	.211	3	4
	Total	97	3.29	.455	.046	3	4
Market share	Pilot stage	52	1.27	.448	.062	1	2
	Partial implementation	39	1.72	.456	.073	1	2
	Full implementation	6	1.00	.510	.063	1	3
	Total	97	1.43	.498	.051	1	2
Cost reduction	Pilot stage	52	4.31	.398	.055	4	5
	Partial implementation	39	4.81	.468	.075	4	5
	Full implementation	6	4.83	.399	.069	4	5
	Total	97	4.62	.488	.050	4	5
Labor savings	Pilot stage	52	4.00	.530	.054	3	5
	Partial implementation	39	4.00	.307	.049	4	5
	Full implementation	6	4.10	.321	.050	4	5
	Total	97	4.04	.200	.020	4	5
Risk minimization	Pilot stage	52	2.87	.627	.087	1	4
	Partial implementation	39	2.85	.630	.101	1	4
	Full implementation	6	3.00	.367	.065	3	4
	Total	97	2.87	.606	.062	1	4
Reduction of inventory	Pilot stage	52	4.60	.823	.114	2	5
	Partial implementation	39	4.67	.772	.124	2	5
	Full implementation	6	4.83	.408	.167	4	5
	Total	97	4.64	.780	.079	2	5
Product availability	Pilot stage	52	4.15	.607	.084	3	5
	Partial implementation	39	4.05	.887	.142	3	5
	Full implementation	6	4.17	.408	.167	4	5
	Total	97	4.11	.720	.073	3	5

Transaction accuracy	Pilot stage	52	4.23	.962	.133	2	5
Transaction accuracy	Partial implementation	39	4.38	.990	.155	2	5
	Full implementation	6	4.83	.408	.167	4	5
	Total	97	4.33	.408	.097	2	5
Visibility	Pilot stage	52	4.33	.893	.124	2	5
visibility	Partial implementation	39	4.42	1.034	.124	2	5
	Full implementation	6	4.33	.408	.167	4	5
		97					
Deduced out of starly	Total		4.41	.933	.095	2	5
Reduced out-of-stock	Pilot stage	52	3.83	.555	.077	2	5
	Partial implementation	39	3.82	.683	.109	2	5
	Full implementation	6	3.92	.408	.167	3	4
	Total	97	3.88	.600	.061	2	5
Supply chain planning	Pilot stage	52	3.00	.658	.091	2	5
	Partial implementation	39	3.05	.605	.097	2	5
	Full implementation	6	3.13	.790	.101	2	4
	Total	97	3.09	.614	.062	2	5
Rate of complete orders	Pilot stage	52	3.69	.466	.065	3	4
	Partial implementation	39	3.26	.442	.071	3	4
	Full implementation	6	4.00	.520	.049	3	4
	Total	97	3.54	.501	.051	3	4
Data integrity	Pilot stage	52	3.56	.502	.070	3	4
	Partial implementation	39	3.21	.409	.066	3	4
	Full implementation	6	3.83	.408	.167	3	4
	Total	97	3.43	.498	.051	3	4
Electronic traceability	Pilot stage	52	4.21	1.073	.149	1	5
	Partial implementation	39	4.23	1.135	.182	2	5
	Full implementation	6	4.67	.516	.211	4	5
	Total	97	4.25	1.071	.109	1	5
Sourcing of new products	Pilot stage	52	3.83	.625	.087	2	5
	Partial implementation	39	3.74	.751	.120	2	5
	Full implementation	6	3.96	.408	.167	3	4
	Total	97	3.87	.671	.068	2	5
Transportation efficiency	Pilot stage	52	3.21	1.054	.146	2	5
	Partial implementation	39	2.95	.887	.142	2	5
	Full implementation	6	3.83	.983	.401	2	5
	Total	97	3.14	1.000	.102	2	5
Corporate social	Pilot stage	52	1.94	.608	.084	1	3
responsibility	Partial implementation	39	1.92	.807	.129	1	3
. ,	Full implementation	6	2.00	.780	.075	2	4
	Total	97	1.94	.674	.068	1	3
Business sustainability	Pilot stage	52	2.00	.657	.091	1	3
	Partial implementation	39	1.92	.774	.124	1	3

	Full implementation	6	2.00	.645	.081	2	3
	Total	97	1.97	.684	.069	1	3
Environmental compliance	Pilot stage	52	2.83	.430	.060	1	3
	Partial implementation	39	2.51	.506	.000	2	3
	Full implementation	6	2.83	.753	.307	2	4
	Total	97	2.70	.503	.051	1	4
Organizational learning	Pilot stage	52	3.29	.498	.069	2	4
Organizational learning	Partial implementation	39	3.33	.498	.080	3	4
	Full implementation	6	3.59	.516	.211	3	4
	Total	97	3.41	.515	.052	2	4
Health and safety		52	1.25	.437	.052		
nealth and safety	Pilot stage Partial implementation	39	1.25	.502	.080	1	2
		6				1	
	Full implementation Total	97	1.00	.421	.076	1	2
Customor rotantian			1.31	.465	.047	1	2
Customer retention	Pilot stage	52 20	2.67	.382	.053	2	3
	Partial implementation	39 6	2.82	.451	.072	2	4
	Full implementation		2.83	.516	.211	2	3
	Total	97	2.81	.417	.042	2	4
Staff motivation	Pilot stage	52	4.17	.648	.090	3	5
	Partial implementation	39	4.49	.601	.096	3	5
	Full implementation	6	4.00	.632	.258	3	5
	Total	97	4.29	.645	.065	3	5
Demand forecast	Pilot stage	52	3.29	.750	.104	2	5
	Partial implementation	39	3.17	.999	.160	3	4
	Full implementation	6	4.05	.408	.167	3	5
	Total	97	3.59	.921	.094	2	5
Organisation knowledge	Pilot stage	52	4.23	.962	.133	2	5
accumulation	Partial implementation	39	4.28	1.050	.168	2	5
	Full implementation	6	4.67	.516	.211	4	5
	Total	97	4.28	.976	.099	2	5
Employee satisfaction	Pilot stage	52	2.79	.498	.069	1	4
	Partial implementation	39	2.82	.451	.072	1	3
	Full implementation	6	2.67	.516	.211	2	3
	Total	97	2.79	.477	.048	1	4
Employees' RFID-related	Pilot stage	52	3.94	.461	.064	3	5
skills and proficiency	Partial implementation	39	3.95	.456	.073	3	5
	Full implementation	6	4.00	.398	.043	4	5
	Total	97	3.95	.442	.045	3	5

	Tal	ble 5.31: Multiple Com	parisons for RFID implem	nentation stage		
JKEY HS	SD					
	Dependent	(I) State of RFID	(J) State of RFID	Mean		
	Variable	adoption	adoption	Difference (I-J)	Std. Error	Sig.
	Sales increase	Pilot stage	Partial	0.26	120	001
			implementation	.026	.136	.981
			Full implementation	436*	.277	.013
		Partial	Pilot stage	026	.136	.981
		implementation	Full implementation	462*	.282	.006
		Full implementation	Pilot stage	.436*	.277	.013
			Partial	.462*	202	000
			implementation	.462	.282	.006
	Net profit	Pilot stage	Partial	440*	000	000
			implementation	.449*	.093	.000
			Full implementation	269	.189	.334
		Partial	Pilot stage	449*	.093	.000
		implementation	Full implementation	718 [*]	.193	.001
		Full implementation	Pilot stage	.269	.189	.334
			Partial	*		
			implementation	.718*	.193	.001
S	Return-on-	Pilot stage	Partial	*		
sure	investment		implementation	.237*	.092	.031
Financial measures			Full implementation	301	.187	.247
cial r		Partial	Pilot stage	237*	.092	.031
nanc		implementation	Full implementation	538*	.191	.016
Ē		Full implementation	Pilot stage	.301	.187	.247
			Partial			
			implementation	.538*	.191	.016
	Cost reduction	Pilot stage	Partial			
		C C	implementation	.500*	.088	.000
			Full implementation	192	.180	.536
		Partial	Pilot stage	500*	.088	.000
		implementation	Full implementation	692*	.183	.001
		Full implementation	Pilot stage	.192	.180	.536
			Partial			
			implementation	.692*	.183	.001
	Labor savings	Pilot stage	Partial			
		02	implementation	103*	.041	.039
			Full implementation	.000	.084	1.000
		Partial	Pilot stage	.103*	.041	.039
		implementation	Full implementation	.103	.086	.458
		Full implementation	Pilot stage	.000	.084	1.000

			Partial			
			implementation	103	.086	.458
	Reduction of	Pilot stage	Partial	a = -		
	inventory		implementation	071	.166	.906
			Full implementation	237	.339	.764
		Partial	Pilot stage	.071	.166	.906
		implementation	Full implementation	167*	.345	.043
		Full implementation	Pilot stage	.237	.339	.764
			Partial	4 6 7 *	245	0.42
			implementation	.167*	.345	.043
	Visibility	Pilot stage	Partial	.090	109	802
			implementation	.090	.198	.893
			Full implementation	410*	.403	.018
		Partial	Pilot stage	090	.198	.893
		implementation	Full implementation	500*	.410	.035
		Full implementation	Pilot stage	.410*	.403	.018
			Partial	.500 [*]	.410	.035
			implementation	.500	.410	.055
	Reduced out-	Pilot stage	Partial	.103*	.128	.003
es	of-stock		implementation	.105	.120	.005
cess			Full implementation	.090	.260	.937
Internal processes		Partial	Pilot stage	103*	.128	.003
'nal		implementation	Full implementation	013*	.265	.011
nter		Full implementation	Pilot stage	090	.260	.937
-			Partial	.013*	.265	.011
			implementation	.015	.205	.011
	Supply chain	Pilot stage	Partial	.083	.131	.801
	planning		implementation	.005	.151	.001
			Full implementation	.135	.267	.869
		Partial	Pilot stage	083	.131	.801
		implementation	Full implementation	.051*	.271	.000
		Full implementation	Pilot stage	135	.267	.869
			Partial	051*	.271	.000
			implementation	.051		
	Electronic	Pilot stage	Partial	0 19 [*]	.228	.046
	traceability		implementation	.015		.040
			Full implementation	455	.464	.591
		Partial	Pilot stage	.019*	.228	.046
		implementation	Full implementation	436*	.472	.000
			Pilot stage	.455	.464	.591
			Partial	.436 [*]	.472	.000
			implementation		.472	

		Pilot stage	Partial			
			implementation	019*	.228	.046
			Full implementation	455	.464	.591
	Business	Partial	Pilot stage	.019*	.228	.046
1	sustainability	implementation	Full implementation	436*	.472	.000
		Full implementation	Pilot stage	.455	.464	.591
			Partial			
			implementation	.436*	.472	.000
		Pilot stage	Partial	-		
			implementation	.500 [*]	.088	.000
			Full implementation	192	.180	.536
	Staff motivation	Partial	Pilot stage	500*	.088	.000
		implementation	Full implementation	692 [*]	.183	.001
		Full implementation	Pilot stage	.192	.180	.536
			Partial	*		
			implementation	.692*	.183	.001
		Pilot stage	Partial	*		
es			implementation	019*	.228	.046
asur			Full implementation	455	.464	.591
me	Customer retention	Partial	Pilot stage	.019*	.228	.046
ate		implementation	Full implementation	4 36 [*]	.472	.000
rpoi		Full implementation	Pilot stage	.455	.464	.591
S			Partial			
			implementation	.436*	.472	.000
		Pilot stage	Partial	.500*	000	
			implementation	.500	.088	.000
			Full implementation	192	.180	.536
	Environmental	Partial	Pilot stage	500*	.088	.000
	compliance	implementation	Full implementation	692*	.183	.001
		Full implementation	Pilot stage	.192	.180	.536
			Partial	.692 [*]	100	001
			implementation	.692	.183	.001
	Organisational	Pilot stage	Partial	301*	100	015
	learning		implementation	301	.106	.015
			Full implementation	045	.215	.976
		Partial	Pilot stage	.301*	.106	.015
		implementation	Full implementation	.256	.219	.473
		Full implementation	Pilot stage	.045	.215	.976
			Partial	256	210	172
			implementation	200	.219	.473
Learni ng &	Demand	Pilot stage	Partial	763 [*]	.179	.000
Leai	forecast		implementation	705	.1/5	.000

		Full implementation	.122	.365	.941
	Partial	Pilot stage	.763*	.179	.000
	implementation	Full implementation	.885*	.371	.050
	Full implementation	Pilot stage	122	.365	.941
		Partial	*		
		implementation	885*	.371	.050
Organisation	Pilot stage	Partial	054*		
knowledge		implementation	051*	.208	.017
accumulation		Full implementation	436	.423	.560
	Partial	Pilot stage	.051*	.208	.017
	implementation	Full implementation	385*	.430	.645
	Full implementation	Pilot stage	.436	.423	.560
		Partial	205*	120	6.45
		implementation	.385*	.430	.645
Employees'	Pilot stage	Partial	006*	005	017
RFID-related		implementation	006	.095	.017
skills and		Full implementation	058	.192	.952
proficiency	Partial	Pilot stage	.006*	.095	.017
	implementation	Full implementation	0 51 [*]	.196	.023
	Full implementation	Pilot stage	.058	.192	.952
		Partial	054*	100	
		implementation	.051*	.196	.023

	Table	5.32: Desc	riptives for	PULT			
BENEFITS DERIVED FROM RFID	ORGANISATIONAL PEDIGREE IN RFID	Ν	Mean	Std. Deviation	Std. Error	Min	Max
Sales increase	Pallet-level	17	3.47	.874	.212	3	5
	Case-level	23	3.39	.656	.137	3	5
	Container-level	15	3.13	.516	.133	3	5
	Item-level	42	3.12	.550	.085	2	5
	Total	97	3.25	.646	.066	2	5
Net profit	Pallet-level	17	2.35	.493	.119	2	3
	Case-level	23	2.30	.470	.098	2	3
	Container-level	15	2.47	.516	.133	2	3
	Item-level	42	2.83	.377	.058	2	3
	Total	97	2.57	.498	.051	2	3
Return-on-investment	Pallet-level	17	3.29	.470	.114	3	4
	Case-level	23	3.17	.388	.081	3	4
	Container-level	15	3.13	.352	.091	3	4
	Item-level	42	3.40	.497	.077	3	4
	Total	97	3.29	.455	.046	3	4

		1	1		-		
Market share	Pallet-level	17	1.65	.493	.119	1	2
	Case-level	23	1.70	.470	.098	1	2
	Container-level	15	1.53	.516	.133	1	2
	Item-level	42	1.17	.377	.058	1	2
	Total	97	1.43	.498	.051	1	2
Cost reduction	Pallet-level	17	4.47	.514	.125	4	5
	Case-level	23	4.39	.499	.104	4	5
	Container-level	15	4.47	.516	.133	4	5
	Item-level	42	4.86	.354	.055	4	5
	Total	97	4.62	.488	.050	4	5
Labor savings	Pallet-level	17	4.06	.243	.059	4	5
	Case-level	23	4.04	.209	.043	4	5
	Container-level	15	4.13	.352	.091	4	5
	Item-level	42	4.00	.000	.000	4	4
	Total	97	4.04	.200	.020	4	5
Risk minimization	Pallet-level	17	2.94	.556	.135	1	4
	Case-level	23	2.91	.596	.124	1	4
	Container-level	15	2.80	.676	.175	1	4
	Item-level	42	2.83	.621	.096	1	4
	Total	97	2.87	.606	.062	1	4
Reduction of inventory	Pallet-level	17	4.65	.606	.147	3	5
	Case-level	23	4.70	.635	.132	3	5
	Container-level	15	4.33	1.113	.287	2	5
	Item-level	42	4.71	.774	.119	2	5
	Total	97	4.64	.780	.079	2	5
Product availability	Pallet-level	17	4.29	.772	.187	3	5
	Case-level	23	4.17	.887	.185	3	5
	Container-level	15	3.73	.704	.182	3	5
	Item-level	42	4.14	.566	.087	3	5
	Total	97	4.11	.720	.073	3	5
Transaction accuracy	Pallet-level	17	4.53	.624	.151	3	5
	Case-level	23	4.61	.656	.137	3	5
	Container-level	15	3.87	1.246	.322	2	5
	Item-level	42	4.26	1.037	.160	2	5
	Total	97	4.33	.954	.097	2	5
Visibility	Pallet-level	17	4.29	.920	.223	2	5
	Case-level	23	4.43	.843	.176	3	5
	Container-level	15	4.00	1.195	.309	2	5
	Item-level	42	4.60	.857	.132	2	5
	Total	97	4.41	.933	.095	2	5
Reduced out-of-stock	Pallet-level	17	3.88	.485	.118	3	5
NEUGEG OUL OFSLUCK	Case-level	23	3.96	.638	.133	2	5

ontainer-level em-level otal allet-level	15 42 97	3.73 3.88	.704 .593	.182 .091	2	5
otal		3.88	.593	001	~	
	97			.051	2	5
allet-level		3.88	.600	.061	2	5
	17	3.18	.809	.196	2	5
ase-level	23	2.91	.596	.124	2	4
ontainer-level	15	3.07	.594	.153	2	5
em-level	42	3.17	.537	.083	2	5
otal	97	3.09	.614	.062	2	5
allet-level	17	3.35	.493	.119	3	4
ase-level	23	3.22	.422	.088	3	4
ontainer-level	15	3.47	.516	.133	3	4
em-level	42	3.81	.397	.061	3	4
otal	97	3.54	.501	.051	3	4
allet-level	17	3.29	.470	.114	3	4
ase-level	23	3.22	.422	.088	3	4
ontainer-level	15	3.33	.488	.126	3	4
em-level	42	3.64	.485	.075	3	4
otal	97	3.43	.498	.051	3	4
allet-level	17	4.24	1.033	.250	2	5
ase-level	23	4.26	.864	.180	3	5
ontainer-level	15	3.60	1.454	.375	1	5
em-level	42	4.48	.969	.149	2	5
otal	97	4.25	1.071	.109	1	5
allet-level	17	3.94	.429	.104	3	5
ase-level	23	4.09	.668	.139	2	5
ontainer-level	15	3.60	.828	.214	2	5
em-level	42	3.81	.671	.104	2	5
otal	97	3.87	.671	.068	2	5
allet-level	17	2.82	.883	.214	2	4
ase-level	23	2.74	.752	.157	2	4
ontainer-level	15	3.33	1.047	.270	2	5
em-level	42		1.063	.164	2	5
otal	97	3.14			2	5
						3
						3
						3
em-level						3
otal						3
						3
						3
						3
						3
	attal allet-level ase-level antainer-level ase-level ase-level <tr< td=""><td>ptal97allet-level17ase-level23ontainer-level15em-level42otal97allet-level17ase-level23ontainer-level15em-level42otal97allet-level15em-level42otal97allet-level17ase-level23ontainer-level15em-level42ontainer-level15em-level42otal97allet-level17ase-level23ontainer-level15em-level42otal97allet-level17ase-level23ontainer-level15em-level42otal97allet-level17ase-level23ontainer-level15em-level42otal97allet-level17ase-level23ontainer-level15em-level42otal97allet-level17ase-level23ontainer-level15em-level42otal97allet-level17ase-level23ontainer-level15em-level42otal97allet-level17ase-level23ontainer-l</td><td>otal 97 3.09 allet-level 17 3.35 ase-level 23 3.22 ontainer-level 15 3.47 em-level 42 3.81 otal 97 3.54 otal 97 3.43 allet-level 15 3.33 em-level 42 3.64 otal 97 3.43 otal 97 3.43 otal 97 3.43 otal 97 4.26 ontainer-level 15 3.60 em-level 42 4.48 otal 97 3.87 otal 97 3.87 otal 97 3.87</td><td>tal 97 3.09 .614 illet-level 17 3.35 .493 ase-level 23 3.22 .422 ontainer-level 42 3.81 .397 otal 97 3.54 .501 illet-level 17 3.29 .470 ase-level 23 3.22 .422 ontainer-level 15 3.33 .488 em-level 42 3.64 .485 ontainer-level 15 3.33 .488 em-level 42 3.64 .485 ontainer-level 17 4.24 1.033 ase-level 23 4.26 .864 ontainer-level 15 3.60 1.454 em-level 42 4.48 .969 otal 97 3.87 .671 ontainer-level 15 3.60 .828 em-level 42 3.81 .671 otal 97<td>prime 97 3.09 .614 .062 illet-level 17 3.35 .493 .119 sse-level 23 3.22 .422 .088 paratiner-level 15 3.47 .516 .133 em-level 42 3.81 .397 .061 paration 97 3.54 .501 .051 illet-level 17 3.29 .470 .114 sse-level 23 3.22 .422 .088 paratiner-level 15 3.33 .488 .126 em-level 42 3.64 .485 .075 paratiner-level 17 4.24 1.033 .250 se-level 23 4.26 .864 .180 paratiner-level 15 3.60 1.454 .375 em-level 42 4.48 .969 .149 paratiner-level 17 3.94 .429 .104 se-level</td><td>tal 97 3.09 .614 .062 2 illet-level 17 3.35 .493 .119 3 sse-level 23 3.22 .422 .088 3 ontainer-level 15 3.47 .516 .133 3 em-level 42 3.81 .397 .061 3 stal 97 3.54 .501 .051 3 stal 97 3.54 .501 .051 3 sel-level 17 3.29 .470 .114 3 sel-level 13 3.22 .422 .088 3 ontainer-level 15 3.33 .488 .126 3 em-level 42 3.64 .485 .075 3 otal 97 3.43 .498 .051 3 ontainer-level 17 4.26 .864 .180 3 ontainer-level 17 3.94</td></td></tr<>	ptal97allet-level17ase-level23ontainer-level15em-level42otal97allet-level17ase-level23ontainer-level15em-level42otal97allet-level15em-level42otal97allet-level17ase-level23ontainer-level15em-level42ontainer-level15em-level42otal97allet-level17ase-level23ontainer-level15em-level42otal97allet-level17ase-level23ontainer-level15em-level42otal97allet-level17ase-level23ontainer-level15em-level42otal97allet-level17ase-level23ontainer-level15em-level42otal97allet-level17ase-level23ontainer-level15em-level42otal97allet-level17ase-level23ontainer-level15em-level42otal97allet-level17ase-level23ontainer-l	otal 97 3.09 allet-level 17 3.35 ase-level 23 3.22 ontainer-level 15 3.47 em-level 42 3.81 otal 97 3.54 otal 97 3.43 allet-level 15 3.33 em-level 42 3.64 otal 97 3.43 otal 97 3.43 otal 97 3.43 otal 97 4.26 ontainer-level 15 3.60 em-level 42 4.48 otal 97 3.87 otal 97 3.87 otal 97 3.87	tal 97 3.09 .614 illet-level 17 3.35 .493 ase-level 23 3.22 .422 ontainer-level 42 3.81 .397 otal 97 3.54 .501 illet-level 17 3.29 .470 ase-level 23 3.22 .422 ontainer-level 15 3.33 .488 em-level 42 3.64 .485 ontainer-level 15 3.33 .488 em-level 42 3.64 .485 ontainer-level 17 4.24 1.033 ase-level 23 4.26 .864 ontainer-level 15 3.60 1.454 em-level 42 4.48 .969 otal 97 3.87 .671 ontainer-level 15 3.60 .828 em-level 42 3.81 .671 otal 97 <td>prime 97 3.09 .614 .062 illet-level 17 3.35 .493 .119 sse-level 23 3.22 .422 .088 paratiner-level 15 3.47 .516 .133 em-level 42 3.81 .397 .061 paration 97 3.54 .501 .051 illet-level 17 3.29 .470 .114 sse-level 23 3.22 .422 .088 paratiner-level 15 3.33 .488 .126 em-level 42 3.64 .485 .075 paratiner-level 17 4.24 1.033 .250 se-level 23 4.26 .864 .180 paratiner-level 15 3.60 1.454 .375 em-level 42 4.48 .969 .149 paratiner-level 17 3.94 .429 .104 se-level</td> <td>tal 97 3.09 .614 .062 2 illet-level 17 3.35 .493 .119 3 sse-level 23 3.22 .422 .088 3 ontainer-level 15 3.47 .516 .133 3 em-level 42 3.81 .397 .061 3 stal 97 3.54 .501 .051 3 stal 97 3.54 .501 .051 3 sel-level 17 3.29 .470 .114 3 sel-level 13 3.22 .422 .088 3 ontainer-level 15 3.33 .488 .126 3 em-level 42 3.64 .485 .075 3 otal 97 3.43 .498 .051 3 ontainer-level 17 4.26 .864 .180 3 ontainer-level 17 3.94</td>	prime 97 3.09 .614 .062 illet-level 17 3.35 .493 .119 sse-level 23 3.22 .422 .088 paratiner-level 15 3.47 .516 .133 em-level 42 3.81 .397 .061 paration 97 3.54 .501 .051 illet-level 17 3.29 .470 .114 sse-level 23 3.22 .422 .088 paratiner-level 15 3.33 .488 .126 em-level 42 3.64 .485 .075 paratiner-level 17 4.24 1.033 .250 se-level 23 4.26 .864 .180 paratiner-level 15 3.60 1.454 .375 em-level 42 4.48 .969 .149 paratiner-level 17 3.94 .429 .104 se-level	tal 97 3.09 .614 .062 2 illet-level 17 3.35 .493 .119 3 sse-level 23 3.22 .422 .088 3 ontainer-level 15 3.47 .516 .133 3 em-level 42 3.81 .397 .061 3 stal 97 3.54 .501 .051 3 stal 97 3.54 .501 .051 3 sel-level 17 3.29 .470 .114 3 sel-level 13 3.22 .422 .088 3 ontainer-level 15 3.33 .488 .126 3 em-level 42 3.64 .485 .075 3 otal 97 3.43 .498 .051 3 ontainer-level 17 4.26 .864 .180 3 ontainer-level 17 3.94

	Tatal	07	1.07	694	060	1	2
European entre l	Total	97	1.97	.684	.069	1	3
Environmental	Pallet-level	17	2.65	.606	.147	1	3
compliance	Case-level	23	2.70	.470	.098	2	3
	Container-level	15	2.60	.507	.131	2	3
	Item-level	42	2.76	.484	.075	2	4
	Total	97	2.70	.503	.051	1	4
Organizational learning	Pallet-level	17	3.76	.437	.106	3	4
	Case-level	23	3.57	.590	.123	2	4
	Container-level	15	3.33	.488	.126	3	4
	Item-level	42	3.21	.415	.064	3	4
	Total	97	3.41	.515	.052	2	4
Health and safety	Pallet-level	17	1.41	.507	.123	1	2
	Case-level	23	1.48	.511	.106	1	2
	Container-level	15	1.53	.516	.133	1	2
	Item-level	42	1.10	.297	.046	1	2
	Total	97	1.31	.465	.047	1	2
Customer retention	Pallet-level	17	2.94	.429	.104	2	4
	Case-level	23	2.78	.422	.088	2	3
	Container-level	15	2.67	.488	.126	2	3
	Item-level	42	2.83	.377	.058	2	3
	Total	97	2.81	.417	.042	2	4
Staff motivation	Pallet-level	17	4.41	.618	.150	3	5
	Case-level	23	4.57	.590	.123	3	5
	Container-level	15	4.33	.724	.187	3	5
	Item-level	42	4.07	.601	.093	3	5
	Total	97	4.29	.645	.065	3	5
Demand forecast	Pallet-level	17	3.59	.939	.228	3	5
	Case-level	23	4.04	1.022	.213	3	5
	Container-level	15	3.80	1.014	.262	3	5
	Item-level	42	3.26	.701	.108	2	5
	Total	97	3.59	.921	.094	2	5
Organisation knowledge	Pallet-level	17	4.12	1.054	.256	2	5
accumulation	Case-level	23	4.30	.822	.171	3	5
	Container-level	15	3.80	1.082	.279	2	5
	Item-level	42	4.50	.944	.146	2	5
	Total	97	4.28	.976	.099	2	5
Employee satisfaction	Pallet-level	17	2.65	.606	.147	1	3
. ,	Case-level	23	2.87	.344	.072	2	3
	Container-level	15	2.80	.414	.107	2	3
	Item-level	42	2.81	.505	.078	1	4
	Total	97	2.79	.477	.048	1	4
	Pallet-level	17	3.94	.243	.059	3	4

	Case-level	23	3.91	.417	.087	3	5
Employees' RFID-related	Container-level	15	4.00	.535	.138	3	5
skills and proficiency	Item-level	42	3.95	.492	.076	3	5
	Total	97	3.95	.442	.045	3	5

		Table 5.33: Mu	Itiple Comparisons fo	or PULT		
	Tukey HSD		· · ·			
		(I) Product level of	(J) Product level of			
	Dependent	RFID	RFID	Mean		
	Variable	implementation	implementation	Difference (I-J)	Std. Error	Sig.
	Net profit	Pallet-level	Case-level	.049	.142	.986
			Container-level	114	.157	.888
			Item-level	- . 480 [*]	.128	.002
		Case-level	Pallet-level	049	.142	.986
			Container-level	162	.147	.689
			Item-level	5 29 [*]	.115	.000
		Container-level	Pallet-level	.114	.157	.888
			Case-level	.162	.147	.689
			Item-level	367 [*]	.133	.036
		Item-level	Pallet-level	.480*	.128	.002
			Case-level	.529*	.115	.000
			Container-level	.367*	.133	.036
	Cost reduction	Pallet-level	Case-level	.079	.143	.945
Ires			Container-level	.004	.158	1.000
easu			Item-level	387 [*]	.129	.018
Financial measures		Case-level	Pallet-level	079	.143	.945
incia			Container-level	075	.148	.957
Fina			Item-level	466*	.116	.001
		Container-level	Pallet-level	004	.158	1.000
			Case-level	.075	.148	.957
			Item-level	390*	.134	.023
		Item-level	Pallet-level	.387*	.129	.018
			Case-level	.466*	.116	.001
			Container-level	.390*	.134	.023
	Labor savings	Pallet-level	Case-level	.015	.063	.995
			Container-level	075*	.070	.712
			Item-level	.059*	.057	.729
		Case-level	Pallet-level	015	.063	.995
			Container-level	090*	.066	.521
			Item-level	.043*	.051	.831
		Container-level	Pallet-level	.075*	.070	.712

			Case-level	.090*	.066	.521
			Item-level	.133*	.059	.119
		Item-level	Pallet-level	059*	.055	.729
			Case-level	043*	.051	.831
			Container-level	133*	.059	.119
	Reduction of	Pallet-level	Case-level	049*	.250	.997
	inventory		Container-level	.314	.276	.669
	invencory		Item-level	067*	.276	.991
		Case-level	Pallet-level	.049*	.250	.997
			Container-level	.362	.259	.503
			Item-level	019	.202	1.000
		Container-level	Pallet-level	314	.202	.669
		container-level	Case-level	362	.259	.503
			Item-level	381	.235	.371
		Item-level	Pallet-level	.067*	.235	.991
			Case-level	.019	.202	1.000
			Container-level	.381	.235	.371
	Visibility	Pallet-level	Case-level	141 [*]	.235	.964
	VISIDIIILY	Fallet-level	Container-level	.294*	.327	.805
	S		Item-level	301 [*]	.265	.669
		Case-level	Pallet-level	.141*	.205	.964
es		Case-level	Container-level	.435*	.306	.491
Internal processes			Item-level	160*	.240	.908
prod		Container-level	Pallet-level	294*	.327	.805
'nal		container-level	Case-level	435*	.306	.491
Intei			Item-level	595*	.278	.147
-		Item-level	Pallet-level	.301*	.265	.669
			Case-level	.160*	.205	.908
			Container-level	.595*	.240	.147
	Electronic	Pallet-level	Case-level	026	.334	1.000
	traceability	T anet-level	Container-level	.635	.370	.321
	liuccubiiity		Item-level	241 [*]	.300	.853
		Case-level	Pallet-level	.026	.334	1.000
			Container-level	.661	.347	.233
			Item-level	215 [*]	.271	.857
		Container-level	Pallet-level	635	.370	.321
			Case-level	661	.347	.233
			Item-level	876 [*]	.314	.235
		Item-level	Pallet-level	878 .241 [*]	.300	.853
			Case-level	.241	.300	.857
			Container-level	.215	.314	.032
		Pallet lovel				
		Pallet-level	Case-level	.084	.309	.993

			Container-level	510	.342	.446
			Item-level	605	.277	.136
		Case-level	Pallet-level	084	.309	.993
			Container-level	594	.320	.254
	Transportation		Item-level	689*	.250	.035
	efficiency	Container-level	Pallet-level	.510	.342	.446
	emclency		Case-level	.594	.320	.254
			Item-level	095	.290	.988
		Item-level	Pallet-level	.605	.277	.136
			Case-level	.689*	.250	.035
			Container-level	.095	.290	.988
	Organisational	Pallet-level	Case-level	.199	.152	.560
	learning		Container-level	.431	.169	.058
			Item-level	. 550 [*]	.137	.001
		Case-level	Pallet-level	199	.152	.560
			Container-level	.232	.158	.462
			Item-level	.351*	.124	.028
		Container-level	Pallet-level	431	.169	.058
			Case-level	232	.158	.462
			Item-level	.119	.143	.840
es		Item-level	Pallet-level	550 [*]	.137	.001
Corporate measures			Case-level	3 51 [*]	.124	.028
me			Container-level	119	.143	.840
rate	Staff	Pallet-level	Case-level	153	.199	.867
rpo	motivation		Container-level	.078	.220	.984
S			Item-level	.340	.179	.233
		Case-level	Pallet-level	.153	.199	.867
			Container-level	.232	.206	.675
			Item-level	.494*	.161	.015
		Container-level	Pallet-level	078	.220	.984
			Case-level	232	.206	.675
			Item-level	.262	.187	.502
		Item-level	Pallet-level	340	.179	.233
			Case-level	494*	.161	.015
			Container-level	262	.187	.502
	Demand	Pallet-level	Case-level	455	.281	.371
f	forecast		Container-level	212	.311	.904
Learning & growth			Item-level	.326	.252	.569
ø		Case-level	Pallet-level	.455	.281	.371
nin			Container-level	.243	.291	.837
ear			Item-level	.782*	.228	.005
			item-ievei	./82	,220	.00.1

		Case-level	243	.291	.837
		Item-level	.538	.264	.181
	Item-level	Pallet-level	326	.252	.569
		Case-level	782 [*]	.228	.005
		Container-level	538	.264	.181

	Table 5.34: Descriptives for organ						
BENEFITS DERIVED				Std.	Std.		
FROM RFID	ORGANISATIONAL PEDIGREE IN RFID	N	Mean	Deviation	Error	Min	Max
Sales increase	Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	51	2.98	.616	.086	1	5
	Understand most of the concepts of RFID	78	2.83	.780	.088	1	5
	Understand the principles of RFID	24	2.21	.509	.104	2	4
	Little knowledge of RFID principles but the system works for us	10	3.20	1.549	.490	2	5
	Total	163	2.81	.805	.063	1	5
Net profit	Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	51	2.80	.491	.069	1	3
	Understand most of the concepts of RFID	78	2.04	.440	.050	1	3
	Understand the principles of RFID	24	1.38	.647	.132	1	3
	Little knowledge of RFID principles but the system works for us	10	1.50	.707	.224	1	3
	Total	163	2.15	.713	.056	1	3
Return-on-	Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	51	3.22	.879	.123	1	5
investment	Understand most of the concepts of RFID	78	2.79	.827	.094	1	5
	Understand the principles of RFID	24	1.88	.850	.174	1	4
	Little knowledge of RFID principles but the system works for us	10	1.80	1.033	.327	1	4
	Total	163	2.73	.982	.077	1	5
Market share	Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	51	1.18	.434	.061	1	3
	Understand most of the concepts of RFID	78	1.94	.406	.046	1	3
	Understand the principles of RFID	24	2.08	.504	.103	1	3
	Little knowledge of RFID principles but the system works for us	10	2.50	.707	.224	1	3
	Total	163	1.75	.610	.048	1	3
Cost reduction	Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	51	4.29	1.171	.164	1	5
	Understand most of the concepts of RFID	78	3.81	.898	.102	1	5
	Understand the principles of RFID	24	3.38	.711	.145	3	5
	Little knowledge of RFID principles but the system works for us	10	2.90	1.197	.379	2	5
	Total	163	3.84	1.054	.083	1	5
Labour savings	Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	51	3.88	.621	.087	1	5
_	Understand most of the concepts of RFID	78	4.13	.985	.112	1	5

	Understand the principles of RFID	24	3.88				
			5.00	1.154	.236	1	5
	Little knowledge of RFID principles but the system works for us	10	3.00	1.247	.394	1	5
	Total	163	3.94	.964	.075	1	5
	Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	51	3.10	.878	.123	1	5
	Understand most of the concepts of RFID	78	3.12	.911	.103	1	5
	Understand the principles of RFID	24	2.13	.947	.193	1	5
	Little knowledge of RFID principles but the		2.20		.150	-	
	system works for us	10	1.90	.994	.314	1	3
	Total	163	2.89	1.000	.078	1	5
Reduction of	Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	51	4.78	.610	.085	2	5
	Understand most of the concepts of RFID	78	4.47	.963	.109	1	5
	Understand the principles of RFID	24	3.75	.897	.183	1	5
	Little knowledge of RFID principles but the		5.75		.105		
	system works for us	10	4.00	.816	.258	3	5
	Total	163	4.44	.910	.071	1	5
	Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	51	3.92	.845	.118	1	5
	Understand most of the concepts of RFID	78	3.56	.877	.099	2	5
	Understand the principles of RFID	24	3.08	.282	.058	3	4
	Little knowledge of RFID principles but the	10	3.10	.316	.100	3	4
	system works for us	10	5.10	.510	.100	5	4
	Total	163	3.58	.831	.065	1	5
Transaction	Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	51	4.80	.664	.093	2	5
accuracy	Understand most of the concepts of RFID	78	3.99	1.304	.148	1	5
_ r	Understand the principles of RFID	24	3.50	1.216	.248	1	5
	Little knowledge of RFID principles but the system works for us	10	3.50	1.269	.401	1	5
	Total	163	4.14	1.217	.095	1	5
	Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	51	4.12	1.423	.199	1	5
	Understand most of the concepts of RFID	78	4.31	1.177	.133	1	5
	Understand the principles of RFID	24	3.67	.963	.197	2	5
	Little knowledge of RFID principles but the	10	3.70	1.160	.367	2	5
	system works for us						
	Total	163	4.12	1.244	.097	1	5
Out-of-stock items	Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	51	3.61	.981	.137	1	5
	Understand most of the concepts of RFID	78	3.74	.973	.110	1	5
	Understand the principles of RFID	24	4.08	1.501	.306	1	5
	Little knowledge of RFID principles but the system works for us	10	4.20	1.317	.416	1	5
1			2 70	1.094	.086	1	5
	Total	163	3/2				
	Total Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	163 51	3.78 3.02	.678	.095	1	5

			_				
	Understand the principles of RFID	24	2.54	1.318	.269	1	5
	Little knowledge of RFID principles but the system works for us	10	3.40	.966	.306	2	5
	Total	163	2.92	.889	.070	1	5
Rate of complete	Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	51	3.88	.653	.091	2	5
orders	Understand most of the concepts of RFID	78	3.08	.864	.098	1	5
	Understand the principles of RFID	24	3.04	.751	.153	2	5
	Little knowledge of RFID principles but the						
	system works for us	10	2.60	1.075	.340	1	5
	Total	163	3.29	.895	.070	1	5
Data integrity	Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	51	3.29	.923	.129	1	5
	Understand most of the concepts of RFID	78	3.13	.691	.078	1	5
	Understand the principles of RFID	24	2.79	.721	.147	2	5
	Little knowledge of RFID principles but the						
	system works for us	10	2.40	.843	.267	1	4
	Total	163	3.09	.812	.064	1	5
Electronic	Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	51	4.45	1.137	.159	1	5
traceability	Understand most of the concepts of RFID	78	4.50	.977	.111	1	5
	Understand the principles of RFID	24	4.13	.992	.202	2	5
	Little knowledge of RFID principles but the	10	4.20	.919	.291	2	5
	system works for us						
	Total	163	4.41	1.029	.081	1	5
Sourcing of new	Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	51	3.71	.879	.123	1	5
products	Understand most of the concepts of RFID	78	3.99	1.087	.123	1	5
	Understand the principles of RFID	24	3.17	.917	.187	1	5
	Little knowledge of RFID principles but the system works for us	10	3.40	1.265	.400	2	5
	Total	163	3.74	1.046	.082	1	5
Transportation	Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	51	3.49	1.155	.162	1	5
efficiency	Understand most of the concepts of RFID	78	2.86	.785	.089	1	5
	Understand the principles of RFID	24	2.96	.806	.165	1	5
	Little knowledge of RFID principles but the	10	2.70	.675	.213	1	3
	system works for us	102	2.00	054	075	1	-
	Total	163	3.06	.954	.075	1	5
Corporate social responsibility	Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	51 78	2.27	.918	.129	1	5
responsibility	Understand most of the concepts of RFID		2.55	1.065	.121	1	5
	Understand the principles of RFID	24	2.83	.868	.177	1	5
	Little knowledge of RFID principles but the system works for us	10	2.90	.738	.233	1	4
	Total	163	2.53	.990	.078	1	5
Business	Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	51	2.20	.693	.097	1	5
sustainability	Understand most of the concepts of RFID	78	1.73	.801	.091	1	5

							_
	Understand the principles of RFID	24	2.21	1.179	.241	1	5
	Little knowledge of RFID principles but the system works for us	10	2.60	.843	.267	1	4
	Total	163	2.00	.875	.069	1	5
Environmental	Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	51	2.69	.648	.091	1	4
compliance	Understand most of the concepts of RFID	78	2.47	.936	.106	1	5
	Understand the principles of RFID	24	2.33	1.049	.214	1	5
	Little knowledge of RFID principles but the						
	system works for us	10	2.30	1.418	.448	1	5
	Total	163	2.51	.912	.071	1	5
Organizational	Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	51	3.04	.720	.101	1	5
learning	Understand most of the concepts of RFID	78	3.82	.785	.089	1	5
	Understand the principles of RFID	24	2.42	.974	.199	1	5
	Little knowledge of RFID principles but the						
	system works for us	10	3.00	1.247	.394	2	5
	Total	163	3.32	.973	.076	1	5
Health and safety	Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	51	1.53	1.065	.149	1	5
	Understand most of the concepts of RFID	78	1.94	.811	.092	1	5
	Understand the principles of RFID	24	2.54	.977	.199	1	5
	Little knowledge of RFID principles but the	10	2.50	.707	.224	1	3
	system works for us		2.50			-	
	Total	163	1.93	.976	.076	1	5
Customer	Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	51	2.82	.713	.100	1	4
retention	Understand most of the concepts of RFID	78	3.01	.933	.106	1	5
	Understand the principles of RFID	24	2.83	1.308	.267	1	5
	Little knowledge of RFID principles but the system works for us	10	2.90	.994	.314	1	4
	Total	163	2.92	.936	.073	1	5
Staff motivation	Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	51	3.84	.784	.110	1	5
	Understand most of the concepts of RFID	78	3.67	1.245	.141	1	5
	Understand the principles of RFID	24	2.88	.992	.202	1	5
	Little knowledge of RFID principles but the system works for us	10	3.20	.789	.249	2	5
	Total	163	3.58	1.099	.086	1	5
Demand forecast	Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	51	3.02	.761	.107	1	5
	Understand most of the concepts of RFID	78	3.81	1.058	.120	1	5
	Understand the principles of RFID	24	3.67	1.007	.206	1	5
	Little knowledge of RFID principles but the	27	5.07	1.007	.200	-	5
	system works for us	10	4.00	.471	.149	3	5
	Total	163	3.55	1.001	.078	1	5
	Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	51	3.75	.868	.122	1	5
	Understand most of the concepts of RFID	78	3.74	1.200	.136	1	5

Organisation	Understand the principles of RFID	24	2.92	1.060	.216	1	5
knowledge	Little knowledge of RFID principles but the system works for us	10	2.60	.843	.267	2	4
accumulation	Total	163	3.55	1.123	.088	1	5
Employee	Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	51	2.92	.523	.073	1	5
satisfaction	Understand most of the concepts of RFID	78	3.36	1.019	.115	1	5
	Understand the principles of RFID	24	3.42	.974	.199	2	5
	Little knowledge of RFID principles but the system works for us	10	2.70	1.059	.335	2	5
	Total	163	3.19	.913	.072	1	5
Employees' RFID-	Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	51	3.76	.737	.103	1	5
related skills and	Understand most of the concepts of RFID	78	3.73	.963	.109	1	5
proficiency	Understand the principles of RFID	24	3.83	1.373	.280	1	5
	Little knowledge of RFID principles but the system works for us	10	3.10	1.101	.348	1	5
	Total	163	3.72	.985	.077	1	5

		Table 5.35: Multiple Compariso	ons for organisational pedigree in	RFID		
	Tukey HSD					
	Dependent Variable	(I) Organisational pedigree in RFID	(J) Organisational pedigree in RFID	Mean Difference (I- J)	Std. Error	Sig.
	Cost reduction	Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	Understand most of the concepts of RFID	.486*	.178	.035
			Understand the principles of RFID	.919*	.245	.001
es			Little knowledge of RFID principles but the system works for us	1.394*	.342	.000
measure		Understand most of the concepts of RFID	Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	486*	.178	.035
Financial measures			Understand the principles of RFID	.433	.231	.243
E			Little knowledge of RFID principles but the system works for us	.908 [*]	.332	.035
		Understand the principles of RFID	Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	919*	.245	.001
			Understand most of the concepts of RFID	433	.231	.243

					1	
			Little knowledge of RFID			
			principles but the system works	.475	.372	.579
			for us			
		Little knowledge of RFID	Fully conversant with aspects	-1.394*	.342	.000
		principles but the system	of RFID	1.004		
		works for us	Understand most of the	908*	.332	.035
			concepts of RFID	908	.552	.055
			Understand the principles of	475	272	570
			RFID	475	.372	.579
	Labour savings	Fully conversant with aspects	Understand most of the		4.60	
		of RFID	concepts of RFID	246	.168	.463
			Understand the principles of			1.00
			RFID	.007	.231	0
			Little knowledge of RFID			
			principles but the system works	.882 [*]	.323	.035
			for us			
		Understand most of the	Fully conversant with aspects			
		concepts of RFID	of RFID	.246	.168	.463
			Understand the principles of			
			RFID	.253	.218	.652
			Little knowledge of RFID			
			principles but the system works	1.128 [*]	.314	.002
			for us			
		Understand the principles of	Fully conversant with aspects			1.00
		RFID	of RFID	007	.231	0
			Understand most of the			
			concepts of RFID	253	.218	.652
			Little knowledge of RFID			
			principles but the system works	.875	.351	.065
			for us			
		Little knowledge of RFID	Fully conversant with aspects			
		principles but the system	of RFID	882*	.323	.035
		works for us	Understand most of the			
			concepts of RFID	-1.128 [*]	.314	.002
			Understand the principles of		1	
			RFID	875	.351	.065
	Supply chain	Fully conversant with aspects	Understand most of the			
nal	planning	of RFID	concepts of RFID	.109	.158	.899
Internal	B 1		Understand the principles of			
= }			RFID	.478	.217	.426
I	1	1			1	1

			Little knowledge of RFID			
			° °	200*	202	012
			principles but the system works for us	380*	.303	.012
		Understand most of the				
			Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	109	.158	.899
		concepts of RFID	-			
			Understand the principles of RFID	.369	.204	.275
			Little knowledge of RFID			
			principles but the system works	490	.294	.345
			for us			
		Understand the principles of	Fully conversant with aspects	*		
		RFID	of RFID	478 [*]	.217	.126
			Understand most of the			
			concepts of RFID	369	.204	.275
			Little knowledge of RFID			
			principles but the system works	858 *	.329	.049
			for us			
		Little knowledge of RFID	Fully conversant with aspects	.380*	.303	.012
		principles but the system	of RFID	.560	.505	.012
		works for us	Understand most of the	.490	.294	.345
			concepts of RFID	.490	.294	.545
			Understand the principles of	.858 [*]	.329	.049
			RFID	.050	.525	.045
	Business	Fully conversant with aspects	Understand most of the	.465*	.151	.013
	sustainability	of RFID	concepts of RFID		.151	.015
			Understand the principles of	012	.208	1.00
			RFID	.012	.200	0
s			Little knowledge of RFID			
sure			principles but the system works	404	.290	.505
mea			for us			
lers		Understand most of the	Fully conversant with aspects	465*	.151	.013
tom		concepts of RFID	of RFID			
/Cus			Understand the principles of	478	.196	.074
Corporate/Customers measures			RFID			
rpor			Little knowledge of RFID	_ *		
ပိ			principles but the system works	869 [*]	.282	.013
			for us			
		Understand the principles of	Fully conversant with aspects	.012	.208	1.00
		RFID	of RFID			0
			Understand most of the	.478	.196	.074
			concepts of RFID			

		Little knowledge of RFID principles but the system works	392	.316	
	Little knowledge of RFID principles but the system	for us Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	.404	.290	
	works for us	Understand most of the concepts of RFID	.869*	.282	
		Understand the principles of RFID	.392	.316	
Organisational learning	Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	Understand most of the concepts of RFID	781*	.149	
		Understand the principles of RFID	.623*	.205	,
		Little knowledge of RFID principles but the system works for us	.039	.287	
	Understand most of the concepts of RFID	Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	.781*	.149	
		Understand the principles of RFID	1.404*	.193	,
		Little knowledge of RFID principles but the system works for us	.821*	.278	
	Understand the principles of RFID	Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	623*	.205	
		Understand most of the concepts of RFID	-1.404*	.193	,
		Little knowledge of RFID principles but the system works for us	583	.312	
	Little knowledge of RFID principles but the system	Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	039	.287	
	works for us	Understand most of the concepts of RFID	821*	.278	
		Understand the principles of RFID	.583	.312	
Staff motivation	Fully conversant with aspects of RFID	Understand most of the concepts of RFID	.176	.191	
		Understand the principles of RFID	.968*	.262	

			Little knowledge of RFID			
			principles but the system works	.643	.366	.299
			for us			
		Understand most of the	Fully conversant with aspects	176	.191	.791
		concepts of RFID	of RFID			
			Understand the principles of RFID	.792*	.247	.009
			Little knowledge of RFID			
			principles but the system works	.467	.356	.557
			for us			
		Understand the principles of	Fully conversant with aspects	*		
		RFID	of RFID	968 [*]	.262	.002
			Understand most of the	*		
			concepts of RFID	792 [*]	.247	.009
			Little knowledge of RFID			
			principles but the system works	325	.399	.847
			for us			
		Little knowledge of RFID	Fully conversant with aspects	642	266	200
		principles but the system	of RFID	643	.366	.299
		works for us	Understand most of the	467	256	
			concepts of RFID	467	.356	.557
			Understand the principles of	225	200	0.47
			RFID	.325	.399	.847
	Organisational	Fully conversant with aspects	Understand most of the	.002	.192	1.00
	knowledge	of RFID	concepts of RFID	.002	.192	0
	accumulation		Understand the principles of	.828*	.264	.011
			RFID	.828	.264	.011
			Little knowledge of RFID			
			principles but the system works	1.145 *	.369	.012
ţ			for us			
row		Understand most of the	Fully conversant with aspects	002	.192	1.00
& g		concepts of RFID	of RFID	002	.192	0
ing			Understand the principles of	.827*	.249	.006
Learning & growth			RFID	.027	.245	.000
-			Little knowledge of RFID			
			principles but the system works	1.144*	.358	.009
			for us			
		Understand the principles of	Fully conversant with aspects	828*	.264	.011
		RFID	of RFID	.020	.207	
			Understand most of the	827 [*]	.249	.006
			concepts of RFID			

		Little knowledge of RFID				
		principles but the system works	.317	.401	.85	
		for us				
	Little knowledge of RFID	Fully conversant with aspects	-1.145*	.369	.01	
	principles but the system	of RFID	-1.145	.509	.01	
	works for us	Understand most of the	-1.144*	.358	.00	
		concepts of RFID	-1.144	.558	.00	
		Understand the principles of	317	.401	.85	
		RFID	517	.401	.0.	
Employee	Fully conversant with aspects	Understand most of the	437*	.160	.03	
satisfaction	of RFID	concepts of RFID		.100	.0.	
		Understand the principles of	495	.220	.1	
		RFID		.220		
		Little knowledge of RFID				
		principles but the system works	.222	.307	.88	
		for us				
	Understand most of the	Fully conversant with aspects	.437*	.160	.0	
	concepts of RFID	of RFID				
		Understand the principles of	058	.207	.99	
		RFID				
		Little knowledge of RFID				
		principles but the system works	.659	.298	.1	
		for us				
	Understand the principles of	Fully conversant with aspects	.495	.220	.1	
	RFID	of RFID				
		Understand most of the	.058	.207	.9	
		concepts of RFID				
		Little knowledge of RFID				
		principles but the system works	.717	.334	.14	
		for us			-	
	Little knowledge of RFID	Fully conversant with aspects	222	.307	.8	
	principles but the system	of RFID				
	works for us	Understand most of the	659	.298	.1	
		concepts of RFID			-	
		Understand the principles of	717	.334	.14	
		RFID				

Appendix E – Case study interview questions

About RFID technology in your industry What is the primary use of RFID in your industry?

Where do you see the major business benefits of RFID in your industry?

About RFID at the organisation

What was the motivation for the introduction of RFID technology in your organisation?

How long has your organisation been using RFID for?

At what state of RFID adoption is your organisation? (pilot, impartial, or full implementation stages)

At what product level(s) is your organisation implementing RFID?

How would you describe your company's knowledge of RFID? (Prompt: The different levels investigated in the questionnaire survey should be suggested)

Who is the key champion or has the greatest responsibility in your organisation in your organisation for RFID adoption?

Decision to adopt

What factors played a major role in your organisation's decision to adopt RFID? (Prompt: The list of drivers derived from the questionnaire survey should be listed out to the respondent)

What factors constrained your organisation's decision to adopt RFID? (Prompt: The list of constraints derived from the questionnaire survey should be listed out to the respondent)

To what extent has your organisation's underlying business culture influenced its decision to adopt RFID? (Prompt: The list of factors used to define business culture in the questionnaire survey should be listed out to the respondent)

To what extent has the size of your organisation influenced its decision to adopt RFID? (Prompt: The list of factors used to define business size in the questionnaire survey should be listed out to the respondent)

To what extent has the BPR necessitated its decision to adopt RFID? (Prompt: The list of factors used to define BPR in the questionnaire survey should be listed out to the respondent)

Implementation process

To what extent has your organisation's underlying business culture influenced the implementation process of RFID? (Prompt: The list of factors used to define business culture and implementation process in the questionnaire survey should be listed out to the respondent)

To what extent has the size of your organisation influenced the implementation process of RFID? (Prompt: The list of factors used to define business size and implementation process in the questionnaire survey should be listed out to the respondent)

To what extent has the BPR influenced the implementation process of RFID? (Prompt: The list of factors used to define business culture and implementation process in the questionnaire survey should be listed out to the respondent)

Benefits derived from implementation

What benefits does your company derive from its implementation of RFID?

To what extent does your organisation's underlying business culture affect the benefits derived from RFID? (Prompt: The list of factors used to define business culture in the questionnaire survey should be listed out to the respondent)

To what extent does the size of your organisation affect the benefits derived from RFID? (Prompt: The list of factors used to define business size in the questionnaire survey should be listed out to the respondent)

To what extent does BPR affect business derived from RFID? (Prompt: The list of factors used to define BPR in the questionnaire survey should be listed out to the respondent)

To what extent are the benefits derived from RFID implementation moderated by your stage of RFID implementation?

To what extent are the benefits derived from RFID implementation moderated by the level of tagging used in your organisation?

To what extent are the benefits derived from RFID implementation moderated by the knowledge of RFID within the organisation?

End: Thank you notes

APPENDIX F – Correlation Matrix

Correlation matrix of some of the drivers of RFID (derived from the TOE framework) with the decision to adopt RFID

		Decision to	Тор	Availability of	Financial	Perceived	Organisational			Perceived RFID	
		adopt RFID	management	IT/IS	readiness/affor	RFID	technical	Governme	Regulatory	standards	Competitive
		(Yes or No)?	support	infrastructure	dability	benefits	capability	nt support	pressure	convergence	pressure
Decision to adopt	Pearson Correlation	1	.272**	.570**	.292**	.272**	.128	.288**	.262**	.712**	.029
RFID (Yes or No)?	Sig. (2-tailed)		.000	.000	.000	.000	.105	.000	.001	.000	.711
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
Top management	Pearson Correlation	.272**	1	.315**	.209**	.058	.075	.188*	.039	197*	.228**
support	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000		.000	.008	.460	.343	.017	.617	.012	.003
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
Availability of IT/IS	Pearson Correlation	.570**	.315**	1	.294**	146	.105	.085	.147	600**	.205**
infrastructure	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.000		.000	.062	.182	.279	.061	.000	.009
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
Financial	Pearson Correlation	.292**	.209**	.294**	1	124	.133	.019	042	238**	.317**
readiness/affordabi	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.008	.000		.115	.091	.807	.598	.002	.000
lity	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
Perceived RFID	Pearson Correlation	272**	.058	146	124	1	.014	008	065	.411**	.099
benefits	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.460	.062	.115		.859	.916	.406	.000	.210
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
Organisational	Pearson Correlation	128	.075	.105	.133	.014	1	114	212**	.018	.283**
technical capability	Sig. (2-tailed)	.105	.343	.182	.091	.859		.147	.007	.818	.000
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
Regulatory	Pearson Correlation	.288**	.188*	.085	.019	008	114	1	.019	079	122
pressure	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.017	.279	.807	.916	.147		.813	.314	.120
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163

Government	Pearson Correlation	.262**	.039	.147	042	065	212**	.019	1	107	221**
support	Sig. (2-tailed)	.001	.617	.061	.598	.406	.007	.813		.173	.004
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
Perceived RFID	Pearson Correlation	712**	197*	600**	238**	.411**	.018	079	107	1	192*
standards	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.012	.000	.002	.000	.818	.314	.173		.014
convergence	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
Competitive	Pearson Correlation	.029	.228**	.205**	.317**	.099	.283**	122	221**	192*	1
pressure	Sig. (2-tailed)	.711	.003	.009	.000	.210	.000	.120	.004	.014	
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
Industry pressure	Pearson Correlation	664**	155*	551**	161*	.243**	.119	230**	186*	.651**	035
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.048	.000	.040	.002	.131	.003	.017	.000	.653
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163

Correlation matrix of some of the constraints of RFID (derived from the TOE framework) with the decision to adopt RFID

	Correla	ntion matrix o	f some of the	constraints of RFID (derived from the	TOE framewo	ork) with the	decision to a	dopt RFID		
											The
		Has your								A high degree	unwillingness of
		company							Lack of	of business	the customer
		adopted		Manpower (skills)	Compliance	Privacy	Security	Technical	industry	process change	and supplier to
	1	RFID?	Cost issues	issues	issues	issues	issues	issues	standards	required	use RFID
Has your company	Pearson Correlation	1	470**	625**	635**	241**	312**	.559**	843**	815**	560**
adopted RFID?	Sig. (2-tailed)		.000	.000	.000	.002	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
Cost issues	Pearson Correlation	470**	1	.067	.150	.227**	.276**	201*	.333**	264**	.085
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000		.392	.056	.004	.000	.010	.000	.001	.281
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
	Pearson Correlation	625**	.067	1	.802**	.169*	.256**	548**	.842**	800**	.785**

Manpower (skills)	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.392		.000	.031	.001	.000	.000	.000	.000
issues	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
Compliance issues	Pearson Correlation	635**	.150	.802**	1	.339**	.474**	703**	.773**	831**	.888**
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.056	.000		.000	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
Privacy issues	Pearson Correlation	241**	.227**	.169*	.339**	1	.849**	272**	.227**	309**	.238**
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.002	.004	.031	.000		.000	.000	.004	.000	.002
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
Security issues	Pearson Correlation	312**	.276**	.256**	.474**	.849**	1	373**	.343**	449**	.395**
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.000	.001	.000	.000		.000	.000	.000	.000
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
Technical issues	Pearson Correlation	.559**	201*	548**	703**	272**	373**	1	580**	.658**	645**
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.010	.000	.000	.000	.000		.000	.000	.000
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
Lack of industry	Pearson Correlation	843**	.333**	.842**	.773**	.227**	.343**	580**	1	856**	.763**
standards	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.000	.000	.000	.004	.000	.000		.000	.000
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
A high degree of	Pearson Correlation	.815**	264**	800**	831**	309**	449**	.658**	856**	1	850**
business process	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.001	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000		.000
change required	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
The unwillingness	Pearson Correlation	560**	.085	.785**	.888**	.238**	.395**	645**	.763**	850**	1
of the customer	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.281	.000	.000	.002	.000	.000	.000	.000	
and supplier to use RFID	Ν	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
	nificant at the 0.01 level (2- ificant at the 0.05 level (2-										

Correlation matrix of organisational culture attributes (derived from the TOE framework) with the decision to adopt RFID

				Correlations					
		Has your	Organisational	Company focus on performance	Company focus		Effective		How drive to implement new
		company	goals and	relative to	on customer	Top management	decision		technologies into
		adopted RFID?	objectives	competitors	satisfaction	involvement	making	Innovation	business processes
Has your company	Pearson Correlation	1	.112	570**	.786**	.837**	.190*	.494**	100
adopted RFID?	Sig. (2-tailed)		.154	.000	.000	.000	.015	.000	.206
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
company goals and	Pearson Correlation	.112	1	219**	.196*	.242**	.415**	.383**	300*
objectives	Sig. (2-tailed)	.154		.005	.012	.002	.000	.000	.000
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
company focus on	Pearson Correlation	570**	219**	1	542**	566**	211**	465**	026
performance	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.005		.000	.000	.007	.000	.740
relative to competitors	Ν	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
company focus on	Pearson Correlation	.786**	.196*	542**	1	.866**	.328**	.554**	.061
customer	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.012	.000		.000	.000	.000	.439
satisfaction	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
top management	Pearson Correlation	.837**	.242**	566**	.866**	1	.429**	.650**	055
involvement	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.002	.000	.000		.000	.000	.488
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
Effective decision	Pearson Correlation	.190*	.415**	211**	.328**	.429**	1	.575**	185
making	Sig. (2-tailed)	.015	.000	.007	.000	.000		.000	.018
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
innovation	Pearson Correlation	.494**	.383**	465**	.554**	.650**	.575**	1	133
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000		.091
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
drive to implement	Pearson Correlation	100	300**	026	.061	055	185*	133	1
new technologies	Sig. (2-tailed)	.206	.000	.740	.439	.488	.018	.091	
into business processes	Ν	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

*. Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

Correlation matrix of organisational size attributes (derived from the TOE framework) with the decision to adopt RFID

		Has your				Scale of in-house and	Scale of	Number of offices,	Range of
		company	Number of	Annual	International	cross-company	business IS/IT	retail outlets, service	products and
		adopted RFID?	employees	turnover	reach	networking	usage	centres, etc.	services
Has your company	Pearson Correlation	1	616**	.789**	.456**	.221**	.650**	.077	.738**
adopted RFID?	Sig. (2-tailed)		.000	.000	.000	.005	.000	.330	.000
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
Number of employees	Pearson Correlation	616**	1	149	.309**	.403**	043	.401**	312**
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000		.057	.000	.000	.587	.000	.000
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
Annual turnover	Pearson Correlation	.789**	149	1	.747**	.492**	.886**	.363**	.712**
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.057		.000	.000	.000	.000	.000
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
International reach	Pearson Correlation	.456**	.309**	.747**	1	.670**	.801**	.494**	.499**
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.000	.000		.000	.000	.000	.000
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
Scale of in-house and	Pearson Correlation	.221**	.403**	.492**	.670**	1	.513**	.781**	.159*
cross-company networking	Sig. (2-tailed)	.005	.000	.000	.000		.000	.000	.043
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
Scale of business IS/IT	Pearson Correlation	.650**	043	.886**	.801**	.513**	1	.398**	.534**
usage	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.587	.000	.000	.000		.000	.000
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
Number of offices, retail	Pearson Correlation	.077	.401**	.363**	.494**	.781**	.398**	1	095
outlets, service centres,	Sig. (2-tailed)	.330	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000		.229
etc	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163

Range of products or	Pearson Correlation	.738**	312**	.712**	.499**	.159*	.534**	095	1
services	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.000	.000	.000	.043	.000	.229	
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163

Correlation matrix of BPR attributes (derived from the TOE framework) with the decision to adopt RFID

		r						1			
								creating			
				restructuring and				strong			
				streamlining activities	centralization of			internal and			
		Has your		including removal of	originally dispersed	provision of	synchronization	external	developing	team	provision
		company	adoption of	non-value adding	resources and	decision-	of IT resources	motivation	a clear	orientation	of training
		adopted	expert	tasks, controls and	processes, including	support	and business	for	RFID	and capability	and
	r	RFID?	systems	checks	decision making	tools	processes?	improvement	strategy	development	support
Has your	Pearson										
company	Correlation	1	.697**	.702**	.641**	801**	195*	.470**	.714**	.389**	.520**
adopted RFID?	Sig. (2-tailed)		.000	.000	.000	.000	.013	.000	.000	.000	.000
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
Adoption of	Pearson										
expert systems	Correlation	.697**	1	.870**	.124	465**	190*	.473**	.817**	.211**	.807**
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000		.000	.113	.000	.015	.000	.000	.007	.000
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
Restructuring	Pearson										
and	Correlation	.702**	.870**	1	.095	639**	.018	.799**	.959**	.109	.822**
streamlining	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.000		.230	.000	.817	.000	.000	.167	.000
activities	N										
including											
removal of non-											
value adding		163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
tasks, controls											
and checks											

Centralization of originally	Pearson Correlation	.641**	.124	.095	1	428**	258**	013	.108	.429**	135
dispersed	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.113	.230		.000	.001	.870	.172	.000	.087
resources and	N										
processes,		160	1.62	100	1.62	4.62	100	1.62	1.62	1.62	1.62
including		163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
decision making											
Provision of	Pearson	004**	465**	c20**	420**	4	014	CO F **	CE 0**	125	470**
decision-	Correlation	801**	465**	639**	428**	1	011	635**	650**	136	473**
support tools	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.000	.000	.000		.892	.000	.000	.083	.000
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
Synchronization	Pearson										
of IT resources	Correlation	195*	190*	.018	258**	011	1	.164*	.031	064	222**
and business	Sig. (2-tailed)	.013	.015	.817	.001	.892		.036	.690	.415	.004
processes	Ν	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163

Correlation matrix of culture attributes and RFID benefits

								drive to							
			company	company	top			implement							
			focus on	focus on	manageme			new							
		company	performance	customer	nt	Effective		technologies							
		goals and	relative to	satisfactio	involvemen	decision		into business	Sales	Net	Return-on-	Market	Cost	Labor	Risk
	1	objectives	competitors	n	t	making	innovation	processes	increase	profit	investment	share	reduction	savings	minimization
company goals and	Pearson		210**	100*	**		202**	200**		0.4.4**	100*	475*	• • • • * *	0.0.4**	100**
objectives	Correlation	1	219**	.196*	.242**	.415**	.383**	300**	.110	.344**	.183*	175*	.248**	.324**	.406**
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.005	.012	.002	.000	.000	.000	.162	.000	.019	.026	.001	.000	.000
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
	Pearson														
	Correlation	219**	1	542**	566**	211**	465**	026	209**	544**	545**	.491**	287**	052	181*

company focus on	Sig. (2-tailed)	.005		.000	.000	.007	.000	.740	.007	.000	.000	.000	.000	.506	.020
performance relative to competitors	Ν	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
company focus on customer satisfaction	Pearson Correlation	.196*	542**	1	.866**	.328**	.554**	.061	.158*	.882**	.649**	889**	.511**	.146	.318**
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.012	.000		.000	.000	.000	.439	.043	.000	.000	.000	.000	.063	.000
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
top management involvement	Pearson Correlation	.242**	566**	.866**	1	.429**	.650**	055	.197*	.747**	.592**	740**	.455**	.193*	.335**
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.002	.000	.000		.000	.000	.488	.012	.000	.000	.000	.000	.013	.000
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
Effective decision making	Pearson Correlation	.415**	211**	.328**	.429**	1	.575**	185*	.288**	.275**	.350**	137	.162*	.204**	.433**
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.007	.000	.000		.000	.018	.000	.000	.000	.081	.039	.009	.000
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
innovation	Pearson Correlation	.383**	465**	.554**	.650**	.575**	1	133	.231**	.502**	.437**	438**	.304**	.241**	.439**
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000		.091	.003	.000	.000	.000	.000	.002	.000
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
drive to implement new technologies into	Pearson Correlation	300**	026	.061	055	185*	133	1	295**	105	123	071	040	010	282**
business processes	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.740	.439	.488	.018	.091		.000	.183	.119	.369	.615	.902	.000
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
Sales increase	Pearson Correlation	.110	209**	.158*	.197*	.288**	.231**	295**	1	.199*	.255**	071	029	053	.142
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.162	.007	.043	.012	.000	.003	.000		.011	.001	.371	.716	.499	.070
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
Net profit	Pearson Correlation	.344**	544**	.882**	.747**	.275**	.502**	105	.199*	1	.612**	910**	.557**	.129	.343**
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000	.183	.011		.000	.000	.000	.102	.000
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163

Return-on-investment	Pearson Correlation	.183*	545**	.649**	.592**	.350**	.437**	123	.255**	.612**	1	514**	.245**	035	.284**
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.019	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000	.119	.001	.000		.000	.002	.654	.000
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
Market share	Pearson Correlation	175*	.491**	889**	740**	137	438**	071	071	910**	514**	1	532**	170*	257**
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.026	.000	.000	.000	.081	.000	.369	.371	.000	.000		.000	.030	.001
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
Cost reduction	Pearson Correlation	.248**	287**	.511**	.455**	.162*	.304**	040	029	.557**	.245**	532**	1	.131	.147
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.001	.000	.000	.000	.039	.000	.615	.716	.000	.002	.000		.095	.061
	Ν	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
Labor savings	Pearson Correlation	.324**	052	.146	.193*	.204**	.241**	010	053	.129	035	170*	.131	1	.346**
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.506	.063	.013	.009	.002	.902	.499	.102	.654	.030	.095		.000
	N	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163	163
Risk minimization	Pearson Correlation	.406**	181*	.318**	.335**	.433**	.439**	282**	.142	.343**	.284**	257**	.147	.346**	1